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We are one
of the world’s

most respected

specialist Gross Operating
recruitrent Profit Profit
consultancies. We £877.7m £1 68.5m
deliver recruitment N o/ %
services to clients +49.1% >100.0%
through a 2020: £610.2m 2020: £17.0m
network of 138

offices across Basic Earnings Conversion
37 countries. Per Share rate**

Our Vision is to
increase the scale 37.2p 19.2%

and diversification »100.0%* 2020: 2.8%
of PageGroup by 2020: -1.8p

organically growing
existing and new

teams, offices, Ordinary and % Non-UK
disciplines and Special Dividend Gross Profit

kets.
MATKEs 41.71p 85.4%
2020: - 2020: 86.7%

*in constant currency at prior year rates  ""Opérating Profit ag a percentage of Gross Profit

Our geographic markets

Large, High Potential == ] N

Typically under-developed markets, but where we have a successful track record and confidence in our
ability to scale our operations substantially.

Countries: Germany, Greater China, Latin America, South East Asia, the US

Large, Proven R I
These are large markets where we are aiready proven with a strong track record and a significant presence.

Countries: UK, France, Ausitralia, the Netherlands, italy, Spain

Small and Medium, High Margin =~ ———— — -

Markets which are, or could be, significant profit contributors with attractive conversion margins, but each
are unlikely (or not yet proven) to be able to grow fo more than 300 fee earners.

Countries: Japan, India, Middle East, Africa, Canada, Turkey, other European countries




Our capabilities

ddihh

People are at the heart of what
we do and our cultuie puts

our employees first. We have a
strong reputation as an inclysive
employer as well as an ethical
and professicnal recruiter. We
have a firm commitment to our
diversity and inclusion initiatives
and have made significant
progress in this area over the
nast few years.

We understand how data
empowers our people 1o make
better and faster decisions. This
in turn enables us to respond to
market demanas effectively and
efficiently. Pagelnsights provides
our teams with a deeper
understanding of client and
candidate needs, at the right
time. We have also coupled our
data from Customer Connact
with external datasets to drive
market insights.

Over the past few years, we
have invested significantly in
technology and cloud-based
solutions. This includes the
roll out of our global cperating
platform, Customer Connect.
We have a strong culture of
continuous improvemeant, and
are driven to implement market
leading technology solutions in
our business.

3 Countries across
the world

Our brands

Pag

Michael Page

PagePersonnel

Headcount

7,838

PageGroup

Executive
Search

Qualified pro‘essiz-al

Offices

138

—— PageOutsourcing

.

Clerical professional

“Generalist s;a?ﬁﬁ'g '
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2021 Performance

We entered 2021 with a high degree

of global macro-economic uncertainty
due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The
roll out of vaccine programmes across
many countries globally has heiped the
recovery, though new variants and the
impact of lockdowns and other restrictions
vary significantly by region. The safety of
our employees, candicdates and clients
remains our key pricrity. The business
has adapted well to remote and hybrid
warking, leveraging the investments in
new technologies made by the Group
over the past few years.

Despite the challenging conditions,

| am pleased to report that the Group
delivered a record performance in the
year ended 31 December 2021. The
Group has recovered well following the
impact of COVID-19 on 2020, with gross
profit growing 49.1% and operating profit
growing more than 100% versus the
prior year. Against a 2019 comparative,
Group gross profit was up 7.0% in
constant currencies to £877.7m, with
operating profit up 18.9% to £168.5m.
Throughout the Annual Report, we

will primarily provide comparisons in
constant currencies against 2019, our
previous record year, 10 ensure the most
appropriate representation of the Group's
petrformance.

Qur highly experienced Executive
leadership team reacted guickly to the
emergence of the pandemic in 2020 and
our strategic priority was to protect our
platform. This helped us to recover faster
than our competitors in 2021, We repaid
£3.4m of furlough income received from
the UK government in G1 cf this year, and
reinstated our dividend palicy due to the
strength of our trading results and our

strong liquidity position,

We have continued to invast in our Largs,
High Potential markets, as well as our new
High Potential disciplines of Technology,
and Healthcare & Life Sciences, which
have proved the most resilient during the
pandemic. Our Page Cutsourcing brand
has been ancther key focus for investment
and gives the Group access to a new area
of the markat. We have also added more
than 1,000 experienced fes earners to

the Group since Q2 2620, and this has
enabled us to capitalise on the significant
opportunities for the recruitment sector
coming out of the pandemic. We cantinue
to invest in technology, with our Customer
Connect operating system now lve in all
markets except France and Latin America,
which are scheduled for completion by the
end of Q2 2022.

All regions recovered well in 2021, with

3 of our 4 regions delivering a record year.
Grass profit in EMEA, our largest region,
was up 6% against 2019. Growth was
particularly strong in Germany, up 31%,
driven primarily by the performance of
our Technology-focused Interim business.
Asia Pacific grew 15% on 2019, with
both Mainfand China and South-East Asia
delivering a record year. The Americas
was badly impacted by the pandemic
but was our fastest-growing region

in 2021, with North America growing
13% and Latin America growing 18%.
The UK dedlined 5% varsus 2019, with
Michael Page returning to growth in Q3
as restrictions eased. Page Personnel
has been slower to recover, though
ancouragingly returned to growth in

Q4. Qur Large, High Potential markets
represented 38% of the Greup for the
vear, and grew 21% against 2019. These
markets represented more than 40%

in (3, achieving cur Vision target. We

will continue to invest in thase arsas of
strategic priority in 2022, alongside those
businesses where we see potential for

strong growth.

Dividends

Given the challenging conditions and
trading results experienced in 2020,

we rmade the decision to suspend our
dividend policy. With the strong return to
growth in 2021, and high ievels of surplus
cash, we paid an interim dividend of
£15.0m and a special dividend of £85.2m
in Qctober of this year.

We generated cash from operations of
2£149.2m in 2021 and ended the ysar with
cash balances of £154.0m. Given this
cash positicn, the level of distributable
reserves and our results for the year,

we propose a final dividenc of 10.3p.
When combined with the interim dividend
of 4.7p paid in October, this is a total
ordinary dividend of 15.0p, an inctease

of 9.6% con the 2019 proposed dividend.
This ordinary dividend of 15.0p is covered
2.5 times by earnings, with a yield of
2.4%. If the special dividend 15 included,
using the year end shareg price of 633.5p,
this yield increases to B.6%.

Dividend Per Share {p}
56
Speclal gvidend
41.71
“ %7
10 -
2523 2583
1213 1273
gl e -
17.03
7R
10
L]

L]
217 gl ] 2519 200 2021

[[Fve-year Ordinary Dvidend GAGR +5.6% |

Board

We are committed to ensuring the Board
has the necessary skills and expertise

to work alongside the Executive team

in delivering the Group’s strategy. One

of my key objectives as Chairman is to
oversee a Beard with & diverse range

of expenence and perspectives, | have
therefore been highly focused on Board
composition since | became Chairman of
the Board in December 2015.

As a Group, we suppoert the Hampten-
Alexander review and the requirement
to disclose the gender balance of senior



management, with 38% female at

the end of 2021. We have alrsady
succeeded the target for FTSE

350 Boards to have 33% female
representation by 2020. On our
Executive Board, female representation
stands at 10% as at 1 January 2022
and at the Director level, female
reprasentation is 38%. We have also
signed up to the UN Global Compact
Netwoerk with a target of achieving
gender equality in senior management
roles by 2030.

We continue to invest in our various
programmes to accelerate the
promotion of women to leadership
positions, including our Women@Page
initiative. In 2022 we are launching our
Global Female Career Sponsorship
Programme, to further support our
commitment to accelerating the
progressicn of females into senior
management.

On 1 September 2021, Simon Boddie
retired as a Non-Executive Director and
Chair of the Audit Committee. | would
like to thank Simon for his significant
contributions cver his 9 years in this
role. On 1 Jdanuary 2021, Ben Stevens
jcined the Board as a Non-Executive
Director, bringing extensive experience
across different roles and sectors to
the Group, Ben Stevens joinad the
Audit, Nomination and Remuneraticn
Committees and from 1 September,
succeeded Simon Boddie as Chair of
the Audit Committee. Full details of
the work undertaken by the Board are
set out in the Corperate Governance
Report.

As recently announced, | will be
stepping down from my role as the
Group's Non-Executive Chairman on 30
April, The Board has appointed Angela
Seymour-dackson as the new Chalr.
Angela has served on the Board since
2017 and brings a wealth of experience
from both her senior Executive roles
and from her experience at PageGroup
ag a Nen-Executive Director and
Comrmittee Chair. it has been a privilege
to serve on the Board for the past 10
years, and | am immensely proud of
PageGroup’s achievements during this
time. | leave fully confident in the future
success of the Group.

Culture, purpose and
stakeholder engagement

PageGroup's purpose is to change lives
for pecple through creating opportunity
to reach potential. We are committed to
ensuring prefessional success for cur
clients, candidates and employees and
this is underpinned by our Company
values of passion, determination,
working as a team, enjoying what we
do and making a difference.

In accordance with the requirements of
the UK Corporate Governance Code,
all members of the Board are effectively
engaging with employees. |his is done
in several ferums, including attendance
at employee meetings, virtual events
and regular employee surveys. These
channels focus on areas linkea to our
cuture and engagement framawork,
includling retention and promotion,
diversity and inclusion metrics and
employee wellbaing.

Our 2021 Global Empfloyee
Engagement Survey shows the positive
progress we have made in this area.
89% of our people felt proud to work
at PageGroup and 86% valued the
Group’s commitment to diversity

and inclusion. We introduced our
Continuous Listening Strategy in 2020
and the results of our employee pulse
surveys and other assassments are
discussed by the Board during our bi-
annual culture and engagement review.
Here, the Board identifies future actions
to ensure our culture is aligned globally
and continuous improvement is made
in this area,

Earlier this year we established the
Group's Shadow Executive Board.

The Shadow Board works directly

with the Executive Board to scrutinise
their agenda and offer a different
viawpoint from a more diverse group of
people, with the aim of influencing the
strategic direction of the business. The
Shadow Board covers different regions,
ethnicities, ages, gender, LGBTQ+ and
tenure within PageGroup and will rotate
every 12 months.

Building strong customer relationships

is vital to ensure our long-term success.

Cur suite of technology innovations
developed over the past few years
meant we were well placed to handle
the challenges of remote working
through the pandsmic and to continue
providing excellent customer sarvice.

The move to having one global
operating platform in Customer
Connect, puts us in a strong position
to adopt future innovative sciutions
and to addrass ever-evolving client and
candidate needs.

Sustainability

PageGroup has mads significant
progress on its sustainability objectives
in 2021. We joined the UN Gilobal
Compact and released our inaugural
Sustainability Report, focusing on all
three elements of ESG (Environment,
Soclal and Governance), We reflectad
on our achisvaments to date in this
area, as well as developing a ten-year
sustainability vision with ambitious
targets.

PageGroup Annual Report and
£ I

The Group offset its carbon impact
again in 2021, and going forward we
have the ambition of becoming carbon
positive by 2026, We pian to achieve
this by continuing to transition from
traditional electricity to renewable
sources and reducing business travel.
The Group also aims to establish a
meaningful sustainabiiity recruitment
business by 2026. We are targsting

to positively impact over 1 million lives
in the ten years to 2030, both via
placement in employment opportunities
and through access tc our social
impact programmes.

Further details of our progress on
sustainability, greenhouse gas reporting
and climats-related financial disclosures
(TCFD) are includad in the Sustainability
section.

Looking ahead

As we enter 2022, there is increased
optimism in the post-pandemic
recovery across the globe. However,
the emergence of new variants provide
a degree of uncertainty, against the
backdrop of significant progress made
with vaccination programmes through
2021. We are benefitting from improved
trading conditions, candidate shortages
driving wage inflation, and video
interviewing reducing the time to hira.
Alongside the strategic decisicns made
by the Group during the pandemic,

we are well positioned to capitalise on
future opportunities.

We are committed to investing in our
Large, High Potential markets and
disciplines, together with other areas
where we see the greatest potential for
growth, We continue to work towards
our Vision of £1bn of gross profit,
£200-£250m of operating profit and a
customer rating of 90%-+.

We have engaged and experienced
empioyees and we will continue to
provide them with & fiexible working
envircnmenit, whilst focusing on
supporting thern to reach their potential.
The Group has made strong progress
to date with technology and our use

of data, and we will further davelop
innovative, industry leading technology
and tools to continue to provide the
best pcssible service to our customers.

QOur success in delivering a record year
in 2021 is reliant upon the contributions
of our employees. On behalf of the
Board, { would ke to thank all of our
people for their significant achievements
and their continued dedication this year.

David Lowden

Chairman
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Overview

PAGE 5 BUSINESS MODEL

() FINANCIA |® sTrATEGIC @ OPERATIONAL

Highly profitable

Maintain a strong
balance sheet

Highly cash generative

Sustainable organic growth

Diversification tc mitigate
cyclicality by geography, brand
and discipline

Focus on operational efficiency

Team-based service
delivery

Talent and skils
development/retention

Strong brands
Effective use of technology

PAGE 13 STRATEGY

Long-term investment into core
geographic markets

s Large, High Fotential

To be the leading specialist
recruiter in each of the markets
in which we cperate

Career development
structure

Training

] @ OPERATIONAL

Assurance of a quality service

Effective recruitmernt
process

* Large, Proven Global mobility
¢ Small and Medium, High Margin
High Potential Disciplines:

* Technology » HLS

PAGE 51 RISKS
(® FINANGIAL

@ PeoRie

| ® oPERaTIONAL -
People development
Aftraction and retention

Technology; systems
transformation and change;
data security: brand reputation;
financial management and
control; fiscal and legal
compliance

Shift in business model

Delivery of operaticnai
efficisncies

Macro-economic exposure
Foreign exchange translation risk

PAGE 21 KPIs
® FINANCIAL &

@ smiesc

Measurement performed
at a granular level

Employee satisfaction
survey

Gross profit growth Gross profit per fee earmner
Fee earner headcount growth

Fe& earner:operational support
staff ratio

Conwversion rate

Gross profit diversification
Perm:Temp ratic

Cash

Earnings per share

Management experience D&l review ratings

PAGE 93 REMUNERATION

(® FINANCIAL | @ strateGIC | @PEOPLE | @® OPERATIONAL

Cost and financial management

Risk management and internal
controfs

[T strategic develapment

Leadership and people
developmernit

EPS growth: three year cumulative
PBT performance
Comparator gross profit growth

Strategic targets

Systems and innovation
Retention/succession

PAGE 18 DIVIDEND POLICY
® FINANCIAL | @ sTRaTEGIC

| @ PEOPLE

| @© OPERATIONAL

Ensure dividends are paid
at sustainabie levels such
that investment in the
business and its people is
maintained

First use of cash is to satisfy
operational and investment
needs, as well as to hedge
liabilittes under the Group’s
share plans

Return surplus cash to
sharenolders by special
dividends and/or share
buybacks

Maintain a strong balance shest
Maintain cere ordinary dividend
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A message from Steve

Welcome to our 2021 Strategic Report, where | will cutline our Business Model and Strategic
Framework. | will then cover our Strategic Review, which highlights some of the key strategic
initiatives and investments that have supported our success this year, as presented at our Investor
Afternoon in December 2021. Following this, | will outline our updated Vision and then move on to
how we see current market dynamics, together with our capital allocation policy.

We continue to measure our performance through both our financial and non-financial KPIs, with
associated risks. These risks are directly linked to the four key elements {financial, strategic, people
and operational) of the performance criteria in our current executive share plans.

Steve Ingham
CEQ PageGroup
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Business Model

PAGEGROUP

CHANGES LIVES

ated

s for

CLIENTS
* Sector expertise

= Appropriate candidate shontfist
* Professional high-quality service

—

&4
it
Qur Value

Proposition Model

©

CONSULTANTS

* Team-based structure and compensation
« Access to jobs across entire Group

» Consistent process

centric ethos uphol
maintair

CANDIDATES
+ Professional high-quality service
» Market understanding and client profiling

OD»:IEﬂDW?I effi

» Career advice

TECHNOLOGY AND
INNOVA ION

UNDERPINNED BY OUR VALUES

WE MAKE A DIFFERENCE \WE ENJOY WHAT WE DO WE WORK AS A TEAM
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Business Model

STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK

PageGroup is focused on delivering against three key objectives to achieve its Strategic Vision and deliver sustainable

financial returns. These are to:

LOOK FOR ORGANIC;
HIGH MARGIN AND
'DIVERSIFIED GROWTH

CQOur bus_iness_model i gentred on (t!elivering {)rganic and

- tiverse growth. As recruitient 15 & cyclical business and
impacted by the strength of economies,-diversification -~

" s an mportant corponent of our stratedy. reducing our

reliance on any individudl market or business and thereby -

increasing the strength Of the Gmu;)

Qur strategy thareford is to expand and diversify the

business by industry seétors, professional discipliries,

geography and brands, wiih the objective of being the

leading specialist reGrufment cf.)nsuhancy in each of our
. chosen marksts.”

in 2007, prior to the giobal ﬂnanma.l crigis, our Non- UK
business répresented 61% of the Group and & now |
p rearesents 85%. We have Invested heavily in our Large
High Potentlal miarkets, which in 2007 had under 700 -
feg eamers and reprasented 17% of Groud gross profit,
We riow have over 2,400 fee sdrners in thesé markets,
which foday represent 38% of Gréup gross profit. We
* “have also successfuély diversified away frori Finance -~
and Accounting. with this discipline making up 54% of
otal Group gross profif in 2007, compared with 32% in
2023, These two changss highlight the success of our
divarsification strategy

Our business model has proved resmesa‘c cduring the
COVID-19 pancemic. With less reiance on any one

" individual country, brand or discipline, the business
has been better positioned to face the adverse
market conditions. Our global presence and strategic
investments made over the past two years have enabled
us 1o capitalise on cpporunities coming out of the
pandemic in 21121,

PageGroup's historical succass across major global
economias has helped us to identify those markets likely
to produce long-term gross profit growth at attractive
conversion rates. This enables us to offer a premium
service that is valued by our clients and aiso attracts
the highest ¢alibre of candidates. Our service offering
includes a broad set of disciplines, within the professional
and clerical recruitment sectoy, including two designated
as high potential in Technology and Healthcare & Life
Sciances. Our Page Outsourcing offering provides
opportunities in a new area of the market and has
significant growth potential.

POSITION THE BUSINESS TO BE
SCALABLE EFFICIENTLY AND
HIGHLY FLEXIBLE TO REACT TO
MARKET CONDITIONS

Demonstrating the ability to respond guickly 1o changes in
market conditions s oritizal to managing the business efficiently
through economic cycles. Cur team-based structure and profit
share business model has proven highly scalable on a global
basis.

The small size of our specialist teams enables us to grow gross
profit guickly with incremental fee-earner headcount. When
market conditions tighten. this headcount is reduced mostly via
natural attrition, to ensure & lower cost base in a slowdown. We
have managed this well through the pandemic and chose to
maintain our plattonm during 2020: thig decision has enabled us
1o accelerate more quickly than our competitors coming out of
the pandemic 1o debver the record results achieved in 2021,

We have retained experienced staff and continue to focus on the
training and aevelopment of all our employees, We salactivaly
added over 1,100 experiencad hires from the competition o
Q2 2020 through 1o the end of 2021, These decisions have
helped o drive the productivity gains achieved during the year
and put us in a strong position for 2022 and beyond.

Cur global footprint reguires high levels of operational sfficiency
In order 1o achieve this stratogic chiective. Our focus on shared
servica Centres has delivared greater econoimies of scale and
sfficiencies. It has diven consistency, increasad flexibility and

improved the guality of the service pravided ta our operational
husinessz. Collectively, aur shared service ceantres aliow us to be
more agile, reduce our fixed costs and remove constrants on
fow Tast we can react o market conditions.
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NURTURE AND DEVELOP OUR PEOPLE, DRIVING OUR
MERITOCRATIC GROWTH MODEL

Wa racognise that cur employees are key to our jong-term sucoess. The recruitment, retention and development
of talent is a key priority for the Group. We recrLit from a diverse set of backgrounds and valug our consultants’

experiences greatly.

We have clearly defined carser pathways for consultants through to senior management and Board level. This
helps to ensure we retain the best talent and develop our people for lsadership positions. We have a proven
track record of internal promotion and international career moves and the newly evolving hybrid working madel
will open up greater opportunities in this area.

Our highly experienced managemen? team have the longest tenure in the industry and are passicnate in
developing the next generation of Page leaders. Many of our management team have international experience
and this has helped with global knowledge sharing and best practice. It additionally aliows us 1o capitalise on
opportunities and react to market conditons effectively. Increasingly. we are promoting within regions and many
of the leaders in our Large, High Potential markets have had long-standing careers in those markets, combined
with vaiuable local expertise.

We introduced our continuous listening strategy in 2020 and the insights from these initiatives have allowed us
to build understanding and drive change and improvement. We are committed to diversity and inclusion and
have made significant progress in this area in recent years. Underpinned by our global diversity and inclusion
framework, we have a number of internal communities t¢ ensure our employees have networks 1o connect,
share and learn.
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Business Model

OUR STRATEGY

The Group’s strategy aims to expand and diversify the business organically by professional
disciplines, brands and geographies, with the objective of being the leading specialist
recruitment consuitancy in each of our chosen markets.




A FOCUS ON ORGANIC GROWTH
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PageGroup's business model has proved itself both through economic cycles and as the business has expanded into a
global enterprise. At its core is a focus on organic growth.

Team profit-led compensation

A focus on team-based performance
rather than the individua! promotes positive
corporate behaviour and consistent quality
of service for both clients and candidates.

Experienced
management pool

Experience through economic cycles and
across geographies and disciplings reduces
our learning curve, maximises scalability and
is crucial for placing resources where they will
add the most value.

o—,

Organic
Growth

* Global management mobility

we regularly move experienced
managers and directors into markets
where they can add the most value and
guide the business through the challenges
of a market cycle, while allowing us to
retain and motivate key senior talent.

Career development
structure

PageGroup offers its consultants
a well-defined and varied
career in recruitment. This
includes a clear development
structure with significant
opportunities for the most
talented.

iis and responsive

Recruitment is a fast-paced and
dynamic business. Our agility gives us
the confidence te respond quickly to
opportunities and challenges as they
appear.

Productivity-led
expansion

Our operational metrics focus on
productivity, by team, discipline and
gecgraphy. This bettom-up approach
aligns expansicn criteria throughout
the Group, focusing and optimising
investment on key pricrities.

Modoay oibojens
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Business Model

OUR VISION

GROSS PROFIT

£1bn
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WHAT WE DO

CPERATING PROFIT

ents inn
and rép

CUSTOMER RATING

PageGroup is a worldwide leader in specialised recruitment. We have over 40 years recruitment experience and deliver
recruitment services to clients across 37 countries through our network of 139 offices.
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OUR BRANDS @
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D

PAGE EXECUTIVE 'g

With typical margins above those of Michael Page and Page Personne!, our executive search division of PageGroup provides a m 3

range of search, selection and talent management solutions for organisations on a permanent and interim basis. Recognised for our

powerful in-house research function, speed and flexibility of response, and assignment completion rates, organisations worldwide

use Page Executive to secure their senior talent. The roles on which we focus typically sit at the sub-beard and Board levels.

MICHAEL PAGE

The original PageGroup brand is narmally established as the first business in each new country that we enter. Michael Page is .

comprised of 25 specialisms, sach providing a service to a specialist area of the market, recruiting permanent, temporary, contract

and interim opportunities, typically at qualified professional and management level. The businesses we work with range from SMEs 3%

to glabal blue-chip organisations. %
3
kT
b
m

PageGroup :

P
-
%
£

Page gu. BTl n e

Executive I
i

MichaelPage J—_ — PageOutsourcing

_

Page Personnel Clerical ¢ o'essir

PAGE PERSONNEL

Page Personnel offers specialist recruitment services to clients reguiring permanent employees, temporary or contract staff. Mirroring e
the geographical and sector coverage of Michael Page, it provides specialist services to crganisations requiring talent at professional .
clerical and support levels,

PAGE OUTSOURCING :

Our newsst brand, Page Outsourcing, harnesses the power of the other PageGroug brands. Our flexible recruitment outsolircing
solution allows our clients to focus on their core business. The Page Outscurcing offering includes both Recruitment Process
Outsourcing (RPO} and Managed Service Provision (MSP), together with a number of Outsourcing Consultancy solutions, Page
Outsourcing represents an opportunity for the Group to accelerate growth across all segments of the market.

_
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Strategic Review

OUR COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE

Our true competitive advantage is the combination of these four factors and the balance we have achieved in
the business for over 45 years. We generate funds through fees earned for placing candidates in permanent, temporary
and contract roles.

SCALE

Our scale snables PageGroup to commit to markets through gconomic cycles, which, combined with our strong fnancial standing. has
given clients the confidence to build lasting relationships with us. Temporary staff also derive comfort from our financial strength that
their services will be paid for.

The breadth of our client base globally. even in our new markets, gives us the ability to offer diverse expertise across a wide range of
complementary specialisms and geographies, enhancing our offering to the market and the candidate pools we can access.

Qur scale has led to us having an unrivalled skillset with high levels of experence, which is available 10 clients of any size and across al
seciors in which we operate.

BRAND

We deliver specialised sector
experience operated via four
key brands:

Page Executive. Michael
Page, Page Personnel and
Page Cutsourcing, supporied
by supplementary brands
throughout our international
loeations.

The first class reputation of
cur brands gives high-quality
candidates assurance

to place key decisions on
thelr future in our hands. Qur
superior leval of expertise
and the knowledge of our
consultants inspires trust and
assurance of service guality, for
both clients and candidates,
snabling our brands to
outperiorm other recruitment
businasseas.
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CULTURE

PageGroup's culture is unique and sets us apart from the competition. Our global cuiture delivers a consistent approach, both
internally and externally, whilst remaining acceplting of each of our market's local characteristics.

A diverse team brings different perspectives and insight to our business, and owr promotion of diversity and inclusion ensures
we add valus to the markets we recruit intc on behalf of our clients. We work closely with our clients to source and recruit from
a diverse talent pool 1o provida them with the best candidate.

We have ingrained values of how we do businass ethically and make tong-term decisions. Our purpese and values that are the
key to our success are set out on page 27,

INNOVATION

The digital revolution has transformed the recruitment market

The impact of technology on behaviours and expectations of both
clients and candida‘es continues to grow at pace. Cur innovation
approach is focused on howe best to acquire, engage and nurture
customers to build leng-term relationships. We have a dedicated
innovation team that ensures we have a good understanding of
the different recruitment trends and forms partnershios with the
most advanced technology provioers who can help us create an
innovative experience for our customers.

Cur internal Business Technology funclion focuses on dasigning.
implementing and exoloiting scalable global systems. By improving
our processes and 1cols, we empower consultants to be more
productive. In our operational business we are utilsing technologies
such as Saesferce and Thunderhead to engage with customers
throughout their joumey.

The use of technology allows us to leverage growtin in the business
and improve our coriversicn rate,
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HOW WE CATEGORISE OUR MARKETS

Investment Approach

Investment has been focused on deveioping the long-term sustainabiiity of the business and is supported by significant batance sheet
strength and cash flow generation. This market categorisation provides an investmant framework for the Group. Investment comes in a
range of forms including headcount, new offices and infrastructure, marketing spend and minimum levels of market presence through
the econcmic cycle.

Substantial, high-potential markets for Germany

Large y P’ECruitmfent, |
High Potential

Greater China
Latin America

South East
Asfa

The US

38%

of the Group

Attractive conversion rate potential; and

Large-scale sconomies.

LARGE MARKETS in which 1].4

Lae PageGroup is already proven with
’ a strong track record and a France

Pri oven significant presence.

Australia

The
46% Netherands

of the Group Italy

Spain

Small and
- Medium,

Have been, of could be, SIGNIFECANT | Japa:i

PROFIT CONTRIDUTORS for
PagnGroug, but aach not likely to be in
excess of 300 fee earners,

India
Middle Enat

S5

16%

of the Group

High Margin | Atrica

Canada
Turkey

Other European
countries




HIGH POTENTIAL DISCIPLINES
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In addition to the below, during 2021 we also have classified three disciplines as large, high potential disciplines. We categorise
markets or disciplines as large, high potential when they are large-scale eccnomies, there is a positive track record and there is
attractive conversion rate potential,

As such, during 2021 we classified Healthcare & Lifesciences and Technology as farge, high potential disciplines. These will be
strategic areas of focus for the Group going forward.

Airn for high
conversion rates,
Headcourt
investment reflects
gross profit growth
and market
condilions.

Respond to market
conditions, focus
~on high margir
T opportuntties.

Collectively return to
2007 peak levels of
operating profit and
conversion rates,;
equivalent to ¢. 456%
of Group gross profit/
fee earners.

Invesiment responsive
to market conditions.
Expected to represerd
¢.15% of Group gross
profit/fee earners; 30%
conversion rates, -

Gross profit decreased 3% for the
year compared to 2019, though
was up 41% vs. 2020. Compared to
2019, trading conditicns remainad
tougher in the UK {-5%), France
(-9%). Australia (- and the
Netherlands {(-5%). ai of which have
sizeable Page Personnel busingsses
which were mors heavily impacted
by the pandemic, ltaly and Spain
gelivared strong growth, up 8% and
16% respactively varsus 2018,

Gross profit increase of 12%

for the year compared to 2019,
India and Japart delivered the
standout resulis in this category,
up 61% and 25% respectively vs,
2019, Elsewhere, we saw strong
recoveries in most markets, with

the UAE up 8% and FPoland +44%,

Continue to drive future
growth through existing
capacity, as well as
improving productivity
and therefora our
conversion rates.

‘Continued focus on

growth and ensuring .
we deliver high :
conversion rates.
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Strategic Review

MARKET DYNAMICS

The professional recruitment sector has always been highly sensitive 1o fluctuating economic conditions and is strongly influenced by client
and candidate confidence. Market liquidity can change rapidlly, whether in terms of candidate confidence or avalability of jobs.

It can also be localised, by gecgraphy or discipling, and differ between temporary and permanent placemants in the same market.

In a number of geographic regions, such as Graater China or Latin America, our potential markets are very large, yet relatively immature,
This provides not only significant market share opportunities, but also chalienges in areas such as business develapment, New markets can
take time to reach maturity, but the advantages of being an early mover and being able to build scale can be considerable,

As well as the influence of the general macro-economic environment on business activity, there are a number of market-based drivers that
can materially impact financial periormance. These are split into elements which affect market liquidity and those which influence consultant
productivity and thersfore gross profit. It is the nature of the professional recruitment market that strong market conditions will see drivers
align in both elements and this can have a dramatic impact on our overall performance.

MPACT |
Y

Fees/rates © \Wago inflation , Time to hire

Group average B Roflauts feval of oandidate As candidates become searcer,

typically moves . shortage and liguidity within companias shiorten the duclsiun

within & 10% range a particular discipling or making process in order not to

over the cycle gaography, plus macro- loss preferred candidates. This

(19.5%~22%]). economic conditions. " is particularly nottueable in 2021,
with video interviewing reducing
time 1o hire.

®- FINANCIAL IMPACT - o

Notable influence on both gross profit and alse conversion rate. Productivity. especially in
parmanent recruitment, is sigrificantly enhanced as these market drivers align positively.




CAPITAL ALLOCATION POLICY

The Group's strategy is to operate a policy of
financing the activities and development of the
Group from our retained eamings and to maintain
a strong balance sheet position. We first use our
cash 1o satisfy our operational and investment
requirements and to hedge our liabilities under the
Group's share plans.

We then review our liquidity over and above this
requirement to make returns to shareholders,
firstly by way of ordinary dividends. Qur policy

is to grow the ordinary dividend over the course
of the economic cycle, in line with our iong-term
growth rate. We believe this will enable us to
sustain the level of ordinary dividend payments
during a downturn, as well as increasing it during
more prosparous times.

Cash generated in excess of these first two
priorities will be returned to shareholders through
supplementary raturns, using special dividends or
share buybacks.,

PageGroup Annual Report and Accounts 2021
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Page Outsourcing

Page OQutsourcing

We have invasted stratagically in our Page Outsourcing brand over the past year. We believs that Recruitment Process Outsourcing (RPO)
and Managed Senvice Provision (MSP) services wil become ingreasingly important channels to meet the needs of large clients in both
mature and developing markets, Our flexible recruitiment outsourcing solution includes a range of recruitment activities, including these
focused on high volume as well as more specialist solutions. Our offering is comprised of 3 canponents: Outsowrsing Sclutions, which
include RRG. MSP and Total Talent Management {TTM], Project on Demand, which includes RPO Lits, and Cutsourcing Consultancy
solutions.

Following any economic event, demand for outsoursing services incroases as businesses look for agility and cos! efficisncies. The latest
statistics indicats the global recruitment outsourcing industry is worth over £20bn and is expacted 1o grow ©. 18% annually until 2027,
We therefors believe that now is the perfect time o invest further in Page Outsourcing. Olly Harris joined the Group in Q3 2020 as our
new Page Qutscurcing Managing Director, vinging over 20 years of experience In the recruitment industry, with the fast 10 speciiically
managing the recruitment outsourcing arm of the Robert Wakiars Group. Oliy's vision for the brand is 1o build & markst Jsading cutsourcing
business, underpinned by the wider PageGroup infrastructure.

The Group's global footprint, combined with strong permanent and temporary capability across a breadth of seciors, positions us well 10
build this outsourcing arm of the business. Additionally, the Group's recent investment in back office infrastructure and techinology enéables
us 1o offer large-scale giobal outsourcing soutions for cur clhents.

Wharsas our tves recruiting brands work divectly with end clients, outsourcing primarily works onsite, owning several, or all, of the chent's
recruitment needs. As well as managing the traditional agency channels on behalf of the client. many roles are filed via non-agency
channels, for example, internat moves, referrals or diract recruitment via a clignt’s website or Linkedlin, We work alongside our clients to
agree the recruitment strategy and the appropriate sourcing channels, and then deliver accordingly. Mature buyers of this service may fill
around 90% of their hiring through these non-agency channels. Therein Page Outsourcing brings incrermental fees into the Group and is
strongly supporied by our other thres global brands to provide access 1o permanent, temporary and interim candidates across different
disciplings and lavels,

With the pandemic recovery and ongoing candidate shortages, we sée sighificant growth oppoertunity in 2022 and beyond. Racruitment
oulsourcing provicies our clients with agiity. cost effiectiveness and scale o meet recruitment needs. It provides key beneits in terms

of governanse and pracess, including shorter time to hire, full visibiity of the hiring process and an end-to-end recruitment solution.
Going forward, Page Outsourcing will continug 10 be a kay area of invesiment and strategic focus for the Group, as we expand into new
geographies and disciplines,

OUTSCURCING MODEL
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Data and Technology

Al PageGroup, we racognise the importance of data and technology in our business, be it via automation of processes or
as a source of diffgrentiation. Qur consultants need to feel empowerad to make better and faster decisions, and this in tum
ensures we provide the best customer service to both our clients and candidates.

Hoday oifejes

We are on a continuous journgy with our data and technology capabilities and have made significant progress in this

area in 2021, Our integrated suite of tools use Al dala and a positive user experience to do more of the heavy lifting on
behalf of our consuitants, making us an attractive employer and leaving them to focus on what they do best: building
humnan relationships, Customer Connect, our core aperating system, s now used by over 85% of our fee sarners, with
the remaining markets of France and Latin America scheduled to go lve by the end of Q2 2022, We beligve that having
all our consultants operating on a high-performing system with a single customer view, will contribute towards our goal of
increasing productivity, :

e Integrated sales and marketing
v Pagelnsights system with Salesforce at its centre

/(Mm:;t\m N%igte
| customer
connhect

[ o it

salesforce ‘ﬂ\’

Bullhorn

NextGen -

Pagelnsights Is our uniquz business ingligancea togl q
that comiings our internal data with relevan® external ) P ag el n S i g htS

data to provide meaningful insights to our teams, For
example, it identifies sectors and clients where our
consuitants shou'd focus thair efforts and highlights
the latest market pressures around key roles. The
insights provided enable our teams 1o have relevant

conversations and build appropriate action plans, ® Customer z Finance

thersby supporting our clients tc plan their talent . .
neads. \®/ Insights -~ Insights

-

The ongoing standard.sation of our data and
technciogy 160!s is critcal to allew us to scale future
opportunities faster, |t drives effective and efficient -
deployment of new functionality as standard for all “"y lﬂSlQhTS
markets, It alse allews for easier development and ’

launch of innovation. For example, the launch of

data labs to examl.'je how da‘.a can drive activity, ‘ . ® Market @ Marketlng
the use of automation to reduce mundane tasks, of \e insights Insights

the delivery of relevant insights and anavhes to the e i

recruiter. We are excited about the future of our data

and technology inffiatives and this will continue to be

a strong focus ared for the Group. These initiatives _ H Tem
enable us to put the customer at the centre of what ./. ?pEI;]atltlonal _ v J\ , |I$ h ﬁts
we do and allows us to address ever-evolving client vt nSIg S ) Slg

and candidate demand.

. Global s2+ Leadership
@ -}" Insights
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Key Performance Indicators

We medasure our progress against our strategic objectives using the following key performance indicators:

FINANCIAL

Gross profit growth {%)*

* Increase In gross profit in constant currency over the frior year

How measured:

Gross profit growth represents revenue less cost of sales expressed as the
percentage change over the prior vear. It consists principally of placemesnt
fees for permanent candidates and the margin earned on the placement of
temporary candidates.

Why it's important:

This metric indicates the degree of income growth in the business. [t
can be impacted significantly by foreign exchange movernents in our
international markets. Gonsequentiy, we look at both reported and
constant currency metrics.

How we performed in 2021:

Gross profit increased +49.1% in constant currencies and +43.8% in
reported rates (against 2018: +7.0% in constant currencies and +2.6%
reported ratas). This was due to the impravement in trading conditions
coming out of the COVMID-18 pandermic.

Relevant strategic objective:
Organic growth.

Gross profit diversification (%)

Ex-UK Ex-Accounting and
Financiat Services

67.9%

Ex-Finance

How measured:

Total groas profit from: &} geographic regions outside the UK; and b)
disciplines outside of Accounting & Financial Services, each expressed as a
percentage of total gross profit.

Why it's important:
These percentages give an indication of how the business has diversified its

revenue streams away from its historic concentrations in the UK and from
the Accounting & Financial Services disciplines.

How we performed in 2021:

Geographies: The percentage decreased slightly to 85.4% from 88.7%
it 2020, largely as a result of the UK being impacted mare severely by the
COVID-19 pandemic in 2020.

Disciplines: The percentage increased to 67.9% from 65.2% in 2020, as
the Group saw significant growth in disciplines such as Technology during
2021.

Relevant strategic objective:

Diversification,

How measured:

Profit for the year attributable to the Group’s equity shareholders, divided by
the weighted average number of shares in issus during the year.

Why it’s important:

This measures the undeslying profitability of the Group and Lhe progress
madie ayanst the pricr year,

How we performed in 2021:

The Group saw a more than 100% increase in Basic EPS to 37.2p, due to
the strong performance during the year.

Relevant strategic objective:

Sustainable growth.

(e



Cash (Em)
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How measured:
Cash and short-term deposits.

Why it’s important:

The lavel of cash reflects cur cash genegration and conversion
capabilities and our success in managing our working capital.

it determines our ability to reinvest in the business, to return
cash to shareholders and to ensure we remain financially robust
through cycles.

How we performed in 2021:

Cash decreased to £154.0m (2020: £166.0m). The Group
generated strong cash in 2021 and this balance is net of interim
and special dividends paid, totalling £100.2m.

Relevant strategic objective:

Sustainable growth.

Ratio of permanent vs
temporary placements

e e

77

2018 73

STRATEGIC

Fee earner headcount
growth (%)

-14.6 2020

2018

How measured:

Gress profit from each type of placement expressed as a
percentage of total gross profit.

Why it’s important:

This ratio reflects both the current stage of the econormic

cycle and our geographic spread, as a number of countries
culturally have minimal temporary placements. It gives a guide
as to the operational gearing potential in the business, which is
significantly greater for permanent recruitment.

How we performed in 2021:

| he ratw increased to 77:23 (2020: 72:28). This is driven hy
the pust-pandermc recovery being more weighted towards
permanent recruitment, with temporary, particularly at lower
salary levels, taking longer to recover.

Relevant strategic objective:
Diversification.

How measured:

Number of fee earners and directors involved in revenue-
generating activities at the year end, expressed as the percentage
change compared to the prior year.

Why it's important:

Growth in fee earners Is a guide to our confidence in the business
and macro-economic cutiook, as it reflects cur expectations as
to the levsi of future demand for our servicas above the existing
capacity within the business.

How we performed in 2021:

Net fee earnar headcount increased by 937, or +18.2% in the
year, resulting in 6,082 fee earners at the end of the year. We have
continued to invest, particularly in certain areas of the Group such
as Technolegy, Contracting, Healthcare and Life Sciences, and
Digital, adding over 700 expertienced fee earners to the Group in
the year.

Relevant strategic objective:
Sustainable growth.
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Key Performance Indicators

STRATEGIC

Gross profit per fee earner (£'000) How measured:
Gross profit divided by the average number of fee-generating staff,

calcuiated on a roling monthiy average basis.

Why it’s important:

This is our indicator of productivity, which is affected by levels of
activity in the market, capacity within the business and the number of
recently hired feg sarners who are not yet at full productivity. Currency
movements can also impact this figure.

How we performed in 2021:

Protuctivity increased +43.7% to £157.2k (2020: £113.3K). This
productivity increase is a result of our strategic initiatives and
investments made in recent years and our strategy of maintaining
our operating platform through the pandemic, combined with the
improved trading conditions in 2021.

Relevant stralegic objective:

Crganic growth.
Fee earner:operational How measured:
support staff ratio The percentage of fes earners compared to operational support staff
at the year end, exprassed as a ratio,
Suppart Why it's important:
m This reflocts the operational efficiency in the business in terms of cur
ability to grow the revenue-generating platform at a faster rate than the

staff neaded to support this growth.

How we performed in 2021:

The ratio increased 1o 78:22 frorm 77:23 in 2020, This was driven by
+18.2% fee earner headcount growth, as well as benefiting from our
operational support initiatives. Fee earner joiners included the addition
of over 700 experienced hires during the year. Operational support
headcount increased by 207,

Relevant strategic obiéctive:
Sustainable growih.

Conversion rate (%) How measured:

Oporating profit {FRIT) expressed as a percentage of gross profit.
Why it’s important:

This reflects the level of foe-samer productivity and the Group's

effectiveness at controlling costs in the business, together with the
degree of investrment being made for future growth.

How we performed in 2021:

The Group's conversion rate increased to 19.2% (2020: 2.8%), driven
by the significant increase in gross profit as a result of the trading
performance. The convarsion rate improved significantly as the year
progressed, with a H2 conversion of 22.0% compared with a H1
conversion rate of 15.9%.

Relevant strategic objective:
Sustainaple growth.



PEOPLE

Employee index

Positive engagement scare

82%
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How measured:

A key output of the employee surveys undertaken peariodically withir
the business.

Why it's important:
A positive working environment and motivated team helps productivity and
encourages retention of key talent within the business.

How we performed in 2021:

We recorded an 82% positive score for employee engagement in the latest
Employee Engagement Survey in 2021. This compares with 83% in the last
equivalent survey performed in 2019. The 2021 survey was a combination

of questions, including: how valued our peopte feft; how proud they were to
work for PageGroup; and how they can see their work relates to PageGroup’s
purpose of changing lives for peopls through creating opportunity to

reach potential.

Relevant strategic objective:
Sustainable growth,

Management experience

W 13.0 years
12 IS

12.5

P IS
S

1
11

)
.
years

GHG EMISSIONS

To become carbon net zero
by 2026

Energy derived emissions - CO,e
tonnes per 1,000 employees

How measured:
Average tanure of front-office management measured as years of service for
directors and above.

Why it's important:

Experiance through the economic cycle and across both geographies

and disciplines is critical for an organic cyclical business operating across

the globe. Qur organic business model relies on an experienced management
pool to enable fiexibility in resourcing and senior management succession

planning.
How we performed in 2021:

The average tenure of the Group's management increased to 13.0 years
{2020: 12.3 years).

Relevant strategic objective:
Talent and skills development.

How measured:
Direct and Indirect GHG emissions calculated in line with the GHG Protocol.

Why it's important:
The emissions calculations look at the CO,e impact of our operations in
absolute terms.,

How we performed in 2021:

Total GHG emissions {scope 1, 2 and 3) reduced by 17% to 8,396 tonnes
CO,2 and combined scope 1 & 2 emissions reduced by 22% to 3,403 tonnas
CO,s. Reductions have been driven primarily by the transition of cur offices to
renawable energy and a continued reduction in business travel,

Relevant strategic objective: Sustainable growth.
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Q&A with Steve Ingham, CEO

introduction

Steve Ingham has led PageGroup since
2006 and his tenure makes him one of

the most experienced CEOQs in the FTSE
250. Steve'’s career with PageGroup spans
over three decades. When he joined,

the Company had just 240 staff in three
countries,

Driven t¢ create cpportunity for people,
regardless of background, he has played
an integral role in building a truly glebal
business with a headcount of just under
8,000 employees across 37 countres.
Under Steve, the business has expanded
and diversifisd while maintaining its ethos
of rewarding collaborative teamwork and
inclusivity.

Following a near-fatal skiing accident in
March 2019, Steve is a wheelchair user

and understands first-hand the importance
of employers’ commitment to workplace
diversity and the nesd for opportunities to be
presented 1o the disabled workfarce and the
barriers that they face.

PageGroup Annual Report and Accounts 2021

How did you recover so
quickly from 20207?

When the pandemic started to impact
our businessas globally, we performed a
rapid COVID impact assessment, from
which we reacted swiftly by protecting
and investing in the platform. We have
continued to invest strategically in the
business over the past 18 months, and

We have continued

to invest strategically
in the business over

the past 18 months,
and this positioned

us for the great
results in 2021. [w [ﬁ

¢

this pasitioned us for the great results
in 2021, and as we enter 2022 and
beyond. Clearly, some of the results
we have delivered have benefitted from
an element of pent-up demand, which
we believe we have maximised, but,
nonetheless, the recovery is continuing
at pace.

There is no doubt that the current
recovery is different to that experienced
previously coming out of the global
financial crisis. However, wea have also
invested significantly over the last

10 years to change the structure and
footprint of the Group. In 2012, when we
first announced our vision to focus on
our 5 Large, High Potential geographical
markets of Greater China, Germany,
Latin America, South East Asia and the
US, they represented just 12% of the
Group. Today, they represent arcund
40%, and of course the Group is

much bigger.

More racently, strategic initiatives such
as our hew High Potential Discipling
categories of Technology and Healthcare
& Life Sciences, as well as our
experienced hire programme and Fage
Cutsourcing, all mean we are better
aligned to the current market needs.
Alongside this, the transformation of
both our technology platforms and
optimised operational support structures,
place us in an excellent position fo
maximise current market conditions.
This investment in technology provides
us a great advantage in finding additional
candidaies in a candidate-short market.
We continue to assess, evaluate and
adopt new innovation, including areas
such as Al and autornation via Bots.

Our move Into the RPO and MSP
market through our Page Outsourcing
brand allows us to tap info a new area
of the market, using the power of the
Page brand and broad geographic and
discipline coverage. In addition, further
leveraging the back-office investments
we have made in recent years should
ensure delivery will, in time, have a
conversion rate in ling with the wider
Group. We also strategicalty invested in
experienced hires, which have brought
great benefits to the Group.

What is your outlook for 20227

We believe strongly that the decisions
and actions we took during the
pandemic have positioned the Group
to recover more guickly and take
rmarket share. The markets we are
focused on have strong fee rates and



huge potential for growth. This highly
profitable growth continues to drive

our strong cash generative business
model, which should enable us to make
further supplementary cash returns to
shareholders in the future.

There continues to be a high degres of
global macro-economic uncertainty as
COVID-19 remains a significant issue
and restrictions remain in a number

of the Group’s markets. However, we
are maintaining cur focus on driving
progress towards our leng-term

strategic goals.

What progress have you
made in the area of ESG?

We have made significant steps forward
in the area of ESG this year. We have
built a new sustainability function which
delivered our first sustainability report
for the Group, allowing us to showcase
all of our ESG work. We are also seeing
the emergence of ESG as a recruitment
market, and by being at the forefront

of this industry, we are helping the best
candidates get the best roles. This in
turn helps our clients and allows tham
to combat climate change.

We have linked our global strategy to
the UN sustainable development goals
and have signed up to the UN global
compact. We are carbon neutral and
are committed to be carbon net-zero,
with the ambition to be carbon positive,
by 2026. We are making great progress
in this area and 77 of our offices are
now either supplied by renewable
energy or graen certified, representing
around 53% of our global office
footprint.

Wa continue to help the markst break
down barriers to employment through
LinkedIn workshops and GV writing
waorkshops with charities and schoals,
Through all of this work on ESG, we
have set ourselves an ambitious goal
to change over 1 million lives globally,
within 10 years.

What have you been doing in
the area of D&I?

inclusion is at the heart of Page and
our cukture puts cur people first. We
are hugely proud of our reputation as
an inclusive employer, as well as a
professional and ethical recruiter. Caring
about society and the environmant and
giving back to the communities where
we live and work has always been part
of aur PageGroup DNA.

As a recruiter we are in a position of
influence. We are actively committed
to diversity and inclusion and we are
privileged to also be able to support
and promote diversity, inclusion

and awareness of ethical processes
and behaviours for our customers
and society as a whole, We have

a dedicated D&l function with
representation from across the Group.

We are actively committed to D&l with
a proportion of all senior management
bonuses link to gender balance.

We have regular pulse surveys

to understand the views of our
people, and have accelerated carser
programmes and promotion targets
related to gender. We have reverse
mentoring and training pregrammas in
place throughout the Group, helping
senior management understand the
different views of our people.

Inclusion is at the
heart of Page and

our culture puts our

people first.

¢

One example this year, is our new
Executive Shadow Board. The aim of
the Shadow Board is to bring together
paople who can offer a different
perspective on key business issues.
The purpose is to discuss solutions
and make recommendations on topics
that are key to the future success of
the business. Shadow Board members
are actively involved in idea generation
and follow through — there are no
constraints and no fixed agendas. It
creates a regular platform to share their
views, be heard, have a seat at the
table, be the voice of diverse employees
and the unique opportunity to offer
different perspectives and increase
diversity of thought.

The members are truly diverse with
raprasentation across race, age,
gender, LGBTQ+, social background,
disability, geography and length of
service. It gives a true global and
regicnal view of the Group. They

PageGroup Annua' Repori and Accounts 2021

are empowered to lead, they have
ownership and accountability to use the
Board to steer and guide — not to direct.

Why did you choose to invest
in experienced hires, and
what is your plan for this area
going forward?

Based on the feadback we were
receiving at the end of Q2 last year, it
was clear that many of our competitors
were making short-term, knee-jerk
decisions that were negatively affecting
the engagement and morale of their
workforce. This presented us with a
unigue opportunity te bring in talent
which would position us well as the
market recovered.

This programme allowed us to add over
1,100 experienced hires to the Group,
whe have added ¢. £77m to gross
profit in 2021, These experienced hires
have brought numerous benefis to the
Group. Firstly, on average they reach full
productivity faster than someone who
joins us from outside our industry.

They also bring numerous softer
benefits to the Group, which have
contributed to our strong results in
2021. These are individuals who are
already experienced in their recruitment
career and have therefore already
decided that recruitment is for them.
As such, attrition is substantially lower.
There is also a much lower need for
training and this creates a significant
time saving.

Bringing in consultants who have
worked for two or three other
recruitment companies highlights to
existing employees that the tools,
culture and careers availiable at Page
are bstter than they could expect
elsewhere. Many joined us from
smaller boutique agencies, and these
individuals have brought new custormer
relationships to us, which we have boen
able to take to the next level due to our
breadth of offering.

In the future our strategy is, where
possible, to recruit experienced hires,
supplemented by both graduates and
recruits from outside of our industry.
This will further support our plans for
the disciplines and markets where we
see tha most potential for growth during
2022 and beyond.
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Our Culture & Engagement Framework

Culture & Engagement Framework

OUR PURPOSE OUR VALUES

WHY WE DO WHAT WE DO THE WAY WE DO WHAT WE DO

Reflected in everything we do,
setting us apart from our competition

WE MAKE A DIFFERENCE
WE ENJOY WHAT WE DO
PAGEGROUP
WE VALUE DETERMINATION
CHANGES LIVES
WE ARE PASSIONATE
WE WORK AS A TEAM

Hueping ua an trocik, O PEQRLE
fovussd un Contimun.s
o Ut " Fmployee voice v Changing lives, giving
o co AR ) back to o
. Retention ¢ thers

- Career progression & .~ Pewards & Recogniticn
mobility v Sustainability
- Talent Development .~ Health & Wellbeing

+ Diversity & Incluzion
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OUR PEOPLE

AN INCLUSIVE WORKPLACE
WHERE EVERYONE CAN THRIVE

PageGroup is all about people

Creating opportunities to engage with people
through key life moments; having valuable
cornversations — more frequently and with
mare relevant dialogus.

CAREER PROGRESSION
Transparent and meritocratic career paths

TALENT DEVELOPMENT
Industry-leading training

DIWERSITY & INCLUSION
A culture of inclusion

REWARDS & RECOGNITION

Celebrating success; fostering a high-trust,
high-performance culture

HEALTH & WELLBEING

Ensuring our people are supported and fesl
cared for

GIVING BACK TO OTHERS

Changing lives in the communities where we
lve and work

CUR CUSTOMERS |

+ Engaging our customers -
NPS, customer satisfaction

+ Retaining our customers
— repeat husiness, Preferred |
Supplier Agreements :

Y Innovation

5
i

o

5

-OUR CUSTOMERS

EXTE

+ Awards
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STAYING AHEAD ~ _
LEADING OUR INDUSTRY

Customers at the centre of our buginess

Aiming to be the most customer-centric recruiter,
setting us apart from the competition by delivering
an excellent experience for our customers. Staying
ahead - leading our industry to best support our
sustormers.

Improving processes and tools to support consultant
preductivity through:

LEVERAGING TECHNOLOGY
Improving our customer experience

INNOVATIVE ARPROACHES
Providing a more effective service

BUILDING RELATIONSHIPS

Going further to build lasting relationships with our
clients, candidates and consuitants

Through a personal, professional service, creating
the opportunity for candidates and clients to reach
their potential

ERNAL RECOGNITION

+* Public commitments
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Our Culture

Our culture puts people — all our peaple — and teamwork first, and we are hugely proud of our reputation as an inclusive employer as well
as a professional and ethical recruiter.

Our purpose is to change lives for peopla through creating opportunity to reach potential and we do that every day — for our own peogple,
for our candidates and clients, and for society as a whole.

The way we do things — our values — are reflected in everything we do, all over the werld, They're an integral part of our business and help
set us apart from our competitors.

As a recruiter we are in a position of influence. We are actively committed to diversity and inclusion and we are privileged to also be able to
support and promote diversity, inclusion and awareness of ethical processes and behaviours for our customers and society as a whofe,

OUR PURPOSE ] Our Purpose is why we do what we do. It's the reason we are

in business and it is embedded in the minds and the everyday
WHY WE DO WHAT WE DO language of cur people across the world.

( ( We formally introduced our PageGroup Purpose
 at the end of 2017 and it resonates so strongly
with our people that since then it's become part
of the everyday language at Page.

We will keep investing in our pecple and our
' Stéve Ingham customers as we pursue our purpose to change
| CEO : lives for people through creating opportunity to
' : reach potential. 5— 5

The way we do what we do — our values
OUR VALUES have always been an integral part of

THE WAY WE DO WHAT WE DO PagsGroup culture, and they aways will be.

A lot has changed since we started business in
1976, but our values have always underpinned
the way we work. They’re embedded In our career
progression and talent development processes
and demonstrated through the way we reward
and recognise great performance. That has a
direct, positive impact on our customer service
and in our latest ‘Have Your Say’ survey, nearly
80% of our people agreed that our values match
the culture of PageGroup.
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OUR PEOPLE &
3
AN INCLUSIVE WORKPLACE WHERE EVERYONE CAN THRIVE %
- . —— o
Inclusion is at the heart of Page — we want to lead our industry as a diverse -
and inclusive community where everyone can thrive,
We're proud of our commitment Sarah Kirk I
to diversity, equity and inclusion Director
and our relentless focus on .
supporting and promoting a s
culture and working environment T
where all our employees feel %
valued and heard, and feel that "
they befong. :
We have worked hard over the years to create an inclusive culture of trust and compassion ’
and a working environment where all our people feel valued, have a voice, are heard, -
belong, feel comfortable being themselves and can reach their potential. 2
H

SHADOW BOARD

This year we introduced cur Shadow Executive Board, in addition to the Shadow Boards we have launched in seven countries,
This initiative helps the Board to hear a different viewpoint from a diverse group of people and ensures different voices are E
represented on key business issues and in the strategic decision making of the business.

¥

‘ ‘ The Shadow Executive Board is like a dream come true.
To be able to work with twelve so different yet so similar
colleagues from across the globe, all with the one agenda
of driving change, has been a phenomenal learning. We're
all actively involved in idea generation and feedback on
Nupur Mehta strategic topics that are key to the future success of Page. , ,
Director, India

R TR SN
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Shédc;ﬁf Executive Board

FAEELES 4 1




Pagcﬁroup AanLz ort and Accounts 2021

Our Culture

OUR PEOPLE

Women@Page

Gender equality is a key focus for us and we have signed up to the
UN Gicbal Compact Network with a gender target of 50/50 in senior

feadership roles by 2030. We are also proud to have been invited to

join Target Gender Equality ~ a gender equality accelerator progranime ‘ ‘ it is fantastic to have someone who can
aimed at setting and reaching ambitious corporate targets for women's guide you with different perspectives
representation and leadership. about work and life beyond the daily

Our Global Female Mentoring Programme, launched in 2013 to operational focus. It definitely helps me
engage, enable and empower our female leaders, currently has over a lot to develop and evolve further in the

330 successful partnerships. The programme has directly impacted . . . .
retention with several mentess telfling us it is the reason they have right d'reCtlon"' think everyone should
stayed at Page and mentors sharing that they have changed their have a mentor! , ,

leadership style having lookad at the world from a different perspective.

This year will ses the launch of our Globat Female Career Sponsorship

programme, supporting our commitment to accelerating the Emma Wu

prOQras_SJon of women into senior leadership roles, and we w_m continue Associate Director,

1o highlight and celebrate women across PageGroup to continue .
Greater China

raising awareness and engagement.

Unity@Page

Cur Unity@Page strategy includes our Reverse Mentoring Proyrasnnie. This succossful initiative invnlvas our culturally diverse employecs
mentoring our senior leaders. In the UK our mentees are members of the senior management team and UK based Executive Board
members.

‘ ‘ The Reverse Mentoring programme is excellent. Such a powerful tool to shape
mindsets and behavicurs of our seniur leadershlp leun. In my casc, my mentee
is a member of the Executive Board. It’s great to be able to discuss real action
around how to escalate having better racial diversity in leadership roles. , ,

.

- ~

Marcus Johnson
Senior Operating Director, UK

We have signed the Race at Work Charter and have put in place Unity Steering Committees. Across PageGroup our initiatives have
seen the UK participating in the #10000 Black Interns programme and suppurding Dlack History Month including & live webinar ‘Proud to
be ~ Black & British’. In May 2021 the USA and UK hosted an event celebrating Worid Culture Day with performances from some of our
incredibly talented employess.
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Pride@Page o
A
8&:2"9%1;’1:;3?;‘23 ixmﬁmzﬁ o ‘ ‘ Living a culture where everyone can be themselves
. ) ) e
supporting and prometing e Message is part of PageGroup. That’s w}xy I'm motrv:';lted,
of acceptance without exception. Every engaged and proud of the environment we've
year we celebrate Pride Month in support created, allowing this company not only to change
of the LGBTQ+ community across the our employee’s lives, but also candidates’ and clients’
world. We focus our activities on raising lives with the same spirit. -~
awareness, sharing personal stories , , &
and expariences, as well as signposting ’Z
access to advice and support. In Juan ignacio Silva i
February 2021 we ran a Global Live : : nd Panama <
Event which included very personal and HR Director, Mexico and Pa -
moving contributions from our senior .
LGBTQ+ role models and allies. }g
5
3
1]
Families@Page 2
Wa strive to foster a work environment that is supportive of family life. We recently reviewed all our maternity and paternity 2
policies giobally, and our support includes free emergency child and elder care, pre and post maternity workshops and riew
parent seminars to help all parents at PageGroup understand the practical and emotional support that is available to them.
“ Page’s supportive culture has definitely made everything easier, especially
through our flexible working arrangements. This has given me the -
opportunity to adjust my working hours and location to best suit my =
needs {or | should say my daughter’s} and my team’s needs — having an §
understanding manager and a group of supportive peers is invaluable. , , £
B
Yang Chen v
GTS Manager, Singapore 3
@
.
ks
Ability@Page
Our Ability@Page network is aimed at raising awareness of the barriers ‘ ‘
in the workplace faced by individuals with disabilities — both visible and it's great that Page takes
invisible — focusing tn ability rather than disability. wellbeing seriously and is
Wa have signed the Valuable 500 Pledge to raise awareness of disability committed to supporting the
inchusion, have started an internship programime with Ambitious About mental health and wellbeing
o ey oy g o L4 L of our amployecs by
i e i ing in trainin h as
Clear Assured, and this yaar we received accreditation as a Disability leveihlna ml:ha;'?'l ?:::jc a
Gonfident Leader — the highest level of the government Disability ental Hea Irs . , ,
Confident Scheme.
QOur CEO, who is a wheelchair user, iz active in lobbying for greater J ine Ti
workplace inclusivity for all. H??szme impano
nager,
Each year we support World Mental Health Day with a global awareness a_ ager, s
campaign, and we have a network of Mental Health Champions and Australia
Mental Health First Aiders. In December, all regions participatad in raising
awarenass of the Internationat Day of Persons with Disabilities.

_
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Our Culture

OUR PEOPLE

GENDER DIVERSITY

\f 3

Senior Management
4

Other Employees
A

2021 |6{625%) . |[8(37.5%) , 2021 | 448 {62Z%) | 271 (3B%) 2021 | 3,212 (42%) | 4,441 58%)
2020 |5 (52.5%) 3 (37.5%) 2020 | 349 (72%) 139 (28%) 2020 | 2,867 {44%:) | 3,705 (56%)

Throughout 2021 we have continued to monitor our progress in gender diversity. We are pleased to report that key metrics are improving.
For example, 30.3% of cur most senior population as defined by the Gorporate Governance Code are famale (28.3%, 2020). Our Associate
Directors and above, who represent our senior giobal emplayee population is 38% female. Damanstrating our commitment to gender
diversity the Group has set the goai of having 50:50 gender split in sénior management grades by 2030,

For further details on actians we are taking to improve female representation across the business please see pages 86 to 87.

TALENT DEVELOPMENT AND CAREER PROGRESSION

Career progression and talent develcpment are an integral part of
our culture. A clear and transparent career journey sits alongside
the developrent and support needed to help our pecple reach their
potential.

Our blended learning experience, supported by a digital learning
platform, means aur people can use a wide range of assets
designed to help them learn in a way that suits them. We are
constantly creating new content 10 provide the best and most
relevant support possible as needs change for our paople, our
business and sociaty as a whols,

Our annual talent review process underpins the development of
sach individual, supporting their caresr goals and strengthening our
leadership succession planning. Through a combination of readily
available internal resources and relationships with specialist third-
party providers, our development and recognition programme for
high potential employees and future leaders provides an integrated
coaching programme that helps emiced our culture of inclusion.

REWARDS & RECOGNITION

é g QOur Purpose states that ‘PageGroup changes
lives for people through creating opportunity
to reach potential’. That’s true for our own
people as much as it is for our candidates
and clients. That’s why we have a clear and
transparent career path with international
opportunities, supported by structured training
and development. We’re proud of our organic
growth and that we promote from within — most
of our senior leaders started their life with Page
as consuftants. § ?

Steoafian Tan

At PageGroup, reward is broader than financial outcomes. We understand the importance of recognising people for their talent, their
contribution and their success. Our reward structure is designed to suppart people, allowing them to grow and develop in their roles, with a

healthy and positive work life balance.

As with all things related to our people, we listen. In our all employee Have Your Say survey in 2021, they told us:

i

2021

24%

58%

18°%

Favourable] Neutral ' Unfavourable

58% 23% 19%

2021

During 2020, cur people made sacrifices to help kesp our business ready to take advantage of the post pandemic upturn. This year that
was at the centre of our decision making as we reviewed pay investment across our markets, and a return to paying bonuses.

Being at the forefront of the recruitment industry, we are weil aware of the importance of retaining talent, so we have been sure to ask our
own people their thoughts on what works for them and what benefits, caresr paths, services and support we can provide that will really

make a difference,

Ag a result we have continued our programmes recognising achievemnent, and added to them with virtual events and award schemes to
reinforce a culture and sense of belonging as we continue our hybrid working mode! within the ongeing restrictions of COVID-19.
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HEALTH & WELLBEING »
-
g
Cur flexible approach to working lite, supported by innovative technology, facilitates work-life balance and fosters self-davelopment -
and career growth. 8
Flexible benefits can be tailored by each individual to suit their lifestyle, and our celebration of success through rewards and 0
incentives helps promote a culture of teamwork and achievement. g
Across all regions, support for our people includes comprehensive Employee Assistance Programmes, mental health champions, 'g
support networks and global awareness campaigns. 3
Nothing is more important than the health and wellbeing of our people. That focus was a particular strength for us with the
emergence of the global COVID-19 crisis and has remained at the forefront of our engagement activities and planning.
Our very visible and approachable leadership team make use of all our communicaticn channels to stay in touch and, crucially,
we listen. Through our continuous listening strategy we ask our employees relevant questions at the relevant time to capture their -
feelings and feedback at the momenits that really matter. Those insights from our people drive genuine understanding, change
and improvement.
Cur 2021 all-employee ‘Have Your Say' survey showed an 11% increase compared to the 2018 survey in response to ‘PageGroup ’;,}
supports balancing work and perscnal life’. aff;
In October 2021, we recognised and supported World Mental Health Day with a global campaign and, at the same time, ran a ’E;
related global pulse survey on health and wellbeing. a
B
Weirie Wnatnd rénainh Day 3009 .
Results from the survey included: %
T6% re g
=3
. B
"
I feel | ca E
O =
84% i avo _
wME-.’?lS‘
C e WORLD
MENTAL -
HEALTH .
DAY 0
line managet
my health an b
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Our Culture

AT A GLANCE
;aunched o Unity@Page
hadoy\r oards Reversea
tg hear.dlfferent ' Mentoring
viewpoints from a diverse P
group of people across wifﬁ;?if:nme
PageGrouy|
agemowp Unity@Page
network
Our investment With our
in technology Continuous
allows all our people Listening
worldwide 1o work Programme

remotely we regularly ask our
employees how they're
feeling so we can
©59990000 prov@e the best
soc @ possible
support ‘ — E
(] =]

Awarded Best Places
to Work for LGBTQ+
equalkity in North America

LGBTQ+ Inclusion
Award 2020 -
GOLD Employer

in Australia
Recognised for disability and as a Disability
aquality with Clear Conlidenl
Assured GOLD Leader
7™\ dearassured 2217} disqbility
B8 confident
LEADER

—

(%)

Social Mobility
b3 E

N Rewards and Incentives
7 'ﬂ Programmes which promote a

cuiture of teamwork and achievement

Social Mobility Pledge
with Kelvin Stagg. CFO as senior
sponsor for Social Value

Over Encagement
scored € O/

+330 8B2%

parinerships in our all-employee

within our Have Your

Female Say Survey

Global :

Mentoring

Programme

9 1 0/0 of our people

feal we have implemented effective systems
for keeping connected with our customers
while working remctely

RED
RS

QOur #stayingconnected

programme helps us stay in
contact with each other and our STAYING

customers while working remotely CON NECTED

Awarded Top Awarded Best
Employers Places to Workin
Europs 2021 for8 Greater China 2020
colntries

Best
Workplaces

Great

Signed up to the Race and #10000 Black
at Work Charter Interns Programme
‘-;ACE AT WORK
CHARTE-I.!J

Hnanciat Times Top
100 Leader in
Diversity

N\

(1)

ATimes Top 50

Employer for
Women 2020




Our PageGroup Purpose resonates so
strongly with our people that it's become part
cf the @veryday languago at Page.

PAGEGROUP

CHANGES LIVES
84 % 89%

of our employees of our people

believe we are doing
. feel proud
what is neces t
saryfo to work for PageGroup

support osur
e~
YAk

customers
during 8@
COVID-19 > 8

Global DE&I campaigns including
International Women’s
Day, Pride Month, and
World Mental Health Day

Global Wellbeing o
Toolkit to support i 44 J% 49 / o
our employees wherever - 5//’ of managers and
they’re working TR 4 1 o /

[

Global Workplace

Flexibility programme @ globally are
gives our people more O, ferale

choice, agility and balance

Mental Health
Champion

Networks providing
support, mental health
resources, workshpps ar}d

seminars ~ @

Giving Back to
Others programmes
have included 220kg of
clothing donations, beach
clean-ups, charity cycle
tours and Movember

&7

resource centre to %

help support our people
during the global pandemic

-~

—

Global Networks gving a
forum where we can listen to our
people and act on their feedback
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7 9 0 / WE MAKE A DIFFERENGE
o WE VALUE DETERNMWATION

of our employess believe

our Values WE ARE PASSIONATE

represe 1l U cullure WE BNJOY WHAT WE DU

of PageGroup WE WORK AS A TEAM

Our CEQ Steve Ingham is
championing workplace
disability equality

Sustainability programme including
cycle to work schemes and
® Be Green committees

Global maternity
return rate

- 88% [,
-2

=

Mandatory

Global DE&I
training for our senior
leadership team

the clearcompany

A cutting-edge hlended
learning programme
supported by our digital leaming
platform

Families@Page
pregramme including parenting
seminars, maternity workshops,

free emergency childcare

CSR programme
inctuding using our
recruitment skills to
give CV, career and
interviewing advice to

those in need
>/ 0%

Flexibie Benefils

Programme can be
taiiored by our people to
suit their lifestyle
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Age@Page  Ability@Page
Families@Page Pride@Page
Unity@Page Women@Page
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Our Culture

CULTURE AND THE BOARD

The Board is responsible callectively for the Group's culture, At least twice a year the Board holds deep-dive sessions reviewing
and monitoring the status of the Group’s overall culture and enabling the Board to identify any relevant trends based on
movernent of key measuras tracked over tima.

These sessions focus on areas that are linked to our Purpose and Values and the Chief People Officer and Global Diversity,
Equity & Inclusion Director share data and their insights and views on the Group's culiure and engagement framework. Core
features of the review include retention and promotion data, DE&I metrics, training and welibeing programmes, annual and pulse
survey results inciuding employee satistaction ratings.

The regufarity of the sessions enables Board members to keep pace with, and challengs if necessary, the progress being made
on the programme of cultural and engagement initiatives running across tha Group, and to shape and decide future acticns.

EMPLOYEE & CUSTOMER VOICE

The Board ensures the employee voice s heard in the Boardroom through a wide range of activities and involvement. Each
and every member of the Board is responsible for engaging with the workiorce. Instead of adopting one of the three spacified
workforce engagerment methods set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”), the Board "works as a team”, in line
with one of our core values, and engages through the various methods and activities described below. The Board considers
this is the most effective engagement approach in the Company’s case as the rich mix of engagement activities provide more
meaningful dialogue with multiple points of contact with different members of the Board, ensuring that the Board is genuinely
clase to the Issues that matter mast t6 our psople.

Employee voice is strongly embedded into the work of all our main Board Directors, The Board has a standing agenda item for
Board members to share the employee voice activity that each has undertaken since the previous meeting. For 2021, Board
members report that there has been strong and effective engagement with the workforce throughout the year.

The Beard has continued to adapt its ways of interacting with employees using virtual tools, pioneered during the pandemic,
to enable wide engagement, having previously refied heavily on physical meetings and office visits.

The Group has continued running regular Global Live Events inviting the entire workforce to join these regular business updates
involving presentations from Executive and Non-Executive Directors who than answer questions which can be asked ‘live’ by
afl attendees.

Non-Executive Directors also attend a variety of ‘virtual’ tearm meetings across alt our regions, givityy them the opportunity,
first-hand, to see our culture at work.

The establishment of the Group’s shadow Executive Committee {or Shadow Executive Board as it is known within the Group)
has given a naw, frash medium for the Board to hear views and ideas frotm a diverse group uf people drawn from across
the business.

A number of our Non-Executive Directors have spoken and held informal interactive sessions at our interrial restwork
programmes such as the Senior Female Leaders Network and our Globat Live Events.

All these methods of engagement are supported by the reporting measures of vur culture framework, including annual and pulse
survey data. Board members are also on Yarmmer, our widely adopted internal socfal networking tuuf, whicl means they can
keen pace with events across the arganisation as they happen.

Qur approach to custorers is also a cornerstone of our culture; it is important that the Board understand and anticipate the
services needed by our customers, now and in the future.

The reporting produced via our internal data insight tocls gives the Board a far more comprehensive view than it has ever

had about our customers’ recruitrnent needs across all markets. 1his inciudes details of roles, seclurs and disuipiines in high
demand, along with the abitity 1o tailor those nesds to clients and candidates. The measures from these tools are combinad with
mara traditional metrics such as net promoter scores and Googlé reviews. The Board, Exeuulive Buerd and Chief Customer
Officer review all customer measures to ensure the Group's strategy and inveslinerd decisions match our custore necds

and expectations,

For further details of the Board's understanding of the Company's stakeholders, including employees and customers and their
engagement with them, pleass see pages 61 to 65.
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OUR CUSTOMERS

STAYING AHEAD ~ LEADING We can all remember that
- OUR INDUSTRY . moment of excitement when
we’re told “You got the job’.
The moment that means
we’re changing lives: for
our candidates and for our
clients. It fuels us to strive
' towards the best in customer
Eamon Collins ' _ experience, building long-term
Chief Customer relationships as careers grow
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ENVIRONMENT

Task Force on Climate related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)

PageGroup is committed to mesting the requirements for reporting in compliance with the Task Force for Climate related Finangial
Disclosure (TCFD). TCFD consistent disclosures are designed to allow stakeholders to assess the possible impact of cimate
change on the business as well as understand the steps we are taking to manags these risks. Disclosures consistent with each of
the TCFD recommendations and recommendation disclosures can be found on the fellowing pages.

GOVERNANCE A description of PageGroup’s governance, oversight and management of climate-
related risks and opportunities.

The plc Board provide ultimate oversight and governance over PageGroup, including the
Sustainability programme. The Board ensures the business balances risks and opportunities
across the entire spectrum of sustainability, focusing on where we can make a material
contribution to society. During 2021, sustainability was discussed at the Board twice.

This included presentations and in-depth Q&A sessions with the Head of Sustainability. (n
addition, the Non-Executive Directors participated in one-to-one discussions with the Head
of Sustainahility to ensure their broader expertise and insights were included in the overall
Sustainability function here at PageGroup. Furthermore, the Audit Cormmittee balance

the risk of climate change and of the broader definition of sustainability against the wider
risks pased to the Group as set out on pages 53 to 58, And finally, for 2022 and beyond,
the Remuneration Committee added sustainability metrics to the CEO and CFO ESIP
remuneration as set out in the annual Sustainability Report and on page 96. This ensures
Executive Director attention is focused on making meaningful progress against the Group’s
sustainability targets.

The Executive Beard as defined on pages 77 and 78, have day-to-day management of
PageGroup, including the Sustainability programme. The Executive Board ensures day-to-day
focus on sustainability at a local and regional level. During 2021, sustainabilty was discussed
at the Executive Board twice, This includad presentations and in-depth Q&A sessions with

the Head of Sustainability. This work is strengthened by the Head of Sustainability working
alongside the Regional Managing Directors to ensure local teams are supported, globally. This
allows local and regional teams to transition to Net Zero within therr line of responsibility as well
as drive significant progress in our social impact programmes.

PageGroup’s principal body for identifying, managing and addressing climate-related issues
is the Sustainability Committee. In 2020, PageGroup established a Sustainability Committee
responsible far the Sustainability@Page programme. The Committee is chaired by Kelvin
Stagg, Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director of PageGroup plc. Other members are
Joanna Bonnett {(Head of Sustainability), Eamorn Collins (Chief Customer Officer), Patrick
Hollard {Regional Managing Director LATAM), Gary James (Chief People Officer), and Olly
Watsaon (Chief Operating Officar). In January 2022, May Way Chan (Director, Malaysia) and
Samira Touam (Head of Internal Communications) will join the Sustainability Committee to
represent the voice of the employss. The Sustainability Committee reports to the plc Board
and the Executive Board on a bi-annual basis.

CLIMATE STRATEGY L . . - i
A description of climate-related risks and opportunities which PageGroup has

identified and their potential impact over the short, medium and long term,

Wae identify climate-related risks and opportunities within the following timelines:

Short-Term Risk (<1 year)

Immediate operational and strategic risks which require analysis and identification of mitigation
in the current or next financial reporting period. For instance, continued compliance with UK
tegislation for disclosure of carbon emissicons data and reporting in line with TCFD. Some
physical climate risks have aiready contributed to a reduction in revenue. For example, the
bushfires in Australia at the beginning of 2020 meant some of our employees along with wider
members of socisty within Ihe region were unable to carry en business as usual for a period of
a few days.
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Sustainability

CLIMATE STRATEGY Medium-Term Risk (1- 5 years)

Medium-term risks are those where mitigation actions ara not required immediately or where there

is a requirement for a longer-term process to integrate the risk or opportunity management inte the
business. Over the medium term, we foresee rengwable energy becoming more accessible for our
offices in emerging markets. This means we will continue 1o transition office electricity and our car
fleet across to renewable energy and electric respectively. This implies there wili be a smatl marginal
cost attached to transition. As has been the case in gecgraphies such as Europe, as the accessibility
of technologies such as renewable electricity for offices becomes mainstream, we would predict the
pricing to stabilise in a similar fashion. We will continue to closely moniter the costs associated with
climate change as the topic evolves.

Long-Term Risk ( > 5 years)

Longer-term risks are by their nature harder to define. However, we seg specific areas of risk and
opportunity impagcting the Group over a longer timescale. Beyond 2025 it is likely that both the
frequency and severity of climate change-related events will continue t¢ grow and require additional
planning for cur operational teams, for instance in applying appropriate due difigence to new office
leases, We also see opportunity within the changing nature of our markets, as governments and
business respond to climate change and have begun work to integrate sustainability recruitment into
existing business streams.

See page 44 for further detalls on existing climate risks.

RISK MANAGEMENT How are processes for identifying, assessing and managing climate-related risks integrated

into PageGroup’s overall risk management approach.

PageGreup has a Global management process which is operated by its senior management team
under the guidance and governance of the Audit Committes on behalf ¢f the Board. Management has
defined the princioal risks and risk appetite for PageGroup which has been agreed by the Board and
has put in place mitigating activities 16 manage our risks to an acceptable level. As well as angoing
review, a bi-annual process considers the status of these risks, any new or emerging risks and reports
on these to the Audit Committee.

Currently the impact of climate change is viewed as an emerging risk, The effects of climate change
current and potential future expasure are dealt with within the current principal risks of Custormer and
brands, Pecple, and Globa! event.

Risk surrounding climate and the environment sits with the Group Head of Sustainability. The process
to identify and assess climate and environmental risk includes but is not limited to speaking with
management of our local businesses and considering external factors for relevance. The bi-annual
process, as defined above, includes that of climate change and the environment and s reviewsd

for appropriateness by the Chair of the Sustainability Comrittee. We will continue to monitor the
appropriateness of this approach.

Within PageGroup’s risk management process climate risks are captured principally across three Risk categories.

STRATEGIC/
EMERGING

OPERATIONAL/
INHERENT RISKS

GLOBAL EVENT
{NEW PRINCIPAL RISK)

A strategic or emerg sk may regu shift in business mo N or change
within PageGroup. This nsk is one that we do not currently foresee. but acknowledge that it
coud ocur over 1or me Norzons,

Inherent ricks are those broadly identified and mitigated within the existing “business as usual”
planning. For instance, a disaster recovery plan for an office location affected by an extreme
weather svent, ' '

020 we identified a new risk category, that of global events, where an external event
cantly disrupts busingss and waorld economies. requirng a responss in
excess of ‘normal’ contingsncy planning. Many of the actions identfiied to mitigate against a
global event risk would also apoly in the event ot an ncréased Ikeinnod of physical linale
risks. These may be location spadihc i nATUrE But are llicreasingly seen &croes multipie looalz
simultanecusly. For instance, systems capaiiity that means we are nul ligd to facilities either
for our people or the services that we deliver.
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CLIMATE RISK During 2020, we began the work of identifying specific climate risks as an emerging risk (see
2020 Annual Report and Accounts on page 43}. During 2021, we have expanded on this

analysis to look at physical climate risk across our global property portfolio with our partners
Ecometrica. For further details on this work see the physical climate risk analysis on page
44, We have more to do, specifically around transition risk, i.e, those risks associated with
the transition from our current business model to one which is compatible with a low carbon
economy. Qur expectation is that the need to review and report on these risks will continue
to escalate.

podoy oibajeis

For further details refer to the principal climate risks and opportunities identified on pages
53 to H8.

The impact of climate-related risks and opportunities on the organisation’s
businesses, strategy, and tinancial planning.

PageGroup continues to integrate our sustainability initiatives into the wider business with

commitmeant to reduce our cartxon emissions to Net Zero by 2026 and to build 2 meaningful

sustainability business within our operations by 2026. This work continues and has accelerated

through 2021, with the aim of rolling out giobally as market conditions allow. Our Net Zero

strategy is to:

s Work with fandlords to transition all electricity from traditional to renewable sources. To
date, we have transitioned 53% of our offices to green, at little to no incremental cost.
The residual 47% of offices these can be categorised inte categories where landlords are
in contrel of the electricity supply and are not currently prepared to transition our power
supply to renewabie or in jurisdictions, such as emerging marksts, where renewable
energy is not readily available. For the former, we will continue to work with these landlords
or, when the lease expires, move to a more suitabls office in line with other business
considerations. And for the latter, we will continue to engage with local energy suppliers,
aagerly awaiting a more suitable renewable offering. We expect the cost for such elactricity
transition to be immaterial.

»  To transition our entire car fleet to elsctric. In late 2021, our UK business sst up a pilot
project on electric cars including costing and adoptability by our employees. The findings are
yet to be published. Similar projects are scheduled for 2022 across our other geographies.

¢ Toreduce our business travel. The disruption of COVID has required our business to adopt
quicker ways of working. For example, conducting candidate and client interviews by
Microsoft Teamns. This means, as a business, we will travel less, resulting in a decrease in
travel-related costs.

However, as a global organisation it is still important for us to connect with each other.
Meaning, once COVID travel disruption eases, we will continue to travel 1o enhance
productivity. It is likely such travel will be less frequent than before COVID, again resulting
in a reduction in cost. This should balance out any increase the travel industry passes on
to customers as a result of climate change.

s Increase our revenue by building a meaningful global sustainability business. As this is an
emerging and rapidly changing profassion, it is toc early for us to quantify, with any great
certainty, the increase to revenue.

Any revenue associated with this is an opportunity for PageGroup over the longer-term as
a net increase.

We continue to expand our analysis and understanding of the impact on the business, including
physical risks, which will fitter into our planning process for office facities and lease arrangements.
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Resilience of the organisation’s strategy, taking into consideration different climate-
related scenarios, including 1.5°C Paris Aligned Scenario and business as usual
emissions pathways.

Curing 2021, we have undertaken an initial assessment of physical climate risks (see page 44).
To a large degree, the risk to our physical locations is mitigated by the nature of the office
leased arrangements, existing home and remote working, and our disaster recovery plans
which are directly linked to our strategic objective of sustainable growth. Furthenmore, our
proactive investment in establishing a meaningful sustainability business is linked to our
strategic objective of diversification and sustainable growth.

Further analysis is required to fully map transition risk for the business over comparable
timeframes which we plan to begin in 2022.

The Group started offsetting 100% of reported carben emissions from 2020 onwards. We are
confident that the target of Net Zerc emissions by 2026 for our own operations is achievable.
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Sustainability

" METRICS AND
TARGETS

Metrics used by PageGroup to assess climate-related risks and opportunities in line with its
strategy and risk management process.

PageGroup reperts carbon emissions and energy consumption data in line with the Streamiined
Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) regulation requirements on page 46, including intensity metrics.

The results of our physical climate risk analysis are summarised on page 44.

We continue to improve beth the breadth and guality of disclosure of climate-related metries, for
instance we aim to undertake analysis of transition risk in our 2022 Annual Report.

Disclosure encompasses a number of formats, including our Annual Report and Accounts, cur
ongoing disclosure to the COP Climate programme and sustainability reporting.

Describe the targets used by the organisation to manage climate-related risks and
opportunities and performance against targets,

To become carbon net zero, with the ambition of becoming carbon positive by 2026. For many years,
PageGroup has reported scope 1 and scope 2 emissions, and since 2020 reported emissions have
been offset. In addition, frem 2021 PageGroup has increased its reperting to include scope

3 emissions, which will also be offset.

As outlinegd above, the transition to renewable energy Is a significant proportion of cur Net Zero
target. And, PageGroup has commitied to 100% renewable purchases where we are responsible
for electricity. Far the 2020 annual assessment, the proportion of green offices was 8% which has
increased to 53% by the end of our 2021 assessment pericd. The Board will monitor and oversee
progress against these targets through reperting from the Sustainability Commitiee as well as regular
updates from the Head of Sustainability.

As set out in our 2020 Annual Report and Accounts, PageGroup is committed to establishing a
meaningful global sustainability business by 2026 (based on the percentage of net fees generated
from sustainability roles).

From 2022, as set out in the remuneration section on page 96, a proportion of the CEOQ and CFO
strategic KPls are linked to achieving our sustainability targets.

For more information, including a comprehensive breakaown of the sustainability targets and our
pathway to Net Zero, please see our 2021 Systainability Report.

PageGroup has undertaken an initial review of climate risks with details opposite. This information will inform the Climate Risk
narrative for the Annual Report and Accounts.
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During 2021 PageGroup undertook an initial anafysis of 140 office locations to assess physical
climate risk. The results of this analysis are summarised below.

Cur analysis looked at nine risk indicators, covering changes in frequency and/or duration of -
floods, drought, heatwaves, and exposure to risk from sea level rises. PageGroup's offices z
were also assessed for contextual country-based vulnerability to climate change in terms of
six key themes (food, water, health, ecosystem service, human habitat, and infrastructure) and
readiness to improve resifience. This took into consideration economic, governance and social
readiness, using the Notre Dame Global Adaptation Initiative (ND-GAIN) indicator.

GERREeRLL

The assessment was undertaken across a range of scenarios covering a baseline data set
(1981 - 2010), 1.5°C and 2°C Paris Aligned Scenarios and a ‘worst case’ scenario using 8.5°C.

The majority of PageGroup'’s offices are focated in countriss where, generally, vulnerability to
climate change is relatively low and readiness to improve resilience in the context of climate
change is relatively high.

The climate risk analysis identified certain themes, for instance: significant increases in duration
and frequency of heatwaves across all offices. Changes in risks related to drought and flcoding
are generally on a smaller scale and likely to bmpact over longer timescales.

Of the 140 offices assessed, 18 offices are located in areas below the level of projected sea
level rise and are classed as being at “Severe” risk for ali scenarios/years, several of which are
country main offices including Sydney and Hong Kong. Across the timescales analysed, the
relative risk of sea level rise at different scenarios did not vary significantly, with more dramatic
differences not apparent until the end of this century implying at this stage, no change is i
required to the PageGroup business-wide strategy. PageGroup will continue to monitor this risk
as outlined above on page 41.

Further detailed analysis is required to identify risks at these offices and to review plans for -
mitigation. We lock forward to undertaking this work and increase our transparency on climate -
change in 2022 and beyond.
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GHG emissions

In accordance with the Companias (Directors' Report) and Limited Liability Partnerships
(Energy and Carbon Report) Regulations 2018, PageGroup reports on all direct
greenhouse gas (GHG} emissions (relating to the cambustion of fusl and the operation of
any facility); and indirect GHG emissions {through the purchase of electricity, heat, steam
or cogling.

As an coffice-based company, PageGroup has a smaller carbon footprint compared

to campanies in other industries. However, as a global listed company, we recognise

our responsibility to reduce cur greenhouse gas emissions and take urgent action

against climate change. Data for our sustainability reporting covers the period

1 Cctober 2020 - 30 September 2021. For this assessment year, PageGroup has
partnerad with Ecometrica, an external SaaS provider, to calculate and report its
greenhouse gas emissions, Whilst thie COVID-19 pandemic had an impact on our
emigsions, and to a lesser extent on the quality of some data, where data was incomplete,
we have extrapofated missing emissions rather than underestimate, to ensure ail our
emissions were adequately coverad.

Ali emissions have been calculated in compliance with the GHG Protocol Corporate
Reporting Standard using the newly implemented Sustainability Platform from Ecometrica,
which automatically selects the most gecgraphically and temporally appropriate emission
factors and non-standard conversions {e.g. fuel efficiency, heat content) for each emission
source. Each of the emission factors and non-standard conversions are asscciated with

a level of uncertainty, assigned by the platform based on its associated level of scientific
certainty. All factors and assumptions come from recognised and reliable sources
including, but not limited to, the UN, BEIS, EPA, and IPCC.

Whilst we continue to gather some data in the same manner as previous years,
improvernents in our data gathering have led to improvements in data quality. The
reduction of scope 2 market-based ermissions by 22% is also testament to PageGroup's
efforts to transition facilities to renewable energy. With the support of our new partner
Ecometrica, PageGroup have expanded our reporting scope to include business

travel, landfilled waste, water supply and treatment, homeworking, and transmission &
distribution (T&D) losses compared o previous years, It should theretore be noted that
there will be a transitional pariod whilst PageGroup continues to improve its data ccllection
processes as well as expanding our definition of scope 3 categones in future years.

The COVID-19 pandemic also led t6 a noticeable reduction in emissions relating to
business travel for the 2021 reporting year; to enhance transparency on this, we have
looked retrospectively. As 2019 was the peak year of business travel emissions we have
set 2019 as cur baseline year. Therefore, our emissicns in 2021 represent a reduction of
V3% compared to 2020 and 92% compared to 2019 baseling year. This marked reduction
in travel-related emissions is primarily the result of the impacts of COVID-12 as well as our
commitment to reduce business travel.

2018 (202G | 2021

Business Travel {CCpe) 3315 11,045 | 280

For the first time we have reporfed emissions associated with landfilled waste. These
figures have boen estimated by using a typical office intensity metric for waste and the
number of FTE who were working in the office during the assessment period. Additionally,
water consumption and asscciated carbon emissions have also been estimated by using
a typical office intensity metric for water and the number of FTE. Given we are an office-
based businass, water treatment was assumed to be equal to water supply, allowing us to
calculate the emissions associated with water treatment as waell,

Also, for the first time, homeworkers” emissions have been included as this reprasents
good practice for environmental reporting standards and reflects PageGroup’s ambitions
to report in accordance with full scope 3 reporting. Ecometrica uses an in-house
developed hormewoerker model to estimate homewaorker emissions that are geographically
and temporally specific.

In accordance with SEGR standards, we are publishing a comparison only between the
present year and the pravious one (2020).
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PageGroup’s total emissions from scope 1, 2 and 3 are summarised in the table below. The figures reflect a 17% reduction in total
emissions, a decrease from 10,131 (1CO4e) in 2020 to 8,396 {tCOe),

Absolute scope 1, 2 and 3 GHG emissions

020 0
Emissions Source (tCO:e} UKand | Giobat Gilobal UK and .~ Qlobal Global % change
offshore | (excluding | {including | offshore | {excluding | {including | in total
UK and UK and UK and UK and emissions
offshore) | offshore) - | offshore] | offshiore) | (vs previous
year)
Natural gas? 56 - 56 52 - 52 -8%
Company owned vehicles® 34 649 743 50 546 - 596 -20%
Purchased electricity (market based)? 790 2,756 3,555 379 2377 |2 |-22%
Business travel® 109 936 1.045 20 250 - 280 «73%
Homeworking® 309 1,434 1,743 487 1,671 2.}58 24%
T&D losses and upstream emissions 160 723 883 192 1.027 1,2}9 38%
Waste/waterd 298 1,807 2,105 78 1,258 1,336 . -37%
[ Total tonnes of CO.e 1826 | 8,305 10131  [1258  [7438  [eaee  [-17% |

GHG emissions intensity

GHG emissions intensity reduced by 25% to 1.12 Tonnes of CO»e per employee, as we have reduced our absolute emissions while
also increasing headcount.

Number of employees " 1,182 5,601 6,783 1,268 6,210 7478 10%
Tonnes of CO.e per employee 1.54 1.48 1.48 0.9 115 112¢ -25%

Energy consumption

Energy consumption from office electricity {scope 2) was 12,111 MWh, an increase of 31%, and driven by the return to our offices
globally. Despite increasing our energy consumption, our scope 2 emissions reduced by 22% due to the transition of offices to
renawable energy. We will continue to focus on transitioning our offices to renewable energy, as well as reducing our actual energy
consumption. Energy consumption from scope 1 and scope 3 relates to energy from fuel for cars and taxis. Both have decreased
due to a reduction in business travel.

Energy consumption {(MWh) from scope 1 B55 2377 3,032 456 2,002 2,478 -18%
Energy consumption (MWh) from scope 2! 2,465 6,794 9,269 2375 9,736 12,0t 31%
Energy consumption (MWh} from scope 3'2 61 631 692 7 122 129 -81%
Total energy consumption (MwWh) 3,181 9,802 12,983 23838 11,880 14,718 13%

12020 figures for scope 1 & 2 are restated (followang impravernents made to our data collection systems and & revision ta fusl consumption of Company owned
vehickes).

? Emissions derived from property energy consurnplion dirsctly under the Cormpany’s control have been calculated by uaing the majonty of our offices globally including
the entire UK business).

5 Emissions from fuel consumed by Comparny owned vehicles in 2021 have been calculated using the fusl consumed or, alternatively, the distance in km travelled by the
Company car fleets for the following countries: UK, Germany, ltaly, France. Netherlands, Poland. Brazil, Spain, Mexico, Turkey and Switzerand.

* PageGroup reported global emissions associated with business travel by air travel, rail, taxi, and bus.

5 Hemeworkers’ emissions have been calculated based on Ecometrica homeworking model as per above.

8 Emissions associated with landfilled waste and water have been estmated as per above,

' 2020 headcount figure of 6,783 includes those furloughed.

¢ 2020 FTE s the total headcount for PageGroup as per Septernber 2020. 2021 FTE is the total headcount for PageGroup as per Seplember 2021,
“* Global including UK and offshors; is a weighted average between UK and Globa! (excluding UK} based on FTE

 Energy consumption from scope 1 relates to energy from fuel for Company vehicles.

" Energy consumption from scope 2 related to electricity use in offices.

2 Epergy consumption from scope 3 relates to enargy from fuel for cars and taxis.
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Sustainability

SOCIAL IMPACT AND GIVING BACK

Social impact work ranges from giving our skills back as a recruiter, all the way through to fundraising and nurturing our charity
partnerships. Such work continues o be central to our culture and is within our DNA. Similar to last year, during 2021, ongoing CCVID
restrictions affected our ability to host in-person activities. Where appropriate, we returned to in-person soocial impact work and fundraising
initiatives. Whare this was not possible, we continued to host events virtually. This allowed us to continue giving back to society and the
communities in which we cperate.

At PageGroup, we have made it our mission to support underprivileged groups into secure career paths, as we channel both knowledge
and resources intc our charity partnerships. Aware that disadvantage is intergenerational, we have made a targeted effort to support
children and young people, as reflected by our work with the Kasipolis charity where we supported their ‘Life Skills’ programme,
successfully supporting a cohort inte secure employment.

We are alsc mindful that peoples’ needs can often be more immediate, and we want 1o help in these times of hardship. In Nerth America,
our Houston office donated 4,500 meals to underprivileged children via their local foodbark, whilst our team in Hong Kong fundraised
HK$ 10,000 for Feeding Hong Kong, amongst other considerable donations made by our teams in Dubai and Malaysia. We have also
done our best to assist our charity partners and fundraise to support their causes. In the UK, cur teams cycled over 20,000km to
fundraise over £38k to support the charity, Back Up, and also separately volunteered to support the charity's candidates as they venture
into new career paths.

Throughout 2021, we have made a concerted effort to give back to our local communities and support charity partnerships where we
can drive change and creats a difference, a snapshot of which is featured below. For further information including a detailed report on our
sacial impact work, please refer to our 2021 Sustainability Report.

Jomada de
Entrevistas

‘ Dubai

France Argentina Danating food during the
170kg of clothes donated : Interview practice for university students. Holy Montn of Ramadan
Septemnber 2021 - . October 2021 } April 2021

North America
Donated 67 filed backpacks

Hong Kong uk August 2021
Fescing Hong Kong raised Riding 20,000k to raise over £56k v
HIK$10K March 2021

May 2021

Australia

CV writing workshop for refugees
and migrants.

September 2021

North America
Donated 4,500 meals for underprivileged children,
November 2021
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Social Impact in South Africa The Life Skills Programme v
: _—— : Qur Michael Page team in Johannesburg partnered with the Kasipolis £
Partnered with the Kasipolis charity charity to support their ‘Lite Skills, Work Readiness and Coding Training' :,
May 2021 programme, volunteering both their time and donating financially in their &
efforts to support young people into employment.
L& Thank you for being part of our Life Skills, Work —
Readiness and Coding fraining programme.
The financial and time contribution was priceless. .
Such contributions allow us to find, train and source -
employment for young people who otherwise would K
have been overlooked. We were able to train five 3
young people, in preparation for employment or i
entrepreneurship and have employed two of them 3
in our organisation as entry level customer care
consultants. Thank you again for your involvement V;
and contribution. It is highly appreciated and valued. L) .
Nomzamo Ramutla, Founding Director
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Regional Perspectives

EMEA

What are your priorities for 20227

In EMEA, we are focused on our key growth areas of Technology
and Centracting, whilst maintaining the focus on productivity
across the region.

We are planning for continued growth in the German interim
business, following the succass of 2021. Additionally, we plan
to leverage the investments made in experienced hires and
technologies during 2020 and 2021.

How did you deliver against your 2021 priorities?

EMEA recovered well from Q2 onwards and overall gross

profit increased by 5.7% from £418.3m in 2019 t0 £432.0m in
2021, France declined % overall, with the Michael Page brand
recovering well, up 6% against 2019, whilst the Page Personnel
business has been slower to recover from the pandemic and
declined 16%. Southern Europe delivered a record year and
grew 14%,

Germany delivered a record year with growth of 31%, iargely
driven by the Technology focused Interim business, which
grew 52%,

Benelux declined 1% and the Middle East and Africa, which
represents 2% of the region, was flat on 2019.

Headcount for the region increased by 469 (16.7%) in the year,
as we continued to invest as trading improved.

Operating profit increased 5.7% in constant curencies, from
£80.3m in 2019 to £93.4m. This was driven by the gross profit
growth and increased productivity versus 2018, This represents a
conversion rate of 21.6% (2019: 21.6%).

Gross profit £m

Permanent to temporary ratio

PERMANENT
E TEMPORARY

Headcount
2021
12020 |

2019

ASIA PACIFIC

What are your priorities for 20227

In 2022, our key focus areas include Cantracting in China,
following the completion of the nationwide roll out in 2021,
together with cur High Potential disciplines of Technology,
and Healthcare & Life Sciences.

We will continue to focus on our High Potential disciplines
as well as investing in our other high growth areas, including
India and South-East Asia, both of which delivered a record
year in 2021,

How did you deliver against your 2021 priorities?

The region delivered a record year, with gross profit growth of
14.7% against 2019. Mainland China grew 31% though Hong
Keong, which has been slower to recover than other countries in
the region, declined 11%.

Qur Large, High Potential market of Scuth East Asia grew by
32%, delivering a record year, with Singapore up 11%.

Indlia grew significantly at 81%, with growth across all disciplines,
aided by the opening of the Bangalore effice in Q4 2019. In
Japan, gross profit grew 25%, with our domestic Nikkei business
delivering growth of 16%.

Australia, where uncertainty around lockdowns remains and
varies by state, declined 7% against 2019, but made a strong
recovery versus 2020, up 43%.

Heagcount across the region was up 324 (23.4%), with the
biggest increases in Australia, Greater China and India.

Operating profit grew more than 100% to £39.0m (2019: £19.8m),
at a conversion rate of 21.8% (2019: 12.1%).

Gross profit £m
1“‘.2%}:51 -

2020

PERMANENT
EMPORARY

88%

Headcount

2021

2020

2019




AMERICAS

What are your priorities for 20227

In North America, we are focussed on growing the Technology
discipline, our fastest growing discipline in 2021. We will also be
increasing our focus on Page Executive and Page Qutsourcing.

in Latin America, the cutlook for 2027 is positive following a
chalienging 2021, with political tensions and a siow vaccine roll
out. In 2022, our focus will be on the continued development
of cur temporary business and investment in key growth areas
including Page Qutsourcing.

How did you deliver against your 2021
priorities?

In the Americas, gross profit increased by 14.9% against 2018,
resulting in a record year for both North America and Latin
America.

In the US, one of cur Large, High Potential markets, gross profit
was up 15% as trading conditions improved and we deliverad
strong growth in newer disciplines, including Technology.

This followed a tough year in 2020, due to the closure of
construction sites for much of the year during the pandemic.

Latin America, another of cur Large, High Potential markats,
grew 18%. Brazil was up 26%, Mexico was up 6% and the
other five countries grew 26% collectively.

Headcount across the region increased by 226 {19.6%),
with the main increases in the US, Brazil and Mexico.

Cperating profit was up 8.4% to £19.2m (2019: £19.3m) in
censtant currencies, a conversion rate of 13.8% (2019: 13.9%),

Gross profit £m

Headcount
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UK

What are your priorities for 20227

In the UK, significant progress was made with the vaccine
rofl out in 2021, though the emergence of new variants and
changing levels of restricticns created some uncertainty.

We will continue to focus on our strategic areas of Healthcare
& Life Sciences and Technology, where we have added
around 50 experienced fee earners in 2021. We will also
focus on returning to growth in the Temporary recruitment
business, and improving productivity levels across our
brands.

How did you deliver against your 2021
priorities?

UK gross prefit decreased by 5.3% against 2019, to
£127.9m, with the business performance steadily improving
through the year. The region returned to growth in the
second half of the year, with Q3 and Q4 up 1.3% and
14.1% respectively.

The recovery was stronger in Michae! Page which declined
1%, whilst Page Personnel was down 18% against 2019,

The headcount increased by a net 126 (10.7%), but remains
slightly down on 2019, This increase includes a significant
number of experienced hires, who have helped deliver record
productivity in the region in 2021.

Operating profit declined 2.0% tc £16.9m (2019: £17.3m),
with a conversion rate of 13.2% (2019: 12.8%]).

Gross profit Em
2021 - £127.9m

£80.9m
: £1385.1m

Permanent to temporary ratio

" PERMANENT

75%

Headcount
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Risk Management

Process

The Group recognises that the affective
management of risk 1s key to achieving
our objectives. Bisk management is
therefore considered to be an integral part
of our process of business management
forming part of our strategy review, our
pusiness plans and the delivery of our
dally activity.

To support our managemernit in this
process, wa have a Group-wide risk
review process which identifies the
principal risks that could impact our
business and determines the mitigating
actions required to ensure that these risks
are contralled to an acceptable level.

Within this process we assess all risks
that could have a significant impact on the
ability of the business 1o deliver its short-
term plans and medium and long-term
strategy. This includes reviewing for any
emerging risks.

Our agreed level of risk appetite,
approved by the Board, guides the level of
acceptable risk.

The process is supported by risk registers
that are maintained locally at country and
process level and consolidated twice a
year. We combing these with a top-down
review of risks conductsd with senior
management that is summarised and
formally reviewed by the Executive Board
and the Audit Cornmitiee on behalf of

the Board.

In the intervening periods, the risks
associated with changes in either the
extarnal environiment or internal operations
are discussed as part of cur ongoing
business reviews and are responded

o accordingly.

In key risk areas we also have established
compliance teams whose role it is to
ensure we comply with processes on an
ongoing basis. These are in IT securlty,
data regulation compliance, revenue
recognition, project management and
regional legal teams.

Our risk management process categorises
our principal risks into Strategic, Financial,
People and Operational.

OUR RISK AND CONTROL FRAMEWORK

Controls

Business
Reviews/Internal
Control Checklists

' Policies and Procedures
Compliance Team

Risk Registers

Group Finance

Audit Reports
Quarterly Updates

Risk Management/
Group Financial Control

FUNCTIONS

Management

The Board focuses on Sirategic, People
and Financial risks. For these, we disclose
KPIs which we use to monitor the risk
impact, and the rewards and incentives
we apply to ensure effective management.

See strategic framework on page 7.

Qur Operational risks are those that the
Board have agreed can be managed

by management on a day-to-day basis.
These are included within our risk registers
and are reviewed by the Board on an
exceptions basis.

The risks around cyber security and
compliance with data protection
legisiation are such exceptions which
are currently reviewed at Board level on
an ongoing basis.

QOur Internal Audit programme is aligned
to provide assurance on the controls that
mitigate the principal risks identified from
this process.

Review

Executive

Internal Audit

Board

Boavd/Audit
Committee




Our risk appetite and net
risk levels

Recruitment is inherently sensitive
to the economic environmant and
thus financially dependent on the
eCconomic cycle.

PageGroup operates in this
environment with a low risk appetite,
seeking to mitigate its strategic risks,
maintain a strong financial position
and anly taking the cperationa! risks it
has the experience and capability to
manage.

Qur growth model is organic, rolling out

Risk categories

People attraction,

model de

retention

Transformation and

change
Customer and brancis

Global e

the proven disciplines for our brands
to a wide geographic spread. We drive
this by ensuring consistency of model

and business culture across the Group.

We continue to focus on the services
we provide to our customers, clients
and candidates, ensuring quality
engagements in a manner that meets
both their needs and expectations

as well as our targets for process
efficiency.

We maintain a strong sales-driven,
meritceratic culture with a commitment
to operating in an ethical, legal and
sustainable manner.

PEOPLE

|

lopment and : )
Cyber security

information systems

PageGroup Annual Report and Accounts 2021

We will always operate a conservative
financial position with a strong
batance sheet, reflecting the degree of
operational gearing inherent in

the business.

We monitor our net risk position against
our risk appetite and ensure where
possible management action is focused
on risks which we can appropriately
further mitigate.

This measured approach to taking risk
ensures we are hest piaced for success
globally.

OPERATIONAL

Fiscal and legal compliance

Financial management

and control

Data protection regulations

Net risk movement

RISK LEVEL

HIGH

1. Shift In business model

2. Transformation and change

3. Customer and brands

4, Global event

5. People

6. Information systems

7. Cyber security

8. Fiscal and legal compliance

9, Financial management and control

10. Data protection regulations

11. Macro-econgmic exposure

12. Foreign exchange translation

EE FageGroup Risk Appetite

- MEDIUM

HIGH

uoday s1693e18
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Board’s view of direction of travel of gross risk: @ Similar to prior year @ Lower than prior year % Increased since prior year

The CCVID-19 pandemic continued to impact Global ecanomies in 2021 but the recruitment market was strong during the period and
continued to be resilient even with the emergencs of the Omicron variant. Client demand has been strong, particularly in technology and
healthcare & life sciences and our focus has been to find appropriately skiled candidates.

The evolving impact of COVID is reflected in each of our principal risks.
Emerging risks

In addition to our principal risks we also identify any emerging risks which could have a significant impact on the Group's activities. In our
2021 review we continue to recognise climate change as such a risk, Having reassessed the potential impact we continue to incorporaie
spacific elements of the risks of climate change within our current principal risks. We will continue to monitor this position and to determing
current appropriate mitigating actions. Climate change is currently refiected in economic, peopls, legal compliance, Customer and brand,
and Global event risks.

Principal Risks

STRATEGIC

1. Shift in business model

NATURE OF RISK

» We fail to take advantage of technology
opportyafties te support our drive on produgtivity,

MITIGATING ACTIONS

« We actively monitor developments in new technologles and their usé in the recruiiment sector.
« Wa have established an innovation infrastructure with executive governance and regianal

and customer and candidats experience. innovation greups. Opportunities are evaluated, those that meet our criteria are developed
» The emergence of new technology platforms and and piioted through'an innovations lab. The focus is on driving productivity and the provision
providers offering HR solutions and consulting of new services. ’

may lead fo increased competition and pressure | = Bitding on our Salesforce platform to accelerate innovation and changs opportunity.

on in which may ad h 'S . ) ) .
res:;gr'?w: ar? un ;;e t;?,ggggfé;d?\‘g;ow « We partner with large media providers such as Linkedin ard Fagebook o ensure that
i we use madia effsctively to enhisnce our value to clients. All consultants are trained in utilising

SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCING FACTORS the benetits of social media in their day-to-day activity.

- o » Trrough our fooused Competitive Ecige p(ogramme, we train Hur consultants in the use of the
= COMD has accelerated the use of digital techrology new technologies to enable them o resouice candidates for our clients at an overall cost that

in recruitment, changing the way ciients and they cannot malch,
didates e 8
candicates r\gat_f;a - . « Our Global IT tapability is based around standard applications and processes, and an
* Further écce_leraim of digital. automation and outsoarced service: mode! with feading edge providers that has enabled us to respond
artificial Intefligance wil create gpportunities to use effectively 1o the changas fesuiting from GOVID and will continue to enabie us to da so.

tochnology In new ways to improve our productivity

and addess our customers needs. » Jnvestment in automation products and data driven Al solutions to drive productivity by

reducing labour intensive activities.

Net risk level stable

2. Transformation and change

NATURE OF RISK _ _ MITIGATING ACTIONS
» Evolving capabiliies and business envifenment mean that we need | Customer Connect

to ccm:inuousty irzfai;)rv\a;?1 tne sarvices v:e d;l:‘fn;ané m‘;’ﬂgﬁ;ﬁﬁ‘f@f « Our Customer Connect implementation s due to be completed by
 them, In same cases, this requires a step change in capabikty. i 2022.
. "‘I-‘cﬁrtmdﬂbgement o GUF Lot progfimnies o el U Wl oy nave supporied it s will  anaitien plangand engeing euppart
aact try raxnmqu;‘jms}ﬁ ar ponr gelivery impagting secace Ieysls ?ﬂd . fraReses protecting our delivery capabilty. ‘
ﬂi:Fthlﬂath ber,pflt:s‘ . . o . - [ |

« We hava raintained = ohust testing progremime including regression testing.
impact on current users and we continue to monitor the benefits derved fun
the implementation.

Far all new Global programmes .

« "We have in place a govermance procsss whith ncludes a dedicated uleeriig
team which reports to Executive management.” 7

« We have dedicated programme personnel drafted from our business
technckogy, local manage and support teams.

SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCING FACTORS

= Customer Conngct has now been rojler out to over 90% of our |
consultants. Sigrificantly reducing the implerrintation risk, The
rernaining roliout to LATAM could however significantly disrupt thé
rest of the business.

« The businées has commenced global progran ies W inplment
an infrastructure to support our Page Cutsourcing business, to

mors effectively managn the processes for temp placements . We}have a weﬂ~established_ programme management process which is

and more efficiently and effectively manage our front-end admin periodicaly audited by war internal audit team.

activities through use of our share service centre modet. « Regular updates are provided lo the executive on the status of programme
activity.

Net risk level stable




3. Customer and brands

NATURE OF RISK

* Asgthe way clients and candidaies source
informatiin changes, the awareness softhe
PageGroup brands aﬂd sarvices could deteriorate.

» The relevance of the client and candidate ~
srgagerment we gffer gould impact our success in
acouiring, engaging and nurtaring new clients and
candidates.

« The quality of the services we provide to both
clients and candidates could have a signiﬂcant
impact on Fgw o brand is viewed. .

* We gontinue to sée ths feputational lmpaci ane-
off avents gors quickly havs with the adoption
of sucial rigdia. Any evert that could cause
reputational damage is a risk to the Group, stich
as a failure to comply with regulations, or loss or
theft of confidential data anywhere in our operating
environment.

kS »‘%fii‘ o ) e
SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCING FACTORS
» The COVID pandemic has accelerated a &hiftirrour

recruitment process 16 an enfine digital format. *

e Activity levels across disciplines and industry
sectors has shifted.

* Expectations of business in relation to
Ervironrpental, Sociat and Governance has
‘aecelerated, in all three aroas.

* Thg uptiEn of ecénomic activity In the second half
Oﬂ:YQ'! tas lad 1o a shortage of suitably quaiified
Mdaéea ACTOSE thema;orﬁy of owr markets,

Net risk level stable

4. Global event

NATURE OF RISK

* Anexterrat event occurs that significantly disrupts
buginess Sind world economies requirng a response
in excess pf ‘normal” contingericy planning.

SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCING FACTOR

* (ver the past two decades we have experigncad
the global financial crisis and the COVID-18 global
panderia, both mgjor unpredictable incidents
that have had immediate and severe long-lasting
impacts,

* The geom%iffﬁcal anvirorment continues o be
sensitive o tensions tatween the west and Russia,
U8, Japan and China ard the activities of North
Korea.

AN

Net risk level stable
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MITIGATING ACTIONS

o We have created an Executive role of Chief Custirmer Officer to both undesine the
importance which Pagermp sees in addressing customer needs and facilitates the
development and delivery of capabifties requrred to continue to meet their needs as
they evolve. . o £

* Qurvision has been enham:ed with the additibn crf a customer metric wiih & targst.
to achieve, and the addition of § *arnbitions’, one of which refates to customer, -,

10N 1o Inclusion and one to sustainabifty, which will drive our focus on brands and
customers,

« We have in plage a Gio‘baﬁﬁompletefy Customer framework Wthtn this all MDs have
objectives to drive pedg}rmanw with dafined Key Performance Maasures. Wa have
supported this with an internal prograrnme of activities to drive customer flusncy.

* With the completely customer prograrime we have a Global standard measure on
ghent ang candidate satisfaction and siet promoter scores for each region supported
withs the developmant of action plans o drive Improvements where required,
Addiionally we gontinue fe focus on Googie review and Glas&éoor on how ougt wsEble
rapaﬁathan sgores, -

* We cohiinue wotking with our Global strategic partnefsrﬁps ({Linkedn, s§k %Cha;)
to engage with potenti s@f}éfoarft new entrants (e.g. Google for jobs); and ronitor ;.
developments in technology In other bisiness segments.

+ Diversification of media programmigs uding data for targeting on ‘traditional’ d|gi‘ta§
channels {Google, Facebook, Yahoo, Bing, Baicu) in conjunction with establishing
& team to review our approach 1o data management, We have signad with a Global
miedia agency Merkle and use a single global ad tach piatfim which supports both
effectiveress and sfficiarcy, and enables innovation in sesking out candidates.

*» The use of Salesforce Marketing suite and tools such as Thunderhead to enable
segmentation and personam activity programmes which arg fully integrated to
Salesforce based Customer Gonnect programme as it is rolled out across theGroup.

* Aninnovations pigsline process that enables ongoing developrnent of ouF proposition
from idea generation, piioting fo industrigfisation which has bacome more eﬁafstﬁa’e at
fitering innavations earfier allowing focus on higher quality ideas.

» Palicies and training on the most gppropriate use of social media both in the
recruitment processes and in general uss to meet regulatory requirements and to
adhere to goad COMmman practicas. -

* Tried and tested crigis mwgsmerm response processes at Group and Ragscmai
tevel. These includs experionced senior personnel from all funcions who f;aﬁaspom
quiickly.

MITIGATING ACTIONS

*» Wg hava a Grraup—led Crisis Management policy and process which covers the Group
in the gvent of unpredictable gvents. This lays out the processes fo bé f&EiomEd
in developing appropriate responses. The Crisis Management process has bgen
cascaded to all Group and Fegional business leaders. Our Grisis Management
pracesses have been further reirforged by leaming from the COVID-19 response.

» We maintain a strong ethical culture which ensures that whatever situation the
business faces, the focus is to protect our m&pioyees cherts and candidates as well

‘s Agonservative financial strategy which maintalis a strong balar‘sce sheet and I‘tearthy

.. cash balances and facilities.

» Experignced and aglls management tearm and structure reg?on&!ty based am‘fi ina
good pogition fo fialse with Group and local management.

» Agysierms capablity that means we are not tied 1o faciities ert?’@r éor olr. peopie or.
the senvices that we deliver,

» A flexible workforce that ¢an be deployed to focus on any areas of opponunity andbe
apgrogmately gcalatd,

» Critical suppliars ave chosen for their resilience capabilities and regular checks arg
conguctEd to ensure these are being maintained.

+ Within any event there are opportunities. Our people are trained to identify these and
to develop offerings in support of business. In doirg so we ensure that we behave in
an sthical mannet.

podoy mbayens
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

PEOPLE

5. People

NATURE OF RISK ) ) MITIGATING ACTIONS

Actlons in response to the COVID pandemic

Atiraction

* Operations - unabie to recruit people with the right
polential.

A lack of inclusion limits our recruitment pool.

+ Limited numbers of people to recruit with the right levels
of experience,

* Ability to offer the flexibiity or working practices rew
employees demandt.

Retention

+ Ability to retain our hight performers due to pressures on
remuneration.

* We do not provide an environment, working practices
and processes that suit our people.

= Alack of diversity impacts on our ability to
retain talent.

= A lack of opportunity impacts our ability fo
retain talent.

Development

* Operations — we do not maximise the potential of
our people.

* Operational Support - we fail 1o provide
devslopment cpportunities.

Attrition

* We do not manage leavers efficiently.

¢ |eavers have a detrimental impact on our reputation,

SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCING FACTORS

* The COVID pandemic has and continues to change the
way people work, expectations of their work environment
and how leadership needs to engage and manage
activity.

* The upswing i economic sctivity has increased the
demand for good people and could put pressure
on remuneration.

We continue to monitor and manage the impact of COMID-19 on our people globally,
with Group Palicy and regional and local maragement following external guidance.

We have developed and applied & princities based approach to flexible working,
supportig management n the implementation at a local level,

We use Yammer for ongoing communication and provides training via our digtal learning
platform to support this new way of working. This will ensure we continue to effectively
manage our people, provide them with the support they need and retain our PageGroup
cufture.

* Wa continue to strengthen our tearns with the appointment of individuals with prevdous

recruitment experignce to support us in those areas of growth opportunity.

» We have further enhanced development of our diversity and inclusion programmes

»

globally: Openpage, Unity@nage ensure we can recruit and retain from all groups of
soclaty as our workplace is attractive and inclusive 1o all. We have continued to develop
our focus on ESG through our work on culture and engagernent, Shadow Boards

have been set up at Executive Director and country levels t¢ gain support for how the
business develops from as wide a range of backgrounds as possible

Wa have reviewed our benefits offering to ensure they are competitive and in ling with
markets. A salary review has been commissioned with external experts in the light of
wage inflation market by market. We have also updated our maternity leave policy on a
regional basis. The review was in response to feedbagk from our ‘Have Your Say' survey.
We continue to promote the Group Purpose around ‘changing lives’ which we also
cagcade through our Page employee value proposition.

Cur performance management process via Talent Toolbox drives clarity and focus on
objectives and behaviours.

We take a global Talent, Succession and Development approach ta ensure a strong
talent plipeline and address any gaps at MD and above. We continue to invest In
leadership development programmes: Page leadership excellence, Global Director
Academy and Executive leadership development.

We are expanding our capabilities via our new Page Learning digital platform. New
blended learning programmes came onstream last year to target amongst other things
improving on-boarding and speed to success and will be further enhanced o support all
employees through each stage of their development life cycle.

We conducted the 'Have Your Say' survey this year and continue to gain feedback
from our people in structurad programimes both for our new starts and also for leavers.
Actions are in place to improve areas on which we could do better,

We have developed a PageGioup alumni programme and wehsitc to stay in fouch with
our past employees.




OPERATIONAL

6. Information systems

NATURE OF RISK - - S MITIGATING ACTIONS :

Change

* The business does not appropriately control programme and
project delivery.

* Strategic Business Technology led programmes do not deliver
business objective stated.

* Poorly controfled changes are made or changes are poarly
executed which impacts on service levels.

Services

* A disruption of service due 10 a faiture of our internai
processes or procadures or due to a failure of or at our third
party service providers.

* Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery is not sufficient to
allow business Operations to cantinue.

Data

* Systems are implemented without the necessary data
protection controls.

SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCING ?AC_TOR

* PageGroup has established global standard processes, with
a move to an outsourced services model utilising world cfass
systems and suppliers.

* COVID has permanently changed the way business users
operate requiring a capabiiity to support complete flexibility of
location.

Net risk level decreased

7. Cyber security

NATURE OF RISK

Loss of data or systems due to the actions of:
* Malicious Outsiders - targeted attack of PageGroup systems.

* Malicious Insiders — assisted or generated attack by a
disgruntled employee or contractor.

* Accidental Outsiders — errors caused by our suppliers.

* Accidental Insiders — successful Phigshing, Secial Engineering,
Business Email Compromise.

SET DTS R IE L

SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCING FACTORS

* The move to using public Cloud services for business-critical
activities, our significant email use, and extensive use of
social media have increased the Group's exposure to external
threats.

= Cyber-attacks continue to increase giobaliy. These could
impact not just ourselves but also our key suppliers.

* The most common route iNto an organisations’ network is
via phishing emails {over 90%). As Page relies heavily on the
use of email, and it is normal to receive emails from unknown
senders, our exposure to phishing remains high.

* Business Email Compromise (BEC), whereby an executive's
email is compromised and used to authorise payments or
extract confidential information has also increased since the
pandemic.

¢ Patching of our global systems to ensure we are securing our
systems from ever-changing attacks rermains a challenge.

PageGroup Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Change

» New requests for programmes and projects are approved and prioritised
through a global dernand process before commencement.

« Strategic programmes' objectives are agreed with and reported on to the
Executive Board.

» A Global PMO process sets out controls for the delivery of programmes
and projects.

» Technical changes to critical systems rmanaged in line with definec
processes to protect the integrity and stability of these systems.

Services

« Single Paints of Failure for critical systems are reviewed on a regular
basis and mitigating actions put in place.

» Appropriate support agreements and service levels are in place with
vendors.

+ Forissuas that cceur, incident managernent will follow a defined process to
rrinimise disruption to business users.

* We have defined cur third party management policies and processes
with dedicated service managers, supported by the Senior Leadership
Team and a dedicated [T procurement function,

= Recovery time and recovery point objectives for critical systems are
agreed with the business and tested.

* We have provided our business users across the Group with a full remote
access capability to systerns, which supports flexible working and has

enabled us to continue to operate effectively throughout the CCVID pandemic.

Data

* Business Technology processes are compliant with data regulation
requirements.

* New systemns are designed in compliance with data regulation legisiation.

MITIGATING ACTIONS

Our dedicated information Security team continues to mature and

identify areas for continued improvement.

Qur 2020 Security Improvement Plan has remained on track, We have

launched several additional defences that continue to reduce the opportunity

of a cyber-attack. They include:

* Cyber insurance in our Policy.

» Warning Banners on all emalls to identify potential phishing attacks, plus
1000 higher risk users (HR, Finance, Execs, PAs) have an advanced anti-
phishing email defence with an ability to aute-report malicious activity.

* An ‘anti-impersonation’ too! that prevents emall compromise attacks has
been implemented.

+ Active Web Monitoring identifies malicious website registrations attempting
to use the PageGroup brand or where a website is actively mirmicking
ourselves to falsely attract clients and candidates away from our business.
The process now in ptace allows us have them taker: down.

* We have updated and enhanced our Multi Factor Authentication
methodologies to continue to ensure secure access to our systems.

» Password Quality Enhancements, ensuring users seloct very secure

passworas.

Implementation of a new security and privacy managemsant tool to identify

and manage risks more cohesively across our giobal business.

Better governed vulnerability and patch management procass including

new reporting dashboards.

Fine-tuning of our SOC Alerts in recognition: of cur current changes in

working practices

Ongoing audit and remediation of any gaps identified are in place.

Net risk level stable

Implementation of IS 27001 Certification — a globaily recognised and
externally assessed InfoSec Framework.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

8. Fiscal and legal compliance

NATURE OF RISK = . _ ‘| MITIGATING ACTIONS : i

+ The Group operates in a large number of jurisdictions that have varying legal. tax * On material legal or fiscal changes there is a Group fed
and compliance requirements. approach to reguiatary and legistation policies, supported

= Any non-compliance with client contract requirements and legislation or regulatory by regional internal legal and tax resources utilising external
requirements could have an adverse effect on the Group’s brands or financial aqvisors as appropriate.
results. * Group Treasury have supported regicnal management in

e i st o ot £53 oo o0

SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCING FACTORS . * We have set up a central review ot our ESG activity to ensura

» Commercial drive in temp and contracting business and Group progress into weln‘sa.intain appropriate .reportiﬂg alnd support our activities in
Page Outsourcing present both new and country specific legal requirements. delivering on ESG compliance requirements.

+ New and evolving legislation will continue to impact how we operate specifically * Our Group Tax team co-ordinate with regional management and
in areas such as ESG, fiscal requirements and changes in working practices as a tax advisors on the Group’s tax matters.
resuit of COVID. See financial management risk for financial compliance activities,

and Data risk for compliance with data regulations.

Net risk level stable

9. Financial management control

NATURE OF RISK S ] J MITIGATING ACTIONS - . )
¢ Failure to maintain adequate financial and * We maintain strong financial pelicies and procedures with Group, Regional and local finance
management processes and controls could lead to feams to ensure these policies as well as locat statutory requirements are adhered to. The
poor quality managernent decigions, resulting in the Group Finance function reviews monthly management account submissions.
Group not achieving its financial targets » Shared Service Centres, under a globat reporting structuro, have increased resfience and
or in errors in the Group's financlal reporting, introduced greater levels of process standardisation and improved controls. Global process
¢ Failure to standardise systems and processes could owners oversee the maintenance of our finance processes.
lead to excessive costs within the finance function. * We have an established global finance system enabling standardisation on best practice and

global visikility of finance transactions.

e S g le- LAl AN S el el Yoage - * There are compliance teams located in each region that support local, Regional and
’ ; Group management in ensuring revenues are appropriately recognised as well as a Global

+ UK SOX implementation is due within the next two transactional process risk and cofntrols Taam whiu suppuil management to ensuro appropriate
years. Whist the specifics of whether this will be controls are in place. As UK SOX requirements become cClearer this team wouid take on any
alegal requirement or guidance has not yet been requirernents for validation of the effectiveness of controls.
finalised there will be an impact on the processes * The $5Cs have improved opportunities for career paths for finance professionals allowing
that manage risk and controls. hiring and retention of higher calibre personnel.

« We have Risk and Controls Registers which are owned and embedded within the businesses.
" . " " Risk reporting is aggregated globally and reviewed every 6 monthe by the Executive and the
Net risk level stable Audit Committee.

10. Data protection regulations

NATURE OF RISK MITIGATING AC’!'IONS
= Personal data breaches are committed by our employees and/or third party vendors. * We maintain a regional approach 10 ensuring legal
* Data requiests cannot be fulfiled within deadiines imposed by regulators. requirements are effectively met with specialist
= Our interpretation of data protection laws may prove to be incarrect following clarilication by resources used 10 support internal management.
the courts and/or data protection regulators. * Wa have an onqoing staff data protection training
» Customers may take issue with our business processes because ther interprétation of Jalu pragramma, {inchiding APrivany) deilvared via our
proteetion law diffors from ours. glohal training platform. Data management training is
* Regulator guidance on regulatory action against companies including mposton of Mies fut rOME oY,
data protection breaches is evolving ang may result in more severe penalties. * We have regional teams, including legal support, in
place where requirect whe respond to data reguests
SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCING FACTORS : and data related gueries including from regulators.
) o ) * Our contracts with third parties ensure that
* Data protaction regulations in the UK and Europe ars now well established. European dutd responsibilities areund data tharkgen kit are clear
protection regulators (including the UK regulator) are actively following up on complaints of and understood wid our third party management
breaches of the GDPR. processes have been appropriately aligned.
. Stn’ct:'er data' protection regu!aﬁons are being introduced In other regions including Latin + We alsa have a Crisis Management policy to address
America, US states and Uhing. oxternal data broaches, inchuring infarming aithoritios
* As more of our systems support has been outscurced our refance on third parties 1o lave ard Luslonvers,
processes in place to efiectively process our data has ncreased. Sae Uyber Securily tisk [un milgaling activitica rogarding

data protection loss due o system attacks.

Net risk level Increased




FINANCIAL

11. Macro-economic exposure

NATURE OF RISK

SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCING FACTOR *

Qur recruitment activity is driven largaly by economic perfgrmancs and levels of .
business confidence. Businesses are less likely 1o need new hires @nd smployees
are less likely to move jobs when they do not have gonfl dence in the economy,
leading to reduced recrutment activite . .
A substantial proportion of the Group's profit arises from fses that are contingent
uport the successful placement of a candidate or in the case of Temp gomgistion
of activity. In these cases, if tha client cancels the assignment at any stage inthe
process, the Group recelves no remuneration,

Dunng penod c)f sapéd ewnormc increasing demamﬁ for candudates put pressure on | o

*

COVID-19 continues to have an impact on the economic cutiook with the ongoing
battle between varlants and vaccines. Forecasts have been changing frequently,
both in terms of the scale of the downturn and pericd to recovery.

We have however, g@en significant upturn in performance during 2021.

Brexit continues to bring uncertainty o economic growth particulatly for the UK,
but also for Europe.

Relations between the US and Greater Ghina, however, remain fragle and made
worse by the COVID-19 pandernic. Whilst in Eurape tensions with Russia over
Ukraine continue.

Supply chain issues persist, significantly impacting energy prices which are having
a knock on effact sn infiation.

The recovery has omated pressure on kabour supply, both quantity and skills.
There are some industry sectors that have benefited from the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemw; Examplas are online retailers, cloud senvics ﬂmder‘&i food
:etaneza, heaﬁfhca:& and the tech sector.

Nat risk Ievel decreased

12. Foreign exchange

NATURE OF RISK

SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCING FACTORS
* COVID-19 continues 1o bring uncerainty 1o the Global environment whilst the .

* As we cortinue 1o expand successfully our pverseas pperations, our translation

Material changes in the strength of Sterling against the Group's main functional .
currencies significantly affects the Group's reported Sterling profits in the financial
staternents. .
The main functional currencies in additicn to Sterling are the Eurc, US and

Australian Dollarg, > .

longer-term impact of Brexit on the UK refative te Europe and consequent exchange
rate rnovernent is still unclear,

axposure to Sterling increases.

Net risk level stable
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MITIGATING ACTIONS

We use our geographical spread to invest in gouniries
and regions where growth is highast and manage
fesource levels in areas Hat are not growing.
Continug to develop our brands of Page Executive,
Michas! Page, Page Personnel and Page Outsourcing
targeted & the needs of geographies.

Further develop our discipings to take opportunities in
growing sectors and those that recover the quickest

corzi;n@ ‘bur drive to shift our ciient base io mare
domesdiz,

We have maintained and continue 1o increase the
proporiion of our Cost structure that is variable so

that we can respond quickly, both during periods of
contraction and rapid growth, for example supporting
our consultants with fechnokiy, buf moves 1o shared
service centres and [T 1o a giobal service based
model.

We contimue to balance permanent and temporary/
corfraciing recryitment mix in line with business leveis
in each market, The temporary business tends to be
more resiient in times of economic downturn.

We protect key resources in the short term so that we
can capitalise wher the economies recover.

e IR T

MITIGATING ACTIONS

Cur Group Treasury function reviews our cash
position on a regular basis.

Repatriation of funds and sonversion back to Sterling
protects against any sigrificant Stering recovery.

We do not hedge the tranglation &f our profits.

Qur communicaiions focus on ensuring the market
correctly adjusts for any impact.

We have little cross-border trading activity, so the
impact on transactions is limited to intercompany
tems.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Going concern

The Board has undertaken a review of the
Group’s forecasts and associated risks

and sensitivities, considering the expected
impact of COVID-18 on frading in the period
from the date of approval of the financial
statements to March 2023.

The Group had £154.0m of cash as at

31 Decembrer 2021, with no debt except
for IFRS 16 lease liabilities of £102.0m.
Debt facilities relevant to the review period
comprise a committed £30m BBVA RCF
(May 2023 maturity), an uncommitted UK
trade debtor discounting facility (Up to
£50m depending on debtor levels) and

an uncommitted £20m UK bank overdraft
facility.

Throughout 2021, activity levels picked
up in most of the Group's markets and
the cost control and cash preservation
methods used in 2020 were not repeated.
However, due to the pandemic reductions
in travel and entertaining expenses remain.
There continues to be a high degree of
global macre-economic uncertainty, as

Wi, S,

COVID-19 remains a significant issue
and restrictions remain in a number of
countries across the Group.

However, given the analysis performed,
there are no plausitle downside
scenarios that we believe would cause
an issue. As a result, given the strength
of performance in the year, the level

of cash in the business and Group’s
borrowing facllities, the geographical
and discipline diversificaticn, imited
concentration risk, as well as the
ability to manage the cost base, the
Board has concluded that the Group
has adequate resources to continue

in operational existence for the pericd
through to March 2023.

VIABILITY STATEMENT

Assessing the prospects of
the Company

Qur strategy and the key risks we
face are described on pages 13

to 18 and 53 to BC. A full business
forecasting process is parformed on a
quarterly basis, with a full budget for the
following year created during October
and November, being presented to the
Board in December. The Beoard reviews
the Group's strategy and approves an
annual Group budget. Performance is
then monitored by the Board through
the review of monthly reports showing
comparisons of results against budget,
quarterly forecasts and tha prior year,
with explanations provided for significant
variances. Discussion around strategy
is undertaken by the Board in its normal
course of business, as well as at an
annual dedicated strategy day.

We also prepars longer-term projections
which drive our strategic plan. These are
typically three years. Our strategic plan
provides a clear vision for the Group,
aligns the Group to one clear culture,
provides clarity on investment priorities,
branding, belief in achievabie goais,

and clarity on the goals for our financial
vision.




The period over which we
confirm longer-term viability

Within the context of the above, in
accerdance with provision 31 of the
UK Corporate Governance Ceode, the
Board has assessed the viability of
the Group.

Given the inherent uncertainty
involved, the period cver which the
Directors consider it possible tc form

a reasonable expectation as to the
Group's longer-term viability is the
three-year period to 31 December
2024. This period has been selected as
it is short enough to present the Board
and, therefore, users of the Annual
Report with a reasonable degree of
confidence, whilst still providing an
appropriate longer-term outlook. Whilst
the Board has no reason to belisve

the Group will not be viable over a
longer period, the Board has taken
into account the short-term visibility
inherent in a recruitment business with
a permanent recruitment bias,

Stress testing

The forecasting and budgeting process
is also supported by scenarios that
encempass a broad range of potential
outcomes. These scenarios are
designed to explore the resilience

of the Group to the potential impact

of the significant risks as set out on
pages 53 to 60, or a combinaticn of
those risks. A rangs of scenarios were
considered, including eyber incidents,
disintermediation by way of innovation,
changes in technology, movements in
foreign exchange rates, and a global
downturn. For each individual scenario,
we modelied & 15% decline in gross
profit, recovering to be fiat in Year

3. We also modelied a worst-case
scenario, where the combination of
factors led to a decline in gross profit
in line with the COVID-19 pandemic for
the first two years, and then flat in year
3, compounded by further additional
factors as well as a 10% strengthening
of Sterling. We have assumed that,

as in the past, as downside risks
materialise our headcount will flex
through natural attrition in line with

the drop in gross profit, such that the
impact on operating profit is partially
mitigatad.

As ssen in the global financial crisis in
2009, as well as during the pandemic,
working capital from both permanent
and ternporary recruitment unwinds,

providing the Group with a sizeable
cash buffer.

The scenarios were designed

to be severe, but plausible and

were modelled individually and in
combination. In each case, the Group
remained viable throughout. However,
it is considered extremely unlikely that
this combinaticn of events would ever
occur. Controls are also in place, where
possible, to mitigate the impact of these
scenarios and these are described on
pages 53 to 60.

Various events may also alert the Main
and Executive Boards to a potential
threat to viahility, for example, macro-
events drive the recruitment industry,
a drop in GDP in a particular country
may lead to a reduction in gross profit
growth rates.

We consider that this stress-testing
based assessment of the Group's
prospects is reasonable in the
circumstances given the inherent
uncertainty involved.

Confirmation of longer-term
viability

The Directors confirm that their
assessment of the principal risks

and uncertainties facing the Group
was robust. Based upon the robust

Description
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assessment of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Company and
the stress-testing based assessment of
the Company’s prospects, all of which
are described above, the Directors
have a reasonable expectation that
the Company will be able to continue
in operation and meet its liabilities as
they fall due cver the period to 31
December 2024. However, we operate
in an environment of limited visibility,
dependent upon confidence in the
global marketplace. Further weaknass
in the macro-economic outlook may
cause us to adapt our strategy during
the three-year period in response,
lzading to a re-evaluation of additional
risks invoived which might impact the
business modef.

Compliance with Section 414
of the Companies Act 2006

We have complied with the
requirements under the provisions of
the Companies Act 2006 contained
in Sections 414CA and 414CB of the
Companies Act 2006. The relevant
references can be found below.

Business Model 5
Non-financial Key Performance Indicators 221024
Description and management of principal risk and

‘ . > 51 to b8
impact of business activity

Employees 27 10 38

Social and community

2710 38 and 47 t0 48

Respect for human rights

271038 and 47 t0 48

Anti-corruption and anti-bribery

83 and 92

Environmental matters

27 and 40 to 46
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Stakeholder Engagement

The following describes how the
Directors have had regard to the
matters set out in section 172(1)
of the Companies Act 2008. This
section of the Strategic Report
and the pages to which it refers,
comprises the Company’s section
172(1) statement together with
the statements set out earlier in
this report as to how the Directors
have engaged with employses
and had regard to their interests
and how the Directors have had
regard to the Company’s business
relationships with customers,
suppliers and other external
stakeholders.

The Board understands that
providing global recruitment
services touches many lives

and that it is important o have

a framework in place to capture
stakeholder feedback. The

Board use this feadback to

help shape its decision making

and future strategy. The various
considerations surrounding our key
stakeholders including engagement
methods, decision making, their
importance to our operating model
together with the Board’s oversight,
are summarised in this section of
the Strategic Report.

The Board cansider the risks

that are, or may be in the future,
associated with each of the
stakenholder groups as part of the
overall principal risk assessment
which is set out on pages 53 to 58.

WHO ARE OUR STAKEHOLDERS?

in 2021 there were no changes in respect of whom the Board considers to be our key stakeholders.
Our stakeholders are the same across our busingsses, brands, and geographies.

EMPLOYEES

Want to work in a supportive,
inclusive culture where they
experience opportunities

a long and

INVESTORS
Look for
vestment
growth

and seek
confidence their
investmentis .-
upder sound &
stewardship,

Stakeholders

COMMUNITIES
& GOVERNMENT

o help drive
and
s forward.

WHY ARE OUR STAKEHOLDERS IMPORTANT TO OUR BUSINESS MODEL?

INVESTORS

rely on for our su

Withouw! ¢

sound.

CUSTOMERS COMMUNITIES SUPPLIERS

& GOVERNMENT

Maintaining a reputation
asare ible

tside of
Lt N U i



% EMPLOYEES

Engagement

Gilobal live events/townhalls inc. Q8A
sessions for giobal workforce

Directors attend management meetings
around the regions either in person

or virtuafly

Attendance at Page internal network
events

Yammer

Engagement and cutcome

Feedback

Directors were ciear from
engagement throughout the year that
employees were fegling the strain of
the restraint that was shown in 2020
on pay and reward. Inflation data was
provided for all markets.

Feedback
Working flexibly is important to our
people and it was clear on the global

townhall events that a recurring

sed 10 roll-out more
te this.

theme was o
laptops 1o fa

Feedback

Through our continuous listening
programime, we heard that our
employees felt we cught to review our
family friendly policies to ensure these
were not only legally compliant but
more competitive.

Performance information provided

to Directors

Surveys ~ in 2021 Group-wide “Have
Your Say Survey”, pulse surveys and
results of senior female leadership
survey

Biannual Culture & Engagement
sessions including KPPl measures and
the D&l review

Information on Executive Shadow
Board activities

Speak up helpline review

Gender pay gap reporting

Decision

The Board determined it was
appropriate to return to paying
annual bonuses and global cost

of living increases weare awarded
across the business to address the
inflationary squeeze on employees
take home pay.

Decision

Directors supported the investment
in ncreased use of laptops and kept
employess up to date via global

live townhalls and Yammer on the
progress of 4 roll-out particulady in
light of supply pressures.

Decision

Family friendly policies have been
reviewed and imgroved in markets
where we felt that we needed to
increase our offering.
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Who engages?

Ths engagement activities are
undertaken by all Directors, whether
they are Executive or Non-Executive

The performance information outlined
is provided to all Directors

The Giobal five townhalls involve an
update on key business issues and
often involve an interactive session with
a Non-Executive Director

In 2021 several Non-Executive
Directors presented at our female
senior leadership sessions

Link to Strategy
aining and rewarding our
voes is vital if we are to offer
world cl rvices. Retention risk is

an increasing risk for both oursely
and our clients.

Link to Strategy

Maximising productaaty means

b e must ensure our employees

have the tools to work smartly and
flexibly.

Link to Strategy
Supporting working parents is key to
being an employer of choice in our

sector,
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Stakeholder Engagement

@ INVESTORS

Engagement

Performance information provided to
Directors

Who engages?

Investor Roadshows
Investor Conferences
Individual investor meetings
Capital markets event 2021

Engagement call with proxy agencies

AGM

Investor Relations Reports including
roadshow feedback

Proxy ratings and reports (1SS, Glass
Lewis, IVIS and PIRC)

A shared responsibility for all Directors.
However, our experience is that invastors
miore commenly request one 1o ong
sessions with our executive management,
Chair and Chairs of our Committees.

Feedback

. Our investors were understanding

- of the need to suspend dividend

+ payments in 2020. However, through
engagement across our shareholder
base in 2021 # was apparent that
there was an expectation that we
return fo sustainable capital returns as
soon as possible.

Feedback

Through engagament with the
invastrment community in 2021 it
bacame apparent that our investors
werg interested in us confirming
our strategy for the business post-
pandemic.

CASE STUDY

Decision

The Board considered the
appropriate level of dividends to
declare and declared an interim
dividenc of 4.70 pence per share
and special dividend of 26.71 pance
per share, together totalling £100m,
at the 2021 half year.

Decision

The Board decided to hold & capital
markets event in December 2021
detailing the key strategic themes
such as the focus on high potential
disciplines, our Completely Custormer
programme and our investment in
Page Outsourcing.

Link to Strategy

Producing meahingfu! returns on
investment for shareholders makes
the Groun attractive for continued
investment of existing sharshclders
and atiracls new investors, making
the Group overall a sustainable,
viable business.

Link to Strategy

The event was designed to give an
as up 10 date picture as possible
on our current strategic thinking 1o

enable investors to base their future
decisions.
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Engagement Performance informaticn Who engages? ©
provided to Directors g'
Client relationship Net Promoter Scores Engagement on frontline customer experience is carried out by
meetings Executive Directors and senior management.
Google review survays - clients
Market deep dive and candidates Non-Executive Direciors review the customer data eutlined
Sessions and invite the Chief Customer Officer to the Board to discuss
Quarterly Board reports on customer views, trends, and needs. Additionally, throughout the
Information Security and Data - year all Directors attend deep-dive sessions on markets, whera
Protection. customers are a key component of the discussion. i}
Keeping systems arkd data safs is a key responsibility of the E?
Group and therefore a shared Board matter. Information ﬁ
security and data protection, including key metrics regarding et
performance, are discussed quarterly at Board meetings. i
;i
&
. a
:(},: wg 1 ;
Feedback ' Decision B Link to strategy
7 Introduced in 2021, 8cross alf SE - consistent, we 7 I
. management, a single perfors y. L score measured aCross our
. indicator customer rali osedy, operational b .
of weighted scores Q,Eke?f B drive for cus ey
such as repeat %Sém Ll I s our business bec =
engagement, reférrals; and cands g transactional in nature, b
and client sahsﬁastmgsq%es S -
A
Feedback Link to strategy
Recruitment services should
go beyond simply identiftying - 1 .
job opporturities and m %i investiment in our key 190?300%9%68 Lﬁh rele and address client and
candidates to clients. C as Page Insights, Custormer Gcannagt‘fz -
want advice on recruitment mnde.s, and i stmert in other business *
market trends. compensation and rrstiels SLEG?‘%aS Page Qutsourcing.
henefits, most suitable locations T ¥ o,
for roles, inter iing optimisation = %
processes, vetting etc. d R .
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Stakeholder Engagement

@ COMMUNITIES & GOVERNMENT

Engagement Performance information provided to Who engages?

Directors
fnvolvernent in E‘.:}d aotivities such Sustaéé;'ability report and metrigs Engagement, on thé while, is defegated to ;
as voluntary and charitable wark ‘ Executive Diractorsrand senior managsment.

Annual consideration of tax strat@y

Attenclance at COP 26 5 The Board having oversight responsibilities |
. Directors gre advised of all material litigation discharged via reporting provided on the
Engagement with regulators, and/or significant regulatory engagament engagement activities,
gaverrmént departments and tax via reporting from the General Counsel & :
authorities : Company Secrétary i
Engagement and outcome

Feedback gion - ¢ oo S §  Link to Strategy
3 D " A L :

It became clear t ; 3 . Demenstrating

us that we were A i plea y 80\ S0"dex ‘ real action on

not doing enough 3 '

to articulate ouw

sustainability

trate our
commitment

SUPPLIERS

Engagement Performance information Who engages?
provided to Directors

Supplier on-boarding process UK payment practices Group Procurement and Business Technalogy teams take the
reporting made available lead on direct engagement.

Relationship mestings with key

suppliers Provision of modern slavery Board review engagement output, especially around information
KPls to Board on annual security supplier matters and modern slavery risks, and

Infrastructure suppliers’ event basis determine any actions reguired.

EESlal Sty

Directors sought more assurance outside of the UK

» business surrounding mitigation actions and requested
more engagement in smaller markets, resulting n a
modern slavery playbook being issued across the world
and an annual certification of compliance from local
businasses.
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Financial summary

PageGroup Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Revenus £1,6843.7m £1,304.8m +26.0% +30.2%
Gross profit £877.7m £610.2m +43.8% +49.1%
Operating proft £168.5m £17.0m >100% >100%
Profit before tax £166.6m £15.5m >100%

Basic earnings per share 37.2p -1.8p =100%

Diluted earnings per share 37.0p -1.8p >100%

Total dividend per share {excl. special dividend) 156.00p -

Total dividend per share (incl. special dividend) 41.71p -

*At constant currency — all growth rates in constant currency at prior year rates unless otherwise stated

At constant exchange rates, Group
revenue increased 30.2% to £1,643,7m
(2020; £1,304.8m) and gross profit
increased 49.1% to £877.7m

(2020: £610.2m) for the year ended

31 Decernber 2021. Gross profit per
fee earner increased 43.7% to £157.2k
(2020: £113.3K).

The Group's revenue mix between
permanent and temporary placements
was 42:58 (2020: 34:66) and for gross
profit was 77:23 (2020; 72:28), as

the recovery in 2021 was driven by
permanent recruitment, Revenue from
temporary placements comprises

the salaries of those placed, together
with the margin chargad. This margin
on temperary placements increassd
to 21.0% in 2021 (2020: 20.1%) and

Regional reviews

we saw an improvement in our perm
margin as well. Overall, pricing has
improved, as a result of candidate
shortages in the majority of cur markets.

In our Large, High Potential markets
category, which now represent 38% of
the Group. gross profit increased 60%
in constant currencies to £332.5m,
outperforming the rest of the Group.

Total Group headcount increased

by 1,144 in the year to 7,838. This
comprised a net increase of 937 fee
earners (+18.2%) and an increase

of 207 operational support staff
{+13.4%). This increase in our fee
earner headcount was driven by
continued investment as trading
conditions improved. We added ¢. 700

experienced fee earners tc the Group
during the year, in addition to the c.
400 experienced fee eamers that joined
in 2020. This additional headcount

was primarily into our strategic areas

of investment, as well as those areas
which have been more resilient during
the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result

of this increase in net fee earner
headcount, cur fee earner to operational
support staff ratio improved tc 78:22
(2020: 77:23).

In total, administrative expenses
increased 18.6% to £708.2m (2020:
£593.2m). The Group's operating profit
from trading activities totalled £168.5m
(2020: £17.0my}, an increase of

cver 100%.

g L3 ¥ ; 12 B
EMEA 432.0 +35.3% +40.3%
Asia Pacific 20% 179.3 121.1 +48.0% +53.1%
Americas 16% 138.5 88.8 +56.0% +68.9%
UK 15% 127.9 808 +58.0%

Parmanent

T7% 676.1 436.7

+54 8% +60.7%

Temporary

23% 2016 173.5

+16.2% +19.8%
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Review of the Year

Europe, Middle East and Africa {EMEA)

| (49% of Group in 2021) 2021 2020 Reported cC
Gross profit 432.0 319.4 +35.3% +40.3%

| Operating profit 93.4 30.6 »>100% >100%
Conversion rate (%) 21.6% S.6% |

Market presence

EMEA is the Group's largest region,
contributing 42% of the Group's gross
profit in the year. With operations in

17 countries, PageGroup has a strong
presence in the majority of EMEA markats
and is the clear leader in specialist
parmanent racruitment in the two largest,
France and Germany, and many of the
others. Across the region, permanent
placements accounted for 70% and
temporary placements 30% of gross profit.

The region includes four of our Large,
FProven markets, France, Spain, ftaly and
the Netherlands, across which there is a
bread range of competition. EMEA also
includes Germany, one of the Group’s
Largs. High Potential markets, which has
low penstration rates {markets where less
than 30% of recruitment is outsourced)

Asia Pacific

and significant growth potential, particuiarty
in temporary recruitment. In addition, there
are markets such as Poland, Turkey and
Africa, which are less developed, with
limited competition, but are increasingly
laoking for professional recruitment
services.

Performance

In constant currencies, revenue grew
25.5% to CBEQ.Bm (2020: £717.3m) and
gross profit grew 40.3% to £432.0m
{(2020: £319.4m).

Trading conditions improved significantly
during the year as vaccines were
successfully rolled out across the region
and lockdown restrictions eased. France,
the Group's second largest markst, grew
27%. Conditions were tougher in Page
Personnel, which represents around 60%
of France. Germany, our third largest

Asia Pacific ‘ (Em) i Growth rates
(20% of Group in 2021) 2021 2029 Reported ce
Gross profit 179.3 1211 +48.0% +53.1%
Operating profit 39.0 3.8 >100% >100%
Conversion rate (%) 21.8% 31%

Market presence

Asia Pacific represented 20% of the
Group's gross prafit in 2021, with 80% of
the region being Asia and 20% Australia.
Other than in the financial centres of Hong
Kong, Singapore and Tokyo, the Asian
market is generally highly under-developed
and offers attractive opportunities in both
international and domestic markets at
good conversion rates. Two of our Large,
High Potential markets, Greater China
and South East Asia, are in this region.
With a highly experienced management
team, approaching 1,500 staff and limited
competition, the size of the opportunity

in Asia is significant. Across Asia, driven
by cultura! attitudes towards white collar
temporary recruitment, permanent
placements accounted for 88% and
temporary placernents only 12% of gross
profit, weli below the Group average

of 23%.

Australia, one of our Large, Proven
markets, is a mature, well-developed and
highly competitive recruitment market.
PageGroup has a meaningful presence

in permanent recruitment in the majority
of the professicnal disciplines and major
cities in Australia. Page Personnel has a
growing presence and significant potential
to expand and grow market share.

Performance

In Asia Pacific, in constant currengies,
revenue grew 34.3% to £282.0m (2020:
£216.0m) and gross profit grew 53.1% to
£179.3m (2020: £121.1m;.

In Asia, representing 16% of the Group,
gross profit increased 57% on 2020.
Greater China increased 57% with
Mainland China up 58% and Hong Kong
up 65% . South East Asia was up 70%,
with Singapore up 55%. India delivered a
record year, up 87%, aided by the opening

market, grew 48% for the year, with
strong growth and record performances
across all brands. In our other European
markets, Benelux grew 32% and Southern
Europe, which was severely impacted by
the pandemic in 2020, was up 60%, with
ltaly and Spain increasing 52% and 64%,
respectively. The Middle East and Africa,
which represented 3% of the region,

grew 46%,

2021 operating profit increased over 100%
to £93.4m (2020: £30.6m), returning o the
2019 conwersion rate of 21.6%. The region
was the most resilient to the COVID-19
pandemic, with conditions improving
significantly through 2021. Headcount
across the region increased by 468
{(+15.7%) during the year, to 3.447 at the
end of 2021 (2020: 2,979, 2019: 3,317),
taking it above the pre-pandemic leveis.

of our Bangalore office in Q4 2018. Japan
was up 37% and delivered a record year.
Australia grew 43%, despite having seen
continued uncertainty around lockdowns,
which varied significantly by state.

Operating profit increased more than 100%
in constant currency to £39.0m {2020:
£3.8m), with the conversion rate increasing
significantly to 21.8% {2020: 3.1%). This
was driven by the significant improverment
in productivity, up 45% in the year, together
with the improvement in trading conditions.
Overali, the region had the highest
conversion rate in the Group in 2021.
Headcount acress the region increased
324 (23.4%} in the year, ending the year

at 1,709 (2020: 1,385, 2019: 1,679).



The Americas

Americas (£m) Growth rates
(16% of Group in 2021) 2021 2020 Reported cC
Gross profit 138.5 88.8 +56.0% +66.9%
Operating profit 19.2 -7.0 »>100% >100%
Conversion rate (%) 13.8% -7.9%

Market presence

The Americas represented 16% of
the Group’s gross profit in 2027, with
North America representing 62% of
the region and Latin America, 38%.
The US and Latin America are two of
the Large, High Potential markets in
our growth strategy. The US, where
we have eight offices, has a well-
developad recruitment industry, but in
many disciplines, especially technical,
there is limited national competition
of any scale. PageGroup’s breadth
of professional specialisms and
geographic reach is uncommon and
provides a competitive advantage.

Latin America is a highly under-
developed region, where PageGroup
enjoys the market leading position
with around 800 employees in seven

United Kingdom

countries, There are few international
competitors and none with regional
scale. Across the Americas, permanent
placements accounted for 88% of gross
profit and temporary placements 12%.

Performance

In canstant currencies revenue
increased by 53.9% to £220.7m (2020:
£154.3m} while gross profit increased
£6.9% to £138.5m (2020: £88.8m).

In North America, gross profit increased
by 62%. The US grew 64% as trading
conditions improved and we delivered
growth in newer disciplines, including
Technology. We also saw goed

growth in Construction, following the
re-opening of construction sites during
the year.

PageGroup Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Latin America recovered weli from the
pandemic after a particularly challenging
2020, and delivered a record year.
Gross profit was up 77%, with Brazil up
73%. Mexico up 81% and the other five
countries increasing 76% collectively.

As a result of this improvement in
trading conditions, operating profit
increased to £19.2m (2020: -£7.0m},
with a conversion rate cf 13.8% (2020:
-7.9%), despite significant investment in
the 2 Large, Migh Potential geographic
markets in the region. Headcount across
the region increased by 226 (+19.6%)

in 2021 to 1,381 (2020: 1,155, 2018:
1,376).

UK (£Em) Growth rate
{15% of Group in 2020) 2021 2020

Gross profit 127.9 80.2 +58.0%
Operating profit 16.9 -10.3 >100%
Conversion rate (%) 13.2% -12.8%

Market presence

The UK represented 16% of the Group’s
gross profit in 2021, operating from
26 offices covering all major cities. It
is a mature, highly competitive and
sophisticated market with the majority
of vacant positions being outscurced
to recruitment firms. PageGroup

has a market leading presence in
permanent recruitment across the UK
and a growing presence in temporary
recruitment. In the UK, permanent
placements accounted for 75% and
temporary placements 25% of

gross profit,

The UK business operates under all four
of our brands, with representation in

13 specialist disciplines via the Michae!
Page brand. There remain opportunities
to launch new discipline businesses
under the lower salary-level Page

Personnel brang, which represented
22% of UK gross profit.

Performance

In the UK, revenue increased 24.9%
from £217.3m in 2020 1o £271.5m,
whilst gross profit increased 58.0% from
£80.8m in 2020 te £127.9m.

COVID-19 continued to impact trading
during the first half of 2021, with
restrictions in place through most of Q1
and (2. Trading conditions then began
improving steadily, with the region
returning to growth in Q3 compared

to 2019, Overall, the UK grew 58%
with Michael Page up 83% and Page
Personnel up 46%. Trading conditions
waere tougher in Page Personnel, which
operates at lower salary levels, but
ancouragingly they returned to growth
in Q4 compared to 2019.

Operating profit for the yesar increased

to £16.9m (2020; -£10.3m), with the
convarsion rate improving to 13.2%
(2020: -12.8%). The 2021 conversion
rate was negatively impacted by the
repayment of furlough to HMRC during
the year, excluding this item, the 2021
conversion rate would have been 15.8%.

Headcount increased 126 (+10.7%) in
the year to 1,301 at the end of December
2021 (2020: 1,175, 2019: 1,326),
marginally behind the pre-pandemic level.
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Review of the Year

Operating profit and
conversion rates

The Group’s organic growth model and
profit-based team bonus ensures cost
control remains tight. Approximately
three-quarters cf costs were employee
related, including wages, bonuses, share-
based long-term incentives, and training
& relocation costs. Depreciation and
amortisation for the year totalled £53.7m
(2020: £61.8m).

The Group's conversion rate for the year
increased from 2.8% in 2020 to 18.2%.
The conversion rate improved significantly
as the year progressed, with a H2
conversion rate of 22.0% compared with
a H1 conversion rate of 15.9%. This was
due to the sharp increase in productivity
and gross profit.

Conversion rates improved in ali of the
Group's regions. Asia Pacific was the
Group’s mast profitable region, with

a conversion rate of 21.8%, which
represents a considerable increase

on 2020. EMEA alsc remained highly
profitable. with conditions improving
towards the end of the year and the
conversion rate of 21.6% was consistent
with the pre-pandemic level in 2019.
The UK and the Americas were most
impacted by the COVID-19 pandermic,
though their conversion rates recovered
well in 2021 10 13.2% and 13.8%
raspectively, above their pre-pandemic
levels in 2019.

A net interest charge of £1.9m (2020:
£1.5m) was primarily due to an IFRS

16 interest charge of £1.3m. Excluding
'IFRS 16, the net interest charge of £0.6m
reflected the continued fow interast

rate environment and  barrowing

facility charges.

Earnings per share and
dividends

In 2021, basic and diluted earnings per
share increased to 37.2p and 37.0p
respectively (2020: -1.8p), as a result of
the increase in profit due to the improved
economic conditions.

The Group’s strategy is to operate a
policy of financing the activities and
develcpment of the Group from our
retained earnings and to maintain a strong
balance sheet position. The first use of
our cash is to satisfy our operational and
investment reguirements and to hedge
our liabilities under the Group’s share
plans. We then review our liquidity over
and above these requirements to make

returns to sharehoiders, firstly by way of
an ordinary dividend.

Cur policy is to grow this ordinary
dividend over the course of the economic
cycle, in line with our long-term growth
rate. We believe this will enable us to
sustain the level of ordinary dividend
payments during a downturn as well as to
increase it during more presperous times.

Cash generated in excess of these
first two priorities will be returned to
shareholders through supplementary
returns, using special dividends cr
share buybacks.

Having suspended our dividend policy

in 2020 during the pandemic, in 2021

we announced the resumption of cur
dividend policy. in QOctober 2021, we paid
an interim dividend of 4.70 pence per
share, an increase of 9.3%, being 4.5%
for 2020 and 4.5% for 2021, over the
2019 interim dividend. In addition, in line
with our policy of returning surplus capital
to shareholders, we alsc paid a special
dividend ¢f 26.71 pence per share. Taking
both dividends together, this amounted to
a cash return to shareholders of £100.2m.

In line with the continued improvemsnt
in trading conditions, a final dividend of
10.30p (2019: 0.00p) per ordinary share
i propased. When taken together with
the interim dividend of 4.70p (2019:
4.30p) per crdinary share, this is an
increase in the total dividend for the
year of 9.6% over the proposad 2019
ordinary dividends to 15.00p per ordinary
share. The proposed final dividend,
which amounts to £32.9m, will be paid
on 17 June 2022 to shareholders on
the register as at 20 May 2022, subject
to shareholder approval at the Annuat
General Mesting on 31 May 2022.

We will continue to monitor our cash
position in 2022 and will make returns to
shareholders in line with the above policy.

Cash flow and balance sheet

Cash flow in the year was strong, with
£186.3m (2020: £169.0m) generated
from operations. The closing cash
balance was £154.0m at 31 December
2021 {2020; £166.0m). The slight
decrease on 2020 despite the stronger
trading conditions is due primarily to the
payment of interim and specia! dividends
in the year, totalling £100.2m. Given the
recovery in the Group’s trading and strong
cash position, the Board decided to repay
the UK Government furlough income of
£3.4m in April 2021.

FPageGroup maintans a Confidential
Invoice Facility with HSBC whereby

the Group has the option to disccunt
receivables in order to advance cash.
The Group also has a Revolving Credit
Facility with BBVA, expiring in May 2023,
with a total drawable amount of £30m.
We have agreed a covenant waiver to the
end of the agreement on this facility to
ensure we retain access 1o these funds
should they be required. Neither of these
facilities were in use as at 31 December.
These facilities are used cn an ad hoc
basis to fund any major Group GBP cash
outflows.

Income tax paid in the year was
£37.0m (2020: £31.7m) and net

capital expenditure was £25.7m (2020:
£21.7m). The expenditure increased
due to increased spend on Customer
Connect, our new operating system, as
well as investment into laptops and new
IT equipment to support the fee sarner
headcount additions made during the
year.

An interim and special dividend of
£100.2m was paid in 2021 (2020: £0.0m).
The significantly higher share price in
2021 meant that there was an increase in
cash receipts from share option exercises,
with £16.4m in 2021, compared to £0.4m
in 2020. In 2021, £10.4m {2020: £14.4m)
was also spent on the purchase of shares
by the Employse Benefit Trust to satisfy
future committed obligations under cur
employee share plans.

The most significant item in our balance
sheet was trade receivables, which
amounted to £254.8m at 31 December
2021 (2020: £186.1m}, comprising
permanent fees invoiced and salaries and
fees invoiced in the temporary placement
business, but not yet paid. Day’s sales in
debtors marginally increased due to the
increase in the debtor book as a result of
the improvement in trading conditions,
particularly within permanent recruitment
which tends to have a longer collection
period.

Foreign exchange

Fareign exchange impacted the Group's
results for the year negatively, decreasing
revenue by c. £55m, gross profit by ¢,
£32m and cperating profit by c. £8m.

Taxation

The tax charge for the year was £48.3m
(2020: £21.3m). This represented

an effective tax rate of 28,0% (2020:
136.9%). The rate is higher than the
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Dec 2020

EBITDA
Capital

effective UK rate for the calendar year
of 19% (2020: 19%) principally due

to the impact of higher tax rates in
overseas countries and tc a lesser
extent, disaliowable expenditure. There
are some countries in which the tax rate
is lower than the UK, but the impact is
small either because the countries are
not significant contributors to Group
profit, ar the tax rate difference is not
significant. The decrease in the effective
tax rate from the prior year is a result of
the significant one-off derecognition of
deferred tax assets in 2020.

In 2021, the tax rate was impactec
primarily by higher tax in overseas
coundries (+7.8%), derecognition

of losses and other tax attributes

of (+3.3%), prior year adjustments

of (-2.9%j), tax on share-based
payments (-0.1%) and other permanent
differences (+1.5%), principally
employee related expenditure and
entertainment expenses.

Working  Tax and net Net

interest Capex exercised paid

i Cash B increase Ml Decrease

The tax charge for the year reflects
the Group's tax strategy, which

is aligned to business goals, Itis
PageGroup's policy to pay its fair
share of taxes in the countries in
which it operates and deal with its
tax affairs in a straightforward, open
and honest manner. The Group's tax
strategy is set out in detail on cur
website in the Investor section under
"Responsibilities”.

Share options and share
repurchases

At the beginning of 2021 the Group
had 11.4m share options outstanding,
of which 5.3m had vested, but had

not been exercised. During the year,
options were granted over 2.0m shares
under the Group’s share option plans.
Options were exercised over 3.6m
shares, generating £16.4m in cash,
and options lapsed over 2.0m shares.
At the end of 2021, options remained

Share options  Dividends EBT share Lease
purchases Liability

Dec 2021

Exchange

repayments

outstanding over 7.9m shares, of
which 3.8m had vested, but had not
been exercised. During 2021, 2.2m
shares were purchased for the Group's
Employee Benefit Trust, and no shares
were cancelled (2020: 3.8m shares
were purchased and no shares were
cancelled).

Approved by the Board cn 2 March
2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Kelvin Stagg

Chief Financial Officer
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Chairman’s Introduction
to Corporate Governance

David Lowden,
Chairman

Dear Sharehclder,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased

to present the Company’s Corporate
Governance Report for the financial year
ended 31 December 2021.

Like many businesses, last year

presentad challenging conditions and
circumstances for the Company. However,
| am delighted to be able to report that
through a combination of the hard work of
colleagues, strong partnerships with our
customers and more favourable trading
conditions, the Group has returned strong
trading results for 2021. This return to
growth has enabled dividends to be
reinstated to shareholders and generally
provided a more stable environment for

all our cther stakeholders. The business
has proven itsaif 10 ba resilient over the
last 12 months, supported by a number of
strategic decisions on where tc invest and
on which disciplines to focus.

Corporate governance

This Corparate Governance Report sets
out how the Company has complied with
the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018
{the “Code"). It also aims to explain the
work and activities of the Board, and the
work of its Committeas and details the
annual evaluation process for the year
under review.

The Group's Main Board and Committee

structure is outlined below. This
framework underpins the Board’s ability
to set the overall strategic direction of the
Group. It also supports its core values,
policies and procedures, which in turn,
creates a culture in which our business
and employeas can act effectively and
with integrity.

The newest addition to the governance
frarmework, is the establishment of the
Sustainability Committse. This reflects
the increased focus of the Board on ESG
issues. The Committee meets quarterly
to discuss sustainability strategy and
reports to the Board on its work. itis
chaired by Kelvin Stagg, the Group's
Chief Financial Officer and Executive
Director and inciudes a number of our
most senior leaders including the Group's
Chief People Officar, Chiaf Operating
Officar and Chief Customer Officer, The
highlights of its work are contained in the
Group's Sustainabtlity Report which can
be accessed in full at www.page.com

Board composition and
activities

This will be the last occasion | address
shareholders as | have served on the
Board for over nine years. (n fine with

the Code, | will formally step down on

30 April 2022, In 2021, a comprehensive
search for my successor was undertaken
and | am delighted that Angela Seymour-
Jackson was chosen to succeed me.
Angela undearstands the business, is
passionate about it and comes to the

role with a wealth of executive and non-
executive experience. She will take over
as Chair with effect from 1 May 2022,
Cther changes to the Beard included
Simon Boddie stepping down from the
Board having served on the Board for nine
years. | would like to thank Simon for his
stewardship of the Audit Committee over
the past nine years. He was truly a trusted

advisor to the Board and the business.
The Board considers itself fortunate to
have secured such a strong successor 10
Chair the Audit Committee, Ben Stevens
who was appointed to the Beard in early
2021, Ben took over the responsitiities
as Audit Cornmittee Chair in September
2021. He has proven to be a valuable
member of the Board, helping navigate
the business through its reccvery.

The Board met frequently in 2021 and
considered a wide range of matters.

Key activities undertaken included close
revigw of the Group's financial results

as these returned tc and exceeded
pre-pandemic levels and continued
ovearsight of the culture framework and
measures. The Board considered the
Group's ESG commitments and oversaw
the Company's D&! initiatives. More
broadly the Board was keen to ensure
that colleagues felt connected to each
other given the continuation of remote
working in many of cur markets and that
the same degree of flexibility, as shown
throughout the pandemic, to working
arrangements were retained as restrictions
were lifted, The benefits of Page Insights
and Customer Connect, (our new
operating system for consultants) were
demonstrated to the Board enabling it to
understand and input to the evolution of
the business’ services to its customers.

| hope you find our Corporate Governance
Report informative. The Board will be
available at the Annual General Meeting to
respond to any questions you may have
on this Report.

David Lowden
Chairman

2 March 2022



PageGroup Annual Report ang Accounts 2021

Our Corporate Governance

Framework

THE BOARD

The Board’s role is to provide sirategic leadership of the Group within a framework of prudent and

NOMINATION
COMMITTEE

Rasponsibie for ensuring
that the Compaay has
the executive and non-
executive leadarship it
requires and a diverse
talent pipeline.

Details on pages
85 to 87.

CHIEF FINANCIAL
OFFICER (CFO)

Responsible for the .
integrity of the Gompany's
financial statements ana
performance, ensuring the
nacessary internal controls
and fisk management

‘Bystems are in place and

effeciive.
Details on pages _

88to 82

effective controls which enable risk to be assessed and managed. 1t has a formal schedule of matters
reserved for its decision. More details on pages 79 to 84.

REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

Responsible for the
review, recommenidation
and implementation of
tne Group's remuneration’
gtrategy, its framework
and cost.

Detaiis on pages
93tc 1168,

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER (CEQ)

LedthEs BT e

Responsible for managing the financiat
risks, reporting and planning of the
Group.

SUSTAINABILITY
COMMITTEE

sponsible for m 0 ﬁ;ogress

against sustainability targets, as well as
implementing the Grous sirategy and
on to the environmant and social

Key responsibifity is to develop and deliver
the Group's strategy within the policies
and values established by the Beard.

EXECUTIVE BOARD

The Executive Board is chaired by

the CEC and includes the GFO. The
Executive Board is responsible for
averseeing operations in our regions and
for overseeing business funcfions Group-
wide,

Details on pages 77 to 78.

GENERAL COUNSEL & COMPANY SECRETARY
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DAVID LOWDEN

Chairman

STEVE INGHAM ?

Chief Executive Officer, Executive Director

Date of Appointment: Director, August 2012,
Chairman, Decermnber 2015

Date of Appointment: Pic Board, February 2007 Chief Executive Officer, April 2006

Past Roles:

David was a member of the Board of Taylor Nielson
Sofres ple, the marketing services business, from 1999
to 2009, becoming Chief Executive Officer 1 2006.
Before joining Taylor Nielson Sofres ple, David held
senior financial positions in Aspray ple, A.C. Niglsen
Corporation and Federal Express Corporation, David's
prior roles include Non-Executive Director and Chairman
of the Audit Committes for Cable & Wireless Worldwide
pic, Senior Independent Director and Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee of Berensden pic, Non-
Executive Director and Chairman cof the Audit and Risk
Committes of William HIl plc. From January 2019,

he was a Non-Executive Director of Huntsworth plc
and was Charman of the Board of Huntsworth plz

and its Nomination Committee from March 2019 until
Huntsworth plc was sold to Clayton Dubllier & Rice LLP
in May 2020.

Other Current Appointments:

Semor Independent Director of Morgan Sindall Group
pic. Non-Executive Director, and Senior Independent
Director of Capita plc and Nen-Executive Director of
Diploma plc. David became Chair of Diploma plc with
effect from 19 January 2022.

Board Committees: Nomination (Chairmar)

Skills and Experience:

. Extensive axperience in both general manageament
and financial management

*  Many years of operating within international
businesses with cultural diversity

. Strong strategic understanding

*  Proven ability for delivering shareholder value

®  Strong financial, marketing and commercial skills
. Experienced non-executive in several sectors

Contribution:

The Company's long-term sustainability is safeguarded
by having an effective chair of the Board and Dawd
Lowden successiully fulfils this role. His expenence

15 significant having held senior non-executive and
chair positions across a range of listed companies.
The Board draws upon his experience and guidance
regularly and his deep understanding of the business
enables him to ensure the needs of the business are
met across the range of strategic and governance
matters affecting the Company.

In accordance witn the Corporate Governance Codea,
David will stand down as Chairman on 30 April 2022,
having served cver ning years on the Board.

Past Roles:

Steve joined Michael Page in March 1987 as a consultant in the newly created Michael

Page Marketing business. Ha was then responsitle for the launch of the London marketing

team and was promoted to Operating Director in 1920. He was promoted again in 1934 to

Managing Director of both the Marketing and the newly launched Sales businesses. Steve then

started and took responsibility for sevaral other discipline businesses and was promoted to the

Board as Page becarme a public company in February 2001 In 2005 he took full responsitity |
for all UK businessas and then in March 2008, Steve was appointed Chief Executive. Prior to
joining PageGroup Steve spent four years at Johnsan Matthey as a qualified metallurgist. From
January 2013 to April 2013 he held the position of Non-Executive Director, Dabenharms ple.
Steve was also a member of the Corporate Partnership Board, Great Ormond Street Hospital
fram April 2008 1o December 2020.

Other Current Appointments:

Charr of the Carporate Partnership Board, Back Up - a charity focussed on providing support
to people with spinal injuries.

Board Committees: None

Skitls and Experience;
e 35 years’ service with the Group and recruitment industry

. 15 years as a GEO of a FTSE 250 public company, with strong IR skills, delivering
shareholder value

*  Strong entrepreneurial and strategic skills having initiated and grown many new global
businesses

*  Exiensive experience in business development and account management

*  Significant International experience including the emerging markets of SE Asia, China,
Latn America and India

+  Leadership of 2 global ceople business having seen PageGroup grow from 240 to over
7.500 employees across 37 countries

*»  Taken the Group through a global restructure to ensure all operational support staff are
centralised, where possible, in shared service centres, and consistent everywhere

. Experence in other sectors and industres having worked on the Boards of a major
charity and retailer

+  Ensured the Group has a clear vision, purpose and values as well as a clear priority 1o
improve Page's diversity and sustainability

o Awarded the Institute of Recruitmant Professionals Lifstime Achievermenit Award n 2017

Contriburtion:

Steve Ingham's contrbution s necessary to enable the Company to deliver 1fs strategy to
sharsholders and its wider stakehelders, In this people business he has a strong relatbonshia
and understanding of all the key people, as well as an unparalleled knowledge of the sector,
This has enabled him to establish a strong purpose, clear values and ambitious vision for

the Compary. He has & 35 year track record of delivenng industry leading results in a high-
performance business while investing and expanding the Group's international footprint from
19 to 37 geographies durng his tenure as CEO. He has ensured the Group s dlear on its
branding, creating four clear brands globally, under which the business operates. He has
launched multiple specialisms broadening the source of the Group's revenues away from
purely Finarce and Bartking, which now represenis less than 40% of the Group. A wheelchair
user snce March 2019, folowing a rear fatal skiing acodsnt, Steve has led the business in
promoting workplace diversity, in particular the cpportunities avallable to disabled candidates.




KELVIN STAGG

Chief Financial Officer, Executive Director
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SYLVIA METAYER

Iindependent Non-Executive Director

Date of Appointment: Date of Appointment:
June 2014 September 2017
Past Roles: Past Roles:

Kelvin joined PageGroup plc in July 2006 as Group Financial
Controfler and Company Secretary. He was appointed Acting Chief
Financial Officer in October 2013. He held the title of Gompany
Secretary until December 2013, In June 2014, Kelvin was appeinted
Chief Financial Officer. Prior to joining the Group, Kelvin spent six
yaars at Alied Domecq and four years at Unilever in a variety of
finance functions. He has significant international experence and has
high levels of compliance, changa management, large teams and
systems experience, across aimost every finance discipline. He is a
Chartered Management Accountant.

Other Current Appointments:
None

Board Committees:
Sustainability (Chair)

Skills and Experience:

. More than 15 years in the Gioup with & detailed knowledge of
the Group's operations

*  Extensive experience in finance, audit and risk management

*  Significant international experience including rales in the UK,
Continental Europe and Asia

+  High levels of compliance, change management, large
teams and systems experience, across almost every finance
discipline

*  Strong network of finance professionals

Contribution:

Kelvin Stagg is integral to the Company’s long-term success as he
manageas the financial rsks, reporting and planning of the business,
contributes to the Company’s stralegy and oversees glebal delivery
of all support services to the business including implementation of
all large-scale projects. He has extensive experence of managing
multi-discipline areas and having been employad for over 15 years
at the Company, he understands the operation of the business at
all leveis.

Sylvia has previously held a vanety of finance and general
management roles in companies operating in a number of sectors,
including Mattel Inc., Vivendi SA, and Houghton Miffin Harcourt

& Co.

Other Current Appointments:

Chuef Growth Officer of Sodexo SA leading strategy, digital, marketing
and sales and member of the Sodexo Group Executive Committee.
Member of the Supervisory Board of Keaolis, International Advisory
Board of HEC Business School, Paris and of the “French Tech”
Adwisory Board to the French government.

Board Committees:
Audit, Nomination, Remuneration

Skills and Experience:

. Extensive experience and understanding of international
markets, including the USA, Europe, China, Incka, and South
East Asia

«  Extensive experience in general and financial management

+  Extensive experience in designing and delivering ESG
programmes

+  |e=ading and delivenng change

+  Developing high-performance teams

. Finarce, HR, IT and Supely Chain management
*  Proven ability for delivering shareholder value

*»  Strong strategic understanding

Contribution:

Sylvia Metayer has significant experience working for international
organisations in finance and general management leadership
posttions. Her guidance and observations on the demands

and challenges in the various international markets in which the
Company operates strongly suppaorts the Gompany's expansion and
its ongoing success. Further, her financial acumen adds additional
strength and depth to the Company's strategic decision-making.
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PATRICK DE SMEDT

Senior
independent Director

Date of Appointment:
August 2015

Past Roles:

Patrick spent 23 vears at Microsoft during which time he founded
the Benelux subsidaries, led the development of its Western
European business and served as Chairman of Microsoft for Europe,
Middle East and Africa. Since leaving Microsoft in 2006, Patrick has
served on the boards of a number of European public and private
companies. His previous appeintments include: Non-Executive
Director and Chairman of the Remuneration Committee of Victrex
ple, Senicr Independent Director and Chairman of the Remuneration
Committes of Morgan Sindall pic and Anite ple, Charman (nterim)
KCOM Group plc and Non-Executive Director of Kodak Alaris
Holdings Ltd. He has deep knowledge of international markets and
inforrmation technology, and experience as a non-executive in diverse
incustry sectors.

Other Current Appointments:

Chairman of the Board and the Nomination Committee of EMIS
Group plc Chaimman, Non-Executive Chairman of Nasstar Managed
Services Group Limited and Chalrman of the Board and the
Nomination Committee of Bytes Technology Group pic.

Board Committees:
Audit, Nomination, Remuneration

Skills and Experience:

. Extensive experience of technology and customer services
- Experienced non-executive in several sectors

. Extensive experience in general management

. Many years of operating within international businesses with
cultural diversity

*  Proven ahility for delivering sharenolder value
*  lLeading and delwering change

Contribution:

Patrick De Smedt brings extensive understanding of technology

to the Board, a key consideration for any company's long-term
success. His experience at Microsoft and involvement with a range
of technological industries in international markets is invaluable

in the Board's decision making, He understands large-scale
transformation projects and can assist the Board in determining the
bensfits and threats posed by technologies in the sector.

ANGELA SEYMOUR-JACKSON

Independent
Non-Executive Director

Date of Appointment:
October 2017

Past Roles:

Angela has previousty held Executive Director roles with Aegon
UK, BAC Motoring Services Limited and Aviva UK Limited,
and was Senior Advisor to Lioyds Banking Group {insurance).
Prior 1o that Angela held senior marketing roles with Bluecycle,
com Limited, CGU Insurance plc, General Accident ple and the
Norwich Union Insurance Group. Angela has also served as

a Non-Executive Director of esure ple and Rentokd Initial ple.
She was Deputy Chairmnan, Senicr Independent Director and
Chair of the Remuneration Committee of GoCompare.com
Group until February 2021 when GoCompare.com Group was
acquired by Future pic.

Other Cumrent Appointments:

Non-Executive Director of Future pic and Janus Henderson
Group pic. Non-Executive Director and Senior Independent
Director of Trustpilot Group pic. Angela is also the Deputy Chair
of Pikl, a stant-up insurance business.

Board Committees:
Audit, Nomination, Remuneration (Chair

Skills and Experience:
*  Wealth of experience in service focused orgarisations

*  Experienced executive and non-executive in several
sectors

. Strong marketing and commercial skills
. Strong strategic understanding

. Extensive experience of the complexities of businesses
with a large geographical footprint

Contribution:

Angela Seyrmour-Jacksorn has held rurmerous Serior executive
marketing roles and non-executive director appointrments in
highly regulated environments. She therefore provides key
skills to the Board in respact of marketing and customer
services which are significant areas of focus for the Company.
Her experience in the highly regulated industries means

that Angela makes a valuable contribution as Chair of the
Remuneration Committee.

Angela is the Company's Chair designate. She will be
appointed as Chair on 1 May 2022,
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BEN STEVENS

Independent
Non-Executive Director

MICHELLE HEALY

independent
Non-Executive Director

KAYE MAGUIRE

General Counsel
& Company Secretary

Date of Appointment: January 2021

Date of Appointment: October 2016

Date of Appointment: October 2018

Past Roles:

Ban was previously the Group Finance
Director and member of the Board of British
Armerican Tobacco ("BAT" plc, having spent
29 years with the company in a variety of
finance and operational roles in the UK and
overseas. Prior to that, he held commercial
and finance roles at both Thorn EMI plc and
BET plc. He has also held non-executive
director roles with Trifast plc In the UK and
with TG Ltdd in India. He holds a Bachelor's
degree in Economics from University of
Manchaster and MBA from Manchester
Business School, University of Manchester.

Other Current Appointments:

Non-executive director and Chair of the Audit
Committee and Transaction Committee of
1SS A/S.

Past Roles:

Before joining Kerry Group plc, Michelle

was Group People & Culture Officer for ISS
World Services A/S. Prior to this she has
held a number of senior executive roles
including Director, Group Integrated Change
Programme at SABMiller plc and General
Manager UK & Ireland for British American
Tobacco plc, having previcusly undertaken a
nurmber of senior HR roles within the Group.
Michelle’s execulive career spans four global
listed companies and she has lived and
worked in ning countries across Europe

and Asia.

Other Current Appointments:

Chief Burman Resources Officer,
Kerry Group ple

Board Committees:
Audit (Chair), Nomination, Bemuneration

Skills and Experience:

¢ CFO of a FTSE 100 public company for
over ten years

. Extensive ine management experience
having been Director, Eurcpe for
BAT and Managing Director of BAT's
operations in Pakistan and in Russia.

- Extensive expenence in financial. audit
and risk management

* Significant international experience
through roles in the UK and overseas

Contribution:

Bsn Stevens brings a range of skills to the
Brard and the Audit Committee. He has
extensive international executive leadership
experience, having led the finance function
of a FTSE 10C business for a number of
years. He has also worked internationally
and managed international businesses
throughout his career. This experience
makes him well placed to understand a wide
range of business issues. He has a deep
understanding and proven track record
regarding the role and responsibilities of the
Audit Committee in a large listed Group,
given his current non-executive pasition as
Audit Commiittee Chair at 1SS A/S.

Board Committees:
Audit, Nominaticn, Reruneration

Skills and Experience:

+  Extensive experience in global human
resources leadership

. Extensive experience in leading and
delivering organisational change and
transformation

. Breadth and depth of leadership
experlence in global fisted businesses
in service, consumer and business to
business

= Strong strategic understanding

+  Extensive experience in general
management

Contribution:

The Company's long-term success is
highly influenced by ensuring it has a well
thought through hurman capital strategy.

It recognises its people are at the heart

of everything it does, particularly as an
organically grown business. Michelle

Healy offers the Board deep insight into its
approach in this respect. She has held a
number of senior HR leadership roles while
also having run businesses at an operational
level.

Past Roles:

Prior to joining PageGroup ple, Kaye spent
over D years at Legal & General where she
held a variety of senior posftions including
Head of Legal at L.egal & General Group
plc and Chief Resourcing & Legal Officer at
Legal & General Investment Management
Limited.

Frior to this she worked as a solicitor
specialising in employment law for a number
of top tier law firms including Hogan Lovells
and Allen & Cvery.

Skills and Experience:

*  Over 19 years' experence n legal and
company secretarial matters for public
companies

»  Extensive listed company, compliance,
ltigation and corporate governance
experience

*  Experience of building, developing and
leading legal functions in international
businesses

. Senior legal counsel and company
secretary experience in FTSE
businesses across different sectors

Contribution:

Kaye Maguire has significant experience

in leading legal, HR and governance

teams and advising boards on a range

of contenticus and non-contentious legal
issues including governance and regulatory
matters, cross-border and mutti-jurisdiction
contracts and transactions and Iltigation.

She attends all Board and Board
Committee meetings. Her experience
serves the Board well in terms of ensuring
legal and governance matters are
anticipated, considered and addressed.
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The Executive Board

STEVE INGHAM KELVIN STAGG

Chief Financiat Officer,
Executive Director

Chief Executive Officer,
Executive Director

See biography on page 73. See biography on page 74.

GARY JAMES

Chief People Officer

Gary joined Michael Page Finance in London in 1984. He has held numerous senior rales in the Sales and
Marketing businass. In 2002 he was appointed Managing Director in North America and as Regional Managing
Director of the Asia Pacific region in August 2006. Since 2013 Gary has been respensible for the Group’s global
HR functions. He has been instrumental in driving forward the Group's culture and engagement frameawork,
talent development programmes and diversity initiatives. Gary is a member of the Sustainability Committee.

PATRICK HOLLARD

Regional Managing Director - Latin America, Middle East and Africa

Patrick joined Michael Page in France in 1996, having worked previously for KPMG Peat Marwick. Prior to
that he had been Vice-President of AISEC International, the student-led crganisation, from 1991 {o 1992,
Appointed director in 1299, he moved to Sac Paulo to launch Michael Page Brazil, and then launched offices
in Mexico in 2008, Argentina in 2008, Chile in 2010 and Colombia in 2011. Appointed Regional Managing
Director in 2007, he is now responsible for PageGroup's operations in Latin America, Middle £ast and Africa.
Patrick is a member of the Sustainability Committee.

ANTHONY THOMPSON

Regional Managing Director — Asia Pacific

Criginally from Scuth Australia, Anthony commenced his Michael Page career in Hong Keng in 2001. He
established and managed several disciplines and brands in Hong Kong and Mainiand China and was
appeinted Managing Director in 2006. In 2012, he was appointed Regional Managing Director for Greater
China with multiple offices across Mainland China, Hong Kong and Taiwan. In 2015, Anthony moved to
Singapore with additional responsibility for our 6 countries in South-East Asia and subsequently India, Japan
and Australia. He was appointed to the Executive Board in 2018.

OLIVER WATSON

Chief Operating Officer

Oliver joined Michael Page in 1995. He was appointed Director of Michael Page UK Sales in 19387 and

then Managing Birector in 2002. In 2008, he was appointed Regional Managing Director for Michael Page
UK Sales, Marketing and Retall. in 2007 he launched Michae! Page Middle East and in 2009, he became
Regional Managing Director for Michael Page UK Finance, Marketing and Sales, Middle East, Scotland and
Ireland. In recent years he led and grew PageGroup's operations in the USA and Canada. In 2018 QOliver was
appointed COO with responsibility for increasing productivity through innovation, technology and people.

He is responsible for the Group’s technology functions, shared service centres and ensuring the adcption

of new initiatives. He has been key in ensuring the successful roll-out of the Group's new operating system,
Customer Connect. Oliver is a member of the Sustainability Committes.
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EAMON COLLINS

Chief Customer Officer

Eamon joined the Group in 2007 as UK Marketing Director and previous 10 this he held senior marketing and
communication roles at Samsung and Hitachi. Eamon became the Group Marketing Director in 2012 and
was responsible for the Group'’s global brand, communications and digital channels. During his time in this
role, he oversaw significant changes both to the platforms that PageGroup uses in reaching customers and
to the markeling teams worldwide that waork on them. In January 2021, Eamon was appointed as the Chief
Customer Officer to PageGroup and becarme responsible for ensuring the voice of the customer is heard and
enhancing understanding of our customer base to drive consistent customer axperiences and refationships.
He has retained respongibility for marketing as this forms a critical part of building customer-focused
programmes. Eamon is a member of the Sustainability Committee.

NICOLAS BECHU

Regional Managing Director — Northern & Central Europe, ltaly and Turkey

Nicolas joined Michasl Page in France {Paris} as a Consultant in the Finance practice in 1995 and was
promoted te Director in 2000. in 2002, he launched the newly established business in Belgium and was
promoted to Managing Director in 2003, In 2007, he moved to Milan to manage the PageGroup operations in
[taly. In 2010, he transferred to the Netherlands (Amsterdam} and became responsible for Northarn Eurcpe. In
2014 he also became responsible for Germany. In 2021, his remit was extendad and he is now responsible for
Austria, Italy, Poland, Switzerland and Turkey.

ISABELLE BASTIDE

Regional Managing Director - France, Spain and Portugal

Isabelle started her career in the banking sector, then quickly moved to a recruitment agency where she
managed a pertfolio of large naticnal accounts, She joined Page Personnel France in 1999 as a consultant
in Finance and was quickly promoted to Director. In the 2000s she grew a number of disciplines resulting in
a very strong market position for cur French business. She was made Managing Director of Page Personnel
France in 2007 and in 2014, she launched Page Cutsourcing in France, Since 2015, Isabelle has been
responsible for all of the Page Executive, Michael Page and Page Personnel brands in France. Appointed to
the Executive Board in January 2021, Isabslie is now responsible for the Group's operations in France, Spain
ang Portugal. Isabelle is also the executive sponsor for diversity and inclusion for Europe.

NICHOLAS KIRK

Regional Managing Director - UK & North America

Nick joined the business in 1995 as a Michael Page Sales consultant based in Leeds. As the office network
expanded, he relocated te London, the Home Counties and then Birmingham woerking in start-up businesses.
Nick became & Director in 2002 and then the Managing Director of Michael Page Sales in 2007. In 2009, he
transferrad across to Page Personnel with a brief to transform the operating model. He spent the next

4 years expanding into new disciplines and rapidly growing the Page Personnel business. Nick was promoted
to Regional Managing Director in 2013 and took on the additicnal respensibility of Michael Page Finance in
the UK. In early 2018, he restructured the UK business and in doing so launched a mere customer-centric
operating moedel, Later that year, he was promoted to UK Managing Director which included responsibility for
non-operational functions. At the beginning of 2021 he extended his remit and now runs operations in the UK,
Canada and the USA,
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Seymour-Jackscn will be independent at
the time of her appointment as Chair.

The Board and its operation

The Board of PageGroup plc is the body
responsible for the overall management
and conduct of the Group's business, and
approving and overseeing implementation
of its strategy. It has the powers and
duties set out in relevant faws of

England and Wales and in its Articles of
Association.

The Board's role is to provide strategic
leadership to the Group within a
framework of prudent and effective
controls which enables risk tc be
anticipated, assessed and managed.
The Board is responsible collectively to
the Company's shareholders for the long-
term success of the Company and for
ensuring the Company contributes to all
its stakeholders and to wider society as a
whole.

Composition of the Board

As at 31 December 2021 the Board
compriged the Chair, the Chief Executive
Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and five
independent Non-Executive Directors.

David Lowdsn will step down from the
Board as Chair and as a Non-Exscutive
Director an 30 April 2022. AS praviously
announced, Angela Seymour-Jacksen
has been appointed as Chair designate
and her appointment as Chair is effective
from 1 May 2022. Angela will relinguish
her Remuneration Committee Chair role
on becoming Chair and stand down from
the Audit Committee, On appointment as
Chair of the Group she will alsc assume
the rofe of Nemination Committee Chair.
A search is underway to identify a new
Non-Executive Director and to appoint

a successor to the role of Remuneration
Committee Chair. Ben Stevens was
appointed as a Non-Executive Director
and Audit Chair Designate on 1 January
2021. He became Audit Chair with effect
from 1 September 2021.

Further details regarding Board
succession including search processes
can be found in the Nomination
Committes report, pages 89 to 86.

The biographies of each of the Directors
and the contribution each Director makes
to the Board can be found on pages 73
to 76.

The composition of the Board 1s kept
under regular review to ensure it has
the necessary skills and experience

to lead the Group. The Board also
monitors the independence of the
Directors. It considers all current Non-
Executive Directors to be independent.
David Lowden was independent on
his appointment as Chair and Angela

There is a clear division of responsibilities
between the role of the Chair and that

of the Chief Executive Officer. While

the Board is responsible collectively for
the success of the Company, the Chair
manages the Board to ensure that the
Company has appropriate cbjectives and
an effective strategy. The Chair ensures
that there is a Chief Executive Officer

with a teamn to implement the approved
strategy and that there are procedures in
place to inform the Beard of performance
against objectives. The Chair also ensures
that the Company operates in accordance
with the principles of good corporate
governance. The Chair's other significant
commitments are noted on page 73.

The Board considers that these are not

a constraint on the Chair's agread time
commitment to the Company.

Patrick De Smedt, as Senior Independent
Director, acts as an afternative channel of
communication for shareholders. He also
acts as a sounding board for the Chair
and serves as an intermediary for other
Directors.

Steve Ingham, the Chief Executive
Officer, has overall responsibility for the
day-to-day management of the Group's
operations. He develops the vision

and strategy for the Board's review,
implements the Board's strategy and
chairs the Executive Committee (known
within the Group as the “"Exacutive
Board") which executes the delivery of
the annual operating plans. He also leads
the programme of communication with
sharehclders.

Executive and Non-Executive Directors
are equal members of the Board and
have ccllective responsibility for Board
decisions. The Non-Executive Directors
bring a wealth of skills and experience 10
the Board and its Committees.

The Board has a formal schedule of
matters reserved which include:

*  Group strategy and corporate
objectives;

*  dstermining the nature and extent
of the significant risks the Board
is willing to take in achieving the
strategic abjectives of the Company;

* determining major changes to
the nature, scope or scale of the
business of the Group;

*  corporate governance matters;

+ approval of Normination Committee
recommendations on the appointment
and removal of Directors and

succession planning;

s changes to the Group’s capital
structure and approval of any
business plan prior to a new entity
being established in a new territory;

+ financial reporting, audit and tax
tnatters,

*  material contracts and transactions
net in the ordinary course of
business:;

*  material capital expenditure projects;
* approval of the annual budget;
* obtaining major finance; and

*  communications with stakeholders
and complying with regulatory
requirements.

The schedule of matters is reviewed
annually by the Board.

Induction, training
and information

Relevant training, advice and information
is provided to Directors to enable the
Board to function effectively and efficiently.
This is achieved through a variety of
means such as internal and external
presentations from senior executives
within the business, advisors and tailorad
guidance briefings circulated to Board
members. As and when new Directors join
the Board, the Chairman assisted by the
General Gounsel & Gompany Secretary
are responsible for their induction. On
appointment to the Board, sach Director
discusses with the Chair and the General
Counsel & Company Secretary the extent
of the training required. The programme
weuld consist typically of individual
meetings with senior executives, office
visits, attending senior management
meetings and shadowing consultants to
understand the day-tc-day activities of
the business. Following the appointment
of Ben Stevens as a Non-Executive
Director in January 2021, a number of
his induction activities were undertaken
virtually. However, as COVID-19
restrictions have lifted, Ben Stevens was
able to supplement this with office visits
and meeting a range of senior members
of the Company’s finance and operations
teams. He has also met, and has close
engagement with, the new EY external
audit partner.

Ben's induction covered the Company’s
senvices, Group structure, Board
arrangements, the culture and
engagement framework, financial,

and erwironmental, social and
governance information, detailed market
presentations, and significant and
emerging risks.
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Directors update and refresh their
knowledge and familiarity with Board activities Vs
the Group through participation

at meetings with, and receiving
presentations from, senior
management. Angela Seymour-
Jackson understands the business
well having served on the Boardg
since October 2017 and wil}
undsrtake an appropriate Chair
induction programme in 2022,
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The Group trialled the use of global
live virtual townhalls in 2020 and
used video conterencing heavily

to ensure Directors remained
connected to the business. This

was very successful and throughout
2021 this practice has continued.
Board Directors have alse continued
to participate in a range of virtual
management meetings and live
virtual events in all our regions, which
has enabled them t¢ keep pace with
the challenges and opportunities ‘
arising within the business in 2021, ogr ees as high potential

All Directors have access to the
advice and services of the Genaral
Counsel & Company Secretary.
The General Counsel & Company
Secretary is present at all Board .
meetings and is responsible to o Sustainability stra
the Board for ensuring that Board
procedures are complied with as
well as advising the Board on new
legislation and corporate governance
matters. Board Committees and Corporate Goy
Directors are also able to access N
independent professional advice at
the Group's expense if the Directors
deem it necessary in order for them ;
to carry out their responsibilities. y a an reporting
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The Board operates an annual cycle
of matters for its consideration,
supplemented with strategic

topics and governance matters,
The frequency of meetings and

the Board agendas are also kept
under regular review to ensure any
matter that requires discussion at,
or escalation to, the Board ¢an be
accommaodated. For each Board
and Committee meeting Directors
receive a pack of relevant papers : Change and Innovation
and information on the matters to
be discussed. The Board uses a
third party board portal to distribute
information quickly and securely. At
Board meetings, the Chief Executiva
Officer presents a comprehsmsive .. EMPLOYEES --- INVESTORS . CUSTOMERS
update on the business issues
across the Group and the Chief
Financial Officer presenis a
detailed analysis of the financial
performance. The Board also inte

receives at each Board Meeting an provides an a
Invastor Relations Report, inciuding as part of the Boa
any feedback from investorsg and

i g S

e Customer Connect including p
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Investor Roadshows, Regional Managing
Directors and other senior managers

may also attend relevant pants of Beard
meetings and the Board Strategy Day in
order to make presentations on their areas
of responsibility. All of the above gives a
comprehensive view on the issues facing
the business and enables robust review

of the current and future performance of
the Group.

Committees

The key Board Committees are the Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and
Rermunearation Committes. The recently
established Sustainability Committee has
been tasked by the Board to drive forward
the Company's ESG strategy.

The Audit and Remuneration Committees
are comprised sclely of independent
Non-Executive Directors. The Nomination
Committee is comprised of all Non-
Executive Directors and is ¢haired

by the Chair of the Board who was
indspendent on appointment. Details

of the compesition and activities of the
Committees can be found in the Audit
Committes Report on pages 88 ta 92; the
Nomination Committee Report on pages
85 to 87; and the Directors” Remuneration
Report on pages 93 to 116, Their terms
of referance are reviewed annually, copies
of which can be found on the Company’s
website www.page.com.

Each Committee also reviews

its effectiveness and makes
recormmendations to the Board of any
appropriate changes as and when
required. It is intended that the Chair

of the Board and the Chairs of each

of its Committees will be available to
answer shareholders' questions at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting on
31 May 2022.

The General Counsel & Company
Secretary acts as secretary to each

of these Committees and minutes of
meetings are circulated to all Committes
members and to all members of the Beard
unless it would be inappropriate to de so.

The newest addition to the Company's
governance framework is the Sustainability
Committee reflecting the increased focus
of the Board on Sustainability issues. The
Committee meets quarterly fo discuss
sustainability strategy and is accountable
for reporting to the Board on the progress
of the Group’s sustainability agenda.
Further details of the membership of the
Committee and the work undertaken can
be found on page 40.

The Group also has an Executive
Committee, known as the Executive

Board, which is chaired by the Chief
Executive Officer. Biographies for Executive
Board members can be found on pages
77078

The Executive Board meets regularly
and is responsible for assisting the Chief
Executive Officer in the performance of
his duties. These include the developmant
and implementation of strategy,
operaticnal plans, policies, procedurss
and budgets. These activities are
performed at a regicnal level by regional
management teams for each of the UK,
North America, Continental Europe, Asia
Pacific, Latin America, Middle East and
Africa. Each regional board, known as
“Regional Boards” usually mest at least
four times a year.

Compliance with the UK
Corporate Governance Code

During the year ended 31 Dacember
2021 and to the date of this document,
the Company has applied the principles
and complied with all of the provisions of
the Gode. The Code is publicly available
on the FRC wabsite (www.frc.org,uk).
Please see below for details regarding the
application of the principles of the Code.

Board leadership and Company
Purpose (A-E)

Pages 27 to 65 (Risk, Culture and
Engagement and Stakeholder Engagement)

Division of responsibilities (F-I)
Pages 71 to 72 and 73 fo B4 (Corporate
Governance Report)

Composition, succession and
evaluation {J-L)

Pages 73 to 77 and 85 to 87 (Nomination
Committee Report and Directors
Biographies)

Audit, risk and internal control (M-0)
Pages 51 to 60 and 79 to 82 {Corporate
Governance Report, Audit Committee
Report, Principal Risks, Going Concern and
Viability Staternent)

Remuneration {P-R)
Pages 93 to 116 {Directors’ Remuneration
Report)

Board and Commitiee
attendance

The table below sets out the number

of meetings of the Board held during

the year and individual attendance

by the Directors at these meetings,
demonstrating commitment to their rale
as Directors of the Company. Attendance
by the relevant members of each

Committes can be found on page 88
(Audit Committee), page 86 (Nomination
Committee) and page 98 (Remuneration
Committes). The Board met nine times
during the year. During the year under
review the Non-Executive Directors

met on several occasions without the
Executive Directors being present. The
Non-Executive Directors also met without
the presence of the Chairman.

A number of meetings tock place virtually
this year due to the ongoing pandemic.
Led by the Chairman, meetings continued
to adapt well to this format and continued
to be a forum for debate and constructive
challenge.

No. of meetings

Director attended
David Lowden Goutofd
Simon Boddie & outofs
Patrick De Smedt Joutof9
Michelle Healy outof9
Steve Ingham Soutof g
Sylvia Metayer 8%out of 9
‘::gzifeymwr' goutof 9
Kelvin Stagg Soutof @
Ben Stevens Soutof3

1. Simon Boddie attended all meetings that he was
eligible to attend before his retirement as a Non-
Executive Director,

2. This was due to there being an unscheduled
meeting to expedite release of trading results to the
market. Angela Seymour- Jackson and Sylvia Metayer
were unable to attend the meeting dus to the short
notice provided.

Succession planning

Executive develcpment and succassion
planning discussions are held annuaily.
These discussions focus on the
development and succession of the
Executive Directors, Executive Board
members and other senior managers in
the Group over the short, medium and
longer term. The aim cof these sessions is
t0 ensure that senior executives aré being
developed and that there is a diverse
pipeline of talented senicr individuais
within the business. Development and
succession planning is a critical part of
the Chief Executive Officer’s performance
objectives for annual bonus and long-
term remuneration. The Group operates
an extensive Talent, Succession &
Development programme across the
business which assesses development
needs and nurtures high-potential
employees throughout the various stages
of their careers. Diversity considerations
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are a fundamental element of the
programme.

In addition, the Nomination Committee
also considers the breadth and depth
of experience of the Non-Executive
Directers and considers on a regular
pasis succession planning for the Board
as a whole. Further details on which
and the Board'’s policy on diversity, both
at Board level and the Group, can be
found in the Nomination Committee
Repoart on page 87 and the Strategic
Report on pages 29 to 37.

Performance evaluation

In accordance with the Code, an
evaluation of the Board, its Committees,
individual Directors and the Chair

is carried out annually. The last
externally facilitated Board evaluation
was undertaken in 2019 and was
carried out by Lintstock, a third party
Board effectiveness advisor with

ne connection to the Company or
individual Directors. In accordance
with the Code an externally facilitated
evaluation will be undertaken in 2022.

The Board has worked throughout

2021 1o address the key iterns that
were identified in the 2020 evaluation,
Last year we reported that maximising
and improving productivity, review of
new areas of investment and Board
succession mattars were key priorities
emerging from the evaluation. Below
sets out detalls of the Board's work in
each of these areas.

Productivity: Improvements in
productivity were achieved through

a range of actions and investments.

For example, the experienced hire
programme and the continued roll-out
of Customer Connect and Page Insights
systems materially assisted the Group
in optimising its praductivity, The Board
has played a pivotal role in overseeing
thase programmes and monitoring
procductivity metrics at each Beard
meeting. The Board was pleased to see
gross profit per fee earner increased
18.8% to £157.2k {2019: £140.4K).

New areas of investment: Throughout
the year, the Board has dedicated
significant time to reviewing KPls,
progress and strategy with executive
management regarding the progress

of high potentiai disciplines such as
technology, healthcare and life sciences
and has held strategy sessicns with the
Page Outsourcing senior team.

Succession: Beard composition and
succession continues to be a keen area
of focus for the Board. In 2021, the
Nomination Committee undertook a
thorough internal and external search for
the Group's new Chair and ensured a
strong Chair successor was appointed.
Ben Stevens was also appointed in

2021 as a Non-Executive Director and
Audit Committee Chair and his extensive
experience adds value 1o the work of
the Board and Audit Committze.

In 2021 the Board and Committee
evaluation was conducted by the
Chairman, assisted by the General
Counsel & Company Secretary and
the Senior Independent Director. The
objective and scope of the annual
evaluation was 10 assess all aspects
of the Board's effectiveness. The
review took the format of a detailed
questionnaire completed by all Board
membears hosted on a secure third
party portal. Feedback was provided
on an ancnymous basis and the areas
evaluated included:

- the Board'’s performance over the last
year;

- stakeholder understanding and
oversight;

- Board succession planning;
- the effectiveness of Board support;

- understanding and implementation of
strategy including strategic priorities;
and

- the Board's focus and relationships.

A comprehensive report on the
evaluation was prepared for, and
discussed at, the Board. The outcome
of the review was that the Board and
the Chairman are performing well with
relationships considered to be cohesive
and high levels of engagement and
commitment being reported. ltems that
emerged for consideration and action
during 2022 included ensuing a smooth
and effective handover to a new Ghair
of the Board, encouraging further
progress on the Group’s diversity
initiatives and monitering the progress
of the new strategic areas and high
potential markets.

The Chair has followed up the results
from the questionnaires directly with
each Directcr on a one-to-one basis,
where the cutcomes were discussed,
together with the performance of the
Directors. Additionally, a separate
questionnaire was completed in respect
of the Chair's performance and the
Senior Independent Director conducted
a review of the Chairman.
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Re-election of Directors

The Code requires all Directors to retire
and stand for re-election at each Annual
General Meeting. All Directors will
submit themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting on
31 May 2022, However, David Lowden
will not stand for re-election as he will
have retired prior to the Annual General
Meeting.

Internal control and risk
management

The Board retains responsibility for the
Group's overall risk appetite and for the
effectiveness of its risk management and
internal control systems. The procedures
establishad by the Board have been
designed 1o meet the reguirements of the
Group and the rigks to which it is exposed
and these arg reviewed on a regular basis.

These procedures also provide an
ongoing process for identifying,
evaluating and managing principal and
emerging risks. The system of internal
control includes financial, compliance
and operational controls, which are
designed to meet the Group's needs.
These controls aim 1o safeguard Group
assets, ensure that proper accounting
records are maintained, that the financial
inforrmaticn used within the business and
for publication is reliable and supports the
successful delivery of the Group's strategy.
Any system of internal control can anly
provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement
or loss. In practice the Board delegates
the implementation of the Board's

pelicy on risks and control to executive
management and this i moenitcred by
an Intarnal Audit function which reports
back to the Board through the Audit
Committee.

The key elements of our system of internal
control are as follows:

*  Group Organisation — The Board of
Directors meets at least eight times
a year and holds extra meetings
where this is considered necessary.
In 2021, Board mestings have been
held outsicle the agreed schedule
to ensura the expedited release of
trading resufts to the market. The
Board meetings focus both on
strategic issuses and operational
and financial performance. There
is also a defined policy on matters
reserved strictly for the Board which
is reviewed on an annual basis.

The Regional Managing Director,
supported by a Regional Finance

Director, of each of our regions is
acccuntable for establishing and
monitoring internal controls within our
respective regions.

Annual Business Plan — The Board
reviews the Group’s strategy and
business plan. Performance is then
monitorad by the Board through the
review of monthly reports showing
comparisons of results against
budget or modelling, and the prior
year, with explanations provided for
significant variances.

Policies and Procedures — Policies
and procedures are documented
over bath financial controls and
non-quantifiable areas such as the
Group's whistleblowing policy and

its policy relating to anti-bribery and
corruption and gifts and hospitality.
Risk Management — The Board
has established a framework for
identifying current and emerging
risks and processes and controls for
managing risk, both at a strategic
and operational level. As a minimum,
this is reviewed on an annual basis. In
2021 this was conducted at the half
year and full year.

Internal Audit — The Group's Internal
Audit function examines business
procass controls throughout the
Group on a risk basis and reports the
findings to the Executive Board and
Audit Committee. Agreed actions are
menitored and reported 1o the Audit
Committeg, wha in turn report to

the Board. Due to travel restrictions,

Internal Audit undertook mugch of their

work remotely in 2021 and reported
no reduction in the quality of the
audits undertaken.

Confirmations frem Executive
Management - The Managing
Director and Finance Director of our
operations in each country formally
certify twice a year whether the
business has adhered to the system
of internal control during the period,
including compliance with Group
policies. The statement also requires
the reporting of any significant contrel
issues that have emerged, including
suspected or reported frauds, so
that areas of Group concern can

be identified and investigated as
required. These confirmations and
supporting controls self-assessment
guestionnaires are reviewed by

the Internal Audit function and a
summary of findings is provided to
the Audit Committee for review.

I accordance with the requirements of
the Code and the recommendations of
the FRC's Guidance on Risk Management
and Related Financial and Business
Reporting, the Board has reviewed and
agreed its approach to risk and its risk
appetite when considering its strategy
and the management of its risks. It has
also considered its longer-term viability.
Details on the Board's risk appstite and its
assessment of its longer-term viability can
be found in the Strategic Report on pages
58 to 60. Further, the Board, with the
assistance of the Audit Committee, has
carried out a review of the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems, including a
review of the Intermnal Audit activities and
the financial, operational and compliance
controls for the period from 1 January




2021 to the date of this Annual Report,
No significant failings or weaknesses
were identified. A confirmation of any
necessary actions is, therefore, not
nrovided. However, had there been any
such failings or weaknesses the Board
confirms that necessary actions would
have been taken to remedy them.

Whistleblowing

The Board takes its oversight duties
of the Company’s whistishlowing
arrangements very seriously.
PageGroup operates an external
global confidential ‘Speak-Up' helpline
supported by a Speak-Up policy
available on each country's website
and translated into all PageGroup
languages. The Board reviews all
reports to the helpline including the
Company’s response. in 2021 four
instances to the Speak-Up helpling
were recorded. One report requested
an internal system was avallable

in the Spanish language, this was
implemented. The other reports related
to local HR matters. All instances
raised via the Speak Up helpline were
discussed at the Board and it was
satisfied with the Company's approach
to each report.

Directors’ confirmation

The Directors are responsible for
preparing the Annual Report in
accordance with applicable law and
regulations. Having taken advice

from the Audit Committee, the Board
considers the Annual Report and
Accounts, taken as a whole, as fair,
balanced and understandable and that
it provides the information necessary
for shareholders to assess the
Company's position and performance,
business model and strategy.

Neither the Company nor the Directors
accept any liability to any person in
relation to the Annual Report except to
the extent that such liability could arise
under English law.

Relations with shareholders

Understanding the views of
shareholders and active engagement
with our sharehclders is always
considered a key pricrity for the Board.

The Chief Exacutive Officer and the
Chief Financia! Officer supported by
the Investor Relations team make

themselves available, wherever possible,

to mest with sharehclders and analysts
at thelr request. In 2021, four investor
roadshows and five investor relations
conferences were held. There were also
¢. 11 individual meetings, telephone

or video calls, The meetings were held
gither in person or virtually during the
lockdowns in the UK. This regular
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engagement was supplemented with
presentations to analysts after our
quarterly and full year results.

In December 2021, the Company held
a virtual Capital Markets Event that
provided an update cn the strategic
investments that have been made
during the pandemic. The senior
management team presented topics
that included our new market category
of high-potential disciplines, our
experienced hire programme and the
benefits these programmes have for
the business, together with an update
on the investment that has been made
in our Page Cutsourcing business.
Additionally, an update was provided on
the Customer Connect programme and
the investments and progress that have
been made in ESG and Diversity and
Inclusion.

The Group’s Chair and the Chairs of
the Committess also make themselves
available for individual investor and proxy
agency engagement. For example, the
Chair and General Counsel & Company
Secretary met with PiRC earlier in the
year. This engagement was helpful and
reinforced the need for the Group to
articulate more clearly its sustainability
strategy. This can be found in the
Group's Sustainability Report which is
available on www.page.com.

The Annual Report and Accounts are
available to all shareholders either in
hard copy or via the Company's website
www.page.com. The website contains
up-to-date information on the Group’s
activities, pubiished financial results and
the presentations used for briefings and
investor meetings held during the year.
These are available to download.

The Annual General Meeting is an
additional oppeortunity for Board
members to meet with shareholders
and investors and give them the
cpportunity to ask questions. Final

PageGroup Annual Repaort an

voting results are published through a
Reqgulatory Information Service and on
the Company's website following the
meeting. The Board fooks forward to
the Annual General Maeting in 2022
and engaging with shareholders.

Conflict of interest

The Company has implemented robust
procedures in line with the Companies
Act 2006, requiring Directors to seek
appropriate authorisation from the
Board prior to entering into any cutside
business interasts which have, cr

could have, a direct or indirect interest
that conflicts, or may conflict, with the
Group’s interests. These procedures
have operatad effectively throughout
the year under review. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing
possible conflicts of interest. It makes
recommmendations to the Board as to
whether a conflict should be authorised
and the terms and conditions cn which
any such authorisation should be given
by the Board. Please see page 85 of
the Nomination Committee report which
provides further details about how the
Board considered conflicts in respect of
Directors’ additional appcintments.

Only Directors without an interest in the
matter being considered will be involved
in the decision and each Director must
act in a way they consider, in good
faith, will promote the success of the
Group. All Directors are aware of their
continuing obligation to report any

new interests, or changes in existing
interests, that might amount to a
possibie conflict of interest in order that
these may be considerad by the Board
and appropriate authorisation given.

David Lowden
Chairman

2 March 2022
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Nomination Committee Report

David Lowden,
Committee Chair

Dear Sharehclder,

The summary below sets out the
Nomination Committee report for the
year ended 31 December 2021. The
Committee is in the privieged position of
helping shape the future leadership of the
business. It is incredibly important that the
Company's leaders now and in the future,
represent our customers and society as
a whole. Given this is a key priority for
the Group, the work of the Committee
throughout the year has been to focus on
successicn planning for our Board and
senicr leadership team, while monitoring
the progress and output of development
programmes to encourage as diverse a
talent pipeline as possible. As | reached
nine years’ service on the Board in 2021,
the Committee also spent considerable
time ensuring a comprehensive search
process was undertaken which led to the
appointment of Angela Seymour-Jackson
as my successor. Further detalls of the
search process can be found on page 86.

The Board represents a wide range of
nationalities and backgrounds. During the
year, due to his length of tenure, Simon
Boddie stepped down from the Board and
Nomination Committee, and Ben Stevens
jeined the Board and Committee, Ben's
biography is on page 76. His extensive
experience across a variety of markets
has made him a valuable member of

the Committee, contributing a wide
perspective on the work the Committee
undertakes,

The Committee keeps its membership
under review and it was satisfied that the
Board and its Committees included the
appropriate mix of skills, experience and
knowledge. However, the Committee is
acutely aware that the Board doss not
have a member with an ethnic minority
background, and is committed to
changing this in line with Parker Review
timelines.

In 2021, the Committee recommended {o
the Board that the appointment of Patrick

De Smedt be extended for a further
three-year term. Patrick has extensive
technology sector experience, a skill set
which is relied upon as the Group drives
forward its innovation and data insight
strategy. Patrick has proven himself t¢
be a highly effective Senicr Independent
Director, a key role contributing to the
Board's future success.

Purpose

The Committee is an important
component of the Company'’s governance
framework and the Group's organic
growth strategy. The Nominaticn
Committea is responsible for ensuring
that the Company has the executive

and non-executive Board leadership it
requires, both now and for the future. It
reviews, and challenges where it identifies
gaps, succession plans for all key senior
roles to ensure the organisation's long-
term stability. It also seeks to ensure that
talented individuals are provided with
opportunities to develop.

Membership

During the year under review the members
of the Committee were myself, as Chair
of the Committee, Simon Boddie,
Patrick De Smedt, Michelie Healy, Sylvia
Metayer, Angela Seymour-Jacksen and
Ben Stevens. Board and Committee
appointments are for three-year periods.
Only members of the Committee attend
mestings. As menticned above, Patrick
De Smedt’s appcintment was extended
for a further three-year period (ses

page 109 for further details) and Simon
Boddie retired. On my retirement, Angela
Seymour-Jackson will become the
Committee Chair. No Director is entitled
to vote in respect of their own continuing
appointment.

The Chief Executive Officer is regularly
invited to attend meetings and other
individuals such as the Chief Pecple
Officer and external advisers may attend
meetings by invitation only, when this is
considered appropriate and valuable.
Members view this arrangement

as fostering appropriate challenge,
questioning and debate regarding

the recommendaticns made by the
Committes to the Board.

Additional commitments

Details of my and all Committee members’
other significant commitments can be
found on pages 73 te 76, The Committes
considers and approves any additional
appointments held by Directors. In 2021,

| was appointed as the Senior Independent
Director to Capita plc and Ghair of

Diploma ple. Both appointments were
considered by the Committee, when | was
not present. The Committee determined
that neither appointment would intarfere
with my duties for the Group. It was
agreed should any conflict situation

arise, | would not be present at any such
discussions. The additional Chair position
at Diploma plc was considered acceptable
for the short overlap period until | step
down from the Board in April 2022.

In February 2021, following the
acquisition of GoGo Group plc, Angela
Seymour-Jackson was appointed as a
Non-Executive Director of Future plc.
This appointment was considered by
the Committee and it was satisfieg that
the appcintment does not interfere with
Angela Seymour-Jackson’s duties and
time commitment tc the Company both
now and in the future.

Myself and Angela Seymour-Jackson were
considered as independent in line with the
Code at the time of appointment to the
Chair and Chair designate position.

Responsibilities

The key responsibilities of the Committee
are to:

* assess and nominate members to
the Board in accordance with the
process and diversity consideraticns;

+ maintain the right mix of character,
skills and experience on the Board
and its Committees;

*  make recommendations to the Board
on development and succession
plans for members of the Board and
senior management;

*  approve job descriptions and written
terms of appointment for Directors;

* review the independence of Non-
Executive Directors, taking intc
account their other directorships; and

+  consider diversity and inclusion
objectives in terms of the Group's
talent pipeline and new senior
appointments.

Succession planning and
processes

The Committee monitors length of tenure
for the Board and Committee members
to ensure ongoing independence and
considers succession plans both in the
short and leng term, especially for key
roles on the Board and those that require
specific skills or experience, such as the
Chairs of the Audit and Remuneration
Committees. In addition, executive
develcpment and succession planning
discussions are held annually.




When the Committee considers an
appointment it follows a formal and
transparent procedure. It is assisted

in its search for new Non-Executive
Directors by an indepandent executive
search company. With each new search
the Committee selects the executive
search company which it considers the
maost appropriate and relevant for the
assignment. These executive search
companies have nc connaction with
the Company or individua! Directors
other than the provisicn of the search
services. With each assignment a
detailled candidate profile is compiled
and discussed by the Committee,
taking into consideration the balance of
3kills and experience of existing Board
members and the requirements of the
Company and its future strategy.

If approved, a search and selection
process based on the agreed profile

is undertakan. The recruitment

process places importance on

diversity considerations. Canadidates
are identified and selected against
objective criteria including their skilis
and experience while having due regard
to the benefits of diversity on the Board.
Shertlisted candidates are assessed
and interviewed by members of the
Committee and the Beard. Thereafter

a recommendation of appointment is
made to the Beard.

In respect of the Chair succession,

the above process was followsad.

The search process was led by

Patrick De Smedt, the Group’s Senior
Independent Director, who chaired the
Committee in connection with the Chair
succession process. The Committee
appointed Russell Reynolds Associates
to advise in the search. Russell
Reynolds Associates were chosen due
to their industry lsading experience
and previous knowledge of the Group.
Russell Reynclds Associates has

no connection to the Group or its
Directors. Following consideration of
internal and external candidates and
independent assessment by Russell
Reynolds Associates, the Caommittee
recommended to the Board the
appeintment of Angela Seymour-
Jackson. She was appointed due

to her exceptional non-executive

and executive experience and dsep
understanding of the secter and
PageGroup's business and culture,

In light of Angela’s appointment as
Chair designate, a recruitment process
has been commenced to identify

a new Non-Executive Director and
Remuneration Gommittee Chalir.

Attendance during the year

During 2021 the Committee met
on eight occasions, Details of the

members’ attendance at meetings
of the Committee are set out in the
table balow.

To provide further context for the
attendance record below, the reasons
for absence included a meeting being
hela on short notice and Angela
Seymour-Jackson not be able to attend
the meeting discussing her appointment
as Chair. The meseting held on short
notice was to formalise the continued
retention of YSC Consulting (YSC”), as
an adviser to the Committes. YSC is an
independent global talent leadership
consultancy, with no connection to the
Group. All Directors had attended the
prior meetings whera tender proposals
were discussed and the support of
each of the absent Directors had been
confirmed in advance of the meeting.

Director No. of meetings

attended
David Lowden Boutof8
Simon Boddie 5cutof 5
Patrick De Smedt 8outof8
Michelle Healy 7outof 8
Sylvia Metayer 7outof8
fogelasomeur | g
Ben Stevens 7outof8

Committee’s focus during
2021

The Committee continues to focus

cn its oversight and monitoring of
Talent, Succession and Development
("T, S & D") pregrammes across the
business to ensure that these are fit for
purpose and achieve their aims. There
are a range of pregrammes in place
depending on career stage. Together
with the in-house talent team, we

use external advisers to support the
suite of development programmeas.

As mentioned above, YSC were
retained as the partner to support the
cavelopment of our most senior people.
These programmes generally include
componeénts such as 360 degres
feedback and coaching. Development
of a coaching culture across the
business is considered important for the
Group's ongoing success and therefore
is a key feature of programmes cffered.
The talent programmes and promotions
are monitored and reported upon te
ensurg gender and cther diversity
characteristics are represented,

in 2021 the Group's Executive Board
was expanded and the Committee
has sought to play its part in ensuring
this new senior management structure
is successfully embedded into the
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business. Each new member of the
Executive Board has participated in
ong to one sessions with Committee
members in order to ensure strong
working relationships and facilitate

the Committee's understanding of the
mix of skills and capabilities within the
senior team. This knowledge assists
the Committes in its reviews of the
succession gipeline, and talent matrix
for senior leaders, enabling it to ensure
that there are no critical gaps and talent
is being nurtured.

In 2021 the Commiitiee specifically
reviewed the work being done to
accelerate the progressicn of female
talent. This included reviewing the
actions and interventions implemented
to expedite female talent progressing
through the organisation and monitoring
the existing female talent pipeline. The
Committee is pleased to report that

the business committed in 2021 to
having 50:50 gender split across senior
management grades by 2030. Further
details are set out in the Company's
Sustainability Report available at
Www.page.com,

Committee evaluation

The activities of the Committee

were reviewed as part of the annual
evaluation process which, in 2021, was
undertaken internally by the Chairman
supported by the Senior indspendent
Director and the General Counsel &
Company Secretary. The evaluation
procass combined anonymous survey
guestions designed to draw out views
on the operation of the Committee and
its performance and was supplemented
with individual interviews with

Directors. The results showed that the
Committee is functicning well. There
was Consensus on areas of progress
such as improvement in diversity
considerations and succession matters.
However, Committee members stated
that the impetus benind all of this

work must continue and evolve. The
evaluation revealed that Committee
members are particularly aware of the
lack of ethnic diversity on the Board.
The roadmap to compliance with the
Parker Review will be considered by
the Committee in connection with its
succession planning and in particular in
the context of vacancies on the Board
that arise before the end of 2024. The
Board intends to have appointed a
persan of colour to the Board by the
end of 2024,

In 2022 the evaluation process will
be tacilitated externally in line with
the requirements of the Corporate
Governance Code.
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Diversity

As a recruitment company we are
passionately committed to promoting
diversity, inclusion and equality in the
workplace both internally and externally.
Our Company Purposg is to change lives
for people by creating opportunitias to
reach potential and diversity and inclusion
is therefore inextricably linked to our
strategy.

The Committee views diversity and
incluston in its broadest sense. It is fully
committed across the organisation to
a diversity policy which seeks diversity
of ethnicity, experience, capability,
geographic experience, gender and all
other qualities which makes each of
us unigue. Angela Seymour-Jackson's
appointment as the Company’s next
Chair is demonstrative of the Group's
commitmeant to diversity.

The Board's diversity and inclusion
policy is reviewed annually and is
available on the Company's website

at www.page.com. The Nomination
Committes implements the policy and a
summary of its key objectives are below:

to ensure different perspectives and
insight are brought to all areas of

the business, including the Board,
generating craativity, problem-solving
capability and sustainability that
would not otherwise be possible;

maintain Board and Committes
membership 1o be at least one-third
female and include ethnic minarity
representation; and

ensure candidate lists for Board
positions should include individuals
drawn from a wide range of
experiences and backgrounds.

Objective

Mairtain Board and Committes membership
to be at least one-third female,

Status

Met: Board and sach Board Committee
currently has over cne-third famale
representation.

Objective

Company aspires to meet the Parker Review
abjective of one Director from a minority
ethnic background by 2024,

Status

Ongoing: The Board 15 committed to
meeting this cbjective and

intends 1o do so in line with the Parker
Review timescalas.

Objective

Female representation of at least 25% within
senior management and their direct reporis
as defined by the Corporate Governance
Code (the “Code").

Status

Met: As at 31 December 2021, 30.3% of
senior management as defined by the Code
and their direct reports were female.

Objective

50:50 gender split for managerment grades
across the global organisation.

Status

Ongoing: As at 31 December 2021 there
ware 62% men:38% women holding
positions of Associate Director (and
equivalent) and above.

The Board has a mix of complementary
skills and a range of nationalities are
represented. Howevar, the Board knows
that it lacks ethnic diversity and this must
change. It is committed to appointing a
person of colour in line with the Parker
Review and the roadmap to achieve
compliance is cutlined earlier in this
report.

In terms of other actions being taken to
improve ethnic minority representation
across the business, we have a
successful reverse mentoring programme
in place where senior executives are
mentored by colleagues from a different
ethnic background to their own. This

airms to foster relationships and provide

a greater understanding in senior
management of the challenges faced

by minorities within the workplace. In
2021 the Shadow Exscutive Boarc was
introduced which provides increased
exposure for high-potential diverse talent
and a channel to ensure more diverse
views are heard at the highest levels of the
organisation. Regular reports and updates
are provided from the Shadow Executive
Board to the Executive Board,

The Cornmittee will continue to commit
t0 exceeding the recommendations of
the Hampton-Alexander Review with
over 33% of the Board being female.
However, we continue to recognise that
there is currently a lower proportion of
women helding senior roles below Board
level positions. A summary of the acticns
designed to change this are below.

e A mentoring programme is in place
for senior women and a new career
sponsorship programme will launch
in 2022 to improve monitoring and
tracking of high potential women
throughout the organisation.

* Thereis ongeing and continued
support for the woman@page global
network aimed at engagement,
enablement and smpowerment of
women across the organisation.

*+ [0 2021 a glcbal female leadership
survey was undertaken to help
understand women's progress and to
assist in driving strategy to accelerate
female development.

*  Where internal promaotion is not
viable for a position, the Group is fully
committed to diverse shortlists with
fernale representation,

*  Managing Directors and above have
diversity objectives relating directly to
their remuneration.

Beoard Directors as at 31 December
2021

5 (62.5%)

Executive Board & Direct Reports as
at 31 December 2021°

23 (30.3%)

1, As determined in accordance with the definition
contained in the Code

Plan for 2022

In 2022, Angela Seymour-Jackson will
take over as Chair of the Committee.
Ensuring a smooth Chair transition
process is a clear priority for the
Committes alongside driving continuous
improvement in the Talent, Development &
Succession programmes operating across
the Group.

1 lock forward to working with Angela to
handover the Chair responsibilities. | am
confident that this will be both a therough
and straightforward process.

David Lowden,
Nomination Committee Chair

2 March 2022




Audit Committee Report

Ben Stevens,
Committee Chair

Dear Shareholder,

| am delfighted to prasent my first Audit
Committee report having taken up the
position of Chair of the Committee in
September 2021. | would like to take
this opportunity to extend the thanks of
the Gommittee to our cutgoing Chair,
Simen Boddie, for his dedication and
cormmitment to the role, and the work
of the Committes. | have personally
appreciated Simon’s help in ensuring a
comprehensive transition of the Chair's
rasponsibilities and duties. We have also
seen a change in our external audit lead
partner, and | am pleased to report that
this transition has proven to be equally
straightforward and successful. This year
the Committee has been particularly
invalved in ensuring that the Company's
financial reporting has kept pace
accurately with the evolving economic
landscape as the recovery from the
effects of the pandemic took shape and
reviewing key areas of risk and controls.

Purpose

The Audit Comimittee is & fundamental
part of the Group's governance
framework as the guardian of the integrity
of the Company’s financial statements
and externai repoerting of performance.

It also must ensure that the necessary
internal controls and risk management
systems are in place and effective.

Membership

| took over the role of Chair of the
Committee in September 2021.

|, Patrick De Smedt, Michelie Healy,
Sylvia Metayer and Angsla Seymour-
Jackson all served as Committee
members throughout the year. Simon
Boddie served as a Committee member
and Chair untit his retirement cn

1 September 2021.

Angela Seymour-Jacksen is the Group's
Chair designate and takes over the
Chair role on 1 May 2022, Accordingly,
she will step down as a member of the
Committee at this time, although she
will continue to be invited to mestings
as an attendee. A search is underway to
recruit her successor.

Each member of the Committee

has a wealth of business experience
across a range of sectors making
them well placed to perform the work
of the Committee. The Committee’s
training takes place on an ongoing
basis through updates provided by
the Cornpany's External Auditor, or
internat finance team, on developments
in corporate reporting, legislation and
regulatory guidance.

Only members of the Committee are
entitled to attend mesetings. Other
individuals, such as the Chairman of
the Board, the Chief Executive Cfficer,
the Chief Financial Officer, the General
Counsel & Company Secretary, the
Director of Internal Audit and the
External Audit Partner are regularly
invited to attend meetings as necessary.
The Committes can invite others to
attend as appropriate.

The Board assesses the competence of
those sitting on the Committes annually.
In 2021, it was satisfied that myself and
Simen Boddie had recent and relevant
financial experience as required by the
Code. Sylvia Metayer also has relevant
financial and accounting experience and
other members of the Committes have
a sufficiently wide range of business
experience and expertise such that the
Committee has competence relevant

to the sector in which the Company
operates. The relevant qualifications
and experience of the Committee
members are shown in their bicgraphies
on pages 74 to 76. The Committes

met with the Director of Internal Audit
and External Auditor during the year
without the presence of management

in order to provide an opportunity for
confidential discussion. The Director of
Internal Audit and the External Auditor
also met with, and had direct access
on an ongoing basis to, the Chair of the
Committee. Additionally, the Committee
had the opportunity for private sessions
with the Chief Financial Officer and the
General Counsel & Company Secretary.

Principal areas of focus

The Committee is committed to
maintaining and monitoring the quality
and integrity of financial reporting, as
well as assessing the Company's risk
management systems and internal
control environment. Set out in the table
on page 89 is a summary of the main
activities of the Committee during 2021.

The pricrities for the Committee in 2021
inctuded understanding forecasting, and
ensuring financial reporting was accurate
and timely, given the pace of the racovery
across the majority of the Group's
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markets. As 2021 saw both a change in
Chair of the Committee and in the lead
External Audit partner, it was important
to the Committee to satisfy itself that

a full and smooth transition had taken
place. This was successfully achieved
through a series of meetings between
myself, the Committee members and the
new External Audiit pariner, and with key
members of the global finance leadership
team.

The Committee has responsibility

for overseseing risk and controls. To
this end, it carried out a review of
apprepriateness of the Group's internal
control environiment and risk strategy.
Further, deep-dive reviews of global
tax processes and information security
rcbustness in respect of ransomware
were undertaken.

The Committee also reviews key
financial policies. As in prior years,
the tax strategy was reviewed by the
Committee and recornmended for
approval by the Board. This strategy
can be found on www.page.com.
Other key pelicies reviewed by the
Committee included the Group’s
treasury policy, and the non-audit

fee policy to ensure these are up to
date and reflect current best practice.
The Committee also spent time
understanding the impact on the
Group of the proposals set out in the
Government consuitation on Corpcerate
and Audit reform published in March
2021.

The Committee met on eight occasions.
Key issues covered by the Committee
are reported through regular reponts to
the Board.

Committee meetings are set to
coincide with key dates of the financial
reporting calendar and the audit cycle.
Tha Committee can confirm that # is
provided with sufficient resources to
undertake its dutiss.

Detaits of the members’ attendance at
ihe meetings of the Committee are as
follows:

 No. of meetings

Director | attended
Sylvia Metayer Boutofd
Angela Seymour- | o, o1&
Patrick De Smedt | 8 out of 8
Michelle Healy Boutof8
Ben Stevens 7outof8
Simon Boddie Soutofd

Further details regarding the
background to the attendance details
are as follows. Simon Beddie attended
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Audit Committee Report

all meetings he was eligible to attend
before his retirement as Chair of the
Committee. The mestings that were
unattended by other Committee members
were due to the meetings being held out
of scheduled cycle to ensure expediated
release of trading results to the market, the
responsibility to release such information
outweighing attendance considerations.

Financial reporting

In its financial reporting to shareholders
and other stakeholders, the Board through
the work of the Committee sesks to
ensure that it presents a fair, balanced

and understandable assessment of

the Group's position and long-term

sustainability, providing necessary
information for shareholders 1o assess
the Company’s business model, strategy
and performance, The Company has an
established process for reviewing the
Annual Report and Accounts 1o ensure

it is fair, balanced and understandable.
This process was followed this year. It
included ensuring compliance with the
regulatory reguirernents for the Annual
Report and Accounts; a thorough review
of going concern analysis; a process 1o
determine the accuracy, consistency and
clarity of the data and language, and a
detailed review by all appropriate parties
including external advisers, A checklist
of all the elements of the process was

Main activities of the Audit Committee during 2021

The Committee has an agreed, rolling programme of agenda items which the Committee Chair and General Counsel & Company
Secratary keep under regular review to ensurg that all key financial reporting and risk matters are properly considerad. The list below
summarises the key itemns considerad by the Committes cluring the year.

JANUARY

Review of Financial Statements

*  Quarter 4 trading undate

MARCH

Review of Financia! Statements
announcement
) Annual Report and
unts

External Auck ~end report

=

rigour sur

APRIL

Review of Financial Statements
e Quarer 1 tratng d

JULY

Review of Financial Statements

e Quarter 2 trading update

AUGUST

Review of Financial Statements
] Draft interim repori

External Auditor

Exte

Scope of the ful!

Iri

completed to document the process and
cascaded sign-off implemented throcugh
the Group's management structure to
provide assurance to the Committee that
tha appropriate procedures had been
undertaken by all Group companies.

The Committee has reviewed the
Ceomipany’s 2021 Annual Report and
Accounts. Comments were provided and
incorporated inte the Annual Report and
Accounts and the Committee advised the
Board that, in its opinion, the Annual Report
and Accounts taken as a whole is fair,
balanced and understandable and provides
the information necassary to assass the
Company’s performance, business model
and strategy.

OCTOBER

Review of Financial Statements

Quarter 3 trac

Compliance

dit reform

DECEMBER

Review of Financial Statements

! 2021 Anndal
ounts 2

Risk and Internal Control

an

Annual

External Auditor

Alcht

Compliance

Compliance

UK
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Significant accounting issues and areas of judgement
The Committee focuses in particular on kay accounting policies and practices adopted by the Group and any significant areas of EE
judgement that may materially impact reported results as well as the clarity of disclosures, compliance with financial reporting o
standards and the relevant requirements around financial and governancs reporting. Details on accounting policies can be found on .
pages 131 to 137.
The significant issues and areas of judgement considered by the Committes during the year and how these were addressed were ®
as follows: P
b
|
Revenue Context: Revenue recognition for permanent and ternporary placements, with particular focus on period i
Recognition end cut off and appropriate accounting treatment in accordance with IFRS and Group accounting policies.
Revenue frorm permanent placements is derived from both retained assignments {income recognised
on completion of defined stages of work) and non-retained assignments (income recognised at the date
an offer is accepted by a candidate and where a start date has been determined). There is a risk that a
candidate roeverses their decision to take up a placement before the start date and as such the revenue
recognised would e reversed. A provision is made by managament, based on past historical experience,
for the proportion of those placements where this is expected to occur, Revenue from temporary 9
placerments, which represents amounts billed for the services of temporary staff, including the salary cost =
of these staff, is recognised when the service has been provided. 'g
Actions taken: As in previous years, the Committee assesses the Group's revenue recognition policies 3
. i . e
relative to IFRS and the sector to ensure they are appropriate, and challenges management on the internal o
control and compiiance processes over revenue recognition, taking into account the views of Internal ()
Audit and the External Auditor. The External Auditor explained to the Committee the procedures they o
performed to address revenue recognition, including the procedures performed around period-end cut-off g
and assessment of the provision recognised in respact of expected revenue reversals. On the basis of their 5
audit work, the External Auditor concluded that the revenue recognised in 2021 is materially in accordance ]
with the Group's revenus recognition policy and IFRS, and the provision for expected revenue reversals is g
materially appropriate. o
Conclusions and rationale: The Committee concluded that the approach to revenue recognition was
consistent with the policies and the judgements made were appropriate.
External Auditor’s process described in detail in last +  Obtaining assurances from the
independence and year's Annuai i&gpc;:t inddAccounts, EY Extlernai AL{deitor th:t adquse;te
. was successiul in the tender process. policies and procedures exi 5
effectiveness The Company confirms that it has within its firm 1o ensure that the firm e
The Committes monitars the objectivity, complied with the provisions of the and staff are independent of the -1
independence and effectiveness of CMA's Statutory Audit Services for Group by raason of family, finance, 5
the External Auditor. The Company is Large Companies Market Investigation employment, investrnant and o
mindful of the provisions of the Code, Mandatory Use of Competitive Tender business relationship (cther than in =
best practice, the Competition and Processes and Audit Committee the normal course of business}; e
Maf_ket A_uth_ority AUdiT.Ordef 2014 and Respensibilities) Order 2014 for the +  Enforcing a policy of reviewing all o
aud!t \eglslanop in partlchular as‘rggardfs financial year under review. cases where it is proposed that a k!
igg'_taﬂjcﬁ ?;i;ggsénd he provision © In accordance with the FRC’s ravised former employee of the External B
Ethical Standard 2019, the Committee Auditor be employed by the Group
Ernst & Young LLP ["EY"), the reviewed all non-audit services to in a senior management position or
Company's current External Auditor, ensure the non-audit services are at Board level;
was first appointed in 2011, In closaly linked to the audit itself or *  Monitoring the External Auditor’s
accordance with audit regulation, EY required by law or regulation, The total compliance with applicable UK
operates a policy of rotating the Audit non-audit fees in respect of non-audit ethical guidance on the rotation of
Partner avery five years. Joe Yglesia is services for the year under review audit partners; and
the new lead Audit Partner responsible amounted to ¢. £7K. These non-audit o Approving non-audit sarvices
for the Full Year 2021 Audit. Joe fees related to certifying revenue in the prior to being undertaken by the
Yglesia took cver lead Audit Partner Netherlands for local filing requirerments External Auditor.
responsibilities following the completion and factual reporting on revenue and
of the 2020 Audit. payroll expenses required for the French The guality, performance and
The Committee operates a policy for business and were services Wp+gally eﬁgctiveness of the External Aucﬁtor is
the tender of | audi ’ undertaken by the statutory auditor, reviewed annually by the Committee.
& tender of external audt services. EY also performed interim review This covers the quality of robust
This policy provides that in accordance i f the half- challenge provided by the audit team
with applicable law and regulation, the procedureg in respect of the hal yea,r . .
c - results which amounted to £52k. EY's in the centre and of key components of 5
ompany will re-tender the external ; the audit and the level of expertise and i
- ‘ audit fee for the year was £1.2m. pe 3
audit at least every ten years and wil . rescurces applied to the audit. It also e
change the External Auditor at least The Committee reviews regularly the provides assurance that there are no
every 20 years. The Committee held objectivity and independclence of the issues which could adversely affect the
a co_mpetltwe tender of a;temal_audn External Auditor and has concluded this auditor's independence and clojectivity.
services last year. Following a rigorous is safeguarded by:
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The Committee reviews the:

*  Robustness of the External Auditor's
plan and its identification of key risks;

s Approach to and execution of the
agreed plan;

¢ Robustness (including the audit
tearn's ability to challenge
management} and perceptivensss of
the External Auditor in handling key
accounting and audit judgements
including demonstrating professional
scepticism and independence;

¢ Quality and content of reports
provided to the Committee by the
External Auditor including reporting
on internal control;

s Feedback frorm management which
is ascerained from staff surveys
compieted by staff involved in the
audit process; and

e Communications in and outside
of meetings, between the External
Auditor and the Committee.

The Committee considers the planned
scope of assurance provided across the
Group on an annual basis to consider
whether changes are required to continue
to obtain the necessary leve! of assurance.
For example, the Committee reviewed
the planned scope of assurance received
in refation to the Group’s Latin American
operations across internal, external and
other sources of assurances. Accordingly,
refinements were made 1o the scope.

internal control and risk
management

The Board's responsibilities for, and

their report an, risk management and
the systems of internal control and their
effectivenass are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on page 83.

On behalf of the Board, the Audit
Committee undertakes a robust
assessment of principal and emerging
risks. This involves reviewing the Group's
risk assessment procedures and risk
registers and its langer-term viability.

The risk assessment takes account

of all top down and aggregate risk

and presents the effectiveness of the
controls to mitigate the principal risks of
the business, including environmental,
social and governance matters, inherent
in the strategy of the business and its
plan. The risk assessments consider the
level of gross risk to the business, the
effectiveness of controls in mitigating
those risks and the resulting net risk level.
if the net risk level is above the Group's
risk appetite, management develop further
remedial action plans.

There are processes across the Group

to consider emerging risks. Within our
Group operational risk assessment and
reporting process cycle, twica per annum
management are formally required to
consider and disciose any emerging
risks, These are reviewsd at a Group level
together with a top down perspective
gained from discussion with senicr
management, In addition, our internal
audit programme reviews the basis of risk
submissions with local management for
principal risks, including any emerging
risks. The principal risk reports are
independently reviewed with the External
Auditor to idantify the potential risks that
the Group should be considering and
anticipating. In 2021, given the continuad
travel restrictions for much of the year,
the Internal Audit team have centinued

to utilise technelogy 10 carry out their
audits remotely, The internal independent
assessment report showed no diminution
in quality of Internal Audit services and
assurance.

The 2021 risk review identified that
global economic risk has reduced given
the improverment in economic growth
forecasts and financial results of the
Group in many of the markets that the
business operates within. Ensuring the
retention of cur people was identified

as an increasing risk given the tight
recruitment market during the year
although cur overall risk remains stable
due to our work around wellbeing fer our
paople. In terms of emerging risks, climate
change remains an emerging risk and a
sustainability report and framework has
been established to help monitor this risk
mare effectively. Full and further details of
the Group's principal and emerging risks
and the areas of mitigation can be found
on pages 51 ta 58.

The Company’s risk review procedures
include regular reports to the Committee
from the Director of Internal Audit on the
parformance of the system of internal
controls and on its effectiveness in
managing material and emerging risks
and identifying any control failings cr
weaknasses.

The Committee reviews the Group’s risk
management process annually, with the
outcome being reperted to the Board.
This, together with regular updates to the
Board on material risks, allows the Board
1o make the assessment on the system
of internal controls and the residual risks
for the purpose of making its public
staterment. The risk process, together with
the key risks and their indicators, have
been identified and mitigating actions

are described in the Strategic Report

on pages 57 to 58. Key performance
indicators are highlighted for the main
financial, strategic and people risks in the
Strategic Report on pages 21 to 24,

Where weaknesses have been identified
in the system of internal controls for the
mitigation of risks to an acceptable level,
plans to strengthen the control system are
put in place. Action plans in this respect
are regularly monitored until complete.
During the period under review there were
nc control failings or weaknesses that
resulted in material losses.

Internal audit activities

The Group’s Internal Audit function
comprises a Director of Internal Audit and
a team of internal auditors and we have a
co-source agreement in place with a third
party internal audit provider. The Director
of Internal Audit reports to the Audit
Committee and works with the CFO and
CEO to determine priorities. He also has
direct access to the Committee and

the Board. This ensures there is
cpportunity for frank and open

dialogue. The Director of Internal Audit's
remuneration is determined by the Chair
of the Committee in consultation with the
Group Chief Finangial Officer to ensure
independance.

The scope of work for the Internal Audit
function is agreed with the Cormmittee
annually with the findings from internal
audits being reported to the Executive
Board and the Audit Committee.
Businesses are audited on a rotational
risk-based approach to assess the
effectivenass of controls to mitigate

risks to an acceptable level. All major
riks are addressed in this process,
including Group functions and change
programmes as are those around
governance, environmental and social
related matters. Actions to maintain and
improve the effectiveness of the control
environment are agreed with the Executive
Baoard and are monitored and reported to
the Committee. Risks are also regularly
reviewed and required changes are made
to the risk profile and, where necessary, to
the activity of Internal Audit. All changes to
the Internal Audit plan are agreed with the
Chair of the Committee and reported to
the Executive Board and the Committee.

Committee evaluation

The activities of the Committee were
reviewed as part of the Board and
Committee evaluation process. The

2021 evaluation was carried out via a
combination of targeted survey guestions
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with the facility for anonymous
responses. This was supported with
individual discussions with Directors.
The Committee’s perfermance was
assessed across the range of work

it oversees including effectivenaess in
reviewing and assessing the work of
the internal and External Auditors,

risk identification and management
and the Group's system of internal
contrgls. The review also examined
the Committee's oversight of financial
reporting. The responses show that
the Committee 1s considered to have
operated effectively throughout the
year. Priorities for the upcoming year
include the continued close monitering
of risk and emerging risks, and ensuring
readiness for the reguirements of new
audit and governance reform. Further
details of the outcome cf the Board
and Committee evaluation process can
be found in the Corporate Governance
Report on page 82.

This year's evaluation process

was undertaken internally, and

was facllitated externally in 2019.
Accordingly, in line with the
requirements of the Corporate
Governance Code, the review will be
facilitated externally in 2022.

Fraud

The Committee reviews the procedures
for the prevention and detection of
fraud in lhe Group. Suspected cases
of fraud must be reported to the Chief
Financiai Officer and the Director of
Internal Audit and investigated by
cperational management and Internal
Audit. The cutcome of any investigation
is reported to the Committee. A register
of all suspected fraudulent activity and
the outcome of any investigation is
kept and is circulated to the Committee
on a regular basis. During the year in
guestion, no frauds of a significant or
material nature were reported.

Anti-bribery and corruption
and business ethics

The Company has a Code of Gonduct
which can be found on its website
www_page.com. This sets out the
standards of behaviour by which all
employees of the Group are bound
and is based on the Company's
commitment to acting professionally,
fairly and with integrity.

The Group mairtaing a zero tolerance
approach against corruption. It has
an established anti-bribery and

corruption policy, which includes
guidance on the giving and receiving
of gifts and hospitality. This policy
applies throughout tha Greup and is
complemented by anti-bribery and
corruption training. In erder to capture
any concerns that smployees or
external parties may have in relation

to bribery and corruption, the policy
highlights internal contacts who can
assist in any gueries surrounding gifts
ancg hospitality or concerns around
bribery and corruption. The gifts and
entertainment register is reviewed by
the Committee to ensure transparency.
A review of compliance with the policy
is undertaken annually and reported to
the Commiittee. The review undertaken
in 2021 showed there was a good
understanding of the issues and no
breaches were reported. Additionally,
the Company operates a global “Speak
Up" helpline and actively promotes its
use for any ethical matters.

Ben Stevens
Audit Committee Chair

2 March 2022
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

Angela Seymour-Jackson
Committee Chair

SECTION 1

Dear Shareholder

| am pleased to introduce the Directors’
Remuneration Report for 2021 to
shareholders. After the significant impact
of COVIR-19 during 2020 on employees
and business performancs, this past
year has seen a healthy rebound ang
recovery in most of our markets. This has
been reflected in strong growth and an
excellent headling level of profitability for
the business. [t is clear that the strategic
actions taken during 2020 have placed
the business in an excellent position to
respond to resurgent demand.

Ensuring a sense of belonging
for employees

The recovery has been pleasing for all
within the business. The post-pandemic
environment has often led to new ways
of operating for employees and periods
of adjustment rather than a return to

old ways of working. As a Commitiae

we spent fime understanding the wider
employee experience and how employees
viewed the way the business was
rgsponding to COVID and a “different
normal”. We focussed on actions taken by
the business to recognise the contribution
af peaple who may not be physically
present within our warkirig locations.

This included the steps taken to keep in
touch with people and form connections.
We were reassured through employee
feedback that people working in the
business have a sense of belonging and
are able to fully contribute to business
performance.

Many employees joined us during

the midst of the pandemic, when we
deliberately hired experienced tafent into
the business to prepare for a potential
rebound. This decision has proven to
be a good one, enabling us to respond
to customer and candidate demand

effectively. Additionally it enabled us to
fearn from external experience and skills
gained in other organisations.

2021 has delivered a record level of profit
for the business, and we monitored the
way that this success has been shared
through the organisation and how
outcomes from variable reward structures
cascaded through the business.

Last year | gave my thanks to all
employess in the business for their
contribution and resilience as we went
through the early stages of COVID-19 and
to Executive Directors, when determining
the incentive cutcomes. Again, | wish to
axtend my thanks to all employees for the
way they have served customers through
2021, enabling the business to respond
s0 successfully 1o the increase in demand
for recruitment services.

Performance delivered in 2021

Full details of performance achieved
against targets is described within the
report and | have summarised this below.
Group level financial performancs was a
significant enhancement on 2020 ievals.
The recovery from the pandemic gained
momentum which was carried through
to the end of the year. Overall PBT was

a record £166,6m, compared to £15.5m
in 2020. The longer-term trend showed
growth compared to before the pandemic
- growth between 2019 and 2021 was
15.5% and between 2018 and 2021

was 17.1%.

Alongside the delivery of very strang
financial performance in 2021 was delivery
against strategic objectives set by the
Board for sach Executive Director. These
were chosen as key activities or initiatives
aligned to our agreed strategy, and both
Executives have delivered excellent
performance against these metrics. Full
details of the targets and associated
outcomes are containad within the
detailed disclosures in this report.

The majority of the ESIP performance

is assessed against longer-term (three-
year) performance, considaring both the
absolute performance of PageGroup and
also the relative performance against other
comparator companies within the sector,

The Beard was delighted with the success
of the strategy impiemented in 2020 to
orepare for a rebound. This was reflected
in the outcome under the relative Gross
Profit measure, where PageGroup's
performance placed it in the upper quartile
and well above comparator companies in
the recruitment sector.

2020 was nonetheless a significant
headwind for earnings and so despite
robust earnings delivery in 2019 and
record performance in 2021, the
business fell short of the cumulative
EPS threshold target for the three-year
period of 2019-21 (109.7p).

Despite the promising performance
relative to peers, the Committee
recognises the overall absolute
shareholder experience over the 3 year
performance period and therefore no
award has been made under the EPS
elernent of the ESIP.

What performance achicved
means for reward outcomes

We were happy as a Committee that
the formulzic outcome of the ESIP
generated reward outcomes that

were reflective of the gverall business
performance over the period and
therefore did not apply any discretion
to the outcomes. Overall, the ESIP
award for the CEO was 74.4% of
maximum, and for the CFO the outturm
was 74.3% of maximum. In line with
the delivery of the ESIP, 40% of awards
are payable in cash in March following
the end of the performance period. The
remainder is defiverad in PageGroup
shares that vest equally on the second
and third anniversaries of the award.
Shares are subject to an additional




two-year holding pericd if the minimum
shareholding requirerent is not in place
at the point of vasting (after allowing for
a number of shares tc be sold tc settle

any tax liability).

We have disclosed our CEO Pay Ratio
for a number of years, and this value
has changed in line with business
performance, moving from 27:1 in
2020 t0 57:1 in 2021. Our strong
performance meant that we made
bonus awards to many individuals
across the business, and many
individuals will have seen material
increases in reward as will be avident
from the dstailed disclosure. The
change in ratio is a reflection ¢f the high
relative weighting towards variable pay
for our Executive Diractors and other
senior leaders in the business, further
details of which are contained later.

Looking forward to 2022

The ESIP is a robust incentive
structure for the business. It has
delivered appropriate levels of reward
to Executives whilst recognising the
volatile nature cf the sector, and
driven alignment of Executives to

the shareholder experience through
shareholding since it was introduced.

We will not be making any material
changes to the overall structure of
the ESIP for 2022, with a continued

halance between annual and longer-
term measures, with the vast majority
of assessment linked to financial
performance. We will continue to review
the effectiveness of the plan, particularly
as part of the review of the Directors’
Remuneration Policy that we will
conduct in 2022 ahead of a vote at the
2023 AGM.

Recognising ESG within
Reward

In 2020 we published our first
Sustainability Report and highlighted
the four targets we identified where
we beleve we can make a material
contribution, aligned to the UN
Sustainable Development Goals
classification.

The importance of Environmental,
Social and Governance (ESG) topics
have been clear to the PageGroup
business for many years. We

have focused heavily on the wider
contribution we can make and the
broader societal role we can play as
a business, acting as a responsible
employer, led by our vaiues,

We have made the decision to align

a specific part of the future ESIP
assessment from 2022 onwards
specifically to ESG (representing 5% of
the total opportunity). This is being doneg
as a next step from the publication of

PageGroup Annual Report and Accounits 2021

our Sustainability Report. We want 1o
make it explicit to all stakeholders that
ESG continues to be a high priority
for the business and to demonstrate
progress against the long-term targets
we have stated and committed to
through reward. Further datail of the
way we will do this is provided within
this disclosure.

Conclusion

| hope this report gives you insight into
the activity of the Cornmittee over the
past year and the way that we have
focused on ensuring alignment between
business performance and reward
outcomes through a very volatile period
for the sector and wider economy

due to the impact of COVID. We have
always locked to ensure an effective
dialogue with shareholders on reward
matters and | look forward to this
continuing in the future.

This is the last opportunity for me

to address shargholders as the
Rernuneration Committee Chair as | will
take over as Chair of the Company in
May 2022, | am delighted to have the
oppaortunity to serve the Board and the
Group in my upcoming new capacity.

Angela Seymour-Jackson
Remuneration Committee Chair

2 March 2022
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SECTION 2: AT A Gl ANCE

What executives were paid in 2021 - Single Figure

BASE SALARY & BENEFITS

e Salaries were effective from
1 January 2021

Benefits include a pension
aliowance (fixed in value from
2019 to end 2022) originally
based on 25% of base salary
for CFO and 20% for CFO

Final award 74.4% of maximum
for CEQ and 74.3% of maximum
for CFO

40% payable in cash, rermainder
delivered in deferred shares
vesting on 2nd and 3rd
anniversary of award.

*

STEVE INGHAM

E &a@y
é '25539@5&?E fié

' gsp
' ¢1,784,267

. Benefits
f, £182,071

Maximum
£2,397,000

KELVIN STAGG oF

B i, 4?:
f Salary o Benefits
‘\2331,8@3 . £98,342
| ESIP x Maximum

TOTAL

Totai

' $122%

£2605888 ¢ T 21,367,342
£1,784,267 . £897,200 .-

Base pay Base pay

and benefits and benefits

-£821,3%%: £470,142
2021 SINGLE FIGURE £2,605,588 } x 21,361 342
2020 SINGLE FIGURE ‘ m 1, 194 ' £643 4479WM R
CHANGE (2020 TO 2021) ; - +113%

JR VP |
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ESIP - 2021 and 2022

ESIP 2021 OUTTURN

o Overall award 74.4% of maximum for CEO and 74.3% of maximum for CFO

I 1
0% 50% 100%

FBT 2021

(30%) 100% / 100%

3 96.25% /95%

E

EPS {2019 o 2021)

(25%) 0% /0%

100% / 100%

*  Cpportunity level of 375% of salary and 325% of salary for CEO and CFQ respectively results in award of £1,784,267 and
£897,200 raspectivaly.
*  40% of award delivered in cash, remainder in deferred shares released on 2nd and 3rd anniversary of award.

ESIP 2022 STRUCTURE

o Qverall opportunity unchanged, CEO 375%, CFO 325%
¢ More granular inkage to identified targets disclosed within Sustainability Report

PBT
(30%)

KEY POINTS
*  Overall weightings unchanged compared to 2021
{25%) » No change to EPS targets previously set and
communicated

*  See diagram on page 103 for full cperation of the
ESIP for 2022
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Key Metrics

SHAREHOLDING BY EXECUTIVES

e Actual holding of 627% of salary for CEQO and 798% for CFO against requirement of 200% of salary

Sharehoiding as percentage of salary ~ Executive Directors

CEG 2021

CFO 2021 ]
T798%

1
0 200% 400% 800% 800% 1,000%

- Ordinary shares E ESIP shares (net) - = - —- - - Minimum shareholding requirement
|

GENDER PAY CEO PAY RATIO

Qur latest disclasures on Gender Pay can be accoessed See page 112 to 113 for more details
through the Company's website www.pags.com.

As at 5 April 2020 19% 19% 2021 88:1 571 37:1
As at 5 April 2019 14% 19% 2020 43:1 271 17:1
As at 5 April 2018 16% 21% 2019 160:1 105:1 64:1

SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE (p) PROFIT DELIVERY (PBT £m) .

18¢ - 167

31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2021
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SECTION 3: ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION

This part of the report has been prepared in accordance with Part 3 of the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups
fAccounts and Reports} (Amendment) Regulations 2013. The information on pages 95 to 116 has been audited where reguired
under the Regulations. The elements of the Directors’ Annual Remuneration Report subject to audit are the:

{a) Single total figure for remuneration and the accompanying notes;

b} Details of the perfarmance against metrics for variable awards included in the single total figure table;
{c) Details of the ESIP award made in 2021;

{d) Section on outstanding share awards;

{8} Payments to past Directors; and

(i Payment for loss of office

During the year under review the members of the Committes were Angela Seymour-Jackson, who was Chair of the Committee,
Simen Boddie, Patrick De Smedt, Michelle Healy. Sylvia Matayer and Ben Stevens. Details of the members' attendance at meatings
cf the Committer were as follows:

Director ‘ No. of meetings attended

Angela Seymour-Jackson 6outof 6
Simon Boddie' 4outofd
Patrick De Smedt Goutof6
Michelle Healy Soutof 6
Sylvia Metayer Boutof6
Ben Stevens® Goutof 6

. Simon Boddie stepped down as Non-Executve Diractor on 1 September 2021

2. Ben Stevens was appointed as Non-Executive Director on 1 January 2021

Only members of the Committee are entitled to attend meetings. Other individuals, such as the Chairman of the Board, the Chief
Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, the Chief People Cfficer and external advisers, may attend meetings by invitation when
appropriate.

No Director takes part in discussions relating to their own remuneration. The Committes last conducted a review of its Remuneration
Advisers in 2018 and following a comprehensive tender process appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers ("PwC") as the advisers o

the Committes. PwC is one of the founding members of the Remuneration Censultants Group and as such adheres to the code

of conduct in relation to executive remuneration consulting in the UK. PwC’s appointrment commenced in November 2018 and the
Committes is satisfied the advice received is objective and independent.

The fees paid to PwC in 2021 totalled £80,000. PwC provide unrelated tax advice and mobility services during the year through
separate teams. The Committee is satisfied that these activities do not compromise the independenca or objectivity of the advice it
has recsived from PwC. Pw(C's core services are provided on a fixed fee arrangemant, with additional itsms provided on a time and
materials basis,

During 2021 the Committee met 6 times and considered the following topics:

Wider Workforce Consideration ‘ Executive Remuneration Governance

s Gender pay gap disclosure *  Qutcomes of reward for ESIP 2020 and | ¢ Drafting of rermuneration report for
inthe UK and activities taken use of discration by the Committee 2021 Annual Report
gi:bally to look at fairnass of *  Target setting for operation of ESIP *  Fsedback from shareholdars and
pay 2021 including determination of annual shareholder bodies from 2021 AGM

. Qﬁggga;:etnot ::;;:s:sj :—:j targets {strategic and financial} e Update on market trends from
business, including managing . g)fogéllge::;ugg 20;‘ changes to structure Committes advisor

the impact of COVID-19 «  Committee sffectiveness evaluation
+  Forward-looking target-setting for EPS

(for period 2021 to 2023) + Temms of Reference review

The Committee presented a new Remuneration Policy to shareholders in 2020 which was approved at the Company’s Annual
General Meeting held on 4 June 2020, Full details of the shareholder voting in this respect can be found on page 110.
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Committee evaluation

The activities of the Committee were reviewed as part of the annual evaluation process which, in 2021, was undertaken internally. The
evaluation was facilitated through a combination of anonymous questionnaires and sessicns with Directors conducted by the Chairman and
the process was supported by the General Counsel & Company Secretary. The review included assessing overall Committes performance
(including Committee Chair performance), the effectiveness of the Committee in considering wider workforce remuneration and alignment
of rewards and incentives with Company culture when setting the Executive Remuneration Policy. The quality of the Committee’s advisers,
Committee papers and agendas were also reviewed.

The Committee was cansidered to be performing strongly and was effective in discharging its responsibilities, For more details about the
Board and Committee evatuation process, see page 82. In line with the requirements of the Cerporate Governance Gode, the review of the
Committee will be facliitated externally in 2022.

Directors’ remuneration as a single figure (audited)

The tables below report a single figure for total remuneration for sach Executive Director for the years ended 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2020,

L1014
hic P C
O e - Deferred 3 hle
l;l -lll 000 'Oll -Oll I‘II -.Il ll..
. . &4 Note 1]  #Note 2 Note3d .71 F Notg4| - Netad| v . 'E;‘x ¥
2021 639 25 158 822 713 1,071 1,784 2,606
Steve Ingham
2020 800 24 158 782 0 339 359 1,171
2021 372 25 73 470 359 538 897 1,367
Kelvin Stagg
2020 349 25 73 447 0 196 196 643
Notes:

1. Salary and fees renresent the salary and fees paid in cash in respect of the financial year. Values for 2020 nclude the voluntary reduction in base safary of 20% taken by each of
the Executive Directors within G2, consistent with approximately 400 leaders across the business.

2. Benelits represent the taxable value of the benefits provided in the year and comprise a Cornpany ¢ar or cash equivalent; fuel, parmanent health insurance; madical insurance and
life insurance.

3. Pension includes the cash value of Company contributions to defined contribution pension plans and cash payments n keu of pension contributions. [n ine with our Remuneraticn
Palicy, these have been fixed at the level paid in 2019 and will move 1o akgn wih the rates for the wider workiorce from the end of 2022.

4. The ESIP payment ig determimed using a balanced scorecard of short and long-term performance measures, Under the Policy A0% of the ESIF award is expected to be delvered
i cash and s shown in the "ESIP — Cash” coluran, The remaining 80% of the ESIP 13 debverad n deferred shares which vest in future tranches, as shown in the "ESIP - Delarred
Shares” column. In 2020 Exacutives requested that awards due in casn from ESIP 2020 were instead delivered in deferred shares which was supported by the Commuttes.

5. Figures rounded up or down to the nearest £1k.

Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration as a single figure

The tables below report a single figure for total remuneration for each Non-Executive Director for the years ended 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2020. Figures for 2020 reflect the temporary reduction In fees agreed during Q2 2020 of 20%.

ea e 000
David Lowden T | 2021 217
2020 2031
Simon Boddie 2021 47.1
2020 66.0
Patrick De Smedit 2021 GG.)
2020 61.3
Mirhelle Healy 2021 56.3
2020 o2.7
Sylvia Metayer 2021 56.3
200G 82.7
Angela Seymour-Jackson a1 4] 70,0
2020 66.0
Ben Stevens 2021 61.0
2020 n/a

There were no payments to past Directors or any payments for loss of office during 2021,
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Linkage of Company performance into ESIP outcomes
&
PBT: The Group’s PBT for 2021 was £166.6m against £15.5m in 2020 and £144.2m in 2019, As a result of the pandemic, the -
business saw an abrupl downturm in market conditions trom early 2020, tollowed by a strong recovery during 2021. P
Strategic Performance: Full details of the strategic objectives set for each Executive Director and the associated performance =
against them is shown on pages 101 to 102, Performance has been assessed against the objectives that were set for the %
Executives and the formulaic outcome of this process is disciosed within this report. .
. . , ‘ &
EPS: Batween 2019 and 2021 PageGroup delivered cumulative EPS of 67.6p. Annual EPS achieved over this period was highly Eed
volatile, linked to market conditions experienced as a result of the pandemic. EPS in 2019 was 32.2p, was negative in 2020 and -
grew again (from 2019 levels) to a value of 37.2p in 2021, The 2021 outturn represents an eguivalent annual growth of 4.9% over
the pericd from 2019 to 2021 (using the EPS achisved in 2018 of 32.5p as a baseline).
Relative Gross Profit: The Committee determined awards under this metric using all publicly available data as at 14 February
2022 (the date of the respective Remuneration Committee meeting). The peer group contains organisations with different year-
ends with different timings of scheduled public announcements. This was the approach adopted by the Committee when the ESIP
structure (and use of this metric} was decided in 2017 and has been applied consistently since the ESIP has been in operation, This
meant that full data was publicly available for all of the peer group other than two companies (where data through tc Q3 was used).
PageGroup delivered upper guartile relative gross profit performance against the peer group resuliing in an award of 100% of 9
maximurn for this metric. In two of the three years of the performance period the business had the strongest relative gross profit a
growth of the peer group. (]
-
=
Formulaic breakdown of 2021 ESIP {audited) o
o
Performance Metrics Weighting Target and Qutcome l Achievement (% of max) 2
———mm 3
-
3
5
Prof it Before Tax 30% Threshold (25% award) =£50m Award Level 100% O
Stretch (100% award) = £107.5m o
Actual PBT was £166.6m
Strategic Metrics 15% See breakdown in table overleaf 96.25% 95%
-' =3
Cumulative £EPS 25% Threshald EPS = 109.7p (25% vesting} through to Stretch Award Level = 0% =
EPS = 132.2p (100% vesting) e
Actual EPS = 67.6p £
Relative Gross Profit Growth 30% Based on average growth over the 3-year period compared Award Level = 100% :‘ w
to peer group. *;-”&
Median = 25% vesting through to Upper quartile = Full s
vesting 15,(
PageGroup Actuat = 8.7% growth. ‘1
Madian was 1.7%, Upper Quartile 4.4% Y
Overall (% maximum) | 74.4% | 74.3% P
3
T
5
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Discretion applied by Committee

The fuil impact of the pandemic has been seen through the performance period covered by the ESIP, with robust performance in 2018, a
very challenging business environment in 2020 and a very strong recovery during 2021. The actions taker by the businass in 2020 have
been shown to have enabled the business to support a strong recovery in 2021,

Overall, the Committee was comfcrtable that the overall formulaic outcome under the ESIP against targets set represented an award lovel
consistent with Company performance achieved over the full performance period. It did not exercise any discretion (gither up or down) to
this formulaic cutcome.

Final Award Calculation and Delivery (audited)

Calculation | ceo | cro

Maximum Opportunity (% salary} 375% 326%

Final Award {% of maximumy 74.4% 74.3%

Tinal Aword (% of onlary} 7% 241%

Salary used for ESIF caicutation £639,200 £371,800
ard Value 84,20 89 00

l CFO

Cash Award (March 2022) {40% of the total award) £713,707 £358,880

Share Award in March 2022 of shares to value shown £1,070,560 £538,320

in table {representing 60% of the award).

Vesting to oocur in March 2024 and March 2025 and

subject to further holding perioad i everit shareholding

quidelines are not met

Strategic targets and outcomes within 2021 ESIP (audited)

CEO - Steve Ingham

’ Weighting

Measure

Key Achievements

Achievement
{% of max}

Strategic 25% Measured by increased business in: s Large, High Potenbal markets in éxcess of 40% ul e | 100%
Ma‘k?t e Large, High Potential markets Group in QI
Deavelopment « Technology discipline * Technology now our 2nd largest discipine,
rapresenting 12% of the Group, up 52% vs. 2019
* Page Outsourcing ‘ . o ) o
o Interi d contracti *  New client wins for Outsourcing, including first wins in
Atenm and contracting targeted markets {e.q., US)
* Healthcare and Life Sciences = Significant growth in key markets: Page Ouwtsourcing,
Healthcare and Life Sciences growth of 84% fall vs
2019
Productivity 25% Measured by: s Cuslome Cunnect naw live in . 95% of the Group 5%
s Continued successful roll out of e ol bebisary 2022
Customer Connect s |Large productivity increases compared to 2019
+ Delivery of productivity improvements +17%)
¢ Development and rolt out of Payelwiylils dala
insights programime
Talont 50% Measured by * Three new Executive Board appointments during year | 95%
Development « Development of senior team ¢ Improvements in global fertidle ratlos soruss all kevels
and Inclusion succession and implementation of any of genior management
required needs plan
* Increase in diversity within the senior
leadership team

“ Constant currency growth rates




CFO - Kelvin Stagg

Theme } Weighting ‘ Measure

PageGroup Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Key Achievements

Achievement
{% of max)

Strategic 25% Measured by increased Large, High Potential markets in excess of 40% of the 100%
Market business in: Group in Q3
Development * large, High Potential Technology now our 2nd largest discipline, representing
markets 12% of the Group, up 52% vs. 2019
¢ Technology discipline New client wins for Outsourging, including first wins in
* Page Outsourcing targeted markets {e.g., US)
» Interim and contracting Significant growth in key markets: Page Outsourcing,
Heakh nd Life Sciences growth of 84% (all vs 2019
* Healthcare and Life Falincars a 18 selences 9 ol )
Sclences
Productivity 25% Measured by: Customer Connect now live in ¢. 95% of the Group (end of | 95%
+ Continued successiul roll February 2022}
out of Customer Connect Large productivity increases compared to 20192 (+17%)
+ Delivery of productivity Development and roll out of Pagelnsights data and insights
improvements programme
Tatent 25% Measured by: Strengthening of finance team during the year Q0%
Development * Strengthening of the increased gender diversity with 2 female promoticns to MD
and Inclusion Finance tearmn level
s {ncrease in diversity within 4 external hires and 2 promotions of females to Director
the Finance team level
Multipte hires to strengthen global tax and legal tearrss
Cost Contrel { 25% Measured by: Strong management of costs during year 95%
¢ Demoenstrated long-term New shared service centre in Manilla
cost efficiencies Global P2P headcount down 1, transactions processed up
* Positive returns on 64%
investments in operations Automation now running over multiple R2R processes
and support functions

* Constant currency growth rates

Change in Board’s remuneration compared to other employees

The following table shows the percentage change in the annual remuneration of Cirectors from 2018 onwards as well as a
comparatar number showing the average percentage changse for employees (excluding Directors) of the listed parent company

on a full-time equivalent (FTE) basis.

e A

021452020 020952019 || 2021 vs 02§t
Steve Inghamn 6% (9C)% not calculable (100%)
Kelvin Stagg 6% 0% not calculable (100%)
Patrick De Smedt 8% n/a n‘a n/a
Michelie Healy 7% n/a n/a n/a
David Lowden 7% n/a n/a na
Sylvia Metayer 7% n/a nfa n/a
Angela Seymour-Jackson 7% n/a n/a n/a
Ben Stevens r/a n/a n/a n/a
Wider PageGroup employees?® | 6% 0% not calculable (100%)

1. Wider PageGroup employees represents averags UK norgase. The increasss for the Exscutive Directors between 2020 and 2021 reflect the voluntary waver of 20% of

salary dunng G2 2020, The ncreass In contractual salary levels from 2020 to 2021 was 1.5% for each Executive.

2. Excludes pensions. As outhned in previous remuneration disclosures, the value of pension contnutions payable to sach Executive has been set at a fixed level (based

on that receved i 2019; before mowing to a level equivalent to the wider werkforce from the end of 2022,

3. This shows the zondrast of changes of reward slements between 2015 and 2021. The wader PageGroup employses reflects all employees of Michael Page International

Recruitment Limited as at 31 December 2021, Calculations have been denved on a ful-tme equivalent (FTE) basis to enable effective companson.
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What the Executive Directors can earn in 2022

The structure of remuneration for 2022
will consist of the following elements:

Salary — Base salaries were reviewed
with reference to the level of salary
increases agreed for the wider UK
population which was 3%. Annual
salary levels for the CEO will increase
to £658,400 and the CFO to £383,000
effective 1 January 2022,

Benefits — No changes to benefits
provided compared to 2021.

Pensions — As outlined in our
Remuneration Poficy agreed in June
2020, pensions were fixed at the
absolute level paid to executives in
2019 and paid monthly alongside
salaries. For the CEQ this equates to an
annual value of £157,450 and for the
CFO £73,260. This approach applied in
2021 and 2022 with allowances aligned

to our UK workforce from
1 January 2023.

ESIP - The core operation of the ESIP
will be unchanged for 2022, We are
making some changes to the way

we set and assess strategic metrics
to strengthen the alignment to ESG
metrics and targets disclosed on our
Sustainability Report. Further detail is
shown below and discussed in more
detail within this disclosure.

ESIP 2022 OPERATION

ESIP 2022 - SINGLE PLAN
4+——Assessment—

Proposed Measures, Weightings
and Time Period

OPPORTUNITY CEO = 375%, CFO = 325%

Delivery

EEECEETaETe

. Dividends
D Cash Under the single plan dividend equivalents will accrue
PBT {30%) paid in respect of any shares deferred but not yet released.
Dividend equivalents are paid, in accordance with the
Log 40% of award rules, at the time of vesting.
Stiz‘a%ggcﬁs%) in cash >
EPS (2020 to 2022) 60% of award
(25%) > n defarred deferred
- shares
P Reiatlve Profit deferred
. @20t 2922) (30%)
- M-
* Holding Period
Vested shares have to be held for further two years if the shareholding
guidelines have not been met at point of release {except for sales to meet
a resulting tax liability)
L Breakdovm of Strategk: Element Lo

¥

Weighting

Against assessment of our four stated tafgets wnhm our Sustamabdrty Report linked to UN Sustalnable Development Goals 5%

Assessed against other key strategic geals identified by the Board and linked to business strategy. These may differ by
Executive Director. Targets will be disclosed retrospectively alongside the associated performance achieved

10%

Manpower

performanca.

Measurement in constant currency.

Relative Gross Profit arowth

Assessed against comparator group: Current list of companies: SThree, Robenrt Half, Randstad, Robert Walters, Adecco, Hays
Performance range: Bolow median = no award. Median = 25% of award through to 100% of award for upper quartila

In the event of material change of one of the companies within the comparator group {e.g.. due to M8A activity) the Committes
retains flexibility to adjust the peer group with a stated desire to capture organic growth only.




Reflecting ESG within reward

We have discussed the increasing prominence of ESG and growing expectation of us being able to describe our actions against
this specific terminology to our stakeholders {including employees). In considering any changss to the way this is reflected within
reward we made the following observations:

How 1s ESG seen within PageGroup now?

s ESG thernes have been raflected in the way the business has operated
for many years and aligned to our Company values
s We have the ability to make a broad societal contribution and to make a
difference through what we do
s These areas are not new but include areas whare PageGroup has an
established track record - especially linked to diversity and inclusion

PageGroup Annual Report and Accounts 2021

What are we looking to reinforce through reward

* That the targets identified and communicated through our
Sustainability Report represent a balanced set of priorities for the
business

* That we want a simple route to monitor overall progress towards
these targets, and encourage faster progress where it is feasible
to achieve this

* That these areas are key to cur stakeholders and expected of us,
including from our candidates and empleyeses

Therefore, in finalising our approach we made the following decisions:

| Decision | Rationale/Explanation

1

To ringfence part of the ESIP assessment to algn to
specific ESG targets (5% cf the current 15% aligned to
strategic metrics).

* This is designed to align reward outcomes with the journey and priorities
described within our Sustainability Report. The four metrics link back to
specific UN Sustainable Development Goals and are key areas where
PageGroup can make a positive contribution.

To use existing targets identified and communicated
within our Sustainability Report.

« These are externally disclosed, with granular reporting each year, evidenced by
business actions or outputs.

This reprasents a balanced portfolio of things important to the business, but
additionally areas where the business feels it can make a material societal
contribution. As an example, while recognising the importance of carbon
rectuction, we are a relatively low emission organisation and believe we can
make a proportionately larger contribution in some other areas such as the role
we can make in helping potential future candidates prepare for employment in
the future, such as through CV and interview workshops.

To assess at the end of each year by the Committee,
forming an overall assessment of progress against the
four targets in determining the award {out of 5%).

We want Executives (and all employees) focused on collective actions against
targets wentified,

We beleve progress should be demonstrated by clear disclosures aganst the
long-term targets set, but do not believe this should be broken down into a
series cf annual measures.

* Maximum awards would indicate very robust progress during the year, and that
the overall likelinood of target attainment at the end of the year was higher than
at the start {i.e. activities and progress achieved during the year mean greater
probability of target success). Similar levels of likelihood (i.e. demonstrable
progress) would expect to lead to awards around the 3% level.

]

To continue to retain flexibility to have other "ESG" type
metrics within the remaining 10% aligned te strategic
metrics.

* To enable us to use strategic metrics 1o drive key activities or initiatives within
the business in pursuit of business strategy. These could include other goals
that sit naturally under an ESG categerisation, but would not represent a
duplication of the four {argets used within the Sustainability Report.
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EPS targets - approach and application

We look to set EPS targets at the start of the respective 3-year performance period. Qutlined below are all the EPS targets that have been
set by the Commiltee for the ongoing operation of the ESIP

Aqareed

ESIP 2020 January 2018 - December 2020 | 88.3p - 106.1p 5.4% to 15.1% As included
within

ESIP 2021 January 2019 - December 2021 | 109.7p - 132.2p 6.0% 10 16.0% previous

ESIP 2022 January 2020 - December 2022 | 106.6p - 128.6p 5.0% to 15.0% remuneration
disclosures

ESIP 2023 January 2021 - December 2023 | 48p - 72p Not applicable due to negative EPS in 2020

As disclosed in last year’s Directors’ Remuneration Report, for the operation of the ESIP for 2022 and beyond (assessment of EPS
beginning on 1 January 2020) the EPS calculation will be determined on a constant currency basis.

EPS target for Jan 2022 — Dec 2024

We have now set targets for EPS for the period 2022-2024 which will operate with a performance range representing annual growth of 5%
at thresheld to 15% at stretch. We will measure performance on a “peint to point” basis for the period 2022 to 2024 and beyond, moving
away from the cumulative performance adopted in prior years. Therefore, the calculation will compare the EPS achieved in 2024 against
that delivered in 2021 to derive the equivalent annual growth achieved over the period.

The performance range was determined based on assumptions around future trading performance and having considered the range of
expectations that exist and the plannea trajectory over the medium term. Having reviewed the impact of 2020 EPS performance against a
serigs of cumulative EPS targets in place, we believe this change in the basis of calculation will drive strong alignmeryt between shareholder
returns and providing incentives for Executives to grow the business through the performance period.

As will be evident from the table above, the forward-looking performance rangé that has been set on EPS by the Commitiee has shown
significant volatility over the previous three years. At each point when we have needed to set a target, we have done 5o considering the
same range of factors and insight, with a desire to set stretching performance ranges with maximum awards for superior perfermance
aver the forward locking 3-year period. We believe the range set for the period 2022-2024 is stretching and appropriately incentivises
Executives to drive the business forward. We do not plan to make any adjustments to range levels (either up or down) or disclosed method
of calculation in respect of ranges previously set and communicated by the Committee.

Fee levels for the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors for 2022

The average salary increase that will be applied for UK based staff from 1 January 2022 Is 3%. It was agreed to increase the basic fee for
Non-Executives by this level effective 1 January 2022, The Senior Independent Director fee was increased by £1k frem 1 January 2021.

Year ending 31 December 2021 | Effective from 1 January 2022

Chairman £217,000 217,000
Non-Executive basic fee £56,300 158,000
Senior Independent Director £10,000 £10,000
Chair of the Audit Committee £14,000 £14,000
Chair of the Remuneration Committee £14,000 £14,000

1. As previously announced, Angela Seymour-Jackson has been appointed as Chair designate and will take over the role of Chair on 1 May 2022. From 1 May 2022 the Chair fee

will be £225k per annum,

Shares awarded in 2021

(audited)

Conditional awards of deferred shares wera made in March 2021 in relation to awards made in respect of the operaticn of the 2020 ESIP

Steve Ingham 80,971

£388,744

Kelvin Stagg 40,815

£195,952

Shares vest in two tranches equally on the second and third anniversary of
award, subject to continued smplayment

Awards were made on 15 March 2021, The share price used to make awards was £4.801 being the ¢losing share price on 12 March 2021,
The Commitiee was comfortable that the price used to make awards was appropriate, calculated in line with the ESIP structure and Plan
rules, and represents awards against delivery of performance already achieved by the Executives.

The share price at the start of the year was £4.63 and was £6.34 on 31 December 2021, Tha low and high share prices during the year

were £4.41 and £6.81 respectively.
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Executive shareholding and alignment to the organisation
Details of all outstanding share awards are provided later in the repart, Both Executive Directors own shares well in excess of the .
200% shareholding requirement as illustrated in the table below. This includes shares awarded but not yet vested under the ESIP. 3
-
Shareholding as percentage of salary — Executive Directors g
T
CEO 2021 627%
k¢
CFO 2021 798%
; I
0 200% 400% B600% 800% 1,000%
Fach Executive has built up shareholding over the previous years as illustrated in the table below. (]
3
Shareholding as percentage of salary CEQO: Steve Ingham o
: 8
[l
o
2021 627% )
o
<
1]
=
]
2020 1,045% -
0
) @
H
2019 963% —
a
2018 641% 4
: ;
0 200% 400% B600% B00% 1,000% 1,200% *
E
Shareholding as percentage of salary CFO: Kelvin Stagg ;
H :
2021 798% '
2020 546%
; &
2019 “H7% .
&
:;;
2018
! Z
0 200% 400% 600% 800% 1,000% -
E odnary shares ESIP shares (net) -~ - Minimum sharehelding requirement
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Given high levels of share ownership, share price movement leads to a significant vanation in the value of share ownership and the
associated percentage of salary that this represents.

Calculated shareholding level Shareholding as a percentage of
{as % of salary) if share price salary at 31 December 2021
were to decrease by 10% {based on share price of £6.34)

Calculated Shareholding level (as
% of salary) if share price were to
increase by 10%

) Shareholding {As 5

Steve Ingham % of salary) 565% B27% (£4.01m) B890%
Clediye it . . .
indicativo Valio Decrease of R4U1k - Increase of £4UTKk

| Shareholding {As

Kelvin Stagg % of salary) 718% 798% {£2.96m} 878%
Change in e
Indlirestivrs Vil Decrease of L2936k - Increase of £296k

Outstanding share awards

This section sets out the share interests of the Executive Directors as at 31 December 2021 under the Executive Single incentive Plan, the
2009 Share Option Scheme and the legacy Long-Term ncentive Plan,

Steve Ingham

ESIP

Number of Vested Lapsed Number of

shares at Granted during | during during shares at
Grant Date 1 January 2021 the year ‘ the year the year 31 December 2021 i Vesting
15 March 2018 77,636 - (77.636)° - 15 March 2021
12 Mareh 2010 88,370 - (AR, 37N - - 12 Marihi 2021
12 March 2019 88,370 - - - 88,370 14 March 2022
13 March 2020 106,983 - {108,983) - " 15 March 2021
13 March 2020 106,984 - - - 106,984 14 March 2022
13 March 2020 106,984 - - - 106,984 13 Maill 2023
15 March 2021 - 40,485 - - 40,485 15 March 2023
15 Mareh 20M 40,484 - - LARE ) 15 Maigh 2024

| 575,327 | 272,089) 383,309

1. A sufficient number of shares were sold to cover appheable taxes with the balance of 41.065 shares held
2. A sufficient number of shares were soid to cover applicable taxes with the balance of 46,732 shares held
3. A sufficient number of shares were sold to cover applicable taxes with the batance of 56.574 shares held

Kelvin Stagg

ESIP

Number of Granted Vested Lapsed Number of shares

shares at during during during at 31 December
Grant Date 1 January 2021 the year the year the year 2021 Vesting
15 March 2018 {40,598)" 15 March 2021
12 March 2019 44,088 - (44,0887 - - 12 March 2021
12 March 2019 44,088 - - - 44,088 14 March 2022
13 March 2020 £3,139 - 53,1397 - - 15 March 2021
13 March 2020 63,110 - - - 53.140 14 March 2022
13 March 2020 53,140 - - - 53,140 13 March 2020
15 March 2021 - 20,407 - - 20,407 15 March 2023
15 March 2021 U, 4U8 23,408 15 March 2004

288,193 40,815 (137,825) 191,183
1. A sufficient number of shares were sold 10 cover apphcable taxes with the balance of 21.468 sharss held
2. A sufficient number of shares were sold to cover applhcable taxes with the balance of 23,314 shares heid

3, A sufficient number of shares were sold to cover applicable taxes with the balarce of 28.101 sharas held



PageGroup Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Share options

No options granted under The Michael Page 2009 Share Option Scheme remain outstanding at 31 December 2021. Details of
options either exercised or lapsed during the year for Kelvin Stagg are shown in the table below. Steve Ingham does not hold any
options under The Michael Page 2009 Share Option Scheme.

The Michael Page 2009 Share Option Scheme

Number of
Number of Exercised Lapsed options at
options at during during the 31 December | Exercise Exercise
Executive Grant date 1 January 2021 | the year year 2021 price (p) period
Kelvin Stagg 11 March 2011 30,000 - (30,000 -1 4310 2014-2021
Kelvin Stagg 12 March 2012 30,000 (30,000)2 - - ‘ 4770 | 2015-2022

{30,000}

{30,000

1. Of tho 30.00C Options granted on Maich 2017, 17.948 lapsed as d tesull of nolimeeting te required penormance condihon. 1 he rermaining 12,082 Options were
exercisable but with an Option price above the PageGroup share price in the period between 1 January 2021 and 10 March 2021 when they then lapsed, on the 10th
anniversary of the grant.

2. On 14 Octoper 2021 Kelvin Stagg exercised these Qptions at a prce of £6,782 per optian.

Statement of Directors’ shareholdings {audited)

It is the Company’s policy that Executive Directors are required to build and hold a direct beneficial holding in the Company's
Ordinary shares of an amount equal to two times their base salary. The beneficial interests of the Directors who served during
2021, and their connected persons, in the Crdinary shares of the Company are shown in the table below. The table deoes not
include interests in shares which are subject to ongoing company performance conditions but does include shares awarded but
not yet vested under the ESIP.

Unvested Share

Ordinary shares
held as at

31 December 2021

Award (ESIP) as at
31 December 2021

% of salary

Shareholding
guideline

Ordinary shares
held as at
31 December 202

soueUIaA0Y) djei0di0)

held *

Steve Ingham 429,90728 383,309 627% 200% 1,165,546
Kelvin Stagg 366,912 191,183 200% 294,028
- — R T
Patrick De Smedt - n‘a n/a n/a -
Michelle Healy - nfa a n/a -
David Lowden 10,000 n/a na nfa 10,000
Sylvia Metayer - n/a n/a n/a -
Angela Seymour-Jackson | 915 n/a n/a n/a 915
Ben Stevens - wa n/a n/a -
Notes:

1. This uses the closing share price on 31 Decernber 2021 of £6.34 per share and includes unvested shares awarded under the ESIP calculated on a post-tax basis.
The highest and lowest share prices during the year were £6.81 and £4.41 respectively

2. Steve Ingham sold 400,000 Crdinary shares on 20 May 2021 at a price of £5.00 per share.
3. Steve Ingham sold 18,109 shares on 22 December 2021 at a price of £6.30 per share and 463 891 shares on 23 Decermber 2021 al a price of £6.31 per share,

There were no changes in the Directors’ interasts between 31 December 2021 and the date of this report.
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Relative importance of spend on pay

The graph below shows details of the Company's retained profit after tax, distributions by way of dividend, shares purchased by
the Michael Page Employee Benefit Trust, overall spend on pay to all employees {see Note 4) in the financial statements on page
139, overall spend on Directors’ pay as included in the single figure table on page 99 and the tax paid in the financial year. The
percentage change to the prior year is also shown.

26%
600 553.9
500 2020
438.0 - 2021
400
£m
300
200 >100% >100%
118. o
100 5.4 100.2 -28% 76% - (1) 7%
0 0 10.4 144 43 2.3 - N7
5.7
Profit after Dividends Shares Overall spend Overall spend Tax paid
tax (Cmy) paid (T purchased by on pay (£m}) on Directors’ (£m)
the EBT (£m) pay (£my}

Service contracts and letters of appointment

All Executive Directors' service contracts contain a twelve-month netice period. The service contracts also contain restrictive covenants
preventing the Executive Directors from competing with the Group for six months following the termination of their employment and
preventing the Executive Directors from soliciting key employees, clients and candidates of the employing company and Group companies
for twelve months following termination of employrment. The Remuneration Committee has the right to exercise mitigation in the event

of termination.

Non-Executive Directors, including the Chairman of the Board, are engaged under letters of appointment and do not have service contracts
with the Company. They are appointed for a fixed tarm of three years, during which period the appointment may be terminated by either
party upcn giving one month's written notice or in accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association of the Company. There are
ne provisions an payrnent for early termination in the letters of appointment. After the initial three-year term, Directors may be reappointed
for a further term of three years, subject to annual re-election at each year's Annual General Maeting.

Where any Director's letter of appointment was renewed during the year they were not entitled to vote on their own appointment.
Copies of the service contracts and letters of appointment are avafiable for inspection during normal business hours at the Company’s
registered office.

Notice Period

Unexpired Term

Executive Director Service Contract Date

Steve Ingham 31 December 2010 No specific term 12 months
Kelvin Stagg 27 July 2014 No specific term 12 months
Patrick De Smedt 13 July 2021 31 months

Michelle Healy 2 October 2018 2 months

David Lowden 18 July 2018 4 monthg?

Sylvia Metayer 5 August 2020 20 months

Angela Seymour-Jackson £ August 2020 21 months?

Ben Stevens 23 December 2020 24 months

1. AS previgusly announced, Dawd Lowden will retive from the Board on 30 Aprif 2022,

2. As previously announced Angela Seymour-Jackson will become Chair of the Company on 1 May 2022. A new appointment fetter will apply from this date. This appointment letter
has a 36-month term
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Statement of voting at the Annual General Meeting
At the Company's Annuai General Meeting held on 4 June 2020, sharehcolders approved the existing Remuneration Policy. The table éf_
below shows the results of the binding voting on the Remuneration Policy and the advisory vete on the Directors’ Remuneration -
Rsport put to shargholders at the 2021 Annual General Meeting. Each resolution required a simple majority of the votes cast to be in ?@
favour in order for each of the resolutions to be passed. %
Resolutions Votes For ‘ Votes Against | % Votes Withheld *
Remuneration Policy 4 June 2020 250,926,751 a0.71 25,689,170 9.29 15,928,893 §
%
Birectors' Remuneration Report 3 June 2021 289,372,372 99.29 2,058,152 0.71 4,480
Total Shareholder Return
The perfermance graph below shows the movement in the value of £100 invested in the shares of the Company compared to an
investment in the FTSE 250 index and the FTSE Support Services index over the pericd 31 December 2011 to 31 December 2021.
The graph shows the Total Shareholder Return generated by the movement in the share price and the reinvestment of dividends.
The FTSE 250 index and the FTSE Support Services index have been selected as the Company was a member of each index (]
throughout the period. The table below shows the total remuneration of the Chief Exacutive Cfficer over the same ten-year period. 9‘
T
O 0 0 014 0 016 O 018 0189 020 0 2
]
Single remuneration total £2,723k | €1,318k | £1,404Kk | £2,074k | £2,089Kk | £€3,660k | £4,340k | £3,769 | £1,171k | £2,606k 5"
Shori-term incentives (% of o
maximum) {note 1} n/a 50% 71% 68% 60% n/a n‘a n/a n/a n‘a g
Long-term incentives (% of 2
maximum) na na n/a nfa 80% 55.35% | 96.1% | 96% n/a n/a =
Executive Single Innentive Plan g
% of maximui) 1/d ns rn/a n/a n/a 1% 87.7% 75.4% 16.5% 74.4% 8
Notes:
1. Prior 1o 2012 the Company operated uncapped incentives which. by definition, did not have the concept of “maximurn”. As a resuli, 1115 not possible to prowde this
information historically. However, following the changes in 2012  is possible to provide this information far the years 2013, 2014, 2015 and 20716,
31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2015 31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2021
400 i
370 ;;-ﬂ §
£ &
340 }f E
& £
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310 {; NI o
B
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160 :
130 ’
100 %
it
e ST S TE S TR - ] SR ] e - [TOERG =
External directorships
No Executive Directors earned any fees from external directorships during the year ending 31 December 2021.
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SECTION 4: REMUNERATION FOR EMPLOYEES BELOW THE BOARD

Our remungration philosophy is cascaded through the organisation and we focus on rewarding collective achievement and team-based
success. At senior levels we use a combination of shares and cash to achieve this and drive alignment with the business. At more junior
levels variable reward is delivered through cash only.

Overall reward is benchmarked on a regular basis to the raspective local market and is linked to skill and sxperience in role. We offer a
wider range of benefits that evolves over time. This includes Company provided benefits, but also extends to a range of policies to support
work-life balance and wellbeing.

The Company does not formally consult with employees on remuneration matters to consider executive pay or Remuneration Policy design,
but does review information on employes satisfaction with reward throughout the organisation, including results to reward questions from
the “Have Your Say” employee engagement guestionnaire which is now run on an annual basis,

Reward across the PageGroup business

We operate within a broad reward framework across the organisation, designed to enable effective progression of talent and grow our own
pipsline of talent for the future. We focus on how we drive team-based behaviours to create better customer relationships to support our
strategy of organic growth.

Emplovees typically receive salary and a range of benefits driven by local market norms and practice, Most of our employees alse have
access to variable pay schemes linked to the success they help create.

Qur regular activities to engage with our staff (see page 33) give us valuable insight of our reward offer and areas of reward that are working
and opportunities for change. We discuss our overall approach as a Board and the way that reward may be expected to change as
soimeaone progresses through the organisation.

Salaries are set with reference to the skills and experience of the individual and reflect the Incal market ranges. The
career journey of the fee earning population enables regular pay reviews on achievement of performance-based
targets which will contribute to the success of the team. For others, salaries are usually reviewed annually and
adjusted in consideration of business affordability, individual performance and local market rates of pay.

Base Salary

We operate across a range of countries where we see very cifferent practices in terms of benefit provision. Qur
Benefits benefits typically include tems such as pension provision, life insurance and medical cover. The levels of contribution
or investment 1n benefits will be driven by tocal market factors rather than a single global appreach.

The variable pay of the consultant population is primarily driven by team-based incentives designed to drive peopfe
to work collectively, Thase deliver cash awards which reflect both the performance of the team and the respective
performance of the individual consultant. A small number of consultants work on an individua! commission basis
finked to the specific nature of the role they perform.

At a leadership level we also offer deferred cash incentives to drive retention of talent, in addition to the bonus
structures available. At senior leadership levels we provide access to share-based incentives, designed tc enable
individuals to build up a holding in Company shares and fully align thern to the shareholder experience.

Variable Pay
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Commiittee insight and focus
The Committee received an overview of the reward structure in place across the organisation during 2020 and a further update =
on any changes during 2021. This is an annual agenda item for the Committee. Subsequent discussion included the following
themes and responses: B
s
Theme Findings “
Linkage of reward with performance * Al colleagues participate in performance management processes which give claity over both =
assessment what samaone is expected to accomplish and how this shouid be achieved . %
s It is achieved through the combination of: . :
o Goals: expected outputs over the review period L
o KPis: actions and metrics expected in pursuit of the goals
o Behavigurs: that should be demonstrated in pursuit of the above
s Specific behaviours are based around defined criteria linked to senicrity of role
*  Overall attainment is directly linked 0 awards under variable plans and any future salary | —
adjustments
Provision of benefits across a global * Regular assessments are made of market compatitvenass of benefits within our key markets, O
organisation using extemnal benchmark data _O‘
» Benefits do vary between countries reflecting different market norms C
* Any proposed changes to benefits offered is done through engagement with the regional 2
HR ard finance leaders, with proposals reviewed centrally depending on the level of cost E'._
investment o
&
Way that awards under variable pay plans * Funding of bonus pools is managed with finance tearns with central oversight <
are governed through the business * Country leaders make proposals on allocation of bonuses which are reviewed by their !';
respective managers E
* Al proposalz are coliated centrally to review levels of spend and affordability =1
(14
Alignment to culture and linkage to diversity | * There is a demonstrable cascade of key objectives through the organisation. As an example, o
and Inclusion all Managing Directors have designated targets within variable plans requiring progress on key
diversity and inclusion metrica
Ways that the organisation gains insight into | ¢  Questions are included within the “Have Your Say” engagement survey (which is now run
employee satisfaction with reward arnually} linked to pay and benefits and trends tracked over time
« Discussion of reward occurs within many of the existing forums within the business (e.g.,
Female leadership programme and Unity network} Bt
*  Puse surveys and use of internal technology (e.g., Yammer) monitors responses to key )
questions and tracks changes
= Engagement sessions with staff members, including those attended by Non-Executive Directors
* Feedback from empicyees who choose to leave us (gained through exit surveys)
CEO Pay Ratio
This is the third year that we have disclosed the ratio of CEO remuneration to that of our employees in the UK.
C Pay Hatio
AR ,
salculation Methed | 25th Percentile | Median 1.
2021 Option A 8811 57:1 37:1 £.
2020 Option A 43:1 27:1 1711 .
2019 Option A 160:1 105:1 64:1 v
We beliove that the madian ratio is consistent with the Company's wider policies on employse reward, pay and progression. i
The increase in the single figure and CEO pay ratio from 2020 to 2021 reflects the higher weighting towards variable reward for -
Executive Directors compared to other employees across the organisation and is breken down in more detail on the following page.
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Commentary on the ratio

The volatility in the CEQ pay ratio over the previous 3 years reflects the volatility of market conditions and derived business performance,
and the greater leverage of reward towards variable pay for more senior people within the organisation, including Executive Directors.
The changes aré broken out in more detail below:

Change in CEO Single Figure 2020 to 2021 (£k)
3,000
ok 2,500

2,000

1,500

1,000

500

Single Figure Change Increase Increase in  Single Figure
disclosed 2020  in benefits  in salary value of ESIP 2021

Change in CEO reward

Reward Change Commentary

Change in salary This represents the change in the CEQ salary from 1 January 2021 {+1.5%) which was consistant with the wider workiorce.
The value for 2020 included a voluntary waver of 20% of salary during Q2 of 2020 at the start of the pandemic

Change in benefits There were no changes in the range of benents provided detween 2020 and 2021

Change in ESIP value | The ESIP award was 20.1% of maximum in 2020 and followed the application of discretion downwards by themCommittee to
axclude the formulaic outcome under the strategic objectives. The corresponding award under the ESIP for 2021 was 74.4%
of maximum

Approach and calculation

We have elected to use Option A to calculate the ratio as we believe this gives the most accurate insight into employee pay and benefits
and clossst comparison 10 the CEO single figure value. The reward structure for our CEQ is weighted far more towards vanable reward
than most of our employees within the UK. Therefore, we expect future changes to this ratio to be linked to changes in variable award
fevels under the ESIP and future share price movernent.

We also recognise that the earmings profile across our UK employses and that both the mean and median can be useful measures. We
have provided two supplementary ratios for illustration as foliows:

Scenario

CEO “On-Target” Remuneration compared to 2021 UK Median
FTE Reward

CEQ single figure compared to UK mean FTE eamnings ¥2,bUbk (as disclosed) 43.1

Resulting CEO Single Figure
Y2, 260K

Resulting GEO Pay to Median Ratio

The employes figures for our UK workforce 1o calculate the ratios are as follows:

Total pay and benefits — 2021 £29,700 £45,720 £71,03C

{*hange an 214 | n.0% £.790 3.1%

Total salary 2021 £26,850 £36,000 £54,450 ’
Change on 2020 3.3% 2.9% 8.9%

Thesa values are calculated on a full-time equivalent basis as required under the regulations, based on our UK workforce as at 31 December 2021.
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3
Our Remuneration Policy was approved by shareholders at the 2020 AGM held on 4 June 2020, The Policy is designed to enable SE
Us T attract, retain and tairly reward high calibre Executive Directors and drive meaningful and lasting alignment between achieved .
performance and reward outcomes. 5
Our full Remuneration Policy can be found on our website www.page.com. Central to the Policy is the use of the Executive Single .
Incentive Plan (ESIP) as an incentive structure. The ESIP provides a structure that: =
e firmly aligns pay with performance; :
* recognises the cyclical nature of the industry; 5
* reduces undue volatility to drive performance and retention of executives throughcout all stages of the ecenomic cycle; and v
*  ensures that executives build up meaningful shareholdings to align with shareholders.
PageGroup Strategic Priorities ‘ Current ESIP Performance Measures*
Organic, high margin and diversified growth Annual PBT Perfermance
Efficiently scalable and highty flaxible to react to market 3-year EPS growth
conditions Gross Profit growth relative to defined peer group 9
-
Nurture and develop people Strategic Measures 'g
=
Innovation Strategic Measures ?..
1]
*as used for operation of ESIP 2021 m
-]
<
The ESIP structure rewards executives for the appropriate delivery of our strategy and value to sharghclders. The Committee Q
believes this model is an appropriate fit for the PageGroup business - ultimately our key responsibitity in considering reward. The g
ESIP recognises the cyclical nature of the recruitment sector, and as a way of motivating leaders, drives superior business outcomas 1
and acts as a retention mechanism through the econcmic cycle. 8
Changes made to the operation of the ESIP whan the Policy was approved in 2020 included:
*  prospective disclosure of all long-term targets;
s extension cf vesting period;
* increase minimum portion of assessment linked 1o long-term metrics; and
s gimplification and consolidation of performance measures. "
The ESIF is motivational, trusted by our executives and has subseguently been cascaded to lower levels of leaders within the 5
business to drive alignment and consistency in the way we operate reward. ;;;
It allows us to implement a pay for performance philoscphy without undue volatility, drives higher levels of shareholding in the t
business and ensures alignment of executives with the experience of shareholders. The phased nature of share vesting further B
supperts alignment and management of reward volatility. #
=%
Our Remuneration Policy aligns with Provision 40 of the UK Corporate Governance Gode 2018 as explained below: N
Clarity Simplicity Alignment to culture .
We actively engage with We look to describe the structure of reward clearly to The Policy aligns to our business model and et
shareholders and demonstrate how | both participants and shareholders through effective reflects alignment to our strategy. Measures }f"
their views and perspectives are disclosures. Target documents are issued to executives used to determine awards fink to our strategic
considered in the development of each year to ensure ¢lear understanding of the way priorities,
our Policy. reward wil be delivered and assessed.
Predictability Proportionality Risk
Exampies of the range of outcomes | A significant proportion of the total reward opportunity is The Committee retains ultimate discretion
under the Policy are shown within performance driven, with clear linkage between business | to vary outcomes from formulaic results if H
ihe scenario graphs. metrics and variable reward outcomes. they do not judge this to acourately reflect iﬁ
Tnis demonstrates the way that Metrics for variable awards are key KPl measures underlying business performance.
different performance levels change | for the business and align to delivery of strategy and Malus and Clawback provisions apply to ]
reward outcomes for individuals ang | performance against goals set. all awards and we operate post-cessation .
the associated Impact of changesin [ A sigrificant proportion of variable awards are delivered shareholding requirements to further A
the Company's share priCe< in shares and Executives are required to develop and align executives to |0ng-term business .
maintain a material shareholding in the business 1o fully performance. i
align to the shareholder experience.
A summary of our Policy is provided on the following pages. )
5
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

Executive Directors’ Policy

Purpose

Operation

Base Salary

1 Benefits

| Pension

Incentives

| Shareholding

Attract, refain and Attract, retain Attract, retain Rewards both short and To align Executives to
reward high calibre and reward high and fairly reward | long-term performance. Aligns | Company performance
Executive Directors. calibre Executive high calibre interests of Executive Directors  { through meaningtul
Birectors. Provision Executive with shareholders. levels of mandatory
of opportunities for Directors. shareholding. Post-
connecting with clients, cessation Policy
investors and staff to to align executives
facilitate growth strategy. beyond termination of
employment.
Salary levels (and Competitive benefits Executive Awards are paid in cash Shareholding requirements
subsequent increases) including car allowance | Directors {40%) and deferred shares are operated to align
are set after reviewing or Company car may receive {60%) vesting at detined tuture Executive Lirectors’
various factors including | {including running a defined dates subject to continusd interests with those of
individual and Company | costs), private medical contribution employment. shareholders.
performance, role and | insurance for the pension The plan consists of metrics The current requirement is
FBSDOﬂSibility. internat individual and family, benefit or cash linked 1 annual performance 200% of base salary.
relativities such as the permanent health supplement. anly, and other metrics that

increases awarded

to other employees
and prevailing market
levels for Executive
Directors at companies
of comparable status
and market valug,
considering the total
remuneration package.
Salaries are normally
reviewed annually.
Salary is paid morithly,
and increases are
generally Gfective from
1 January.

insurance and four times
salary life assurance.

Provision of relocation
assistance and any
associated costs or
benefits (including but
not limited to housing
benefits, personal tax
advice and school fees)
upon appointment i/
when applicable. The
Company may also
provide tax equalisation
arrangements.

considar performanee over a
3-year period. At least 50%
of any award will depend on
assessment against longer-
term metrics.

Performance will be measured
against a balanced scorecard,
to support the Company’s
strategy. Performance targets
will be a mix of financial and
strategic targets which may
comprise, but are not limited to,
the following; PBT: key strateqic
projects; people development;
cost management; relative
Gross Profit vs a comparator
group: and EPS. A maximum

of 256% vesting will apply for
threshold performance.

A post-vesting holding period
applies. Directors who have

not reached the shareholding
requirement of 200% of base
salary will be required 1o hold
vested shares from each
tranche of the ESIP for a further
two years post-vesting, except
for sales for the purposes of
nieeling laa abdites on vesting
and exercise.

A minimum of 80% of the
possible award will normally be
linked to financial metrics.

Dividend equivalents accrue
during the vesting pericd

but are only released to the
extent awards vest. Malus and
clawback provisions will apply
to the iotal award, incliding
cash and deferred portions, for
misstatement of performance,
substantial failurs of risk control,
and gross mis¢onduct.

A new post-cessation
sharcholding policy wil
require leavers to hold

2x galary for the first

12 months post cessation
and 1x salary for the
subsequent 12 months.
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Executive Directors’ Policy Table {continued)

Base Salary ‘ Benefits ‘ Pension Incentives

[LERTI I Salaries will not normally Compstitive bensfits | New appointmenits at the Maximum award for
increase by more than RPL+5% | in line with market Executive Director lavel will CEO = 375% of salary.
except increases in excess of practice. receive a cash allowance .
this may be awarded in the in line with the wider UK Meximum award for

case of new Executive Diractors workforce. CFO = 325% of salary.

where it is appropriate to offer
a below market salary initially
g? sizggénm;?;‘;: :Sd :L;?:;S to Directors were frozen at the
performance and e>;p erience level received in 2018 through
in role, o bring to a market to the end of 2022 and then

. aligned to the prevailing rate

competitive salary. Aim for .
market competitive salaries. ;Jrgtmh(a;ngs;;erK ;}{;gforce

Pension contribution levels
for incumbent Executive

Non-Executive Directors’ Policy

The Board Chairman and Non-Executive Directors receive a fee for their services and do not receive any other benefits from the
Group, nor do they participate in any of the bonus or share schemes. The fees recognise the responsibility of the role and the time
commitments required and are not performance related or pensionable. They are paid monthly in cash and there are no other
benefits.

Non-Executive Directors, including the Chairman of the Board, are engaged under letters of appointment and do not have service
contracts with the Company. They are appointed for a fixed term of three years, during which period the appointrnant may be
terminated by either party upon one month's written notice or in accerdance with the Articles of Association of the Company.
There are nG provisions on payment for early termination in the letters of appointment. After the initial three-year term, they may be
reappointed for a further term of three years, subject to annual re-election at Annual General Meetings.

Element | Purpose and Link to Strategy | Operation ‘ Maximum Opportunity
Fees Attract, retain and fairly reward | Reviewed by the Board after recommendation by | The maximum aggregate
high calibre individuals. the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer {and fees for Directors allowed
by the Committes in the case of the Chairman) by the Company’s Articles
considering individual responsibilities, such as of Association is £1m.
Committee Chairmanship, time commitment, Current fee levels are set
general employee pay increases, and prevailing out in the Directors’ Annual

market levels at companies of comparable status | Remuneration Report.
and market value. Fee increases are normally
reviewad annually and are generally effective from
1 January.

Non-Executive Directors also receive
reimbursement of reasonable expenses incurred
in connection with Company business and the
Company may settle any tax incurred in relation
to these.

The Directors’ Remuneration Report has been approved and signed on behalf of the Board of Directors.

Angela Seymour-Jackson
Remuneration Committeg Chair

2 March 2022
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Kaye Maguire,
General Counsel & Company Secretary
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The Directors present their Report together with
the consalidated financial staterments for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

Certain information that fuifils the reguirements

of the Directors' Report can be found elsewhere
in this docurnent as noted in the table opposite.
This information is incorporated into this Directers
Report by reference. Pages 79 t0 92, 117 to 120
and 160 aiso comprise the Directors” Report for
the year ended 31 Decernber 2021,

Directors

The Directors who served throughout the year
were David | owden, Patrick De Smedt. Steve
Ingham, Michelle Healy, Kelvin Stagg, Sylvia
Metayer, Angela Seymour-Jackson and Ben
Stevens. Simon Boddie retired from the Board
on 1 September 2021 having served nine years.

Results and dividends

The results for the year are set out in the
Consolidated Income Statement on page 127.
An analysis of revenue, prefit and nat assets by
region is shown in Note 2 on pages 137 to 138.

As a result of the global pandernic, the Board
suspended the Company’s dividend policy

in 2020. Improvements in trading conditions
enabled the Board to reinstate dividends and

an interim dividend for 2021 of 4.70 pence

per Ordinary share was paid on 13 October
2021 and a special dividend of 28.71 pence per
Ordinary share was also paid on 13 Octcber
2021,

The Directors recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021
of 10.30p per Ordinary share on 17 June 2022
to shareholders on the register of members on
20 May 2022. If approved by shareholders at
the Annual General Meeting, this will result in a
total ordinary dividend for the ysar of 15.0p per
Ordinary share (2020:Nif). This, together with
the payment of the special dividend gives a total
dividend for the year of 41.71 pence (2020: Nil).

Share capital

As at 31 December 2021 the Company's
issued capital cornprised a single class of
328,618,744 Ordinary shares of 1p each,
totalling £3,286,187.44. At the Annual General
Meeting held on 3 June 2021 the sharsholders
authorised the Company to purchase up to a
raxirum of 10% of the issued share capital
in the market. No shares were repurchased
during the year. Shareholders also authorised
the Directors to allot shares up to an aggregate
nominal value of £1,095,395.91. Further
resclutions in respect of these matters will be
put to sharehalders at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting.



Stakeholders and
employment policy and
employee involvement

Pages 61 to 66 of the Strategic Report
and the pages to which it refers,
comprises the Company’s section
172({1} statement together with the
statements as to how the Directors
have engaged with employees and
had regard to their interests and how
the Directors have had regard tc the
Company's business relationships with
customers, suppliers and other external
stakeholders.

The Group continues to give full and
fair consideration to applications

for employmecnt made by disabled
perscns, having regard to their
respective aptitudes and abilities. The
Group's employment policy includes
the continued employmenit of those
who may become disabled during
their employment, and the provision of
training and career development

and promotion.

The Directors have also engaged with
employees and taken their interests into
account in respect of decision making.
The Group is committed to employee
invalvement throughout the business.
Employeas are kept well informed of the
performance and strategy of the Group
through personal video briefings, regular
cnline interactive briefings, Yammer (the
Group's internal sccial collaboration
site), emails and other communications

Substantial shareholders

from the Chief Executive Officer and
members of the Executive Board.
Further details of employment policies
and employee involvement can be
found in the Strategic Report on pages
27 to 38.

Directors’ indemnities

The Company purchased and
maintained Directors’ and Officers’
Liability Insurance throughout the period
under review, which gives appropriate
cover for legat actions brought against
the Directors. The Company granted
separate indemnities to the Directors to
cover liabllities arising from third parties.
The extent of the indemnities provided
is as pennilled under law.

Financial instruments and
financial risk management

Details of the Group's use of financial
instruments, including financial risk
managerment objectives and policies of
the Group, and exposure of the Group
to certain financial risks can be found in
Note 22 on pages 154 to 168.

Significant agreements
containing change of control
provisions

The Company has an invoice
discounting facility that terminates

on a change of contrel, with prepaid
amounts being repayabie.

Directors’ and employees' contracts
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do not normally provide for payment for
loss of office or employment as a result
of a change of control. However, the
Company operates several share and
share option schermes for the benefit of
its Executive Directors and employees,
the rules of which contain provisions
which may cause opticns and share
awards granted to vest on a change

of control.

Political contributions

No political cantributions were made
during the year. The Company has a
policy of not making political donations
to political organisations or independent
electicn candidates anywhere in the
world as detned by the Political Parties,
Election and Referendums Act 2000.

Post balance sheet events

There have been no significant post
balance sheet events since
31 December 2021,

Listing Rule 9.8.4

There is no information requirad to be
disclosed under Listing Rule 9.8.4.

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting of the
Company will be held on 31 May 2022.
The nctice of meeting will be made
available on the Company’s website
www_page.com and posted separately
to shareholders that have requested
this.

At 31 December 2021 the Company had been notified, in accordance with the FCA Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Sules,
of the undermentioned noted interests in its Ordinary share capital. The percentage of voting rights shown below are as at the date

of netification.

Sharehelder { No. of Ordinary shares % of voting rights
Liontrust Investment Partners LLLP 36,137,014 11.00%

Cedar Rock Capital Limited 16,368,717 4.98%

Heronbridge Investment Management LLP 16,303,888 4.96%

Frankiin Templeton Institutional LLC 16,104,830 4.93%

The Capital Group Companies, Inc 14,647,804 4,46%

Sanne Fiduciary Services Ltd as Trustee of the Michael Page Employses’ Benefit Trust 13,005,376 3.96%

Since the date of disclosure, the above shareholdings may have changed.
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Directors’ Report

Articles of Association summary

The foliowing summarises certain
provisions of the Company's Articles of
Association {as adopted on 3 June 2021}
and applicable English Law (including
the Companies Act 2008 (the “Act"), as
amended} as required by applicable law
and regulation.

Share capital and rights
attaching to shares

The Company has one ¢class of share in
issue being 328,618,774 Qrdinary shares
with a nominal value of one pence each.
No shares are held in treasury and there
are no persons holding shares that carry
special rights with regard to the control of
the Company.

The Articles of Association provide

that subject to any rights or restrictions
attached to any shares, on a show of
hands every member and every duly
appointed proxy present shall have one
vote. Every corporate representative
present who has besn duly authorised by
a corporation has the same voting rights
as the corporation would be entitled to.
On a poll every member present in person
or by a duly appointad proxy or corporate
representative shall have one vote for
every share of which he is a holder or in
respect of which his appointment as proxy
or corporate representative has been
made. No member shall be entitied to
vole in respect of any share held by him

if any call or other sum payable by him to
the Company remains unpaid.

Any form of proxy sent by the
shareholders to the Company in relation to
any general meeting must be delivered 1o
the Company {via its registrars), whether
in written or electronic form, not less

than 48 hours before the time appointed
for holding the mesting or adjourned
mesting at which the person named in the
appointment propcses 1o vote.

Holders of the Company’s Crdinary
shares may by ordinary resalution dectara
dividends but no such dividend shail
exceed the amount recommended by
the Directors. If, in the opinicn of the
Directors, the profits of the Company
available for distribution justify such
payments, the Directors may, from time
to time, pay interim dividends on the
shares of such amounts and on such
dates and in respect of such periods as
thay think fit. The profits of the Company
available for distribution and resolved te
be distributed shall be apportioned and
paid proportionatsly 10 the arnounts paid
up on the shares during any portion of the
period in respect of which the dividend is

paid. The shareholders may, at a general
meeting of the Company declaring a
dividend upon the recommendation of the
Directors, direct that it shall be satisfied
wholly or partly by the distribution of
specific assets.

If the Company is wound up, the lquidator
can, with the sanction of a special
resolution passed by the sharehclders
and any other sanction required by law,
divide among the shareholders all or any
part of the assets of the Company and
he/she can value assets and determine
how the division shall be carried out as
hetween the shareholders or different
classes of shareholders. The liquidator
can also, with the same sanction, transfer
the whole or any part of the assets to
trustees upon such trusts for the benefit
of the shareholders. No shareholder will
be compelied to accept assets which are
subject to a liability.

Limitations on the transfer
of shares

Any mermber may transfer all or any of his
shares in certificated form by instrument
of transfer in the usual common form or
in any other farm which the Directors
may approva.

Where any class of shares is for the time
being a participating security, title to
shares of that class which are recorded
as being held in uncertificated form,
may be transferred (to not mors than
four transferees) by the refevant system
concerned.

The Directors may in their absolute
discretion refuse to register any transfer
of shares (being shares which are not
fully paid or on which the Company has a
lien), provided that if the share is listed on
the Official List of the Financial Conduct
Authority such refusal does not prevent
dealings in the shares from taking place
on an open and proper basis.

The Directors may afso refuse to register
a transfer of shares (whether fully paid or
not) unless the transfer instrument:

{a) 15 lodged at the registered office, or
such other place as the Directers may
appoint, accompanied by the relevant
share certificate(s);

() is in respect of only one class of share;
and

(c) is in favour of not more than four
transferees.

The Directors of the Company may
refuse to register the transfer of a share
in uncertificated form o a person who

is to hold it thereafter in certificated

form in any case where the Company is
entitled 1o refuse (or is excepted frem the
requirements) under the Uncertificated
Securities Regulations 2001 to register
the transfer.

English law treats those persons who hold
the shares and are neither UK residents
nor nationals in the same way as UK
residents or naticnals, They are free to
own, vote on and transfer any shares

they hold.

Powers of the Directors

Directors may exercise all the powers of
the Company, subject to the provisions

of the Articles of Association, statutory
restrictions and any authorisation or
directions given by resolution, including
powers relating to the issue and/or buying
back of shares by the Company.

Director’s appointment,
retirement and removal

Subject to the provisions of the Articles of
Association, a Director may be appointed
by ordinary resoiution.

In addition, the Directors may appaint a
person who is wiling to act as a Director,
and is permitted by law to do sq, to

be a Director, either to fill a vacancy or
as an additional Director. A Director so
appointed shall retire at the next Annual
General Mesting notice of which is first
given after his appointment and shall then
be eligible for reappointment.

At each Annual General Meeting all
Directors at the time the notice of that
Annual General Meeting is given shall
retire from office and be subject to re-
election by the sharsholders.

In addition to any power of removal under
the Act, the Company may, by special
resolution, remove a Director before the
expiration of his periad of office.

A Director shall cease to hold office in
certain circumstances specified in the
Company's Articles of Association.

Amendments to the Articles
of Association

Subject to the Act, the Articles ot
Association of the Cornpany can be
altered by special resolution cf the
members.

By order of the Board

Kaye Maguire

General Counsel & Company Secrelary
2 March 2022



Directors’ Statements of Responsibility

The Directors are responsible for
preparing the Annual Report and

the Group financial statements in
accordance with applicable law

and regulations. Detailed below are
statements made by the Directors

in relation tc their responsibilities,
disclosure of information to the
Company’s auditor and going concern.

1. Financial Statements and
accounting records

Company law of England and Wales
requires the Directors to prepare
financial statements for each financial
year. Under that law the Directors have
elected to prepare the Group and
parent company financial statements
in accordance with UK-adopted
international accounting standards
(‘IFRSs"). Under company law the
Directors must not approve the Group
financial statements uniess they are
satisfied that they give a true and fair
view cf the state of affairs of the Group
and the Company and of the profit or
loss of the Group and the Company for
that period.

In preparing these financial statements
the Directors are requirad te:

s seclect suitable accounting
policies in accordance with 1AS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors
and then apply them consistently;

*« make judgements and accounting
estimates that are reasonable and
prudent;

+ present information, including
accounting policies, in a manner
that provides relevant, reliable,
comparable and understandable
information;

* provide additional disclosures
whan compliance with the
specific requiremeants in IFRSs
is insufficient to enable users
to understand the impact of
narticular transactions, othar
events and conditions on the
Group’s financial position and
financial performancs;

*  inrespect of the Group financial
statements, state wheather UK-
adopted international accounting
standards, have been followed,
subject to any materiai departures

disclosed and explained in the
financial statements;

s inrespect of the parent company
financial statements, state
whether UK-adopted international
accounting standards have
been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed
and explained in the financial
statements; and

s prepare the financial statements
on the going concern basis unless
it is appropriate 10 presume that
the Company and/or the Group
will not continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for
keeping adeguate accounting

records that are sufficient to show

and explain the Company's and
Group's transactions and disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Company and
the Group and enable them to ensure
that the Company and the Greup
financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets
of the Group and parent company and
Group and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and datection
of fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations,
the Directors are alsc responsible for
preparing a Strategic Report, Directars’
Repoert, Directors’ Remuneration
Report and Corporate Governance
Report that comply with that law and
those regulations.

The Directors are responsible for
the raintenance and integrity of the
corporate and financial infermation
included on the Company’s website.

2. Directors’ Responsibility
Statement

The Diractors confirm, to the best of
their knowledge:

= that the consohdated financial
statements, prepared in
accordance with UK-adopted
international accounting
standards, give a true and fair
view of the assets, liabilities,
financial pesition and profit of the
parent company and undertakings
included in the consolidation taken
as a whole; and
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* that the Annual Report, including
the Strategic Report, includes a
fair review of the development
and performance of the business
and the position cf the Company
and undertakings included in the
consolidation taken as a whole,
together with a description of the
pringipal risks and uncertainties
that they face

3. Disclosure of information
to the Auditor

Having made the reguisite enqguiries,
so far as the Directors are aware as at
the date of this Statement, there is no
relevant audit informaticon {as defined
by section 418(3) of the Companies
Act 2006) of which the Company's
auditor is unaware and the Directors
have taken all the steps they ought

to have taken as a Director to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the
Cormpany’s auditor is aware of that
information.

Kelvin Stagg
Chief Financial Officer
2 March 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of PageGroup plc

Opinion

tn our opinion:

= PageGroup plc's group financial statements and parent company financial statements (the “financial statements”} give a trus and
fair view of the state of the group's and of the parent company's affairs as at 31 December 2021 and of the group’s profit for the

year then ended;

+ the group financial statements have been properly nrepared in accordance with UK adopted internaticnal accounting standards;

= the parent company financial statements have bean properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted international accounting
standards as applied in accordance with section 408 of the Companies Act 2006; and

+ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2008.

We have audited the financial statements of PageGroup plc (the ‘parent company'} and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the year

ended 31 December 2021 which comprise:

Group
Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2021

Parent company
Balance sheet as at 31 December 2021

Consolidated income statement for the year then ended

Statement of changes in equity for the year then ended

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended

Staterment of cash flows for the year then ended

Consolidated statement of changes in eguity for the year then ended

Related notes 1 to 25 to the financial statements including a
summary of significant accounting policies

Congolidated staternent of cash flows for the year then ended

significant accounting policies

Related notes 1 to 25 to the financial statements, including a surmmary of

The financial reporting framework that
has been applied in their preparation

is applicable law and UK adopted
internaticnal accounting standards and
as regards the parent company financial
statements, as applied in accordance
with section 408 of the Companies Act
2008.

Basis for opinion

We conducted cur audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing
(UK} {iISAs {UK)) and applicable law.
Qur responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the
Auditor's responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of
our report. We believe that the audit
evidence we have cbtained is sufficient
and appropriate ta provide a basis for
our opinion

Independence

We are independent of the group and
parent in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the financial statements in
the UK, including the FRC's Ethical
Standard as applied to listed public
interest entities, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements.

The nen-audit services prohibited by
the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not
provided to the group or the parent
company and we remain independent

of the group and the parent company in
conducting the audit.

Conclusions relating to going
concern

in auditing the financial statements,

we have concluded that the directors’
use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the
financial staternents is appropriate. Our
evaluation of the directors’ assessmaent
of the group and parent company’s
ability to continue to adept the going
concern basis of accounting included:

¢ Confirming our understanding
of the director’s going concermn
assessment process, performed
our own related risk assessment,
and engaged with management
early to ensure all key factors were
considered in their assessment.

s Assessing the appropriateness
of the duration of the golng
concern assessment period to 31
March 2023 and considering the
existence of any significant events
or conditions beyond this period
based on our knowledge arising
from other arsas of the audit.

*  Reviewing borrowing facilities 1o
confirm both their availability to the
Group, alongside the consideration
of the key covenants on such
facifities.

* Testing the assessment for clerical
accuracy.

Assessing whether assumptions
made were reascnable, including
testing key assumptions in the
forecasts by reference to historical
trends, indapendent sector
forecasts and other information
where available. Key assumptions
include those over revenue, gross
profit and cash.

Considering the appropriateness
of management’s base case and
downside scenarios, to understand
how severe conditions would
have to be to breach liquidity

and whether the reduction in
profitability required has no

more than a remote possibility

of occurring. Management
considered a downside scenario
to be a reduction in gross profit of
25% which mirrors the results of
2020.

Performing independent sensitivity
analysis on management's
assumptions including applying
incremental adverse cashflow
sensitivities. Thase sensitivities
included the impact of certain
severe but plausible scenarios,
evaluated as part of management’s
work on the Group’s long term
viability, materialising within the
going concern period; and
Reviewing the appropriateness

of the Group's geing concern
discicsures included in the Annual
Report.
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Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt an the group and parent company's ability to continue as a going concern for a

period to 31 March 2023.

In relation to the group and parent conpany's reporling on how they have apptied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have
nothing materiaf to add or draw attention to in relation to the directars’ statement in the financial statements abaut whether the
directors considered it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections
of this report. However, bacause not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the
group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Overview of our audit approach

Audit scope

* We performed an audit of the complete financial information of 7 components, audit procedures on specific balances for a
further @ compenents and other procedures on the remaining 31 components.

» The components where we performed full or specific audit procedures accounted for 96% of Profit before tax, 80% of
Revenue and B3% of Total assets.

LGTETTNELE M ¢ Revenue recognition for permanent and temporary placements.

Materiality

¢ Overall group materiality of £8.3m which represents 5% of Profit before tax.

An overview of the scope
of the parent company and
group audits

Tailoring the scope

Cur assessment cf audit risk, our
evaluation of materiality and our
allocation of perfermance materiality
datermine our audit scope for each
company within the Group. Taken
together, this enables us to form an
opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We take intc account
size, risk profile, the organisation of
the group and effectiveness of group-
wide controis, changes in the business
environment and other factors such
as regent internal audit results when
assessing the level of werk to be
performed at each compecnent.

In assessing the risk of material
misstatement to the Group financial
statements, and to ensure we had
adequate guantitative coverage of
significant accounts in the financial
statements, of the 47 reporting
components of the Group, we selected

16 components covering entities within
the United Kingdom, France, Germany,
the United States, China, Hong Kong,
Spain, italy, Holland, Australia, Belgium,
Brazil, Mexico, Switzerland and Japan
which represent the principal businass
units within the Group.

Full scope components - Of the 16
components selected, we performad
an audit of the complete financial
information of 7 componeants (“full
scope components”) which were
selected based on their size or risk
characteristics.

Specific scope components - For the
remaining 9 components {“specific
scope components”), we performed
audit procedures on specific accounts
within that component that we
considered had the potential for the
greatest impact on the significant
accounts in the financial statements
gither because of the size of these
accounts or their risk profile, in order to
ensure that, at the overall Group level,
we reduced and appropriately covered
the residual risk of error. Depending on

the component or type of procedures,
these procedures were undertaken
by the Primary audit team or separate
component audit team. The audit
scope of these components may not
have included testing of all significant
accounts of the component but will
have contributed to the coverage of
significant accounts tested for the
Group.

The remaining 31 components where
we did not perform full audit procedures
together represent 4% of the Group
profit before tax, none are individually
greater than 2% of the Group’s profit
before tax.

For these components, we parformed
other procedures, including analytical
review procedures on a country-
by-country basis, obtaining an
understanaing of the Group wide entity
level controls over all compenents and
assessing the results of the Internal
Audlit reviews to identify any potential
risks of material misstatement to the
Group financial statements.

Revenue Fuli scope components ' 57% 58%
Specific scope components® 33% 24%
Total 90% 82%
Profit before tax Fult scope components 67% 99%
Specific scope components 29% (14%)
Total 96% 85%
Total assets Full scope components? 1% 59%
Specific scope components 12% 17%
Total 83% 76%

1. The Group audt risk N relation to revenue recognition was subject to audit procedures at each of the full and specific scape locations with significant revenue streams
fpeing 7 full scope components 9 specific scope compenents).

2. We tested the nght-of-use asset in respect of IFRS 16 and included this within the total assets coverage in the current year
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The charts below illustrate the coverage obtained from the work performed by our

audit teams.

Revenue

before
Tax

Profit

Total
Assets

M Full Scope M Specific Scope ¥ Cther procedures

Changes from the prior year

We considered the growth in emergding
markets including Brazil, Mexico, Japan
and Switzerland and included these
markets as specific scope for FY21, which
increased our coverage.

Involvement with component
teams

In establishing our overall approach

to the Group audit, we determined

the type of work that needed to be
undertaken at each of the components
by us, as the primary audit engagement
team, or by component auditors

from other EY global network firms
operating under our instruction. Of the
7 full scope components and 8 specific
scoOpe components, audit proceduras
were performed on 1 and 4 of these
respectively, directly by the primary audit
team. For & full scope components and
5 specific scope components where

the work was performed by component
auditors, we determined the appropriate
level of involvement to enable us to
determine that sufficient audit evidence
had been obtained as a basis for our
opinion on the Group financial statements
as a wholg.

Auditing standards require us to be
sufficiently involved in the work of the
componant teams throughout the group
audit. in *normal” circumstances, one of
the primary methods by which we execute
our invelvement is through site visits where
we focus primarily on the components
significant by size and/or wheare issues
have been identified or where there have
been important changes since the prior
year. Our visits incorporated a combination
of site visits, review of the component
team’s audit work and meeting with
business unit management.

Since March 2020, the fast-changing
environment has created muttiple
challenges for the group audit team and
our involvernent with our compenent
teams, given the widespread effects of
COVID-19, the threat of new variants in

many parts of the world, and the sustained
uncertainty over travel restrictions/other
government measures being imposed.

Consequently, the planned site visits

which were due to take place during

the course of the FY21 audit had to

be adjusted and the Group audit team
pursued a programme of component team
involvement which did not rely on physical
site visits, consisient with prior year.
instead, the Group audit tearn performed
virtual site visits through the use of video or
teleconferencing faciiities, which included a
combination of the following:

e Attending video conferences for
key component team mesetings,
including key discussions with local
managament

*  Setting regular touch point calls with
component teams on a timely basis

¢ Holding discussions with the
component team while remotely
reviswing the component tearm’s
workpapers in key areas. Qur review
of audit workpapers was facilitated by
the EY elgctronic audit file platform,
screen sharing or the provision of
copigs of workpapers direct to the
Group audit team, depending on
what is permitted by the laws and
reguiations in each jurisdiction.

The virtual meetings involved discussing
the audit approach with the component
teams and any issues arising from their
work, reviewing key audit working papers
on risk areas, The Senior Statutory
Auditor in addition to other members

of the Primary audit team led video
conference calls with all the component
teams to discuss key audit procedures
aver significant risks and key judgements.
The independent partner had calls with
all full scope component audit partners.
The Group audit teamn led 3 regicnal
audit clesing meetings held via video
conference with regional management
and the Group CFO, at which key areas
of lecal judgement and audit findings were
discussed.

For all components, the year-end review of

relevant audit work papers was facilitated
by the EY electronic audit file platform.

The primary team interacted regularly
with the component tearns where
appropriate during various stages of the
audit, reviewed relevant working papers
and were responsible for the scope and
direction of the audit process. This,
together with the additional procedures
performed at Group level, gave us
appropriate evidence for our opinion on
the Group financial statements.,

Climate change

There has been increasing interest from
stakeholders as to how climate change
will impact PageGroup plc. Given the
nature of the business in a non-carhon
intensive industry, where remote working
has become typical, management do not
consider there to be a material impact
from climate change. The Group has
detarmined that the most significant
future impacts from climate change on
its operations will be from severe weather
evants impacting office-based lecations,
however, with a predeminantly leased
property footprint the Group considers
there to be little risk of significant business
disruption or significant financial impacts
from climate change. Furthermore, the
transition risks are not considered by
management to be material. These
conclusions are explainad on pages

40 to 42 in the required Task Force for
Climate related Financial Disclosures

and on pages 53 to 80 in the principal
risks and uncertainties, which form part
of the “Other information,” rather than
the audited financial statemerits. Cur
procedures on these disclosures thersfore
consisted solely of considering whether
they are materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the course of the audit

or gtherwise appear to be materially
migstated.

As explained in the Significant accounting
policies, governmental and socistal
responses te climate change risks are still
daveloping, and are interdepandent upon
each other, and consequently financial
statements cannct capture all pessible
future outcomes as these are not yet
known. The degree of certainty of these
changes may alsc mean that they cannot
be taken into account when determining
asset and liability vaiuations and the
timing of future cash flows under the
requiremnents of UK adopted international
accounting standards.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in cur professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 9
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material migstatement {whether or not due to ke
fraud) that we identified. Thase matters includod those which had thie greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of "
resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 3}'}
of the financial statements as a whole, and in our gpinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. *
:;?:,
Key observations
communicated to the Audit -
QOur response to the risk Committee ‘E;
Reveruie recognition for permanent and We performed the following full and specific scope audit We concluded that revenue
temporary placements - Refer to the Audit procedures over this risk area at 15 components, which coverad recognised for permanent
Commitiee Report (Page 90); Accounting 90% of the revenue balance: and temporary placements
policies (page 131); and Note 2 of the « For permanert and temporary revenue streams, we idertified is corectly recorded in
Consolidated Financlal Statements and assessed the process and design of key controls to accordance with the Group’s e
{page 127). validate that revenue recognition was appropriate anct appled in | fevenue recognition criteria
The Group has reported persmanent accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. and UK adopted intemational
placement revenue of £682.2 million (20201 | & Foy all 15 components, we used data analytics covering i accounting standards, O
£441.5 million) and temporary placement revenue transactions in the year to test the correlation between -]
revenue of £961.% million (2020; £863.3 revenue, accounts receivabie and cash. a
million). ’
liory) o ¢ Performed period-end cut off testing for a sample of revenue 9|
For permanent placements there is a risk transactions to assess whether ali revenue recognition criteria w
around the timing of revenue recognition as for the permanent and temporary placements had been met and g
revenue is recognised when customer and that revenue had been recogrised in the correct period.
candidate agresment is achieved, which o
) * Compared the level of permanent placement revenue reversals o
may be several months in advance of the . <
. over the last 12 months, which ocour as a result of non-
start of employment. Conseqguertly, there is . . ®
a risk that: completion of contractual placements, to the provision recordad -
against accrued income and trade receivables to determine if the g
* recognition occurs before revenue assumptions used to calculate the provision were appropriate. =
recognition criteria have been met; We also re-performed the provision calculation to confirm its 8

* period end cut-off is performed
incorrectly; or

* management judgement is incorrectly
applied in estimating the lovel of provision
required for potential revenue reversals
when placemants arc not taken up as
agreed.

Temporary piacement revenue is recognised

when the customer has approved the

timesheet. Consequently, there is a risk that:

= ravenue is recognised before an approved
timesheet has been submitted; or

= that period end cut-off is performed
incomrectiy.

For both permanent and temporary
placements we have identified the risk

of manipulation of revenue through
management initiated or top-side journals.

accuracy.

Performed testing of cash collections made post year-end

for a sample of balances to validate the existence of accrued

revenuée and trade receivable balances. For those transactions

not collected in cash we verified documents to check al revenue
recognition criteria had been met.

» To address the risk of management override, we performed
journal entry testing over revenue, focusing on management-
initiated entries and top-side adjustments specifically around
year erd.

For &l other components which represent 10% of the revenue
balance:

* We performed audit procedures centrally on a country-by-
country basis to address the rigk of an undetected material
error cccurring in all other components representing 10% of the
Group's revenue. These comprised analytical review of revenue
and gross profit, and ratio analysis of key performance indicators
including revenue and gross profit per fee earner.

Our application of materiality

We apply the concept of materiality
in planning and performing the audit,
in evaluating the effect of identified
misstaterments on the audit and in
forming our audit opinion.

Materiality

The magnitude of an omission or
misstatement that, individually or in

the aggregate, could reascnably be
expected to influence the economic
decisions of the users of the financial
statements. Materiality provides a basis
for determining the nature and extent of
our audit procedures.

We determined materiality for the Group

to be £8.3 million (2020: £5.0 million), company of the Group. The materiality
which is 5% of Group profit before tax was capped at the Group allocated
{(2020: 5% of normalised profit before materiality of £0.9 milicn (2020:

tax). This approach is a change from £0.8million).

the prior year whersby normalised profit
before tax was used due tc the volatility
in results as a result of the COVID-18
pandemic. Results have stabilised for
2021 and reflect a more typical level of

During the course of our audit, we
reassessed initial materiality and final
materiality used actual rasults in the
determination of our finai materiality.

performance of the Group consistent Performance materiality

with years prior to 2020,

The application of materiality at the

We determined materiality for the Parent
Company to be £5.7 million (2020: £6.7
million), which is 0.5% cf total assets
(2020: 0.5% of total assets). We believe
that total assets is an appropriate basis
to determine materiality given the nature

: materiality.
of the Parent company as the holding

individual account or balance level. it
is set at an amount to reduce to an
appropriately low level the probability
that the aggregate of uncorrected and
undetected misstaternents exceeds

On the basis of cur risk assessments,
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together with our assessment of the
Group’s overall control environment,

our judgement was that performance
materiality was 75% (2020: 75%) of

our planning materiality, namely £6.2
million (2020: £3.8 millicn). We have set
performance materiality at this percentage
due to lower likelihood of misstatemenits
based on prior periods’ experience.

Audit work at component locations for the
purpose of obtaining audit coverage over
significant financial statement accounts

is undertaken based on a percentage

of total performance materiality. The
performance materiality set for each
component is based on the relative scale
and risk of the component to the Group
as a whole and our assessment of the risk
of misstatement at that component. In
the current year, the range of performance
materiality allocated to components was
£0.9 miflion to £2.1 milion {2020: £0.8
million to £2.3 million).

Reporting threshold

An amount below which identified
misstatements are considered as being
Clearly trivial,

We agreed with the Audit Committee that
we would report to them all uncorrected
audit differences in excess of £0.4 million
(2020: £0.25 million), which is set at

5% of planning materiality, as well as
differences below that threshold that,

in our view, warranted reporting on
gualitative grounds.

We evaluate any uncorrected
misstatements against both the
quantitative measures of materiality
discussed above and in light of other
ralevant quafitative considerations in
forming cur opinien.

Other information

The other information comprises the
information included in the annual repert
set out on pages 1 to 120, including

the reports included within the Strategic
review and Corporate Governance, other
than the financial statements and our
auditor's report thergon. The directors
are responsible for the other information
contained within the annual report.

Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information

and, except to the extent ctherwise
explicitly stated i this report, we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion
theraon.

Qur responsibility is te read the other
information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information iz materially
inconsistent with the financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the course
of tha audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If we identify such

nts 2021

material incensistencies or apparent
material misstatements, we are required
to determine whether this gives rise to

a material misstatemant in the financial
statements themseives. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of
the other information, we are required to
report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters
prescribed by the Companies
Act 2006

In our apinion, the part of the directors’
remuneration report to be audited has

been properly prepared in accordance
with the Companies Act 2006.

in our opinion, based on the work
undertaken in the course of the audit:

¢ the information given in the strategic
report and the directors’ report
for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared
is consistent with the financial
statements; and

« the strategic report and the directors’
report have been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

Matters on which we are
required to report by exception

in the light of the knowledge and
understanding of the group and the
parent company and its environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we
have not identified material misstatements
in the strategic: report or the directors’
repott.

We have nothing to report in respect of

the following matters in relation to which

the Companies Act 2006 requires us to

raport 1o you if, in our opinion:

*  adequate accounting records
have not been kept by the parent
company, or returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or

e tha parent company financial
staternents and the part of the
Directors' Remuneration Report to be
audited are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns; or

* certain disclosures of directors’
remuneration specifled by law are not
made; or

* we have not received all the
information and explanations we

require for our audit

Corporate Governance
Statement

We have reviewed the directors’

staterment in relation to going concern,
longer-term viabflity and that part of the
Corporate Governance Staterment relating
to the group and company’s compliance
with the provisions of the UK Corporate
Governance Code specified for our review
oy the Listing Rules.

Based on the work undertaken as part of
our audit, we have concluded that each
of the following elements of the Corporate
Governance Statement is materially
consistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained during the audit:

«  Directors' statement with regards to
the appropriateness of adopting the
going concern basis of accounting
and any material uncertainties
identified set out on page 60;

= Directors’ explanation as to its
assessment of the company’s
prospects, the period this assessment
covers and why the peried is
appropriate set out on page 6C;

+  Director’s statement on whether it
has a reasonable expectation that
the group wil be able to continue in
operation and meets its liabilities set
out on page 60,

» Directors’ statement on fair, balanced
and understandable set cut on
page 84;

*  Board's confirmaticn that it has
carried out a robust assessment of
the emerging and principal risks set
out on page 91;

¢ The section of the annual report that
describes the review of effectiveness
of risk management and internal
control systems set out on page 91;
and;

*  The section describing the work
of the audit committee set out on
page 88,

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’
responstilities statement set out 6n page
120, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements
and for being satisfied that they give a
true and fair view, and for such internal
control as the directors determing is
necessary to enable the preparation of
financial staternents that are free from
material misstaternent, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the
directers are responsible for assessing

the group and parent company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going
cencemn and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend toc liquidate the group or the
parent company or {0 cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the financial
statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from
material migstaterment, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud

or error and are considered material

if, individually or in the aggregate,

they could reasonably be expected

to influence the economic decisions

of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

Explanation as to what extent
the audit was considered
capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud

Irreqgularities, including fraud, are
instances of non-compliance with laws
and reguiations. We design procedures
in line with our responsibilities, outlined
above, to detect irregularities, including
fraud. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatemnent due to fraud is
higher than the risk of not detecting
ona resulting from error, as fraud may
invclve deliberate concealment by,

for example, forgery or intentional
misrepresentations, or through
collusion. The extent to which cur
procedures are capable of detacting
irregularitias, including fraud is detailed
below.

However, the primary responsibility
for the prevention and detection of
fraud rests with both those charged
with governance of the company and
managemant.

* We obtained an understanding
of the legal and regulatory
frameworks that are applicable
to the group and determined that
the most significant are those that
relate to the reporting framework
{UK adepted international
accounting standards, the
Companies Act 2006 and UK
Corporate Governance Code)
and the relevant tax compliance
ragulations in the jurisdictions in
which the Group operates and
the EU General Data Protection
Regulation (GDPR}. There are no
significant, industry specific laws or
regulations that we considered in
determining our approach.

We understood how the

Group is complying with those
frameworks by making enguiries
of management, internal audit,
those responsible for legal and
compliance procedures and

the company secretary. We
corroborated our enquiries through
our review of board minutes and
papers provided to the Audit
Committes, corraspondence
received from regulatory bodies
and attendance at all meetings

of the Audit Committee, as well

as consideration of the results of
our audit procedures across the
Group. Our assessment included:
incorporating data analytics across
our audit approach, journal entry
testing with a focus on manual
consolidation journals and journals
meeting our defined risk criteria
based on our understanding of
the business; enquiries of the lagal
counsel, Group management,
internal audit and all full and
specific scope management;
review of Board and Audit
Committee reporting; and focused
testing as referred to in the key
audit matters section above.

We assessed the susceptibility of
the group's financial statements to
material misstatement, including
how fraud might cccur by meeting
with management from various
parts of the business including
management and finance teams
of the local markets where
appropriate, Head Office, the
Audit Committee, the internal
audit function, the Group legal
function and individuals in the fraud
and compliance department to
understand where it considsred
there was susceptibility to fraud;
and assessing whistieblowing
incidences for those with a
potential financial reperting impact.
We also considered performance
targets and their propensity to
influence management to manage
earnings.

We considered the programmes
and controls that the Group has
established to address risks
identified, ar that otherwise
prevent, deter and detect fraud;
and how senior management
monitors those programmes

and controls. Where risk was
considered as higher, we
performed audit procedures to
address each identified fraud risk.
.Based on this understanding we
designed our audit procedures to
identify non-compliance with such
laws and reguiations that could
give rise to a material misstatement

in the financial statements,
including instructions to full and
specific scope component teams.
Our procedures included enquires
of Group management, legal
counsel and Internal Audit; journal
entry testing, with a focus on
management initiated or top-side
adjustments identified based cn
characteristics of journal posting
date and times, account pairings,
specific key words and phrases
derived from forensic investigations
experience; and consideration of
any specific bribery, corruption or
other regulatory risk.

A further description of our
responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements is located on

the Financial Reporting Council's
website at https://www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description
forms part of our auditor's report.

Other matters we are
required to address

+  Following the recommendation
from the audit committee, we
wera appointed by the company
in June 2021 to audit the financial
statements for the year ending
31 December 2021 and
subsequent financial periods.

The period of total uninterrupted
engagement including previous
renewals and reappointments is
11 years, covering the years
enciing 31 December 2011 to
2021,

»  The audit opinion is consistent with
the additional report to the audit
committee.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the
company's members, as a body, in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16
of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit
work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the company's members
those matters we are required to state
to them in an auditor’s report and for
no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other
than the company and the company’s
members as a body, for our audit work,
for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

Joe Yglesia (Senior statutory auditor)

for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP
Statutory Auditor

London
3 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Note £'000 £'000
Revenue 2 1,843,740 1,304,791
Cost of sales [766,020) (694,542
Gross profit 2 877,720 610,249
Administrative expenses 1709,210) (593,221)
Operating profit 2 168,510 17,028
Financial income 5 230 588
Financial expenses 5 e, (2,150) (2,072
Profit before tax 2 166,645 15,544
Income tax expense [ (48,%9} {21,286)
Profit/(loss) for the year 3 118,356 (6,742)
Attributable to: ]
Owners of the parent 118,356 5,742)
Earnings per share .
Basic earnings per shara (pence) 9 37.2 (1.8)
Diluted sarnings per share {pence) 9 37.0 (1.8)
The ahove results relate to continuing operations.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 Decamber 2021
2021 2020
£'000 £000
Profit/(loss) for the year 118,356 (5,742)
Other comprehensive income/{loss) for the year
Items that may subseguently be reciassified to profi and loss:
Currency translation differences {8,423) 5945
Total comprehensive income for the year 109,933 203
Attributed to:
Owners of the parent 109,933 203
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CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEETS
As at 31 December 2021 £
Group Company ,’,
Re-presented o
2021 2020 2021 2020 "
Note £':00C £'000 £000 £000 =
Non-current assets o ?
Property, plant and equipment 10 ‘ 24,836 26,40 - - »g‘
Right-of-use assets 11 94,956 95414 - - E
Intangible assets - Goodwill and other intangibles 12 2,065 2,097 - -
- Computer software (including assets
held under construction) 12 47100 39,708 - -
investments 13 - - 541,848 534,795 -
Deferred tax assets 18 19,659 17,688 - -
Other receivables 14 12,849 13,168 - -
. 201,465 194 477 4341,848 534,795
Current assets J “;:
Trade and other receivables 14 355,797 252 476 970,375 808,610 :f
Current tax receivable 7 13,214 16,889 - - 3
Cash and cash equivalents 21 153,883 165,987 - - £
522,004 435352 © 970,375 808,610 i
Total assets 2 724,459 622,829 1,512,233 1,343,405 {
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 15 {230,382) (175,337 {1,221423) (1,026.656}
Provisions 18 (6,755) (5,425} - -
Lease liapilites 11 (3!;‘:‘!25) (32,711) - -
Current tax payable 7 (22,241) (12,365) - - [
(2&5;508) (225,838, (1,221,423) (1,026,656}
Net current assets/{liabilities) ' 233,401 209,514 {251,048 (218,046} n
Non-current liabilities 3
Other payables 15 (18,332) {12,483) - - g
Lease liabilities 11 T {72,215) (70,758) - - E
Deferred tax labilities 18 (354) (1.588) ’ - - N
Provisions 18 {3,950} {3,260) " - - E
 (94,851) (88.090) - - g
Total liabilities 2 {384,354) (313,928) (1,221,423} (1,026,656 ]
Net assets 340,105 315,901 280,800 316,749 %
Capital and reserves Co
Called-up share capital 19 3,286 3,286 3,286 3,286
Share premium 20 99,564 99,564 99,564 99,564 —
Capital redemption reserve 20 932 932 832 932
Reserve for shares held in the employee benefit trust 20 {47,338) (55,498) - —
Currency translation reserve 20 - 16,897 25320 - - - - §
Retained earnings | 266,764 242 297 187018 212,967 -
Total equity 340,105 315,901 290,800 316,749
The financial statements of PageGroup plc {Company Number 3310225} set out on pages 127 to 159 were approved by the Board of
Directors and authorised for issue on 2 March 2022, The Company’s profit for the financial year amounted to £67.2m (2020: £137.1m).
The Balance Sheet has been re-presented to provide separate disclosure for provisions within current and non-current liabllities which K
were previously disclosed within accruals. Further information is disclosed in Note 1 and Note 16 to the Financial Statements. !
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors e
Steve ingham, Kelvin Stagg,
Chief Exacutive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT CF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Reserve
for shares
Capital heldinthe  Currency
Called-up Share  redemption employee translation  Retained Total
share capital premium reserve  benefit trust reserve  earnings equity
2020 Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £°000 £'000
Balance at 1 January 2020 3,286 99,507 932 {47,662) 19,375 248,949 324,387
Currency translation differences - - - - 5,945 - 5,945
Net income recognised
directly in equity - - - - 5,945 - 5.945
Loss for the year - - - - - (5,742) {5,742)
Total comprehensive
income/{expense} for the year - - -~ - 5,845 {5,742 203
Purchase of shares held in the employee
benefit trust - - - {14 .369) - - (14.369)
Exercise of share plans - 57 ~ - - 330 387
Transfer from reserve for shares held in
the employee benefit trust - - ~ 6.533 - (6,533) -
Credit in respect of share schemes - - ~ - - 5275 5,275
Credit in respect of tax on share schemes - - ~ - - 18 18
- 57 - {7,836) - 910 (8.682)
Balance at 31 December 2020 and
1 January 2021 3,286 99,564 932 {55,498) 25,320 242,297 315,901
2021
Currency translation differences - - - - (8,423) - (8,423)
Net expense recognised
directly in equity - - - - (8,423 - (8,423}
Profit for the year - - - - - 118,358 118,356
Total comprehensive
(expense)/income for the year - - - - (8,423) 118,356 108,933
Purchase of shares held in the employee
benefit trust - - - (10.3569) - - {10,369}
Exercise of share plans - - - - - 16,431 16,431
Transfer from reserve for shares held in
the employes benefit trust - - - 18,529 - (18,529 -
Credit in respect of share schemes - - - - - 7,052 7.052
Credit in respect of tax on share schemes - - - - - 1,387 1,387
Dividends 8 - - - - - (100,230  (100,230)
- - - 8,160 - (93.889) (85.729)
Balance at 31 December 2021 3,286 99,564 932 (47,338) 16,897 266,764 340,105
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY - PARENT COMPANY
For the year ended 31 December 2021 ;
3
Capital .
Called-up Share redemption Retained n
share capital premium reserve earnings Total equity
Company Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £°000 2000
Balance at 1 January 2020 3,286 99,507 932 70,591 174,316 g
Profit for the year - - - 137,101 137,101
Total comprehensive income for
the year - - - 137,101 137,101
Exercise of share plans - 57 - — 57
Credit in respect of share schemes - - - 5275 5.275
- 57 - 5275 5,332 ;
%
Balance at 31 December 2020 and 1
January 2021 3,286 99,564 932 212,967 316,749 L
2021
Profit for the year - - - 67,229 67,229
Total comprehensive income for
the year - - - 67,229 67,229
Credit in respect of share schemes - - - 7,052 7,052 (',é
Dividends a8 - - - (100,230) {100,230) ’
_ - - {93,178) (93,178)
Balance at 31 December 2021 3,286 99,564 932 187,018 290,800
|
=
[
=
18
-
i
2
3
1]
-
+
n
g
£
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CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020

Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Profit before tax 2 166,645 15,544 87,229 137,101
Depreciation and amortisation charges 10/11/12 63,728 61,782 - -
{Profity/Lcss on sale of property, plant and
equipment, and computer software {59) 262 - -
Share scheme charges 7,082 5275 - -
Net finance cost 1,864 1,484 - -
Operating cash flow before changes in working ‘
capital 229,230 84,347 67,229 137,101
{Increase)/Decrease in receivables (115,318) 124,370 {161,767} {201,452)
Increase/(Decrease) in payables 72372 {39,760) ) 5\%394,768 64,264
Cash generated from operations 186,284 168,957 104,230 57)
Income tax paid (37,046) (31,747) Lo~ -
Net cash from operating activities 149,238 137,210 100,230 57}
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 10 {10,233) {4,892) - -
Purchases of intangibles 12 (18,130) (17,770 - -
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and
equipment, and computer software 2,629 918 - -
Interest received 290 588 - -
Net cash used in investing activities (25,444) (21,156) - -
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid {100,230) - (100,230} -
Interast paid (841) 413 - -
Lease liability principal repayment {37,026} (39,234} - -
Issue of own shares for the exercise of options 16,431 387 - 57
Purchase of shares held in the employee berefit trust {10,369) {(14,369) - -
Net cash used in financing activities {132,035} {63.629) {100,230) 57
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (8,241) 62,425 - -
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning
of the year 165,987 97,832 - -
Exchange (loss)/gain on cash and cash equivalents {3,763} 5,730 - -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 21 153,983 165,987 - -

Notes to the Financial Statements

financial statements in accordance with
UK-adopted international accounting
standards (“IFRSs").

staterments. The Company’s profit for

the financial year amounted to £67.2m
(2020: £137.1m). The decrease in the
Company's profit this year is as a result of
decreased dividend income.

For the year ended 31 Decernber 2021

1. SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

Basis of preparation

The financial statements of PageGroup plc
consolidate the results of the Company
and all its subsidiary undertakings.

As permitted by Section 408 of the
Companies Act 2006, the profit and

loss account of the Company has not
been included as part of these financial

It is the Directors’ view that provisions

are sufficiently material to be separately
disclosed within the balance sheet, where
in previous years these were disclosed
within accruals. Accordingly, comparatives
have been reprasented on a congistent
basis. No third balance shest is presented

PageGroup plc is a company incorporated
in the United Kingdom under the
Companies Act.

Under that law the Directors have elecied
to prepare the Group and parent cormpany
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because the representation at the
beginning of the comparative period

is not considered material. There is

no impact on the income statement,
cashflow or net assets in the balance
sheet as a result of this representation.

As a result, the balance sheet far

2020 includes current and non-current
provisions of £10.7m and an associated
reduction in accruals.

Refer to Note 16 for disclosures jn
accordance with 1AS 37.

Basis of consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements
comprise the financial statements

of the Group and its subsidiaries as
at 31 December 2021. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee.

{ii} Transactions eliminated on
consolidation

Intragroup balances and any unrealised
gains and losses or income and
expenses arising from intragroup
transactions, are eliminated in preparing
the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains, but only
to the extent that there is nc evidence
of impairment.

{iii) Employee Benefit Trust

Shares in PageGroup plc held by
the trust are shown as a reduction in
shareholders’ funds.

{iv) Changes in accounting policy
- new accounting standards,
interpretations and amendments

The accounting policies adopted are
consistent with these of the previous
financial years except for the following
amendments to IFRS effective as of

1 January 2021:

» |BOR Reform and its Effects on
Financial Reporting — Phase 2

The adoption of these accounting
standards cr interpretaticns did not
have any impact on the accounting
pelicies, financial position or
performance of the Group.

Standards issued but not vet
effective

The standards and interpretations that
are issued, but not yet effective, up to
the date of issuance of the Group’s
financial statements are disclosad
below. The Group intends to adopt
these standards, if applicabla, when
they become effective.

e Reference to the Conceptual
Framewark — Amendments to IFRS
3, effective date 1 January 2022

*  Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use —
Amendments to |AS 16; effective
date 1 January 2022

¢ Onerous Contracts — Costs of
Fulfiling a Contract — Amendments
to |AS 37; effective date 1 January
2022

« |FRS 1 First-time Adoption of
International Financial Reporting
Standards — Subsidiary as a first-
time adopter; effective date
1 January 2022

* |FRS @ Financial Instruments —
Fees in the ' 10 per cent' test for
derecognition of financial liabilities;
effective date 1 January 2022

*  Amendments to I1AS 1:
Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current; effective
date 1 January 2023

+  Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a single
transaction - Amendments to
1A312; effective for annual pericds
beginning on or after 1 January
2023

The amendments are not expected to
have a material impact cn the Group.

Going concern

The Board has undertaken a review of
the Group's forecasts and associated
risks and sensitivities, considering

the expected impact of COVID-18 on
trading in the period from the date of
approval of the financial stataments to
March 2023.

The Group had £154.0m of cash as

at 31 December 2021, with no debt
except for IFRS 16 lease liabilities of
£102.0m. Debt facilities relevant to the
review period comprise a committed
£30m BBVA RCF (May 2023 maturity),
an uncommitted UK trade debtor
discounting facility fup to £50m
depending on debtor levels) and an
uncommitted £20m UK bank overdraft
facility.

Throughout 2021, activity levels
picked up in most of the Group's
markets and the cost control and cash
preservation metheds used in 2020
were not repeated. However, due to
the pandemic reductions in travel and
entertaining expenses remain. There
continues to be a high degree of
global magcro-economic uncertainty, as
COVID-19 remains a significant issue
and restrictions remain in a number of
countries across the Group.

However, given the analysis performed,

there are no plausible downside
scenarios that we believe would cause
an issue. As a result, given the strength
of performance in the vear, the level

of cash in the business and Group's
borrowing facilities, the geographical
and discipling diversification, limited
concentration risk, as well as the
ability to manage the cost basse, the
Board has concluded that the Group
has adequate resources to continue

in operational existence for the period
through te March 2023.

a) Revenue and income recognition

Revenue, which excludes value added
tax {VAT), constitutes the value of
services undertaken by the Group
from its principal activities, which are
recruitment consultancy and other
ancillary services. These consist of:

*  revenue from temporary
placemsnts, which represents
amounts billed for the services
of temporary staff, including the
salary cost of these staff. This is
recognised when the service has
been provided,

* revenug from permanemt
placemeants is typically based on
a percentage of the candidate’s
remuneration package and
is derived from both retained
assignments (income recognised
on completion of defined stages
of werk) and non-retained
assignments (income recognised
at the date an offer is accepted by
a candidate and where a start date
hag been determined). The latter
includes revenue anticipated, but
not invoiced, at the balance sheet
date, which is correspondingly
accrued on the balance sheet
within accrued income. A provision
is made against accrued income
for possible cancellations of
placements prior to, or shortly
after, the commencement of
employment; and

* revenue from amounts billed to
clients for expenses incurred
on their behalf (principally
advertisernents) is recognised
when the expense is incurred.

Interest income is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable.

b) Cost of sales

Cost of sales consists of the salary cost
of temporary staff and costs incurred on
behalf of clients, principally advertising
costs,
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c) Gross profit

Gross profit represents revenue less
cost of sales and consists of the

total placement fees of permanert
candidates, the margin earned on the
placement of temporary candidates and
the margin on advertising income.

d) Foreign currency translation
{i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements
of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Sterling,
which is the Company's functional and
presentation currency.

(i} Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions

are translated into the respective
functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

Foraign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at
yaar end exchange rates of monetary
assets and habilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in the
income staterment.

(iit) Group companies

The results and financial position of all
the Group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are
transtated into the presentation currency
as follows:

* assets and liabilities for each
balance shest presented are
translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

* income and expensas for each
income staternent are translated at
average exchange rates; and

* 3l resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income.

e) Intangible assets
iy Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of

the cost of an acquisition over the

fair value of the Group's share of the
net identifiable assets of the acquired
subsidiary at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill on the acquisition of
subsidiaries is included in intangible
assets. Gooowil is stated at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses.
Gaoodwill is allocated to cash-generating
units and is not amortised, but is tested

at least annually for impairment (see
accounting policy h). Gains and losses
on the disposal of an entity include the
carrying amount of goodwill refating to
the entity soid.

{iy Computer software

Computer software acquired separately
is measured on initial recognition at
cost. Computer software developed

by the Group is measured at the cost
incurred in relation to the development
of software and related applications.
Costs are capitalised whan they fulfil
the criteria in 1AS 38 regarding internally
developed intangible assets, The
Group applies judgement, which is not
considered as significant, in capitalising
the development cost by assessing if it
will generate probable future economic
benefits. Costs which are incurred after
the release of software or costs which
are incurred in order to enhance existing
products are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.

(i) Software under construction

Software under construction relates

to cost capitalised in relation to the
development of a new operating system
and related applications. Costs are
capitalised when they fulfil the criteria in
I1AS 38 regarding internally developed
intangible assets. While still under
construction, assets are tested for
impairment annually. Assets are moved
fror software under construction to
computer software when they becomes
available for use.

fiv) Tradermark

Acquired trademarks are stated at cost
and are written down over five years on a
straight-line basis, which represents the
estimated useful life of the intangitle.

(v} Amortisation

Amortisation is charged 1o the income
staternent on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of intangible
assets unless such lives are indefinite.
Goodwill has an indefinite useful life.
Computer scoftware is amortised at 20%
per annum unless it is considerad to
have a sharter life, in which case the
period of amortisation is reduced. The
cumulative amount of gocdwill written off
directly to retained earnings in respect of
acquisitions prior to 31 December 1597
is £311.7m (2020: £311.7m).

) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are
stated at original cost less accumulated
depreciation, Depreciation is calculated
to write off the cost less estimated
residual value of each asset evenly over
its expected useful life at the following

rates:

Leasehold improvements 10% per
annum or period of lease if shortar

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10-
20% per annum

Mator vehicles 25% per annum
g) Investments

Fixed asset investments are stated at
cost less provision for impairment.

h} Impairment of assets
Non-financial assets

Assets that have an indafinite useful
lfe are not subject to amortisation and
are tested annually for impairment. An
impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash
flows {cash-generating units).

Financial assets

The Group recegnises an allowance

for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all
debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on
the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at
an approximation of the original effective
interest rate.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For
credit exposures for which there has

not been a significant ingrease in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are
provided for credit Iosses that result from
default events that are pcssible within
the next 12 months (a 12-menth ECL).
For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance Is required for credit [osses
expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

For trade receivables and centract
assets, the Group applies a simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore,
the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a

loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group

has established a provision matrix that
is based on itg historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-locking
factors specific {0 the debtors and the
economic environment,



i) Taxation

Income tax expense represents the
sum of the current tax and deferred
tax charges. The tax currently payabls
is based on taxable profit for the

year. Taxable profit differs from profit

as reported in the income staterment
because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on
differences between the carrying
amaunts of assets and liabilities in

the financial statements anrd the
corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit and is
accourtted for using the balance sheet
liability method.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition {other than in a business
combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profi.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences arising

on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference

and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. The carrying amount
of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and reduced
to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the
period when the liability is settled or the
asset realised.

Deferred tax is charged or credited 1o
the income statement, except when

it relates to items charged or credited
directly to OCl or equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also dealt with in OClI
cr equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax

assets against current tax liabifities and
when they relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to settie its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

j} Pension costs

The Group operates defined
contribution pension schemes. The
assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds. The
pension costs charged te the income
statement represent the contributions
pavable by the Group to the funds
during each period.

k} Leases
) Right-of-use assets

The Group recognisas right-of-use
assets at the commeancement date of
the lease {i.e., the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right-of-

use assets are measured at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease fhabilities. The
cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of fease liabilities recognised,
initial girect costs incurred, and lease
payrments mads at or before the
commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Unless the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership
of the leased asset at the end of the
lease term, the recognised right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line
pasis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term. Right-of-
use assets are subject to impairment.

i} Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the
lease, the Group recognises lease
liabilities measured at the present valus
of lease payments to be made over the
lease term.

The lease payments include fixed
payments {including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives
receivalile, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees.

The lease payments also include the
axercise price cf a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalties
for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising

the option to terminate. The variable
lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate ars recognised
as expense in the period on which the
event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.
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In calculating the presant value of

lease paymenits, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest

rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinabla. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities

is increased to reflect the aceretion

of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made.

In additicn, the carrying amount of
lease liabilities is remeasured if there is
a modification, a change in the lease
term, & change in the in-substance
fixed lease payments or a change in the
assessment to purchase the underlying
asset.

iy Short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets

The Group applies the short-term
lease recognition exemption to its
shert-term leases of machinery and
equipment {l.e. those leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). it also
applies the lease of low-value assets
recogniticn exemption to leases of
office equipment that are considered
of low value (.e. below $5,000).
Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis cver the lease term.

i) Judgement in determining the tease
term of contracts with renewal options

The Group detarmines the lease

term as the non-cancellable term of
the lease, together with any periods
coverad by an option to extend the
lease if it is reasonably certain to be
exercised, or any periods covered by
an option to terminate the leass, if it is
reasonably certain not to be exercised,

The Group has the option, under
some of its leases to lease the assets
for additional terms of three to ten
years. The Group applies judgement
in evaluating whether it is reasonably
certain to exercise the option to renew.
That is, it considers all relevant factors
that create an economic incentive

far it to exercise the renewal. After
the commencement date, the Group
reassesses the lease term if there

is a significant event or change in
circumstances that is within its control
and affects its ability to exercise (or
not to exercise) the option 1o renew
(e.g. a change in business strategy).

I} Segment reporting

IFRS 8 requires operating segments
to be identified on the basis of internal
reports about components of the Group
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that are regularly raviewed by the Board
10 allocate resaurces to the segments
and to assess their performance.
Information provided to the Board is
focused on regions and as a resullt,
reporiable segments are on a regional
basis. Transacticns between segments
are recorded and allecated on an arms-
length basis.

m} Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s
shareholders is recognised as a liability in
the Group’s financiat statements in

the period in which the dividends are
approved by {for final dividends) or paid
to (for interim dividends) the Company’s
sharaholders.

n) Share-based compensation

The Group operates a number of equity-
settled, share-based compensation
plans. The accounting treatments for
the Group and parent company are
described below:

(it Share option schemes

The fair value of the employse services
recelved in exchange for the grant of the
options is recognised as an expense in
the income statement of the Group with
a corresponding adjustment to equity.
In tha parent company, it is capitalised
as an investment, with a correspending
adjustment to equity. The total amount
to be expensed over the vesting period
is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted, excluding
the impact of any non-market vesting
conditions (for example, earnings per
share). Non-market vesting conditions
are included in assumptions about the
number of options that are expected to
become exercisable.

At each balance sheet date, the
astimate of the number of aptions that
are expected tc become exercisable

is revised. The Group recognises

the impact of the revision ¢f original
estimates, if any, in the income
statement, and the corresponding
adjustment to equity over the remaining
vesting period.

{iil Managemant Incentive Plan

Where deferred awards are made to
Directors and senior executives under
the Management Incentive Plan, to
reflect that the awards are for services
over a longer period, the value of the
expected award is charged to the
income statement of the Group on

a straight-line basis over the vesting
pericd to which the award relates. In
the Parent Company, it is capitalised as
an investment in the subsidiary that is
receiving the employee service, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

{iiiy Employee Single incentive Plan (ESIP}

Awards under the ESIF are paid in cash
{40%) and Shares (80%;, which vestin 3
tranches over a 3 year pericd. The value
of expected award is charged to the
income statement of the Group relative
to these vesting periods.

iv) Tax on share schemes

Where options or shares are net settled
in respect of withholding tax abligations,
these are accountad for as equity
settled transactions. Payments to local
tax authorities are accounted for as a
deduction from equity for the shares
withheld.

o) Deferred cash bonus

The Group operates a bonus scheme for
some members of staff whereby bonuses
are deferred for three years from date

of award. The bonuses are paid in full if
the employee remains employed for the
entire three-year period.

p) Repurchase of share capital

When share capital recognised as

equity is repurchased, the amount of the
consideration paid, including any directly
attributable costs, is recognised as a
change in equity.

q) Provisions

A provision is recognised in the batance
sheet when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a
result of a past event, and it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits

will be required to settle the cbligation.
Provisions are measured at the Directors’
best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the obligation at the balance
sheet date, and are discounted fo
present value where the effect is material.

Due to the increase in size of provisions,
the Group is now presenting these
separately on the balance sheet.

r) Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured
at amortised cost, fair value through
ather comprehensive income {OC)), and
fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets

at initial recognition depends on the
financial assets’ contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business
model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that

do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group

has applied the practical expedient,

the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs.

Trade receivables that do nct contain

a significant financing component or

for which the Group has applied the
practical expadient are measured at the
transaction price determined under IFRS
15.

The Group's financial assets at
amortised cost includes trade and

other receivables. In order for a financial
asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through OCI,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that
are ‘solely payments of principal and
interest (SPPI on the principal amount
cutstanding. This assessment is referred
to as the SPPI test and is performed at
an instrument level.

The Group's businass model for
managing financial assets refers to how
it manages its financial assets in order
to generate cash flows, The business
model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets,
or both.

Cash and cash equivalents inciudes
cash-in-hand, deposits held at call with
banks, and other short-term highly liGuid
investments with original maturities of
three months or less. Bank overdrafts
that are repayable on demand and

form an integral part of the Group’s

cash management are included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the statement of cash
flows. Prepayments and Accrued income
are held at amortised cost.

All financial iabilities are recognised
initially at fair value and, in the case of
toans and borrowings and payables, net
of directly attributable transaction costs

The Group's financial liabilities include
trade and other payables and derivative
financial instruments.

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial liakiities through
profit or loss, loans and berrowings.,
payables, or as derivatives designated
as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate. The Group has
derivative contracts at the balance sheet
date that have been vaiued at fair value
through the income statemeant.

s} Areas of accounting estimation

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with IFRS requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates and
judgements. It also requires managerment
to exercise judgement in the process

of applying the Company's accounting
policies.

Estimates and judgements are
continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors,



including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

in preparing the Consoclidated

Financial Statements management

has considered the impact of climate
change, particularly in the context of
the disclosures included in the Strategic
Report this year and the stated net zero
targets. These considerations did not
have a material impact on the financial
reporting judgements and estimates,
consistent with the assessment that
climate change is not expected to

have a significant impact on the
Group's geing concern assessment to
September 2022 nor the viability of the
Group over the next three years as the
Group’s Balance sheet is primarity made
up cf short-term assets and liabilities.

The following are areas where
appropriate accounting necessarily
involves management judgement
and estimation. However, nons of the
estimates described are considered
to have & signfficant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of the related assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
Accordingly, they are not considered
to be major sources of estimation
uncertainty.

Note 13 - Trade and other
receivables

There is uncertainty regarding
customers who may not be able

to pay as their invoices fall due as

at 31 Decernber 2021. In total the
Group holds £265.7m of Gross Trade
Receivables. A provision for £11.1m
has been recognised based on the
expected credit losses, revenue
reversals or balances which are in
litigation.

In reviewing the appropriateness of the
provisions in respect of recoverability
of trade receivables, consideration has
been given to the economic climate in
the respective markets, the ageing of
the debt and the potential likelihood

of default, If the economic climate
were to deteriorate across a number
of countries the portfclio could be
impaired by an amount greater than
materiality. This scenario is however
considered sufficiently remate such
that no reascnably possible changes in
assumptions are likely to cause material
further impairment next year. Please
see note 21 for an analysis of expected
credit losses and revenue reversals.

Deferred Tax

At 31 December 2021, PageGroup’s
deferred tax assets are £19.7m {2020:
£17.7m). The uftimate realisation of

deferred tax assets is dependent

upon the generation of future taxable
income during the periods in which
those temporary differences become
deductible or in which tax losses can
be utilised. The tax effect of deductible
temporary differences and unused tax
losses are recognised as a deferred
tax asset when it becomes probaple
that the tax losses and deductible
temporary differences will be utilised. In
making assessments regarding deferred
tax assets, management considers

the scheduled reversal of deferred

tax liabilities, projected future taxable
income, the availability to carry back
losses and tax planning strategies.

At 31 December 2021, based upon the
projections for future taxable income
over the periods in which deferred tax
assets are deductible, management
believes that it is more likely than

not that PageGroup will realise the
benefits of these deductible differences.
The amount of deferred tax assets
considered realisable coula however

be reduced in subsequent years if
astimates of future taxable income
during their carry forward periods are
reduced, or rulings by the tax authorities
are unfavourable. Estimates are
therefore subject to change due to both
market-related and government-related
uncertainties, as well as PageGroup's
own future decisions.

Uncertain tax positions

Current tax is the expected tax payable
on the taxable income for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date,

and any adjustments to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Uncertain tax positions are assessed
and measured on an issue by issue
basis within the jurisdictions that we
operate using management’s estimate
of the most likely outcome. Where
management determines that a greater
than 50% probability exists that the tax
authorities would accept the paosition
taken in the tax return, amounts are
recocgnised in the consclidated financial
statements on that basis. Where the
amount of tax payable or recoverable
is uncertain, the Group recognises

a liability or asset based on either:
management’s judgement of the most
likely outcome; or, when there is a
wide range of possible outcomes, a
probability weighted average approach.
The Group recognises interest con late
paid taxes as part of financing costs.
The Group recognises penalties, if
applicable, as part of administrative and
other expenses.

These estimates include significant
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management judgements about the
probable cutcome of uncertain tax
positions. Management base their
indgements on the latest information
available about the positions expected
10 be taken by each tax authotity.
Actual cutcomes and settlements may
differ significantly from the estimates
recorded in these consolidated financial
statements. This may affect income
tax expense reported in future years’
consolidated income statements.

The uncertain tax position provision
racognised as at 31 December 2021

is £3.4m,

Intangible Assets

There is judgement over the apprepriate
costs which can be capitalised in
accordance with |1AS 38. Management
have performed a review of the costs
capitalised to ensure appropriate
classification under IAS 38 and consider
there to ke no trigger for impairment.
We considered tha IFRIC agenda
decision in March 2021 in respect

of cloud computing and specifically

the treatment of configuration and
customisation costs. We have analysed
these in respect of Customer Connsct
(CRM platform) and not identified any
material costs which would not be
appropriate for caphtalisation under the
IFRIC guidance and IAS 38,

t) Employee Benefit Trust

The Employee Benefit Trust is
considered a separate legal entity

and nct an extension of the parent
company. It is included in the
consolidated results of the Group as it
is deemed to have control of the entity.

u) Government grants

Government grants are recognised
where there is reasonable assurance
that the grant will be received and all
attached conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as
income on a systematic basis over

the periods that the related costs, for
which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed. When the grant relates to
an asset, it is recognised as income in
egual amounts over the expected useful
life of the related asset.
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2. SEGMENT REPORTING
All revenues disciosed are derived from external customers.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies described in Note 1. Segment
opérating profit représents the profit earned by each segment including allocation of central administration costs. This is the measure
reported to the Group’s Board, the chisf operating decision maker, for the purpase of rescurce allocation and assessment of segment
performance. Segments are aggregated in accordance with managesment ownership, determined by the possassion of similar

characteristics such as geography, market maturity and economic environment. No judgements were applied to identify the reportable
segments.

{a) Revenue, gross profit and operating profit by reportable segment

Gross Operating

Revenue profit profit

2021 2021 2023

2021 £°000 £7000 £°000

EMEA 869,574 431,960 83,435

Asia Pacific 282,008 179,296 P ‘(39,62‘)4

Americas T 220671 . 138520 19,163

United Kingdom 271,487 127,844 16,808

Operating profit . - S 168,510
s & ’

Financial expense ; A B - {1,865)

Revenue/gross profit/profit before tax 1,643,740 877,720 166,645

Gross Operating

Revenue profit profit

2020 2020 2020

2020 2000 £'000 £'C00

EMEA 717,284 319,360 30,605

Asia Pacific 215,859 121,113 3,789

Americas 154,257 88,791 {7,021)

United Kingdom 217,281 80,985 {10,345)

Operating profit - - 17,028

Financial expense - - (1,484)

Revenue/gross profit/profit before tax 1,304,791 610,249 15,544

The abuve analysis by destination is nct materially different to the analysis by origin,

The analysis below is of the carrying amount of reportable segment assets, liakilities and non-current assets. Segment assets and
liabilities inciude items directly aitributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

The individual reportable segments exclude income tax assets and labilities. Non-current assets include property, plant and equipment,
computer scftware, goodwill and other intangibles.

(b} Segment assets, liabilities, non-current assets and capital expenditure by reportable segment

Total assets Total liabilities

2021 2020 2021 2020

£°000 £'000 £:000 £'000

EMEA 285,573 230,350 201,748 163.981
Asia Pacific 132,995 111.090 64,405 54,899
Americas 94,581 80,662 43,789 41,071
United Kingdom 198,096 190,838 52,11 41,632
Segment assets/liabilities 711,245 512,940 362,113 301,563
Income tax 13,214 16,889 22,241 12,365
724,459 529,829 384,354 313,928

The analyses in notes {d) revenue and gross profit by discipline (peing the professions of candidates placed) and () revenue and
gross profit by strategic market have been included as additional disclosure over and above the requirements of IFRS 8 "Operating
Segrments”. Strategic markets are defined in the Strategic Review on pages 15 and 16.
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Property, plant and A
aquipment Intangible assets
2021 2020 2021 2020 )
£7000 27000 £'000 £'00C
EMEA 10,671 10:810 2,247 2,666 :
Asia Pacific . 4318 4,451 - 279 371 .
Americas ‘ §,325 8,052 - 120 i
United Kingdom 4,622 5,088 46,639 38.648
24,836 26,401 49,165 41,805
Right-of-use assets Lease liabilities
2021 2020 2021 2020
£'000 £°000 £'000 £°000
EMEA 54,413 47,941 BT148 51,070 .
Asla Pacific 16,132 13.824 17,154 14,532 g
Americas 10,692 14,862 13,432 17,590 i
United Kingdom 13,719 18,687 14,811 20,277 ?}
94,956 95,414 102,340 103,469 &
e
L
Property, plant and i
equipment Intangibie assets
2021 2020 2021 2020
Capital expenditure £000 £'000 £°000 £:000 »;
EMEA 4,265 1,341 27 40 v
Asia Pacific 2,368 1,558 73 36
Americas 1,243 1,167 - 206
United Kingdom 2,358 886 17,919 17,488
10,234 4,892 18,019 17,770
The below analysis in note (c) relates to the requirement of IFRS 15 to disclose disaggregated revenue streams. -5'!
(c) Revenue and gross profit generated from permanent and temporary placements g
Revenue Gross profit g'
2021 2020 2021 2020 ;
1000 £'000 £7000 £'000 S-
Permanent €82,233 441,467 676,099 436,689 8'
Temporary 861,507 863.324 201,621 173,560 3
1,643,740 1,304,791 877,720 610,245 g
{d) Revenue and gross profit by discipline ﬁ'
Revenue Gross profit
2021 2020 2021 2020
£°000 £'000 £'0C0 £°000 —
Accounting and Financial Services 609,012 528,202 £81,549 212,243
Legai, Technology, HR. Secretarial and other 511,466 374,406 260,819 166.249 .
Engineering, Property & Construction, Procurement & Supply Chain 349,770 273,771 207,200 141,829 i‘;
Marketing, Sales and Retail 173,492 128,412 128,152 83,928 ; 2
1,643,740 1,304,791 877,720 510,249 j
{e) Revenue and gross profit by strategic market ’
Revenue Gross profit .
2021 2020 2021 2020 g
£'000 £'000 £'000 £°000 s
Large, Proven markets 867,634 728,736 406,618 289,202 m
Large, High Potential markets 551,547 397,166 332,539 218,196
Medium and Small, High Margin markets 224,559 178,889 138,563 102,851 :
1,643,740 1,304,791 877,720 610,249




PageGroup Annual Report and ints 2021

3. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

2021 2020
£:000 £°000

Profit tor the year is stated after charging: '
Employment costs {Note 4) 854,763 438,111
Net exchange losses 6,891 4,937
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment — owned (Note 10) . 8213 9,864
Amortisation of intangibles (Note 12) 10,217 14,653
Expected credit losses and provision for revenue reversals (Note 22} 17,920 27773
(Profity/Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment and computer software {59) 282
Cepreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 11) 35,208 37.2685
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor:
Fees payabie to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 433 463
Fees payable 1o the Company's auditor and associates for other services: '
- The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 155 755
Total audit fees 1,188 1,218
- Audit related assurance services . 52 52
- Cther non-audit services 7 32
Total non-audit fees . b9 B84
Total fees 1,247 1,302

4. EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

The average number of employees {including Executive Directors) during the year and total number of employees (including Executive
Directors) at 31 December 2021 were as follows:

2021 2020 At31 Dec At 31 Dec

Average  Average 2021 2020

No. Na. No. No.

Management 356 341 376 339
Client services 5,220 5,030 5,705 4,806
Adrministration 1,643 1,559 1,757 1,543

7,219 6,430 7,838 8,694

Employment costs (including Directors’ emolumants) comprised:

2021 2020

£'000 £'000

Wages and saiaries 471,918 364,686
Social security costs 51,523 48816
Pansion costs — definad contribution plans 18,736 18,731
Share-based payments and deferred cash plan 12,676 7,878

554,753 433111

During 2020, the Group utiised various Government support schemes around the world in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. in
accordance with IAS 20 - Governmant Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance, the income received from these grants is
presented net against the payroll expenses within wages and salaries in the Consolidated income Statement. The total incorme recognised
in 2020 was £11.2m.

No staff are employed by the parent company (2020: none) hence no remuneration has been disclosed for the Company. Remuneration for
Directors for their services on behalf of the parent company are included in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pagss 35 to 116.
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5. FINANCIAL INCOME/(EXPENSES)
2021 2020
£'000 £7°000
Financial income
Interast receivatle " 280 588 ,
280 588 K
Financial expenses . -
Interest payable {841) (413} ,gf
Interest on lease liabilities (1,314) {1,859 )
{2,155) 2,072 ¥
6. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
The charge for taxation is based on the effective annual tax rate of 28.0% on profit before tax (2020: 136.9%).
2021 2020
Analysis of charge in the year £'000 2000
UK income tax at 19.00% (2020. 18.00%) for yeal R | I ¥ { ] (3,887) 'y
Overseas income tax 42,303 25,290 f{;
Adjustments in respect of prior years 3,214} {164} ?
50,865 21,223 -
Deferred tax ?
Adjustment in respect of prior years {1,673} 2,823 -
Origination and reversa} of temporary differences {6,684) (6,908) .
Derecognition of losses and other tax attributes 5481 3,480 2
impact of tax rate changes 300 662 §
Deferred tax income {2,576) 57 =
Total tax expense in the income statement 48,289 21,286 %
2021 2020
Reconciliation of effective tax rate £'000 % £'000 % —
Profit before taxation 466,845 15,544
Profit before tax muttiplied by the standard rate of corperation tax in the UK 31,663 19.0 2,952 18.0 |
Effects of: 3
Disallowable tems and other permanent differences 2,395 1.4 1,947 12.5 g
Unrelieved overseas losses 1,855 1.1 1,954 12,5 )
Derecogniticrn/(recognition) of overseas losses and other tax attributes 3,626 22 1,625 9.8 ;
Other tax movements 392 0.2 634 4.5 S‘
Higher tax rates on overseas eamings 6,139 3.7 2,038 13.1 s
Other tax overseas 6,805 4.1 6,855 441 3
Movement of rate difference 301 0.2 662 4.3 g
Adjustment to tax charge in respect of prior periods 14,887) {2.9) 2,659 17.1 ﬁ
Tax expense and effective rate for the year 48,289 29.0 21,286 136.9
2021 2020 I
Tax recognised directly in equity £'000 £'000
Relating to settled transactions 1,387 18
We have generated profits in overseas countries which have higher tax rates and ars subjsct to additicnal taxes on profits which have %
contributed 7.8% to the tax rate in 2021, Disallowable and other permanent differences are broadly in line with prior years and net ¢
derecognition of overseas losses and other tax attributes that we could not recognise due to the requirement to have profits against y e
which to offset in the foreseeable future increase the rate by 4.7%. Adjustments in respect of prior pericds are one-off in nature and ‘€
reduce the rate by 2.9%. These facters add to the basic UK rate of 19% to give the total effective tax rate of 29.0%. .
The Finance Act 2016 included legislation te reduce the main rate of UK corporation tax from 20% to 19% from 1 April 2017 and te
17% from 1 April 2020. The rate reduction to 17% was subsequently reversed by the Finance Act 2020, such that the main rate of
UK corporation tax from 1 April 2021 remains at 19%. The Finance Act 2021 confirmed an increase of UK corperation tax rate from
19% to 25% with effect from 1 April 2023 and this was substantively enacted by the statement of financial position date and therefore
included in these financial statements. Temporary differences have been rameasured using the enacted tax rates that are expected to .
apply when the liability is settled or the assst realised. o
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7. CURRENT TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The current tax asset of £13.2m (2020: £16.9m), and current tax liability of £22.2m (2020: £12.4m) for the Group, and current tax
asset and liability of £nif (2020: £nil) for the parent company, reprasent the amount of income taxes recoverable and payable in respect
of current and prior periods. The Group maintains a provision in relaticn to disputes and uncertain tax positions, including transfer
pricing, which is included in the current tax liability.

8. DIVIDENDS
2021 2020
£000 £'000

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year:

Final dividend for the year ended 31 Dacember 2020 of 0.00p per Ordinary share {2019: 0.00p) - -

Interim dividend for the year ended 31 Dacember 2021 of 4.700 per Ordinary share (2020: 0.00p) ‘f. 14,99;:6 -

Special dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 of 26.71p per Ordinary share {2020: 0.00p) . B5232 -
100,250

Amounts proposed as distributions to equity holders in the year: i

Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 of 10.30p per Ordinary share (2026: 0.00p) 32,9{2 -

The proposed final dividend for 2019 of 9.40p par ordinary share, or £30.2m, which was due for payment in June 2020, was
cancelled as a result of the ongeing uncertainty as a result of the COVID-12 pandemic.

The proposed final dividend had not been approved by the Board at 31 December and therefore has not been included as a liability.

The preposed final dividend of 10.30p (2020: nil) per ordinary share will be paid on 17 June 2022 to shareholders on the register at
close of business on 20 May 2022.

9. EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

2021 2020
£7000 £000

Earnings
Earnings for basic and diluted earnings per share {£°000) 118,356 (5,742)
Number of shares hurier number
Weighted average number of shares usad for basic earnings per share {'000} 318,237 319,664
Dilutive effect of share plans {000 1,232 925
Diluted weighted average number of shares used for diluted eamings per share ('000) 319,469 320589
pence pence
Basic earnings per share 37.2 {1.8}
Diluted earnings per share 37.0 1.8

The above results relate to continuing operations.
Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted average
numier of Crdinary shares in issue during the year, excluding unallocated Ordinary shares purchased by the Employee Benefit Trust
and held in the reserve.

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of Ordinary shares outstanding to assume
cenversion of all dilutive potential Ordinary shares. This calculation determines the number of shares that could have been acquired at
fair value (determined as the average market price of the Company's shares) based cn the menetary value of the subscription rights
attached to the outstanding share options. The number of shares calculated in the basic earnings per share 1s then adjusted to reflect
the number of shares deemed to be issued for nil consideration as a result of the potential exercise of existing share options.

The remaining share options that are currently not dilutive and hence excluded from the dilutive eamings per share calculation remain
potentially dilutive until they are either exercised or they lapse.
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
2021 &
L4
Leasehold Furniture, v
improve- fixtures and Motor m
ments equipment vehicles Total ”
Group £'000 £'006 £'000 £'000
Cost . -
At 1 January 48,125 #1050 1,639 ‘ 90,814 g
Additions 2,606 6,778 758 10,233 Q
Disposals 2,379 (1,965) 289y  {4,628)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange {1,6401 (1,802} . (65} 13,507)
At 31 December 46,802 44,061 2,049 92,912 -
Depreciation ’
At 1 January 33,085 30,389 969 64,413 .
Charge for the year 4,097 ¢ 3,759 357 8,213
Disposals (1,916) §273§ ) (246) {2,435}
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (743) {1,318} 54 2115)
At 31 Decernber | 34,493 32,557 1,026 . 68,076
Net book value ' - ﬁ
At 31 December 12,309 11,504 1,023 24,836 ;
2020 i
Leasehold Furniture,
improve- fixtures and Motor
ments equipment vehicles Total .
Group £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Cost
At 1 January 46,953 48,191 1,428 86,572 n
Additions 2,579 1,588 745 4,892 3
Disposals (1.721) (9.523) (489) (11,733) 3_
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 314 814 45) 1,083 E
At 31 December 48.126 41,050 1,639 90,814 g
Depreciation 8-
At 1 January 28,932 34,642 1,073 84.847 g
Charge for the year 5,153 4,333 378 G864 al'
Disposals {1,308) {9,206} (423 (10,835)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 276 6820 {(59) 837
At 31 December 33,065 30,389 969 64,413
Net book value .
At 31 December 15,070 10,661 670 26.401 ;
¢
5
i
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11. LEASES
Property Motor Vehicles Other assets Total
Group 2000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Right-of-use assets .
At 1 January 2020 105,768 13,681 797 120,246
Additions 13,377 3,412 919 ) 17,708
Dispasals (3,947) (3,281) - g2
Depreciation expense (28,969) (7,678) (618} o {37,265)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 1,370 583 - 1,953
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 87,599 6,717 1,008 R 85,414
Additions 35,548 8,542 513 44,603
Disposals (5,861) (336) - {6,197}
Depreciation expense {27,785) (6,906) 807} . {35,298)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (3,245) (321) - {3,566}
At 31 December 2021 86,256 7,696 1,004 . | 94,956
2021 2020
Lease liabilities £'000 £000
As at 1 January . {103,469) {128,612)
Additions (.;5,155} (17,794}
Disposals ) 6,387 7,467
Interest expense 1,314) (1,859)
Payments a7.294 39,234
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 3,917 2,105)
As at 31 December {102,340) (103.469)
12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2021
Computer
software,
Computer assets under
software construction Subtotal Goodwill  Trademark Subtotal Totaf
Group 2000 £000 £:000 £'000 2000 £'000 £'000
Cost
At 1 January 59,133 2,787 61,820 1,538 1,46G 2,899 64,918
Additicns 15,479 2,500 12,979 - 151 1651 18,130
Disposals 1,330) - {1,330} - - - (1,330)
Eoﬁggn";gﬁgggms " (513) Q) (514) - - - (514
At 31 December 72,769 5,286 78,055 1,539 1,611 3,150 81,205
Amortisation
At 1 January 22,212 - 22212 - 202 002 23,114
Charge for the year 10,034 - 10,034 - 183 183 10,217
Disposals (953) - (953) - - - (953)
e . .
At 31 December 30,955 - 30,955 - 1,085 1,085 32,040
Net book value
At 31 December 41,814 5,286 47,100 1,539 526 2,065 49,165

The Group has one individually material intangible asset (Customer Gonnect) which is the Group’s CRM platform. The net book value at
31 December 2021 is £35.1m. The useful economic life is seven years in line with the expected life of the asset.
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2020
2
Computer i
i
software, "
Computer assets under vy
software construction Subtotal Goodwill  Trademark  Subtotal Total Bt
Group £'000 2000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 "
Cost :,}
At 1 January 106,029 498 106,527 1,538 1,313 2,852 108,379 ’
Additions 15,163 2,480 17,623 - 147 147 17,770 .
Disposals {62,210 {131) (62,341) - - - {62,341}
Effect of movements in
foreign exchange 151 40 11 - B B m
At 31 December 59,133 2,787 651,920 1,539 1,480 2,898 64619
Amortisation
- Hay,
At 1 January 69,560 - 659,560 - 765 765 70,325 g
Charge for the year 14,516 - 14,516 - 137 137 14663 3
E
Disposals 61,958) - (61,959) - - - (61,959} ?
Effect of movements in F
foreign exchange 95 - 95 - - - 95
At 31 December 22,212 - 22,212 - 902 S0z 23,114
Net book value ’i}
At 31 December 38,921 2,787 39,708 1,539 558 2,087 41,805 g
e
1]
[

IMPAIRMENT TESTS FOR GOODWILL

Goodwill is allocated to the Group's cash-generating units (CGUSs) identified according to the country of operation. A summary cf the
goodwill allocation is presented below: -

2021 2020
£°000 £7000
UK ‘ 1,274 1,274
USA 214 214
Singapcre 51 51
1,539 1.538

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are calculated by preparing cash flow forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budget, management projections for five years, followed by an assumed growth rate of 0%, which does not exceed
the long-term average growth rate of the relevant markets and reflects long-term wage inflation fee growth. Management applied a
discount rate of 8%, representing the weighted average cost of capital for the Group, to the estimated future cash flows to calculate
the terminal value of those cash flows. if the recoverable amount of an assst is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense. Management
believes that no reasonably possible change in any of the above key assumptions would cause the carrying value of goodwill
allocated to any CGU to materially exceed its recoverable amount.

$IUIWISILLS [eI2URULY

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more freguently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired. It is the
opinion of the Directors that at 31 December 2021 there was no impairment of goodwill.

kS

13. INVESTMENTS i
Subsidiary undertakings §

Company £'000 4,
Cost at 1 January 2021 534,795 7

-,

Transactions relating to share plans for subsidiaries’ employees 7,053 7

Cost at 31 December 2021 541,848

G
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The Company’s subsidiary undertakings at 31 December 2021, their principal activities and countries of incorporation are set

Registered office

Cordoba 883, Piso 9, Ciudad de Buenos Arres,
C1054A4H, Argentina

Cordoba 883 Pisc 9 Caudad de Buenos AJI’E‘Q
C1054AAH. Argentina

Level 21, 8 Castleraagh Streat, Sydney, NSW 2000,
Australia

QBCA, Karl Popper-Strale 4/1.0G Top 3, Wien, 1100
Austria

Place du Champ de Mars 5, 1050 Brussels, Belgium

Place du Champ de Mars 5,

1050 Brussels, Belgium

Rua Ohmpladas n“ 205 sala 111, 112, 113 e 114 - 110
andar, Vila Olimpra, Sac Paulo, 04551-000 - 5P, Brasi

Rua Olrpladas n° 205, sala: 111, 112,113 e 114 - 11°
andar, Vila Qlimpia, Sao Paulp, 04551-000 - SP, Bras)

RuaOhmpladaH m° 205, sala; 111,112, 113 e 114 - 11°
andar, Vila Olimpia, Sao Paulo, 04551-000 - SF, Brasil

130 Adelaide Street Weest, 21st Fioor, Toronto, Ontano,
M5H 1.8, Canada

Magdeiana 181, F"soi Depto 1601 Las Condes
Santiage 7550058, Chile

Magde ana 181 F'ESG 1, Depro 101, Las Londe:;
Santiago 7550055, Ch|le

Av. El Basque Norte 0177, Office 602, Santiago, 755-
0100, Chile

Magdelana18t, Pise 1, Depto 101, Las Condes,
Santago 7550055, Chile

out below:

Country of Principal
Name of undertaking incorporation activity
Michael Page ntermational Argentina Recruitment Consultancy
Argentina SA
Page Personnel Argentina Senvicios Argemlna Hecrun!mem Consunancy
Fventuales SA
Michael Page International (Australia) Austrafia Recruitment Censulttancy
Pty Lirmuted
Michael Page International Austria GmibH Austria Recruitment Consuftancy
Michael Page International Belgiurm) NV/SA Belgum Recruitment Censultancy
Page lmenm [Belgiurmy NV/SA Belgum Flecmnmem Consurtanc:y
Michagl Page International Do Brastl Brazi Recrultment Consultancy
Racrutamento Especalizado Ltda
Page Intenm Do Brasil - Recrutamento Brazi! Recruitment Consuftancy
Especializado Lida
Page Personnel do Brasii ~ Recrutarnento Braz!! Recruitment Consultancy
Especializado e servicos corporativas Ltda
Michael Page international Canada Limited Canada Recruitment Consuftancy
Michagt Page International Ghile Ltda Chrle F?ecrurtmem Consunancy
Page Personnej Intemat)cmal Chile Recruitment Oonsuhancy
Chile Ltda
Page Consulting Chile Ltda Chile: Recruitment Consultancy
Empresa de Senvicios Transitorios Page intenm Chile Recruitment Consultancy
Chile Lirmitada
Michael Page [Beiing) China Recruitment Consultancy
Recruitment Co., Ltd
Michael Page (Shanghai) Recruitment Co., Lid China Recruitment Consultancy

Michael Page international (Shano"ma\) Comsultmg Ohma Non- Tradmg

Limited

Page Contractmg Shanghal) Co. Ltd China Recrurtmem Oonsul‘tancy
Michael Page International Colernbia SAS Colomkbia Recruitment Consultancy
Page Intenm Colomiia SAS Colombia Non-Trading

Room 1009 1012, 10/F, West Tower, World Financial
Centre, No.1 East 3rd Ring Middie Road, Chaoyang
Distnct, Beyng, China 100020

Level 18, HKRI Takoo Hu Tower2, 288 Shimen Y
Road, JngAn District, Shanghai 200041, China

Smte 1010, Shangha\ Ketry Centre, 1515 Nanjing West
Road, Shanghai, China

Room 1812 1801-1811, /18, HKRI Takoo Hui, No.288
Shimen Yi Road, Jing'An, Shanghai, 200041, China

Calle 31 # 11 - 08 Piso 11, Bogota, D.C., Colombia

Calz 81 # 11 - 08 Pisc 11, Bogota, D.C., Colombia
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Country of Principal

Name of undertaking incorporation activity Registered office

Michael Page Czech Republic s.r.o (Czech Republic  Recruitment Consultancy  Pobfezni 249/46, Karlin, Praha 8, 188 00, Gzcch A
Republic

200 Dashwood Lang Road, Boune Business

Michael Page Partnership Limited England and Non-Trading

Wales Park, Addiestane, Surrey KT15 2NX, UK b
Michael Page Employment England and Recruitment Consultancy 200 Dashwood Lang Road, Bourne Businass X
Senices Limited Wales Park, Addiestcne, Surrey KT15 2NX, UK -
LPM (Professicnal Recruitment) Limited England and Holding company 200 Dashwood Lang Road, Bourne Business
Wales Park, Addlestone, Surrey KT15 2NX, UK
Accountancy Additions Limited England and Non-trading 200 Dashwocd Lang Read, Bourne Business
Wales Park, Addlestone, Surray KT15 2NX, UK
——— - — - e L — o y
Stamway Limited England and Non-trading 200 Dashwood Lang Road, Bourne Business i N
Wales Park, Addlestone, Surrey KT15 2NX, UK o
7.
The} Assessment Centre Limited Englana and Non-trading 200 Dashwood Lang Road, Bourne Business .
Wales Park, Addlestone, Surrey KT15 2NX, UK ¥
LPM {Group Services) Limited England and Nen-trading 200 Dashwood Lang Road. Bourne Business
Wales Park, Addlestore, Surrey KT15 2NX, UK
The} Page Partriership Limited England and Non-trading 200 Dashwood Lang Raad, Bourne Business =
Wales Park, Addlestone, Surrey KT15 2NX, UK =,
Z
- T
Sales Recruitment Specialists Limited England and Non-trading 200 Dashwood Lang Road, Bourne Business
Wales Park, Addlestone, Surrey KT15 2NX, UK
Michael Page International Limited England and Non-trading 200 Dashwood Lang Road, Bourne Business
Wales Park, Addlestane, Surrey KT15 2NX, UK
Michael Page Internaticnal England and Non-trading 200 Dashwood Lang Road, Bourne Business 2
1982 Limited Wales Park, Acdlestone, Surrey KT15 2NX, UK g
e S -
Michael Page International England and Non-trading 200 Dashwood Lang Road, Bourne Business 2.
Investment Limited Wales Park, Addlestone, Surrey KT15 2NX, UK a
— — @
Michael Page International England and Non-trading 200 Dashwood Lang Road, Bourne Business [
Finance Limited Walas Park, Addlestone, Surrey KT15 2NX, UK s‘
Page Persannel (UK) Limited England and Non-trading 200 Dashwood Lang Road, Bourne Business ®
Wales Park, Addlestone, Surrey KT15 2NX, UK 3,
(/]
Michael Page Holdings Limited England and Support services 200 Dashwood Lang Road, Bourne Business
Wales Park, Addlestone, Surrey KT15 2NX, UK
Michael Page international England and Holding company 200 Dashwood Lang Road, Bourne Business
Holdings Limited Wales Park, Addlestone, Surrey KT15 2NX, UK
- I et e+ e fe
Michael Page international England and Recruitment Consultancy 200 Dashwood Lang Road. Bourne Business E
Recruitment Limited* Wales Park, Addlestone, Surrey KT15 2NX, UK =
Michael Page Limited England anct Non-trading 200 Dashwood Lang Road. Bourne Business 2
Wales Park, Addlestone, Surrey KT15 2NX, UKSurrey M
KT15 2NX, UK i
- o . . . . . . . it
Michael Page international England and Holding company 200 Dashwood Lang Road, Bourne Business i
Southern Europe Limited™ Wales Park, Addlestone, Surrey KT15 2ZNX, UK o
Michael Page UK Limited England and Non-trading 200 Dashwoed Lang Reoad, Bourne Business v
Wales Park, Addlestone, Surrey KT15 2NX, UK b
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Country of Principal
Name of unt_i_ertaking incorporation aciwlty
Michael Page Recruitment England and Wales  Holding company

Group Limited

Page Ouisourcing UK Limited

England and Wales  Recruitment Consultancy

Michael Page International
France SAS

France

MP Financial Services France SAS France

Support services

Recruitment Consultancy

Heglstered offlce

200 Dashwood Lang Hoad Boume Bus»ness Park Addlesrone
Surrey KT15 2NX, UK

2nd Floor 61 Aldwych, London, United Kingdom, WC2B 4AE, UK

164 Avenue Achille Peretti, 92522 Neully-sur-Seing, Paris, France

164 Avenue AChI"'ﬂ Peretti, 92522 Neuﬁly Sur- Sem(, Parig, FFance

Page Personnel SAS

164 Avenue Achille Perstti, 92522 Neuilly-sur-Seine, Paris, France

164 Avenue Achille Perstti, 92522 Neuilly-sur-Seine, Pans, France

164 Avenue Achille Perett, 92522 Npmlly-sur-Sﬁ ne, Paris, France

164 Avenue Achills Perstti, Q2‘322 Neuﬂly-sur-Sewr\e Paris, France

1, Rue Esquermmse 5980C Lille, France

France Recruitment Consultancy
Michael Page Business France Recruitment Gonsultancy
Services SARL
Michael Page Ingénieurs et France Recrunmem Consultancy
Informatque SARL
Michael Page Tema\re SARL France Recruitment Gonsultancy
erhael Pagp Nord SARL Frange Recruitment Consultancy
Michael Page Sud SARL France Recruftment Consuftancy
MP Advertising SAS France Support Services
Page Consulting SARL France Recruitment Consultancy
MP EDP SARL France Support Services
Michael Page International Monaco  France Recruitrment Consultancy
SARL
Michael Page International Germany Recruitment Consultancy
(Deutschland) GmbH
Page Personnel Services GmbH Germany Recrultment Consuttancy
Page Personnel (Deutschland} Germany Recruitment Consultancy
GmbH
Michael Page Interirm GmbH Germany Recruitment Congultancy
Michasl Page International (Hong Hong Kong Recrunment Consuttancy
Kang} Limited
Michael Page International India Recruitment Consuttancy
Recrutrent Pyt Ltd
PT Michael Page Internasional Indonesia Recruitment Consultancy
Indonesia
Michae! Page International treland Recruitment Consultancy
{ireland; Lirratad
Michae! Page International ltaly Recruitment Consuﬂancy

ltalia S

48, Rue de la Républicue, 63002 Lyon, France

164 Avenue Achul\ﬂ Perett, 92622 Neuilty-sur-Seine, Paris. France

164 Avenue Achille Pereth, 92522 Neuwlly sur~Seme Pams Franfe

164 Avenue Achille Perett, 92522 Neuilly-sur-Seine, Pans, France

7 Rue de 'Industrie, 98000 Monaco

Cari-Theodor-Str, 1, Disseigort, 40213, Germany

Carl-Theodor-Str. 1, Ddsseldorf, 40213, Germany

Cari-Theodor-Str. 1, Ddsseidort, 40213, Germany

Carl-Theodor-Str. 1, Disseldorf, 40213, Germany

Sune 1701, 17F Cemral Tower, 28 Queen 's Road Centrai, Gentral
Hong Kong

5th Flaor, 2 North Avenue, Maker Maxity, Bandra-Kurla Complex,
Bandra (E), Mumba 400051, India

One Pacific Place, Suites B-F, Level 12, Sudirrman Central
Busingss Distnct, JI. Jend. Sudirman Kav 52-53, Jakarta 12190,

6th Floor, Scuthbank House, Barrow Strest, Dublin 4, Ireland

Gallena Passarella. 2. Milan, 20122, Italy



Country of

Name of undertaklng

Page Perscrmel ltalia SpA

mcorporatlon
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Principal

actwlty Reglstered office

Gallena Passarella, 2, Milan, QOW 22 ltaly

Recrunment Consultancy

Michael Page International {Japan} K.K.

6F Hulic Kamiyacho Buiiding, 4-3-13 Toranomaon.
Minato-ku, Tokyo 105-0001, Japan

Recruitment Consultancy

Agensi Pekerjaan Michzael Page International  Malaysia
{Malaysia) SDN BHD

10th Floor, Wisma Hamjah-Kwong Hing, No.1
Leboh Ampang, 50100 Kuala Lurmpur

Recruitment Consultancy

Page Contracting (Mataysia) Sdn Bhd

Malaysia Contracting/Temporary Level 19-1 Menara Milennium, Jalan Darmaniela,
placements Pusat Bandar Damansara, 50490 Kuala Lumpur
W.P. Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Michasl Page (Mauntiush Limited Mauritiug Recruitment Consuliancy 5th Floor Atchia Building, Cnr of Suffren and Eugene
Laurent Streets, Port Louis, Bepublic of Mauritius
Michael Page International Mauritius Recruitment Consultancy 5th Floor Aichua Building, Cnr of Suffren and Eugene
(Maurtius) Lirrted Laurent Streets, Port Lous, Republic of Mauritiug
Michael Page internaticnal Mexico Mexico Recruitment Consultancy Newton 223, Piso 3 Col. Polanco . Vseccion, Del.
Reclutamiento Especializado, S.A. de C.\M Miguel Hidalgo, Z2.C.. COMX, 11570, Mexico
Michael Page International Mexico Mexica Recruitment Consultancy Newtan 293, Piso 3, Gol. Polanco |, Vsecaion, Del.
Servicios Corporativos SA de CV Miguel Hidalge, £.C., COMX, 115670, Mexico
Fage Interim Mexico Senvicios Mexico Recrurtment Consultancy Newton 293, Piso 3, Col. Polanceo . Vseccion, Del.

SA de CV

Miguel Hidalgo, Z.C.. COMX, 11570, Mexico

Page México Operaciones PG S.A . DECV.  Mexico

Newtan 293, Piso 3, Col. Polance |, Vseccion, Del.
Miguel Hidalgo, Z.C., CDMX, 11570, Mexico

Recruitment Consultancy

Page Censulting México S.A. DE C.V. Mexico Recruitment Consultancy Newton 293, Piso 3, Col. Polanco |, Vseccion. Del.
Miguel Hidalgo, £.C., COMX, 11570, Mexico

Page Resourcmg Process S.A. DE C. V Mezxico Recruwtment Consultancy Newton 293, Piso 3, Col. Polanco |, Vseccion, Del.
Migue! Hidalgo, Z.C., COMX, 11570, Mexico

Page Internacional ADM S.A. DE C.V. Mexico Recruitment Consultancy Newton 293, Piso 3, Col. Polance | Vseccion, Del.
Migue# Hida\go Z.C., CDMX, 11570, Maxico

Michael Page Intematlonal (Maroc) Morocco Recruttment Consultancy Angle rue Mahassine Arrouyanl et Ali Abderrazak,

SARL AU de étage, Quarter Racine 20100 Casablanca,
Morocco

Michael Page International (Nederland) B.V.  Netherlands Recruitment Consultancy Strawinskylaan 421, 107XX, Armnsterdam,
Netherlands

Page Interim B.V. Netherlands Recruitment Consuftancy Strawinskylaan 421, 107X, Amstardam,
Netherlands

Michiael Page International Panama S.A. Panama Fiecrurtment Consuftancy Punta Pacnﬂca Blvrd Pacmca Oceanla Busiress
Plaza, Torre 2000, Piso 43, Panama

Michael Page International Peru Recruitment Consultancy Calle Las Crquideas 675 esq. Ancdrés Reves - Piso

Peru S.R.L 5, Oficina 501, San Isidro 150486, Peru

Page Personnel Servigios Temperales Peru Peru Recruitment Consultancy Calle Las Orquideas 675 esqg. Andrés Reyes - Piso

SH.L 5, Oficina 501, San Isidro 15046, Peru

M chael Page Intemanonal Recru\tment Phl|lppIﬂES Hecrurtment Consuﬂancy 15th Floor Citibank Center Building, 8741 Paspo

(Philippines) Inc.

de Roxas, Bel-Arr, City of Makat, NCR. Fourth
District, Philippines

Page Group Corporate Services (Philippines) Philppines
Inc.

Mnchdel F’age Imemahonal {Poland} Sp.z.0.0 Poland

24th Floor, Philam Life Tower, 8767 Pageo De Roxas
Avenue, Bel-Alr, Makati (‘\ty 1226, Ph|||pp|m:s

Support services

Recruitment Consu\tancy Z\ota 59, 00- 120 Warsaw Poland

Michael Page International Portugal - Portugal
Empressa de Trabalho Temperaric e Servicos

de Consultadona Lda

MICPAGE Services Lda Por‘tugal

Recruitment Consuliancy Av. Liberdade n® 180 A, 2° andar, Lishoa, 1250-

146, Portugal

Recruftmeht Consultancy

Av Ltberdade n“ TBOA 3° andar, Lisboa, 1250-
1486, Portugal

b
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Country of Principal

Name of undertakir_lg__ ) incorporation activity Registered office
Michael Page International (UAE) Limited UAE Recruitment Consultancy  Qatar Financial Centre, Office 2, Ground Flaor, Tornado Tower, West
- QFC Branch Bay, PO Box 23153, Doha, Qatar

Michael Page International Pte Limited®  Singapore

Recruitment Consultancy  One Raffles Place, #09-61 Office Tower Two, Singapore 048616

Pags Personne! Recruitment Pte Ltd Singapore Recruitment Consultancy  One Raffles Place, #09-61 Office Tower Two, Singapore (48616

Michasl Page International (SA) {Pty) South Africa Recruitment Consultancy 2 Maude Street. The Forum, 5th Floor, Sandton City, Johannesburg,

Limited 2196, South Africa

Michael Page Holding LTE-ES;J;ﬁa) SL Spain Halding company Paseo De La Castellana 130, 8° Planta, Madrid, 28046, Spain

PageGroup Technology Services SL S;;éin IT consultancy services Paseo De La Castellana 130, 8° Plggwga, Madrid, 28048, Spain

Page Group Europe Sl Spain Support Services Plaza Europa 21-23 P, 5, 08908 LHospitalet de Lichbregat, 08908—,'w
Spain

Page Group Spain Recursos Huménos Spain Recruitment Consultangy  Paseo De La GasteilanaﬁmO, 87 Planta, Madrid, 28046, Spain

ETT SA

Michael Page International (Sweden) AB - Sweden Re::ruﬂment Consultancy  Master Samuelsgatan 42, Stockholm 111 57, Sweden

Michael Page Internatignal Switzerland Recm?tr;ent Consultancy 12, Quan de la Poste, Geneva, 1204, Switzerland -

Switzerland SA

Tawan Michael Page International Taiwan Recruitment Consuftancy  8F-1 Shin Kong Xin Yi Financiat Building,

Co Ltd 36-1 Songren Road Xin-Yi District, Taipei Crty, Tawan 110

Michael Page Limited Thailand Holding company 083 Bhirap Tower at EmQuartier, 41st Floor, Unit 4108-4108,
Sukhumvit Road, North Klengtong, Vadhana, Bangkak, 10110,
Thailand

Michael Page International Recruitmert  Thaliand Recruttment Consultancy 689 Bhiraji Tower at EmQuartier, 41st Floor, Unit 4108-4109,

[Thatland} Lirmited Sukhurmvit Road, North Klongtong, Vadhana, Bangkok, 10110,
Thailand

Michael Page International Nem Istihdam Turkey Recruitment Consultancy  Blylkdere Cad. Kanyon Ofis Binast No: 185 K: 21 Levent, Istanbuf,

Danismanhdl Limited Sirket 34394, Turkey

MPI Yonetm Servisleri ve Dan. Ltd. St Turkey Recruitment Consultancy  Blylikdere Cad. Kanyon Ofie Binag No: 185 K: 21 Levent, istanbul,

34394, Turkey

Michael Page Intermational (Vietnam) Vietnam Hecruitment Consultancy  Level 3, Sawgon Centre, Tower 2, 67 Le Loi Strest, Ben Nhge Ward,

Co. Limited District 1, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

Michael Page International - United Arab Recruitment Consultancy 202 & 204, Level éTC;nanoy House - Building 1, Dubai International

(UAE) Limited Emirates Financial Centre, Duba), 506702, United Arab Emirates

Michael Page Intemat;c;ﬂal Inc.” United States  Recruitment Consultancy 622 TH\rd Avenue, 29th Floar, New York, NY 10017, USA

;age# Cutsourcing Inc. United States Recruitment Consuttancy 251 Lttle Falls Drive, Wilmington, New Gaétieio;;»unty‘ Delaware
18801, USA

*The eqguity of these subsidiary undertakings is held directly by PageGroup ple. All companies have been included in the consolidation
and operate principally in their country of incorporation.

The percentage of the issued share capital held is equivalent to the percentage of voting rights held. The Group holds 100% of all
classes of issued share capital. The share capital of all the subsidiary undertakings comprise Ordinary shares.

The following subsidiaries are exempt from the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 relating te the audit of accounts under
section 479A of the Act:

*  Michael Page Internationat Scuthern Europe Limsted *  Michael Page Partnership Limited

*  Michael Page International Holdings Limited *  Michael Page Employment Services Limited

« | PM (Professioral Recruitment) Limsted
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14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company #
2021 2020 2021 2020 .
2000 £'000 21000 £'000 oy
Current i
Trade recevables 265,727 167,195 - - =
Less allowance for expected credit losses and revenue reversals {11,086) {11,061) - — 5
Net trade recsivables 254,641 186.134 - - e
Amounts due from Group companies - - 970,375 808,610 'ﬁ
Other receivables 7,018 4,393 - - ’
Accrued Income (net of revenue reversals) 81,186 51,282 - -
Prepayments 12,952 10667 . = - -
355,797 252,476 870,375 808,610
Non-current
Other receivables . 12,848 13,169 - -
The fair valuas of trade and other receivables are not materialiy different to those disclosed above.
The Group's exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses related to trade and other receivables is disclosed in Note 22.
All ameounts due from Group undertakings are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Group Company '
2021 2020 2021 2020 i3
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 f“:,
Current A
Trade payables 5,908 3,893 » - -
Amounts owed to Group companies - - 1,221,283 1,026,516
Other tax and social security 46,946 44 890 o -
Other payables 34,698 aseed 0 & -
Accruals 142,830 90,790 . 140 140 —
230,382 175,337 1,221,423 1,026,656
Non-current
Accruals 16,310 11,836 - - -
Cther tax and social security 2,022 647 - -

18,332 12,483 - -

The fair values of trade and other payables are not materially different to those disclosed above.
All amounts due to Group undertakings are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The Group’s exposure 10 currency
and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in Note 22.

16. PROVISION

sjuUaWaeIS [eIouRUly

2021 Dilapidations NI on Share Schemes Qther Total

Opening 6,355 1,362 968 8,685

Foreign exchange (162} - {24) {186)

Provided 1,051 2,253 2,005 5,300

Utilised (18} (1,272) (423} {1,713) F——
Released {253) - (1,131 {1,390)

Closing 6,967 2,343 1,395 14,705

2020 Dilapidations NI on Share Schemes Other Total

Opening 5,164 2,002 243 7,408

Foreign exchange 208 - 429 638

Provided 1,468 114 775 2.358

Utilised (289) (754) (213) {1,266)

Released (197 - (267) {464)

Closing 6,355 1,362 968 8,685 :

2021 (£'000) 2020 (£°000) .&

Current 6,755 5.425

Non-current 3,950 3,260

Total provisions 10,705 8,685
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Dilapidation

A provision has been recegnised for dilapidation costs associated with our office portfolio, The Group is committed to make good on the
property sites on lease termination.

Social security contributions on share options

The provision for social security contributions on share options is calculated based on the number of options outstanding at the reparting
date that are expected to be exercised. The provision is based on market price of the shares at the reporting date which is the best
estimate of the market price at the date of exercise. 1t is expected that the costs will be incurred during the exercise period of 1 January
2022 to 31 December 2023.

17. BANK OVERDRAFTS
No barik overdrafls were utilised in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 {2020: £Nil).

At 31 December 2021, the Group had available £20m (2020: £20m) of undrawn uncommitted overdraft facility with HSBC, £1m elsewhere
in the Group and £30m of committed RCF facility with BBVA. There is also £7.27m of undrawn borrowing facilities under the Invoice
Discounting arrangement with HSBC. Under the terms of the Invoice Discount Facility we are able to borrow up to £50m depending on
the level of LIK trade receivables held at any one time. Based on the carrying amount of trade receivables at the year-end we were able to
borrow £7.27m of the £50m. No actual amount was drawn down on the facllity at the year end. The Group utilised the facilities during the
year on an ad-hoc basis.

All other bank overdrafts and facilities are repayable on demand. The Group’s exposure tc interest rate, foreign currency and liquidity risk for
financial assets and liabilities is disclosed in Note 22,

18. DEFERRED TAX

The following are the major defarred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised by the Group, and the movements theracn, during the current and
prior reporting periods.

Share-based Realated party

payments Tax losses Provisions  transactions Other Total

000 £'000 2000 £'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 January 2021 490 2,188 4,702 2,746 5973 16,009
Recognised in aquity for the year 1,241 - - - - 1,241
Transfers - 268 485 514 {1.267) -
Recegnised in profit or loss for the year . 846 {1,132 (511) 4,193 (321) 2,575
Exchange differences - an @18} 67 {388} (610}
At 31 December 2021 2,077 1,253 4,458 7,620 3,997 19,305
At 1 January 2020 1,180 1,940 5,345 4,730 3,712 16,877
Recognised in equity for the year 67 - - - - 67
Recognised in profit or loss for the year (728) 485 {664) (2.024) 2,864 (57)
Exchange differences 1 {247} 21 40 {603} {788)
At 31 December 2020 490 2,188 4,702 2,746 5,873 16,009

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have heen offset in accordance with the Group’s accourting policy. The following is the analysis of
the deferred tax balances (after offset) for balance sheet purposes:

2021 2020

£°000 £'000

Defarred tax assets 19,659 17,688
Deferred tax liabilities (354) {1,589)
19,306 16,099

The Group's overseas subsidiaries have net unremitted earnings of £177.3m (2020: £149.7m), resulting in termporary differences of £33.7m
{2020: £24.2m). No deferred tax has been provided in respect of these differences since the timing of the reversals can be conirolied and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foresesable future. The timing differences shown under "Other” of £4.0m
(2020: £6m) predominantly includes such differsnces in relation to fixed assets £1.7m (2020: £0.8m), differences betwean the Group GAAP,
IFRS, and the local GAAP of each country in which PageGroup operates and differences between recognition of incomea and expense for
accounting and tax purposes and other itams of £1.9m (2020: £5.0m} and 'FRS 16 of £0.4m (2020: £0.2m). The realisation of the deferred
tax asset in respect of losses is dapandent upon generating future taxable profits in the territories in which the deferred tax assets have
arisen. At 31 December 2021, £35m (2020: £27.4m) of deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and tax Gredits have not been
recognised due to uncertainty over the taxable profits available to support the realisation of thase attributes. The tax effected balances are
£10.5m (2020: £8.1m). The Group has unrecognised tax losses which expire of £4.3m of which £3.2m will expire at various dates between
2024 and 2026 and £1.7m will expire by 2031.
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The net deferred tax asset of £19.3m (2020: £16.1m) includas £2.6m of deferred tax assets in relation to entities that have :
incurred an accounting loss in either 2021 and 2020. In line with the most recent budgets which forecast profits for these entities, .
management expects these i0sses to be substantially recovered in two to three years. £
g
19. CALLED-UP SHARE CAPITAL .
2021 2020 g
Number of Number of ”
£'000 shares 2’000 shares P
-~
Allotted, called-up and fully paid Ordinary shares of 1p each
At 1 January 3,286 328,618,774 3,286 328,603,774
Shares issued - - - 15,000
At 31 December 8,286 328,618,774 3,286 328,618,774 —
Shares issued in the year related to the Executive Share Option Scheme.
Share option plans i@
The Group has share option awards currently outstanding under a Share Option Scheme (SOS). These plans are described below. «g;
At 31 December 2021 the following options had been granted and remained outstanding in respect of the Company's Ordinary X
shares of 1p under the Michael Page Share Option Scheme. The Group has no legal or constructive obiigation to repurchase or =
settle the options in cash. ¥
=
.
No. of -
options ’
cutstand- "
Balance at ing at 31 i
1 January Granted Exercised Lapsed December Base EPS/  Exercise price *w
Year of grant 2021 in year in year in year 2021 OPranget per share Exercise period é
2011 {Note 1) 1,430,730 - (22,264) (1,408.526) - OPrange 491.0p-492.8p March 2014 —March 2021
2012 {Note 1" 501,853 - [415,271) {15,000) 71,582 OP range 477.0p  March 2015 — March 2022
2013 {Note 1} 546,649 - (338,854 (10,000) 166,795 OP range 442.0p  March 2016 — March 2023
2014 (Note 1) 888,333 - (475.000) (10,000) 403,333 CP range 484.0p  March 2017 — March 2024
2015 (Note 1)7 Q05,000 - (5680.000) (30,000) 295,000 OPrange 528.0p-534.0p March 2018 - March 2025 -
2016 {Note 1)* 627,915 - 482.915) - 145,000 OPrange 406.0p-427.0p  March 2019 —March 2026 g
2017 {Note 1)* 1,413,205 - (1,205,000) (20,000) 188,205  OPrange 435.44p  March 2020 — March 2027 g
2018 {Note 1)* 1,518,865 - - {150,000 1,263,865 OF range 528.0p  March 2021 - March 2028 E'
2018 (Note 1) 1,760,000 - - [122,222) 1,637,778  OPrange 458.2-473.80p March 2022 — March 2029 wn
3
2020 {Note 1) 1,840,000 - - {128.889) 1,711,111 OPrange 332.0-387.47p  March 2023 - March 2030 ﬂ
2021 {Note 1) - 1,858,748 - 90,556) 1,868,192 OP range 480.1p  March 2024 — March 2031 g
Total 2021 11,432,61¢ 1,908,748 (3,519,304}  {1,985,193) 7,886,861 o
Weighted ?l-
average w
exercise price
2021 {0 4.55 4.80 4.80 4.81 4.52
Total 2020 10,306,782 1,850,000 (75,000 652,179) 11,432,610 —
Weighted
average
exarcise price e
2020{D) 477 3.37 4.13 4.81 4,55 %
* These options have fully vested jord
I The Operating Profit ranges for each award are fully disclosed in Note 2 of thig Note, 3,783,469 options were exercisable at the end of 2021 at a weighted average exercise ::"‘s
price of £4.88 {2020: £4.65). The weighted average share pnce at the date of exercise was £4.60.
%




Note 1

Share Option Scheme

Executive Directors of the Company are not eligible to participate in this plan. Any exercises of awards mads under this plan are
settled by shares held in the Employee Benefit Trust.

This share option scheme was created in 2009 to provide an effective plan undsr which to grant awards from 2009 onwards. It was
the Boara's view that grants made under the existing ESOS, which would have required an increase over the 2008 base earnings
per share of at least 3% per annum above the growth in the UK Retail Price Index by 2011, would not be achievable due to the
impact of the global downturn on the Group's EPS and thus would not provide the required retention incentive. Further grants
under the SOS have been made in each year from 2011, The performance conditions for these grants are also directly linked to the
Group's Operating Profit.

For grants between 2012 and 2015, if Operating Profitis in excess of £50m, a proportion of the award equivalent to the amount
of Operating Profit achieved will vest up to a maximum aof 100% if the Operating Profit is £100m or more. As Operating Profit of
£118.3m was achieved in 2017, the performance criteria have been fully achieved and these awards have fully vested.

For the 2016 grant, if Operating Profit is in excess of £75m, 2% of the award will vest for every additicnai £1m of Operating Profit
achieved, up to a maximum of 100% at Operating Profit of £125m or more. As Operating Profit of £142.5m was achieved in 2018,
the performance criteria have been fully achieved and these awards have fully vested.

For the 2017 grant, if Operating Profit is in excess of £50m, 25% of the award will vest, 1% of the award will vest for every additional
£1m of Operating Profit achieved, up to a maximum of 100% at Operating Profit of £128m or mare, As Operating Profit of £148.7m
was achieved in 2019, the performance criteria have been fully achieved and these awards have fully vested.

For the 2018 grant, if Operating Profit is in excess of £75m, 25% of the award will vest. 1% of the award will vest for every additional
£1m of Operating Profit achieved, up to a maximum of 100% at Operating Profit of £150m or more. As Operating Profit of £168.5m
was achieved in 2021, the performance criteria have been fully achieved and these awards have fully vested.

For the 2019 grant, if Operating Profit is in excess of £100m, 1% of the award will vest for every additional £1m of Operating Profit
achieved, up to a maximum of 100% at Operating Profit of £200m or mare. As Operating Profit of £168.56m was achieved in 2021,
B68% of the performance criteria have been achieved and these awards have partially vested.

For the 2020 grant, if Operating Profit is in excess of £100m, 1% of the award will vest for every additional £1m of Operating Profit
achieved, up to a maximum of 100% at Operating Profit of £200m or more.

For the 2021 grant, if Operating Profit is in excess of £76m, 25% of the award will vest, 1% of the award will vest for every additional
£1m of Operating Profit achieved, up to a maximum of 100% at Operating Profit of £150m or more.

Other share-based payment plans

The Company also operates a Management Incentive Plan for the Executive Directors and senior employees and a Long-Term
Incentive Plan for the Chief Executive Cfficer, Chief Financial Officer and other senior employees. Dstails of these plans are disclosed
in the Directors’ Remuneration Report and are settled by the physical delivery of shares, currently satisfied by shares held in the
Employee Benefit Trust. to the extent that service and performance conditions are met. Movements on these plans are shown
below:

LTIF/ESIP MIP
As at 1 January 2021 863,520 2.240,047
Granted 121,786 803,886
Lapsed - (475,064)
Exercised 410,814) (380,938)
As at 31 December 2021 574,492 2,187,931

Share option valuation and measurement

In 2021, options were granted on 15 March with the estimated fair value of the options granted on that day of £0.84, In 2020,
options were granted cn 13 March with the estimated fair value of the options granted on that day of £0.91 to £1.07. Share options
are granted under service and non-market performance conditions. These conditions are not taken into account in the fair value
measurement at grant date. There are no market conglitions asscciated with the share option grants. The opticns outstanding at 31
December 2021 have an exercise price in the range of 332.0p to 534.0p and a weighted average contractual ife of 5.4 years. The
fair values of options and other share awards granted during the year were calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing mode!.
The inputs into the meode! were as follows:

Share Option Plans Management Incentive Plan

2021 2020 2021 2020
Share price {£) 4.80 3.32 4.80 3.49
Average exercise price (£) 4.80 3.32 Nil Nil
Weighted average fair value (€) 0.54 0.91 4.1 3.36
Expected volatility 34.87% 35.84% 34.87% 35.84%
Expected life 5 years 5years 3years 3 years
Risk free rate 0.47% 0.26% 0.47% 0.26%
Expected dividend yield 5.15% 1.30% 5.15% 1.30%
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Expected volatility was determined by reference 1o historical volatility of the Company’s share price in the last 12 months. The
expacted life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management'’s best estimate, for the affects of non-transferability,
exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations. Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into the Black-Scholes option
pricing model.

The Group recognisad total expenses of £7.8m, including social security, (2020: £4.3m) related to share-based payment
transactions during the year.

20. RESERVES

Share premium

The share premium account has been established 1o represent the excess of proceeds cver the nominal value for all share issues,
including the excess of the exercise share price over the nomina! value of the shares on the exarcise of share options.

Capital redemption reserve
The capital redemption reserve relates to the cancellation of the Company’s own shares.
Reserve for shares held in the Employee Benefit Trust

At 31 December 2021, the reserve for shares held in the employee benefit trust consisted of 10,663,022 Crdinary shares (2020:
12,795,658 Ordinary shares) held for the purpose of satisfying awards made under the Management Incentive Share Plan, the ESIP
and the SO8, representing 3.2% of the called-up share capital with a market value of £66.8m (2020: £57.2m).

There are 9,084,233 (2020: 11,249,646} of these shares held in the trust on which dividends are waived.
Currency translation reserve

Since first-time adoption of the International Financial Reporting Standards, the currency transiation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations that are integral to the operations
of the Company.

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£000 £:000 £'000 £°000
Cash at bank and in hand 163,983 108.8489 - -
Short-term deposits - 57,138 - -
Cash and cash equivalents 153,983 165,987 - -
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 153,983 165,987 - -
Net funds 153,983 165,987 - -

The Group operates multi-currency cash concentration and notional cash pools, and an interest enhancement facility. The Eurozone
subsidiaries and the UK-based Group Treasury subsidiary participate in the cash concentration arrangement, the Group Treasury
subsidiary retains the notional cash pool and the Asia Pacific subsidiaries operate the interest enhancement facility. The structures
facilitate interest compensation of cash whiist supperting working capital reguirements.

22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

iy creditrisk

(i) liquidity risk

{iii) market risk

This note presents information abeout the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and

processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included
throughout these consolidated financial statements.

The Board of Directots has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk management framework.

The Group's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk
limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to
reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and
proceduras, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand thelr rofes

and cbligations.

The Audit Commitise oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and procedures
and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framewaork in refation to the risks faced by the Group. The Audit Committee

is assisted in s oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management
controls and procedures, the results of which are reperted to the Audit Committee.
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{i} Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a client or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and arises principally from the Group's receivables from clients. Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongeing basis.

At the balanca sheet date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the balance sheet.

Trade and other receivables
Total trade receivables (net of allowances) held by the Group at 31 December 2021 amounted to £254.6m {2020: £186.1m).

Aninitial credit period is made available on invoices. No interest is charged on trade receivables from the date of the invoice during
this credit period. An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure the expected
credit losses. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. I there has been a significant increase in credit
risk in & customer or greup of customers the loss is recognised immediately based on the future credit losses over the life of the
contract.

Included in the Group's trade receivables batance are debtors with a carrying amount of £96.0m (2020: £66.7m) that are past due
at the reporting date for which the Group has net provided as the amounts are still considered recoverable. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances, The days’ sales of these receivables at the year end is 41 days in excess of the initial credit
period (2020: 38 days).

in the table below, the provision includes expected credit losses and provision for revenue reversals.

The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was:

Gross trade Nettrade  Gross trade Net trade

receivables Provision receivables receivabies Provision receivables

2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £°000 £'000

Not past due 158,682 {1,015} 158,667 120,214 (764) 119,450
Past due 0-30 days 57,473 . (366) 57,107 40,663 (259} 40,404
Past due 31-150 days 36,641 - (233) 35,408 22,955 (146) 22,809
More than 150 days 11,931 (9,472) 2,489 13,363 {9,892) 3,471
265,727 (11,086} 254,641 197,195 {11,061 186,134

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of sach client. The demographics of
the Group’s client base, including the country in which clients operate, also has an influence on crediit risk. The geographic
diversification of the Group's revenue also reduces the concentration of credit risk.

The majority of the Group’s clients have been transacting with the Group for several years, with losses rarely occurring. In monitoring
client credit risk, clients are grouped according to their credit characteristics, including geographic location, industry, ageing profile,
maturity and existence of previcus financial difficulties.

Movement in the allowance for expected credit losses and revenue reversals:

2021 2020

£'000 £:000
Batance at beginning of the year 11,061 10,081
Expected credit losses and provision for revenue reversals recognised on receivables 17,920 27,773
Amounts written off as uncollectable {2,033) {285}
Amounts recovered/reversed during the year {15,862} (26,508}
Balance at end of the year 11,086 11,061

The allowance for expected credit losses represents a provision for debts which the Group estimate may be irrecoverable, including
£6.3m (2020: £6.3m} of debts in ltigation.

The impairment recognised represents the difference between the carrying amount of these trade receivables and the present value
of the expected liquidation proceeds. The Group does not hold any coliateral over these balances.
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Exposure to credit risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk for net trade receivables at the reporting date by geographic region was: e
Carrying amount !
2021 2020 iy
£000 2000 =
EMEA 153,919 118,327 x
United Kingdom 36,745 21,805 i
Asia Pacific < 1,005 23,159 3
Americas 32,972 22,843 N
254,641 186,134
The maximum exposure to credit risk for net accrued incorne at the reporting date by geographic region was:
Carrying amount
2021 2020
£'000 2000
EMEA 27,047 19,591 5
-3
United Kingdom 17.254 7,173 2
Asia Pacific 22,683 14,746
Americas 14,202 9,772 s
81,186 51,282 )
The entire accrued income balance is not past due. The fair values of trade and other recsivabiles are not materially differant to =
those disclosed above and in note 14. There is no material effect on pra-tax profit if the instruments are accounted for at fair value f
or amortised cost. i
%
{ii) Liquidity risk management ;&S
Ultimate responsibility for liguidity risk management rests with the Board, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk management o
framewaork that aims to ensure that the Group has sufficient cash or cradit facilities at afl times to meet all current and forecast
liabilities as they fall due. It is the Directors’ intantion to continue to finance the activities and development of the Group from
retained earnings. -
Cash surpluses were invested in short-term deposits, with any working capital requirements being provided from Group cash
resources, Group facilities, or by local overdraft facilities. The Group also operates a multi-currency noticnal cash pool to facilitate
interest and balance compensation of cash and bank cverdrafts. 1 |
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities: 3
Less than More than g
1 month 1-3 months  3-12 months 12 months ﬁ'
2021 £'000 £°000 £°000 £:000 -—
Lease liabilities* 2,639 5,355 22,131 722015 %’
Trade payables 5829 63 16 - 3‘
Accruals and other payables 123,431 21,857 52,000 5,340 g
=
Less than More than 8’
1menth  1-3months  3-12 months 12 months
2020 £'000 27000 £'000 £'000
Lease liabilities* 2,298 5,980 24,423 70.758
Trade payables 3,738 111 144 -
Accruals and other payables 87,597 15,591 31,048 905 .
i
*The above lease liabilities are the contractual undiscounted cashflows before discounting at the incremental borrowing rate. M
<
<
&




Capital is eguity attributable to the equity holders of the parent. The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to
ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios to support its business and maximise shareholder value. The
Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to sharehiolders, return capital to shareholders through share
repurchases with subsequent cancellation, or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the yaars ended 31 December 2621 and 31 December 2020.

{iii) Market risk and sensitivity analysis

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates,
but thess risks are not deemed to be material, However, a sensitivity analysis showing hypothetical fluctuations in Pounds Sterling
against the Group's main exposure currencies is shown on the next page. There has been no material change in the Group’s
exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

Interest rate risk management

Borrowings are arranged at floating rates, thus exposing the Group te cash flow interest rate risk. The Group does not consider this
risk as significant. The benchmark rates for determining floating rate liabilities are based on relevant national LIBOR equivalents.

Currency rate risk

The Group publishes its results in Pounds Sterling and conducts its business in many foreign currencies. As a result, the Group is
subject to foreign currency exchange risk due to exchange rate movements. The Group is exposed to foreign currency exchange
risk as a result of transactions in currencies other than the functional currencies of some of its subsidiaries and the translation of the
results and underlying net assets of foreign subsidiaries.

The main functional currencies of the Group are Sterling, Euro, Chiness Renminbi, Swiss Franc, Singapore Dollar, Hong Kong
Dofiar, Australian Dollar and US Dollar. The Group does not have material transactional currency exposures. The Group is exposad
to foreign currency translation differences in accounting for its overseas operations. The Group policy is not to hedge translation
exposure,

In certain cases, where the Company gives or receives short-term loans to and from other Group cempanies with different reporting
currencigs, it may use fareign exchange rate derivatives to manage the currency exposure that arises on these Joans. It is the
Group's policy not to seek to designate these derivatives as hedges.

All derivative financial instruments are classified as derivatives at fair value through the income statement. The Group dees not use
derivatives for speculative purposes. All transactions in derivative financial instruments are undertaken to manage the risks arising
frorm underlying business activities.

Information on the fair value of derivative financial instruments held at the balance sheet date is shown in the table below.

Fair valugs are not adjusted for credit risk, as required by IFRS 13, because credit impact is net material given the low fair value
levels. All derivative instruments are classified as level 2 instruments.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives at farr value

2021 2020

£m £m

Derivative assets 1.2 0.3
Derivative liabilities (1.8} 2.0
Net derivative (iabilities) (0.6) 1.7)

Sensitivity analysis - currency risk

A 10% strengthening of Sterling against the following currencies at 31 December 2021 would have increased/(decreased] equity
and profit or loss by the amounts shown over the pags. This is reflective of the exchange rates movements experienced by the
Group over the last 3 years. This analysis is applied currency by currency in isolaticn, i.e. ignoring the impact of currency correlation,
and assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for
2020. The amounts generated from the sensitivity analysis are forward-locking estimates of market risk assuming certain adverse
market conditions occur. Actual results in the future may differ materially from those projected, due te developments in the global
financial markets which may cause fluctuations in interest and exchange rates to vary from the hypothetical amounts disclosed in
the table over the page, which therefore should not be considersd a projection of likely future events and losses,
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2021 equity 2021 PBT
£'000 2'000 ;
Furo - {B808 - (136} -
Australian Doliar (1,448) {254) r
Swiss Franc {460} (113} ‘
Chinese Renminbi {1,128) (826) ‘
Hong Keng Dollar {862 {i7) 5
Singapore Dollar ’ {1;535}‘ {67)
United States Dollar (594) 93
Other (2.529) (711}
2020 equity 2020 PBT
£'000 2'000
Euro (12,877) (470)
Australian Dollar {1,238) 199
Swiss Franc (350) 67 E
Chinese Renminbi (658) 55
Hong Kong Dollar (851) 27
Singapore Doflar {1,488) {23)
United States Dollar (1.065) (143
Other {1,663) 535

A 10% weakening of Sterling against the above currencies at 31 Dacember would have had the egqual but opposite effect on the
above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

@

23. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Capital Commitments

The Group had nil contractual capital commitments as at 31 December 2021 relating to property, plant and equipment (2020:nil).
The Group had contractual capital commitments of nil as at 31 December 2021 relating to computer software (2020:nil).

Guarantees

The Company has provided guarantess to other Group undertakings amounting to £3.8m (2020: £4.0m) in the ordinary course of
business. It is not anticipated that any material liabilities will arise from the contingent liabilities.

VAT Group registration

As a result of Group registration for VAT purposes, the Company is contingently liable for VAT liabilities arising in other companies
within the VAT group which at 31 December 2021 amounted to £6.3m (2020: £6.8m).

24, EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

There were 49k shares options exarcised from 31 December 2021 to 3 March 2022.

sjuUaWIjel1s JelPueuly

25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Identity of related parties

The Company has a related party relationship with its Directors and members of the Executive Commitiee, and subsidiaries
(Note 13).

Transactions with key management personnel &
Key management personnel are deemed te be the Directers and members of the Executive Committee as detailed in the 2
biographies on pages 72 to 78. The remuneration of Directors and members of the Executive Committee is determinad by the %;
Remuneration Committee having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends. The transactions for the year were: =
el
&
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Related party transactions

2021 2020

£'000 £°000

Rages and salaries 8,578 3,270
Social security costs 884 232

Short-term benefits . 613 432

Pension costs — defined contribution plans 288 231

Share-based payments 3,926 2.464

14,289 6.629

Company

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated on
consolidation. Details of transactions between the parent company and subsidiary undertakings are shown befow.

Amounts owed Amaounts owed

Dividends received by related parties to related parties

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

£'000 £'000 £°000 £'000 £'000 £000

Transactions 67,178 144,312 970,375 808,610 1,221,283 1,026,518

FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

£000 £'000 £'000 £°000 £'000

Revenue 1,371,534 1,549,941 1,653,948 1,304,791 1,843,740
Gross profit 711,568 814,802 855,450 610,248 877,720
Operating profit 118,322 142,463 146,669 17,028 168,510
Profit before tax 118,162 142,275 144,245 15,544 166,645
Profit attributable to equity holders 83,080 103,703 103,445 {5,742) 118,386
Conversion® 16.6% 17.5% 17.1% 2.8% 19.2%
Basic earnings per share (pence) 26.5 325 322 (1.8) 372

T Dperating profit before exceptional items as a percentage of gross profit.
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Shareholder Information and Advisers

Annual General Meeting

To be held on 31 May 2022 at 9.30am at 200 Dashwood Lang Road, Bourne Business Park, Addlestone, Surrey KT15 2NX.
Final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021

To be paid {if approved) on 17 June 2022 to shareholders on the register of members on 20 May 2022,

General Counsel & Company Secretary

Kaye Maguire
Company number

3310225

Registered office, domicile and legal form

The Gompany is a limited liability company incorporatod and domiciled within the United I<ingdom.

The address of its registered office is:
200 Dashwood Lang Road,

Bourne Business Park,
Addlestone,
Surrey, KT15 2NX

Auditor

Ernst & Young LLP
1 Maore London Place
London SE1 2AF

Solicitors

Herbert Smith Freehills LLP
Exchange House

Primrose Street

London EC2A 2EG

Bankers

HSBC Bank plc
B0 Queen Victoria Street
London EC4N 4TR

Joint corporate brokers

Citigroup

33 Canada Sguare
Canary Wharf
London E14 5LB

HSBC Bank pic
& Canada Square
Canary Wharf
London E14 5HQ

Registrars

Link Group

10th Floor

Central Square

29 Wellington Street
leeds L31 4DL

Financial PR

FTI Consultancy
200 Aldersgate
Aldersgate Street
London EC1A 4HD
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